Assessing Climate Change Vulnerability of Tribal Livelihoods in Madhya Pradesh, India: A Multi-Dimensional Approach

Ph.D. Thesis

By Amit Kumar



SCHOOL OF HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY INDORE May 2025

Assessing Climate Change Vulnerability of Tribal Livelihoods in Madhya Pradesh, India: A Multi-Dimensional Approach

A THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the degree **of**

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by Amit Kumar



SCHOOL OF HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY INDORE May 2025

Dedicated To *My Family*



INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY INDORE

I hereby certify that the work which is being presented in the thesis entitled Assessing Climate Change Vulnerability of Tribal Livelihoods in Madhya Pradesh, India: A Multi-Dimensional Approach in the partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY and submitted in the School of Humanities and Social Sciences, Indian Institute of Technology Indore, is an authentic record of my own work carried out during the time period from July 2022 to May 2025 under the supervision of Dr. Mohanasundari Thangavel, Assistant Professor, and School of Humanities and Social Sciences, Indian Institute of Technology Indore.

The matter presented in this thesis has not been submitted by me for the award of any other degree of this or any other institute.

Arrit Kurnar 26/05/2025

Signature of the student with date Amit Kumar

This is to certify that the above statement made by the candidate is correct to the best of my/our knowledge.

T.NUL 26/05/2025

Signature of Thesis Supervisor with date

Dr. Mohanasundari Thangavel

Amit Kumar has successfully given his/her Ph.D. Oral Examination held on 26th May 2025.

26/05/2025

Signature of Thesis Supervisor with date

Dr. Mohanasundari Thangavel

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I express my deepest gratitude to my Ph.D. supervisor, **Dr. Mohanasundari Thangavel**, Assistant Professor, School of Humanities and Social Sciences, Indian Institute of Technology Indore, for her unwavering support, motivation, and guidance throughout my research journey. Her trust in me to undertake this novel research, her visionary planning, insightful discussions, and rigorous reviews have been instrumental in shaping my work. Her enthusiasm and dedication kept me focused, while her patient explanations and constructive feedback on concepts, technical writing, and manuscript development greatly enriched my research. I also would like to acknowledge the **University Grants Commission** for providing financial support during my Ph.D. tenure.

I sincerely appreciate **Dr. Kalandi Charan Pradhan**, **Prof. Manish Kumar Goyal**, and **Dr. Dhanya Bhaskar** for their valuable suggestions and encouragement during the annual Comprehensive Evaluation Research Progress (CERP) seminars. Their insights have been crucial in refining my research approach. I am also grateful to **Prof. Ruchi Sharma**, Head, and **Prof. Nirmala Menon**, Former Head, School of Humanities and Social Sciences, for their continuous support and encouragement.

I sincerely thank **Prof. Suhas Joshi**, Director, IIT Indore, for providing research environment and the opportunity to pursue my Ph.D. I also acknowledge the support of **Mr. Neeraj Kumar** (Assistant Registrar), **Mr. Tapesh Parihar** (Senior Officer), **Mr. Rahul Shrivas** (Academic Affairs), and **Ms. Divya Bangar** (Finance Section) for their administrative assistance throughout my journey.

My gratitude extends to the Estate Office, Infrastructure Development Office, Housekeeping, and Security Staff of IIT Indore for ensuring seamless facilities and support during emergencies. I also appreciate the technical and administrative staff of the School of Humanities and Social Sciences, **Ms. Kalpana Deep** and **Mr. Amit Bhargav**, for their assistance during my research.

One name I can never miss to spell out, whose constant encouragement made me buoyant during the entire research. A special thanks to **Dr. Rajneesh Kumar**, who has been more than a senior - a mentor, brother, and source of constant inspiration. His knowledge, guidance, and unwavering support have shaped my academic and personal growth. I am equally grateful to **Dr. Ashish Kumar**, who always stood by his side in all seasons with his help, advice, and suggestions.

I would like to especially thank senior researchers, Dr. Tapas Ray, Dr. Shivam Singh, Dr. Shekhar Singh, my colleagues, Ms. Anushka Chauhan, Mr. Nihal Singh Khangar, Ms. Muskan Bisla, Mr. Hariom Arora, Mr. Guru Dayal Kumar, Mr. Jitamitra Behera, and project staff, Mr. Gaurav Banaula, and Mr. Anshuman Pandey, for their cooperation, engaging discussions, and support throughout my Ph.D. I express heartfelt thanks to Mr. Kuldeep Singh Rautela, whose help with writing, reviewing, and submitting research papers was invaluable. I also thank Mr. Ashwani Yadav, my companion, for the countless tea breaks and conversations that lit up my research journey.

On a personal note, I am deeply indebted to my family members, **Mummy**, **Papa**, **Dadi**, and **my entire family** for their unconditional love, patience, and support. I am also grateful to my dear friend, **Ms. Aksara Kumari**, for standing by me throughout this incredible journey. This acknowledgement would be incomplete without mentioning **Mr. Rohit Kumar** and **Mr. Prabhat Ranjan Kumar**, my brothers and my greatest strength.

Above all, I am deeply grateful to **Nature** for granting me the wisdom, resilience, and strength to complete this research.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Journal Papers Published

- Kumar, A. & Mohanasundari, T. (2025). Assessment of livelihood vulnerability to climate change among tribal communities in Chhindwara and Dhar district, Central India. Scientific Reports, 15(1), 8843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-025-90769-8</u> (*Impact Factor: 3.8*)
- Kumar, A. & Mohanasundari, T. (2025). Perceptions of climate change and it's impacts on tribal livelihoods: an empirical study from central India. Natural Hazards. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-025-07207-1</u> (*Impact Factor: 3.3*)
- Kumar, A. & Mohanasundari, T. (2025). Assessing climate change risk and vulnerability among Bhil and Bhilala tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh, India: a multidimensional approach. Scientific Reports, 15(1), 7096. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-025-90390-9</u> (*Impact Factor: 3.8*)
- Kumar, A., Devi, J.P., & Mohanasundari, T. (2025). Climate Change Impact Assessment on Livelihood Vulnerability of Tribal Communities: A Systematic Review. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-025-10226-9</u> (Impact Factor: 2.5)
- Kumar, A. & Mohanasundari, T. (2025). Unravelling the dynamics of rainfall patterns in Bihar, India: A comprehensive spatiotemporal analysis. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 32, 8564– 8584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-025-36243-4</u>
- Kumar, A., & Mohanasundari, T. (2024). Assessing district-level climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, Central India: an integrated environmental and socioeconomic approach. Theoretical and Applied

Climatology, 155(4), 3449–3471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-</u> 023-04814-5 (*Impact Factor: 2.8*)

- Kumar, A., Kumar, A., Mann, K., & Mohanasundari, T. (2024). Analysing district-level climate vulnerability pattern in Madhya Pradesh, India, based on agricultural and socioeconomic indicators. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 196(6), 528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-024-12646-7</u> (*Impact Factor: 2.9*)
- Kumar, A., Kumar, S., Rautela, K. S., Kumari, A., Shekhar, S., & Thangavel, M. (2023). Exploring temperature dynamics in Madhya Pradesh: a spatial-temporal analysis. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 195(11), 1313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-023-11884-5</u> (*Impact Factor: 2.9*)
- Kumar, A., Kumar, S., Rautela, K. S., Shekhar, S., Ray, T., & Thangavel, M. (2023). Assessing seasonal variation and trends in rainfall patterns of Madhya Pradesh, Central India. Journal of Water and Climate Change, 14(10), 3692–3712. https://doi.org/10.2166/wcc.2023.280 (Impact Factor: 2.7)
- Maheshwari, U, Kumar, A., & Mohanasundari, T. (2023). A Statistical Analysis on the Food Consumption Pattern among Different Indian Tribes of Uttar Pradesh and Madhya Pradesh: Implications on the Nutritional Requirement. Towards Excellence, 16(1), 75–105. ISSN No. 0974-035X. <u>https://doi.org/10.37867/TE160106</u>

Journal Papers Under Review/ Revision

- Kumar, A., Devi, J.P., & Mohanasundari, T. Integrated Assessment of Livelihood Vulnerability to Climate Variability: An Empirical Study of Tribal Communities in Chhindwara District, Central India. Journal of Arid Environments. (*Impact Factor: 2.6*)
- Kumar, A., Ray, T., Mohanasundari, T., Jatav, S.S., Chatterjee, U., Shekhar, S., Alam, E, Islam, Md K. Forest Fires and Climate Change

in India: Impacts, Adaptive Strategies, and Pathways for Climate Action (Sustainable Development Goal-13). Environmental Sciences Europe. (*Impact Factor: 6*)

 Kumar, A., Devi, J.P., Bhaskar, D., Shekhar, S., & Mohanasundari, T. Perception and Awareness of Tribal Communities on Climate Change Impacts in Dhar District, Central India. Asia-Pacific Journal of Regional Science. (Impact Factor: 1.9)

Book Chapter

Kumar, A., Ray, T., & Mohanasundari, T. (2024). Exploring Climatic Dynamics in Madhya Pradesh, India Utilising Long-Term Gridded Data (1951–2021): An Integrated Statistical and GIS Modules. In A. K. Yadav, K. Yadav, & V. P. Singh (Eds.), Integrated Management of Water Resources in India: A Computational Approach. Water Science and Technology (Vol. 129, pp. 3–21). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-62079-9_1

Conferences

- Kumar, A. District-Level Vulnerability to Climate Change in Madhya Pradesh, Central India: A Comprehensive Multidimensional Assessment of Environmental and Socioeconomic Indicators. 35th International Geographical Congress, Dublin City University, Dublin, Ireland. Oral Presentation, August 24 - August 30, 2024.
- Kumar, A. Analysis of Seasonal and Monthly Rainfall Trends in Bihar Using Long-term (1951-2022) Gridded Data: An Integrated Statistical and GIS Models Department of Geography, Cotton University, Guwahati, India. The 44th IIG Meet and International Conference on Shaping Tomorrow: Society, Culture and Environment in an Interconnected World. Oral Presentation, January 22 - January 24, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST (OF FIGURES v
LIST (DF TABLES vii
NOME	ENCLATURE
ACRO	NYMSxi
Abstra	nctxiii
Chapt	er 1: Introduction and Literature Review1
1.1	Prologue1
1.2	Thesis Organisation
1.3	General Aspects
	1.3.1 Concepts41.3.2 Impact of Climate Change51.3.3 Impact of Climate Change on Tribal Livelihood61.3.4 Vulnerability to Climate Change7
1.4	Tribal Communities: An Overview
	1.4.1 Global Perspective
1.5	Relationship between Climate Change Impacts and Tribal Livelihoods
	1.5.1 Agricultural Practices131.5.2 Water Resources141.5.3 Forest and Biodiversity Dependence151.5.4 Health and Well-being161.5.5 Socioeconomic Implications16
1.6	Vulnerability Assessment Frameworks 17
	1.6.1 Vulnerability Indicators171.6.2 Assessment Models and Tools20
1.7	Review of Past Studies
1.8	Adaptation and Resilience Strategies
	1.8.1 Indigenous Knowledge and Practices371.8.2 Community-Based Adaptation Approaches38

	1.8.3 Policy Interventions	. 39
1.9	Challenges	. 42
	1.9.1 Data and Research Limitations	. 42
	1.9.2 Policy and Implementation Barriers	. 43
	1.9.3 Socio-cultural Challenges	. 44
1.10	Conclusions	. 44
1.11	Research Gap	. 45
1.12	Research Questions	. 46
1.13	Objectives of the Study	. 47
1.14	Research Methods	. 49
Chapte	er 2: Exploring the Spatiotemporal Climatic Dynamics of Madhya	
F	Pradesh using Long-Term Gridded Data (1951-2021)	. 51
21	Introduction	51
2.1	Methodology	. Эт 5Л
2.2	2.2.1. Struke Area	. JT 51
	2.2.1 Study Area	. 54 55
	2.2.3 Data Collection	. 56
	2.2.4 Data Analysis	. 56
2.3	Results and Discussion	. 62
	2.3.1 Descriptive Analysis	. 62
	2.3.2 Temporal Trend Analysis	. 64
	2.3.2 Change Point Analysis	. 68
	2.3.4 Spatial Change Analysis	. 72
2.4	Conclusions	. 79
Chapt	er 3: Assessing District-Level Climate Vulnerability in Madhya	
ŀ	Pradesh Using Environmental and Socioeconomic Factors	. 81
3.1	Introduction	. 81
3.2	Methodology	. 85
	3.2.1 Study Area	. 85
	3.2.2 Selection of Indicators	. 87
	3.2.3 Data collection	. 87
	3.2.4 Data Analysis	. 90
3.4	Results and Discussion	. 94
	3.4.1 Evolution of Composite Vulnerability Index	. 95

	3.4.2 Validation of the Composite Vulnerability Index through Cluster Analysis
3.5	Conclusions
Chapt	er 4: Climate Change and Tribal Livelihoods: Perceptions,
1	Impacts, and Determinants in Dhar and Chhindwara Districts
(of Madhya Pradesh113
4.1	Introduction
4.2	Methodology117
	4.2.1 Study Area1174.2.2 Rationale of the Study Area1194.2.3 Data Collection1204.2.4 Data Analysis122
4.3	Results and Discussion
	 4.3.1 Sociodemographic Characteristics of the Respondents 126 4.3.2 Observed Climate Change and Impacts
4.4	Conclusions
Chapt	er 5: Integrated Assessment of Livelihood Vulnerability to
	Climate Variability among Tribal Communities in Dhar and
•	Chhindwara Districts, Madhya Pradesh145
5.1	Introduction
5.2	Methodology
	5.2.1 Selection of Indicators1505.2.2 Data Analysis156
5.3	Results and Discussion
	5.3.1 Exposure. 162 5.3.2 Sensitivity. 164 5.3.3 Adaptive Capacity. 166 5.3.4 LVI-IPCC 168 5.3.5 Determinants of LVI-IPCC. 170
5.4	Conclusions

Chapt	er 6: Summary and Future Scope 177
6.1	Exploring the Spatiotemporal Climatic Dynamics of Madhya Pradesh
	6.1.1 Descriptive Analysis1786.1.2 Temporal Trend Analysis1786.1.3 Change Point Analysis1796.1.4 Spatial Change Analysis180
6.2	Assessing District-Level Climate Vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh Using Environmental and Socioeconomic Factors 181
	6.2.1 Evolution of Composite Vulnerability Index
6.3	Tribal People's Perceptions on Climate Change and its Impacts in Dhar and Chhindwara District
	6.3.1 Observed Climate Change and Impacts1856.3.2 Perceived Climate Change1856.3.2.1 Perception on Climate Change1856.3.2.2 Determinants of Perception on Climate Change1866.3.3 Perceived Climate Change Impacts187
6.4	Integrated Assessment of Livelihood Vulnerability to Climate Variability among Tribal Communities in Dhar and Chhindwara District, Madhya Pradesh
	6.4.1 Exposure. 189 6.4.2 Sensitivity. 190 6.4.3 Adaptive Capacity. 191 6.4.4 LVI-IPCC 192 6.4.5 Determinants of LVI-IPCC. 192
6.5	Limitations
6.6	Scope for Future Research
6.7	Policy Recommendations
Refere	ences

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.1: Contributing factors of livelihood vulnerability7
Fig. 1.2: Worldwide distribution of the indigenous population
Fig. 1.3: Distribution of tribal population in India10
Fig. 1.4: Distribution of tribal population in Madhya Pradesh11
Fig. 1.5: Common characteristics of tribal communities 12
Fig. 1.6: Adaptation and resilience strategies to cope with climate changes
Fig. 1.7: Summary of challenges
Fig. 1.8: Overall methodology flowchart
Fig. 2.1: Study area map
Fig. 2.2: A comprehensive methodology framework
Fig. 2.3: Trends in seasonal rainfall (a), T _{mean} (b), T _{max} (c), T _{min} (d) of Madhya Pradesh
Fig. 2.4: Change point results of seasonal rainfall (a), T _{mean} (b), T _{max} (c), T _{min} (d)70
Fig. 2.5: Comparative spatial distribution of rainfall in Madhya Pradesh
Fig. 2.6: Comparative spatial distribution of T _{mean} in Madhya Pradesh
Fig. 2.7: Comparative spatial distribution of T _{max} in Madhya Pradesh
Fig. 2.8: Comparative spatial distribution of T _{min} in Madhya Pradesh
Fig. 3.1: District-wise geographical location map of Madhya Pradesh
Fig. 3.2: District-wise distribution of environmental factors
Fig. 3.3: District-wise distribution of socioeconomic factors
Fig. 3.4: Comprehensive methodology flowchart
Fig. 3.5: District wise environmental vulnerability map97
Fig. 3.6: Socio-economic vulnerability map
Fig. 3.7: Composite vulnerability map 101
Fig. 3.8: Low vulnerable districts based on CVI 102
Fig. 3.9: Medium vulnerable district based on CVI 103

Fig. 3.10: High vulnerable districts based on CVI	
Fig. 3.11: Very high vulnerable districts based on CVI	105
Fig. 3.12: Dendrogram map	108
Fig. 3.13: Cluster map	108
Fig. 4.1: District wise tribal population in Madhya Pradesh	114
Fig. 4.2: Study area map	118
Fig. 4.3: Location of visited villages	121
Fig. 4.4: A comprehensive methodological framework	123
Fig. 4.5: Respondent's age, community, gender, family size, education, and primary occupation (a) Dhar (b) Chhindwara	127
Fig. 4.6: Households (a) annual income and (b) Lorenz curve of income inequality for Chhindwara and Dhar districts	128
Fig. 4.7: Graphical results of ITA	130
Fig. 4.8: Visual representation of spatiotemporal analysis	131
Fig. 4.9: Results of SPI-3	132
Fig. 4.10: Tribal people's perception of climate variability	133
Fig. 4.11: Tribal people's perception of CC impacts	137
Fig. 5.1: Contributing factors of LVI-IPCC	
Fig. 5.2: Indicators of LVI-IPCC	151
Fig. 5.3: Comprehensive methodology framework	156
Fig. 5.4: Major components of the LVI-IPCC for Chhindwara and Dhar	159
Fig. 5.5: Contributing factors of the LVI-IPCC for Chhindwara and Dhar	169
Fig. 5.6: Geographical variation of contributing factors and LVI-IPCC of (a) Chhindwara and (b) Dhar districts	170
Fig. 5.7: Relationship among contributing factors and LVI- IPCC of (a) Chhindwara and (b) Dhar districts	
Fig. 6.1: Recommendations for future research and policy development	198

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Indicators of livelihood vulnerability in tribal communities	18
Table 1.2: Assessment tools and models for evaluating vulnerability	21
Table 1.3: Past studies on tribal livelihood vulnerability and adaptation	23
Table 1.4: Policy interventions for enhancing tribal resilience	40
Table 2.1: Descriptive statistics of climate variability in Madhya Pradesh (1951-2021)	63
Table 2.2: Trend analysis results of annual and seasonal rainfall	65
Table 3.1: Selection of the indicators for computing the composite vulnerability index	88
Table 3.2: Environmental vulnerability index	96
Table 3.3: Socioeconomic vulnerability index	99
Table 3.4: Composite vulnerability Index	101
Table 3.5: District classification using cluster analysis of environmental and socio-economic factors	109
Table 4.1: Results of trend analysis	129
Table 4.2: Explanation and descriptive statistics of explanatory independent variables	134
Table 4.3: Results of binary logistic regression on household's perception of CC	136
Table 4.4: Results of multiple linear regression on household's perception of CC impacts.	139
Table 5.1: The indicators of the LVI-IPCC for Chhindwara and Dhar	152
Table 5.2: Indexed value of major components and sub- components to the vulnerability among Chhindwara and Dhar	160
Table 5.3: Results of linear regression of vulnerability determinants and LVI-IPCC for the Chhindwara and Dhar tribal households	172

NOMENCLATURE

CH4	Methane
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
N ₂ O	Nitrous oxide
°C	Degree Celsius
β	Coefficient
μ	Mean
σ	Standard deviation
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide

ACRONYMS

CC	Climate Change
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
GHG	Greenhouse gases
U.S.	United States
DFID	Department of International Development
LVI	Livelihood Vulnerability Index
ST	Scheduled Tribes
PVTG	Particularly Vulnerable Tribal Group
ENSO	El Niño-Southern Oscillation
VAF	Vulnerability assessment frameworks
CBA	Community-based adaptation
LVI-IPCC	Livelihood Vulnerability Index - Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change framework
T_{mean}	Mean temperatures
T _{max}	Maximum temperatures
T_{min}	Minimum temperatures
IMD	India Meteorological Department
MK	Mann-Kendall test
SS	Sen's slope estimator
IDW	Inverse Distance Weighted
GIS	Geographic Information System
CV	Coefficient of Variance
mm	Millimeter
EVI	Environmental Vulnerability Index
SVI	Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
HDI	Human Development Index
SC	Schedule caste
ST	Schedule tribe
CVI	Composite Vulnerability Index
ITA	Innovative Trend Analysis
	vi

SPI	Standardized Precipitation Index
BLR	Binary Logistic Regression
MLR	Multiple Linear Regression
NTFP	Non-timber forest product
OR	Odds Ratio
std. errs.	Standard error
VI	Vulnerability index
MGNREGA	Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act
PDS	Public Distribution System
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal

Abstract

Climate change poses significant challenges to marginalised communities, particularly in regions with highly vulnerable populations like rural and tribal communities. These communities, highly dependent on natural resources, are disproportionately affected due to their reliance on agriculture, water resources, and traditional practices. Climate change exacerbates existing problems, such as poverty, illiteracy, poor facilities essential services, with marginalised groups facing the burden of its consequences globally. People with limited resources and adaptive capacity are the most vulnerable to climate risks, especially in developing nations like sub-Saharan Africa, Southeast Asia, and South Asia. The adverse effects of climate change have become more apparent in India. Shifts in monsoon patterns, increasing temperatures, and more frequent extreme weather events such as floods and droughts severely impact agriculture, which remains the primary livelihood for the rural population. Tribal communities in India, which constitute 8.6% of the total population, are among the most vulnerable to these changes. Their livelihoods are directly connected to climate-sensitive resources, including water, forests, and agriculture. Madhya Pradesh, located in central India, where the country's 21.1 % tribal population reside, is witnessing significant climate shifts, including rising temperatures, erratic rainfall, and increased frequency of extreme events. These changes intensified the sustainability of agriculture and access to water, which is essential for the tribal livelihood in this region.

Despite the significant impacts of climate change on tribal communities, there is a notable gap in multidisciplinary analyses that integrate tribal people's perceptions with scientific approaches. Previous studies on climate change mostly concentrate on smallholder farmers and marginalised populations, with less emphasis on the vulnerability of tribal communities, especially in Madhya Pradesh. Furthermore, most research overlooks the integration of indigenous knowledge in assessing and addressing climate change vulnerability, and limited research has explored these communities' socioeconomic and climatic impacts in this region, majorly with ground data. Therefore, it is necessary to understand the complex relationship between climate change and the vulnerability of tribal livelihood at the ground level. This study examines the climate dynamics, climate change vulnerability at the regional scale, perception on climate change impacts, and tribal livelihood vulnerability to climate variability in Madhya Pradesh from their perspectives through secondary and primary information. The primary objectives are (a) exploring the Spatiotemporal Climatic Dynamics of Madhya Pradesh using Long-Term Gridded Data (1951-2021), focusing on temperature and precipitation patterns, (b) assessing district-level climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, central India, integrating environmental and socioeconomic approach, (c) understanding the perceptions of climate change and its impacts among tribal communities in Chhindwara and Dhar, and analyse how these perceptions influence their livelihood strategies, and (d) evaluating the livelihood vulnerability to climatic variability among tribal communities in Chhindwara and Dhar, and identify the major socioeconomic and environmental determinants of their vulnerability.

This study employs a mixed-methods approach, combining both quantitative and qualitative data. Gridded data from the India Meteorological Department (IMD) is used to analyse climate patterns (temperature and rainfall) from 1951 to 2021. The Mann-Kendall test, Sen's slope estimator, and Pettitt's test were applied to detect trends and identify change points in the climatic data. Inverse distance weighting methods allow for examining spatial changes, revealing the geographical distribution of certain climatic variables. The environmental (8 indicators) and socioeconomic (5 indicators) data were collected from various secondary sources for the district-level vulnerability assessment. The data is analysed using an indicator-based approach, normalisation, weighting, and developing vulnerability indices. This section is structured in three parts: Environmental Vulnerability Index (EVI), Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (SVI), and Composite Vulnerability Index (CVI). Furthermore, Innovative Trend Analysis (ITA), Standardised Precipitation Index-3 (SPI-3), household surveys, binary logistic regression, and multiple linear regression were used to correlate perceived changes in rainfall and temperature with climatic trends and the socioeconomic determinants influencing these perceptions in Dhar and Chhindwara districts. Primary data collection involved a multistage sampling procedure where a household survey was conducted across both districts, yielding a sample size of 535 households from 53 villages (27 villages from Dhar and 26 villages from Chhindwara). A Livelihood Vulnerability Index-Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (LVI-IPCC) framework was applied using survey data to assess livelihood vulnerability and, once again, the Multiple Linear Regression model to determine the determinants of livelihood vulnerability.

Long-term climatic data analysis reveals significant temperature and precipitation trends in Madhya Pradesh, worsening agricultural challenges, water scarcity, and health risks. The rainfall showed declines in annual (Z = -1.023), monsoon (Z = -0.933), winter (Z = -0.764), and post-monsoon seasons (Z = -0.735), while pre-monsoon rainfall exhibited an increasing trend (Z = 0.288). The analysis illustrated a consistent increase in T_{mean}, T_{max}, and T_{min} across all seasons, with significant differences in different areas. The change point analysis identified shifts in rainfall patterns in 1998 (monsoon, annual), 1955 (pre-monsoon), 1987 (post-monsoon), and 1986 (winter). The annual temperature, with T_{mean} rising from 25.45 °C in 1951-2004 to 25.77 °C in 2005-2021 (+0.32 °C), T_{max} shifting from 45.77 °C in 1951-2010 to 46.24 °C in 2011-2021 (+0.47 °C), and T_{min} increasing from 2.65 °C in 1951-1999 to 3.19 °C in 2000-2021 (+0.46 °C). Spatiotemporal distribution maps depicted irregular rainfall, with some areas experiencing

drastic declines in rainfall after 1998. Maximum average annual rainfall reduced from 1769 mm to 1401 mm after 1998, affecting water availability.

The district-level climate vulnerability analysis presented that districts with a lower CVI (0.321 - 0.378), such as Gwalior, Jabalpur, and Bhopal, exhibited decreased vulnerability because of a lower level of climatic extremes affected areas, reduced percentage of socially deprived population and a higher value of HDI. Districts with medium CVI (0.381 - 0.407), such as Damoh, Indore, and Shahdol, exhibited moderate resilience. On the other hand, districts with high (0.409 - 0.402) and very high CVI (0.448 - 0.540), such as Narsimhapur, Betul, Balaghat, Chhindwara, Alirajpur, and Barwani, faced higher vulnerability because of factors such as dependence on agriculture, a higher proportion of socially deprived population, occurrences of droughts and floods. Hierarchical cluster analysis validated vulnerability classifications, enhancing the credibility of assessments.

The tribal communities are highly vulnerable to climate change, primarily due to their dependence on rainfed agriculture, limited access to water resources, and socioeconomic constraints. Tribal communities' perceptions reflected observed climate changes, with over 90% of respondents observing erratic rainfall and summer days becoming hotter in the Dhar and Chhindwara districts. The binary logistic regression results revealed that education, occupation, and access to infrastructure appeared as essential determinants of climate change perception, with disparities between the districts (Pseudo $R^2 = 0.2584 \& 0.3286$). Moreover, the multiple linear regression model demonstrated that socio-demographic factors, such as income and occupation, significantly influenced perceptions of climate change impacts on agricultural productivity, water availability, and health risks.

The LVI-IPCC results showed moderate vulnerability among surveyed households, with Dhar exhibiting higher vulnerability than Chhindwara. Furthermore, LVI-IPCC results were validated using other vulnerability assessment approaches. Multiple linear regression analysis highlights the significant influence of key determinants, such as primary income source, extreme weather events, access to safe drinking water, and livelihood strategies, on vulnerability, emphasising the importance of addressing socioeconomic disparities and enhancing adaptive capacity.

The findings highlight the urgent need for targeted policies to address the livelihood vulnerabilities of tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh. Policymakers must prioritise including tribal communities in climate change adaptation efforts to ensure policies are tailored to improve their livelihoods. This study offers a comprehensive assessment of livelihood vulnerability to climate change among tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh. Combining scientific climate data with tribal people's perceptions and livelihood assessments provides valuable insights into these communities' challenges. It also calls for collective efforts between academicians, policymakers, and tribal communities to develop sustainable climate-resilient frameworks that protect the livelihoods of those most at risk from climate change.

Keywords: Climate change, Spatiotemporal analysis, Tribal communities, Tribal perception, Cluster analysis, Environmental Vulnerability Index, Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index, Livelihood vulnerability, Tribal vulnerability, Vulnerability assessment, Madhya Pradesh, Central India

Chapter 1

Introduction and Literature Review

1.1 Prologue

Climate change has emerged as a universal challenge of the 21st century that threatens ecosystems, economies, and societies (Abbass et al., 2022; Birkmann et al., 2022; Kuniyal et al., 2021). It has a severe impact on marginalised communities, especially in developing nations like India, Bangladesh, Nepal, Brazil, and African countries, since these regions are more exposed to climatic disasters and cannot adapt (Ahmad et al., 2018), because of higher dependency on natural resources for their livelihoods (Patel et al., 2020; Abbass et al., 2022; Rawat et al., 2024). Tribal communities, primarily residing in ecologically sensitive areas, are among the most vulnerable groups due to their reliance on climate-sensitive activities such as agriculture and forestry, limited resource access, and socioeconomic marginalisation (Kahane et al., 2013; Raj et al., 2022). Agriculture, the primary livelihood source for these communities, is highly vulnerable to climate variability, with an increased risk of crop failure, reduced yields, and degradation of land resources (Saleem et al., 2024). Moreover, the lower capital to spend on climate-resilient agricultural practices, such as crop diversification, irrigation, and soil conservation, further increases these communities' climate-related challenges (Mishra et al., 2019; Singh & Chudasama, 2021). So, understanding the vulnerability of these communities to climate change and variability is essential for developing effective adaptation and resilience strategies.

As per the Global Climate Risk Index 2019, released at the Climate Summit (COP 24) in Katowice, Poland, India is ranked 14th among the world's most vulnerable nations to climate change (Joshi & Rawat, 2021). In India, where tribal communities constitute 8.6% of the total population (Balkrishna et al., 2024), Madhya Pradesh is home to 21.1% of the tribal population to the

country's total tribal population whose livelihoods are linked to the natural environment (Yadava & Sinha, 2020). The region has experienced significant climatic shifts, including uneven rainfall and rising temperatures, negatively affecting its tribal populations (George et al., 2023). This study investigates the livelihood vulnerability of tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh. It adopts a multidimensional framework to assess vulnerability, integrating environmental, socioeconomic, and institutional factors, using both primary as well as secondary data.

This study focuses on the districts of Dhar and Chhindwara, tribaldominated districts, where tribal communities are deeply connected to agriculture and natural resources for their daily livelihoods. These regions are more vulnerable to climate-induced risks due to their dependence on rainfed agriculture, limited adaptive capacities, and socioeconomic limitations. The research addresses major gaps in existing studies by exploring the physical impacts of climate variability and the socioeconomic determinants of vulnerability. By combining empirical data with a robust analytical framework, this study provides valuable insights into the challenges faced by tribal communities and identifies pathways for enhancing their adaptive capacity. The findings inform policy interventions prioritising sustainable development and climate resilience for marginalised populations. This thesis serves as a step toward understanding and addressing the livelihood vulnerabilities of tribal communities to climate change, calling the urgent need for inclusive and targeted strategies to ensure their sustainable livelihoods in these changing climatic scenarios.

1.2 Thesis Organisation

This thesis has been written to present detailed information on the background, objectives, methodology, findings, policy suggestions, limitations of the research carried out, and the scope for future research based on the experience gained while conducting the research. In the present study, emphasis has been placed on tribal livelihood vulnerability to climate

change and variability in Madhya Pradesh. This thesis has been organised into six chapters. Ongoing Chapter 1 presents a brief discussion about the impact of climate change, the concept of vulnerability, and the association of tribal livelihoods. It also provides vulnerability indicators, assessment models and tools, case studies with applications, adaptation and resilience strategies, and challenges previous researchers faced. Based on the lacunae in the literature, the research questions, objectives and methodology of the current study are explained in this chapter. The Spatiotemporal Climatic Dynamics of Madhya Pradesh using Long-Term Gridded Data (1951-2021), focusing on rainfall and temperature patterns, is described in Chapter 2. Chapter 3 assesses district-level climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, central India, integrating environmental and socioeconomic approaches. Chapter 4 focuses on the perceptions on climate change and its impacts among tribal communities in Chhindwara and Dhar and analyses how these perceptions influence their livelihood strategies. The livelihood vulnerability to climatic variability of tribal communities identifying their vulnerability's major socioeconomic and environmental determinants is presented in Chapter 5. Chapter 6 summarises this study's major findings, limitations, scope for future research and policy suggestions.

1.3 General Aspects

Climate change (CC) describes long-term shifts in temperature, precipitation patterns, and other atmospheric variables on Earth (Kuniyal et al., 2021; Singh et al., 2024). This occurrence has been mainly caused by human activity, specifically releasing of greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as methane (CH₄), carbon dioxide (CO₂), and nitrous oxide (N₂O) (Li et al., 2024). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has projected that the global temperature will increase by 1.5 °C by the end of the 21st century, which will have profound consequences for natural and human systems (Phuong et al., 2023). These extensive changes are affecting environments and communities globally.

1.3.1 Concepts

Climate change: "Climate Change is a change in the climate's state that persists for decades or longer" (IPCC, 2021). CC agrees with the warming trend, variability proposes complexity and unpredictability in weather events (Scafetta, 2024).

Climate variability: Climate variability discusses short-term variations in climate constraints around the long-term mean, including phenomena like El Niño and La Niña, which cause significant fluctuations in weather patterns over seasons and years (Lee et al., 2022; Singh et al., 2023).

Vulnerability: The IPCC's 4th assessment report specifies vulnerability as "the degree to which a system is susceptible to and unable to cope with adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes. Vulnerability is also a function of the character, magnitude, and rate of climate variation to which a system is exposed, its sensitivity, and its adaptive capacity" (IPCC, 2007; Kasthala et al., 2024). In the 6th assessment report, vulnerability is described as "the propensity or predisposition to be adversely affected and encompasses a variety of concepts and elements, including sensitivity or susceptibility to harm and lack of capacity to cope and adapt" (Kasthala et al., 2024).

Livelihood: Livelihood is defined as activities essential to everyday life that are conducted over one's life (Khan et al., 2020). Such activities include securing food, water, shelter, clothing, fodder, and medicine. It reflects a way of life shaped by individual or household capabilities, assets, and productive endeavours (Ahmad et al., 2023).

Adaptation: Adaptation is the process of modifying or adjusting to fit one's environment. It can also be described as the condition of having successfully adapted (Berkhout, 2012).

Mitigation: Mitigation is "the action of reducing the severity, seriousness, or painfulness of something" (Zwahlen, 2022). The United Nations Office
for Disaster Risk Reduction defined mitigation as "the lessening or minimising of the adverse impacts of a hazardous event".

Resilience: As per the United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction, resilience is defined as "the ability of a system, community or society exposed to hazards to resist, absorb, accommodate, adapt to, transform and recover from the effects of a hazard in a timely and efficient manner, including through the preservation and restoration of its essential basic structures and functions through risk management".

1.3.2 Impact of Climate Change

CC and variability have significantly affected livelihoods across different geographical areas over various time scales. The United States (U.S.) has faced more frequent extreme hot temperatures and precipitation events, with a fall in extreme cold events, especially in northern regions (Monier & Gao, 2015). Rural communities are more vulnerable than urban areas due to the demographics, literacy, occupations, incomes, prevalence of poverty, and reliance on government funding (Demissie & Kasie, 2017). However, CC effects may vary with region and economic sector, with some rural areas benefiting while others suffer. Climatic conditions in the Northeast U.S. might be advantageous for agricultural and forestry activities, whereas the Southwest and Southeast could face heightened water stress and energy costs, respectively (Lal et al., 2011). It is projected that Latin America, and the Caribbean will experience a mean temperature increase of up to 4.5 °C by the end of the 21st century, compared to pre-industrial (Rever et al., 2017) due to changed rainfall patterns, heat extremes, drought, and rising sea levels. These changes will influence agriculture, livestock, fisheries, and water resources, although some opportunities, like increased rice yields and fish catch capacity, may rise in specific regions. CC is expected to increase global temperatures past +1.5 °C in the coming decades, potentially boosting summer tourism and reducing electricity demand in Western Europe (Jacob et al., 2018). However, the frequency and intensity of extreme events increased due to CC, directly impacting human health through injuries and fatalities and indirectly through effects on water, food, air quality, mental well-being, productivity, and harm to residential and health services in Australia (Lansbury Hall & Crosby, 2022). Sub-Saharan Africa suffered undernutrition, disease outbreaks, and agricultural vulnerabilities, leading to urban migration and increased food prices due to CC (Serdeczny et al., 2017). Similarly, South Asia faced a lack of freshwater supply, glaciers melting, reduced agriculture productivity, loss of biodiversity, poor human health, extreme weather events, and resource strain due to climate-induced immigration from neighbouring countries (Verma, 2021). Furthermore, increasing mean annual temperatures decrease land productivity for most crops, jeopardising the food safety of India's small and marginal farming households (Praveen & Sharma, 2020).

1.3.3 Impact of Climate Change on Tribal Livelihood

CC is a significant global issue that disproportionately impacts vulnerable communities, especially those reliant on natural resources for livelihood (Sahoo et al., 2023). Tribal communities, often living in environmentally sensitive and marginal regions, are most affected (Kumar et al., 2023). These communities play an essential role in preserving cultural diversity and environmental sustainability (Privadarshini & Abhilash, 2019). Spread across 90 countries, they constitute over 476 million people worldwide but account for 15% of the world's extreme poor (Malhotra, 2024a; Stewart-Withers & Hapeta, 2023). These communities heavily depend on agriculture, hunting, fishing, gathering, forestry, and other natural resourcebased activities, making them highly vulnerable to the detrimental impacts of CC and variability. CC events have been reported to substantially impact the ecosystems crucial for tribal livelihoods (Pratap & Pratap, 2021). As a result, tribal communities face threats to food security, water availability, health, and socioeconomic stability due to CC and retain traditional knowledge and practices for resilience construction (Mallick et al., 2024; Rahmah & Sulistyono, 2024). Despite their importance, mainstream climate adaptation strategies often overlook these practices.

1.3.4 Vulnerability to Climate Change

CC studies consistently explore the concept of vulnerability as a fundamental and evolving concept. Vulnerability to CC-induced natural disasters is divided into social, physical, economic, and environmental categories (Kasthala et al., 2024). Fig. 1.1 shows the key dimensions influencing the vulnerability of tribal communities to CC. Tribal communities face increased exposure to climate variability due to geographical isolation and inadequate infrastructure, significant sensitivity due to high dependence on climate-sensitive resources, and inadequate adaptive capacity due to socioeconomic constraints, highlighting their exposure to climate impacts.



Fig. 1.1: Contributing factors of livelihood vulnerability

The literature on CC vulnerability, while extensive, lacks a focus on tribal livelihood vulnerability assessment in the context of changing climatic conditions (Berrang-Ford et al., 2015; Crane et al., 2017; Kasthala et al., 2024; Kumari et al., 2023; Räsänen et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2017). However, many researchers/scholars still use the Department of

International Development's (DFID) livelihood framework. Expanding on this model, Hahn et al. (2009) developed the Livelihood Vulnerability Index (LVI), a promising indicator-based technique for assessing livelihood vulnerability, incorporating elements from DFID and IPCC frameworks. Furthermore, Reed et al. (2013) incorporated theoretical understanding from analyses of sustainable livelihoods and analytical frameworks to investigate the livelihood vulnerability to CC. Researchers have also explored various methodologies to evaluate livelihood vulnerability; however, the literature lacks a universal framework for all ecosystems and geographies (Kasthala et al., 2024; Kumari et al., 2023). With this research gap, it is necessary to understand and develop a comprehensive framework that can correctly evaluate the vulnerability of tribal livelihoods across various ecosystems and geographies. This framework should combine climatic, socioeconomic, and ecological variables and be acceptable to local contexts. Understanding these nuanced vulnerabilities is essential for designing effective adaptation strategies and policies to mitigate CC's adverse impacts on tribal communities. Therefore, this study investigates the livelihood vulnerability of tribal communities in the context of CC, providing a critical tool for policymakers and practitioners to enhance resilience among these vulnerable populations.

1.4 Tribal Communities: An Overview

1.4.1 Global Perspective

Tribal communities, also known as indigenous peoples, constitute about 5% of the world's population (Das & Basu, 2022) (Fig. 1.2). According to Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary, "Tribe is a group of people of the same race, and with the same custom, language, religion, etc. living in a particular area and often led by a chief". Globally, major tribal groups include the Maasai of East Africa, known for their pastoral traditions (Hezron et al., 2024); the Inuit of the Arctic, adapted to extreme cold conditions (Malik & Ford, 2025); the Māori of New Zealand, celebrated for

their sustainable practices (Lawrence et al., 2024); and Aboriginal Australians, among the oldest continuous cultures (Baulch, 2024). In the Americas, tribes such as the Navajo, Cherokee, and Quechua hold a wealth of traditional knowledge (Urrieta, 2016).



Fig. 1.2: Worldwide distribution of the indigenous population

1.4.2 India

India, home to the world's largest tribal population, has 705 Scheduled Tribes (STs) comprising 8.6% of India's population (Census, 2011) (Fig. 1.3). These communities reside in diverse ecological zones, from the Himalayan highlands to the coastal plains. Major tribal groups include the Bhil, the largest tribe in India, predominantly found in Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan, and Gujarat (Khan & Thakur, 2023); the Gond, known for their folklore and traditional agricultural practices (Rana, 2024); and the Santhal, concentrated in Jharkhand, Odisha, and West Bengal, with a rich agrarian heritage (Kadariya, 2024). The Naga tribes of the northeastern states, the Baiga of central India, the Toda and Irula of Tamil Nadu, and the Warli of Maharashtra each exhibit unique cultural identities and traditions (Malhotra, 2024b). Tribal people in India experience socioeconomic difficulties, such as reduced literacy rates, poor health care, and relocation because of infrastructure development, even though there are constitutional protections (Kuttiatt et al., 2025). Tribal cultural heritage preservation along



with equitable development, are the primary objectives of policies like the Forest Rights Act (2006) and Tribal Sub-Plan.

Fig. 1.3: Distribution of tribal population in India

1.4.3 Madhya Pradesh

Madhya Pradesh, also known as the "tribal heartland" of India, has the largest number of tribal populations in the nation, comprising over 21% of the state's population (Census, 2011) (Fig. 1.4). The state is home to various tribal communities, including the Bhil and Bhilala, who mostly live in the Dhar, Jhabua, and Alirajpur districts and rely on agricultural and forest resources (Hariwal et al., 2024). The Gond, who live in Mandla, Chhindwara, and Betul, are recognised for their art and culture (Malhotra, 2024b). Similarly, the Baiga, a Particularly Vulnerable Tribal Group

(PVTG), practised traditional agricultural practices (Patidar et al., 2020) in Mandla and Dindori districts. Other tribal groups include the Korku, living in the Satpura hills and recognised for their sustainable farming practices (Kala, 2022); the Sahariya of Gwalior and Chambal regions, dependent on forest produce and seasonal labour (Swarnkar, 2023); and the Kol, concentrated in Rewa and Satna, who primarily work as agricultural labourers (Kumar, 2013).



Fig. 1.4: Distribution of tribal population in Madhya Pradesh

1.4.4 Characteristics of Tribal Communities

The basic characteristics of tribal communities are shown in Fig. 1.5. However, these communities face several challenges that hamper their development and well-being. Geographic isolation confines their access to essential services such as education, healthcare facilities, and markets, leaving them disadvantaged compared to others (Ramya & Chaudhuri, 2024). Several environmental challenges, such as deforestation, land degradation, and biodiversity loss, faced by tribal communities (Kumar et al., 2022) have been intensified by colonial and post-colonial policies that often marginalised them and limited their access to traditional lands and resources (Chiweshe, 2023). The CC impacts add another layer of difficulty, threatening the sustainability of their traditional livelihoods (Parrotta & Agnoletti, 2012). The depletion of natural resources and shifting climatic patterns have disrupted their traditional livelihoods, forcing them to migrate for alternative employment (Singh, 2023).



Fig. 1.5: Common characteristics of tribal communities

Furthermore, the lack of adequate representation in decision-making processes excludes their demands and goals in development planning (Bansal et al., 2024). There is great ethnic diversity that appears in the broad range of economic opportunities among tribal groups in India. In many developing countries such as India, Indonesia, Nepal, Brazil, and Africa, tribal peoples depend primarily on forest products such as food, fuel wood, fodder, lumber, and medicinal plants (Kumar & Saikia, 2020). These resources are not only for generating financial income but also for meeting their subsistence needs. Tribal communities, despite their rich cultural

heritage, frequently face socioeconomic marginalisation, limited access to education and healthcare, and political exclusion (Panda et al., 2022), which increase their susceptibility to CC.

1.5 Relationship between Climate Change Impacts and Tribal Livelihoods

The relationship between CC impacts and the livelihoods of tribal communities is complex and dynamic (Mallick et al., 2024). Tribal communities are among the most vulnerable to CC due to their heavy dependence on natural resources, marginal socioeconomic status, and often limited adaptive capacity (Hazarika et al., 2024). The complex impacts of CC on tribal livelihoods include agricultural practices, water resources, forest and biodiversity dependence, health and well-being, and socioeconomic implications, as discussed below.

1.5.1 Agricultural Practices

Agriculture is the backbone of tribal economies, ensuring food security and livelihoods for millions (Nautiyal & Goswami, 2022). Tribal communities are involved in cultivating crops and raising livestock to meet their basic needs (Ramakrishnan et al., 2024). However, changing climatic patterns have disturbed traditional agricultural practices, reducing crop yields (Aich et al., 2022). Several studies have reported the loss of traditional crops, decreased crop yields, and increased pest and disease pressures in many tribal regions (Aich et al., 2022; Atta et al., 2023; Grigorieva et al., 2023; Hussain et al., 2020; Kar et al., 2024; Lin et al., 2008; Praveena & Malaisamy, 2024). Tropical Asia suffered crop losses and decreased rice and wheat productivity in tropical Asia due to changing monsoon patterns, which influenced the timing and distribution of rainfall (Huggi et al., 2024). The reduced rainfall in American monsoon regions, including southern Chile, southwestern Argentina, southern Peru, and west-central America, has negatively impacted the productivity of major crops like wheat,

soybean, and maize. In addition, maize productivity has declined from 0.01 to 0.05 tonnes yearly in the U.S., primarily attributed to internal variability in the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO). The Sahel region of Africa experienced a significant decrease in groundnut productivity from 850 kg/ha in 1966-67 to 440 kg/ha in 1981, mainly because of variations in rainfall distribution during growing seasons (Huggi et al., 2024). Studies also reported that grasslands in Africa are at risk due to monsoon variability, reducing fodder availability for livestock, and rising temperatures accelerating pest and disease spread, causing further crop failures (Grigorieva et al., 2023). Extreme weather events like floods and droughts can lead to soil erosion and nutrient depletion, reducing agricultural productivity (Kulkarni, 2021).

1.5.2 Water Resources

Tribal communities reliant on rivers, lakes, and groundwater are at a higher threat due to CC, which disrupts hydrological cycles and limits access to clean water sources (Soomro et al., 2024). Reduced water availability during dry seasons (like droughts) and increased frequency of extreme weather events (for example, floods) poses significant sustainability challenges (Shiva Shankar et al., 2021). Despite significant developments in infrastructure, modified water management strategies, and technological innovations that enhance water use efficiency, water scarcity remains an important global issue (Tzanakakis et al., 2020). More than 2 billion people have inadequate access to safe drinking water and reside in locations with severe water stress. Approximately 3.4 million die annually from contaminated water, and 50% of hospital beds are filled with affected individuals (Tzanakakis et al., 2020). Population growth, improved lifestyles, and rising temperatures have increased household water usage, causing water quality issues for drinking, agriculture, and other purposes (Cozzetto et al., 2013).

1.5.3 Forest and Biodiversity Dependence

Many tribal communities depend on forests and biodiversity for their livelihoods, including food, fuel, medicine, and cultural practices, but CC threaten their resilience, impacting forest dynamics, species, and ecosystem services (Azhar et al., 2022; Voggesser et al., 2013). Forests provide resources such as fruits, tubers, honey, and medicinal plants, which are essential to the subsistence and health of tribal populations (Min et al., 2024). Non-timber forest products (NTFPs) like bamboo, resin, and lac form the backbone of tribal economies, contributing to their income and employment (Sharma et al., 2024). CC has affected the timing of flowering, fruiting, and seed dispersal, disrupting ecological connections and traditional harvesting customs (Hamilton et al., 2024). Moreover, amplified frequency and intensity of deforestation, forest fires, pests, and diseases have further destroyed forest ecosystems, reduced resource availability and threatened tribal livelihoods that depend on forest resources (Kumar et al., 2022). The loss of biodiversity also limits the availability of culturally important plants and animals, affecting traditional knowledge systems and practices (Bhatt et al., 2024). Tribal populations find their capacity to effectively manage forest resources severely hampered by the changing climate and policy restrictions. Globally, forests act as carbon sinks and absorb around 2 billion metric tonnes of carbon dioxide yearly (Nzabarinda et al., 2025). Approximately 20-25% of global greenhouse gas emissions are attributable to deforestation, with one million species in danger of extinction (Pal, 2022). For tribal communities, this environmental deterioration is not only an ecological problem but a direct danger to their food security, water availability, and cultural identity. Climate-induced changes in forestry composition and productivity also influence wildlife populations, affecting the hunting and gathering practices essential for tribal livelihoods (Das, 2024).

1.5.4 Health and Well-being

CC leads to extreme weather events, increasing vector-borne diseases, waterborne illnesses, malnutrition, and mental health issues among tribal populations (Chandra & Mukherjee, 2022; Donatuto et al., 2020). Rising temperatures raise the risk of heatstroke and dehydration, particularly for vulnerable populations like older adults and children (Ndlovu & Chungag, 2024). Moreover, the dependence of tribal communities on unclean water sources makes them highly vulnerable to waterborne infections during floods and cyclones (Rahman et al., 2024). Prolonged droughts can lead to water scarcity and food insecurity, strengthening the risk of malnutrition and related health issues (Jones, 2019; Ngcamu & Chari, 2020). Limited access to healthcare facilities in isolated tribal locations increases these issues, delaying treatment and worsening risks to health (Kumari, 2024). Climate-induced crises also influence the mental health of tribal communities. Loss of livelihoods due to agricultural failure, relocation from ancestral lands, and the degradation of natural resources create psychological stress, anxiety, and depression (White et al., 2023). Similarly, floods and cyclones can result in water contamination, displacement, and injuries, aggravating health vulnerabilities among tribal communities (Suar et al., 2024).

1.5.5 Socioeconomic Implications

CC impacts tribal livelihoods, affecting household incomes, employment opportunities, social cohesion, agricultural productivity, natural resourcebased livelihoods, and traditional knowledge systems, causing financial instability and resilience (Bora & Mahanta, 2024; Rautela & Karki, 2015). These changes also influence livestock health and production because increased heat stress, decreasing water availability, and degraded grazing pastures harm animal husbandry, an important aspect of tribal subsistence (Goswami & Rajput, 2024). Overgrazing and reducing pastures, worsened by climatic unpredictability, push communities to adopt unsustainable grazing approaches (Rajput, 2024), further harming the environment. The dependency of tribal communities on natural resources for fuelwood, fodder, and medicinal plants makes them more vulnerable to resource degradation caused by deforestation, soil erosion, and irregular weather patterns (Mallick et al., 2024). These shifts result in decreased family incomes and reduced job opportunities, forcing several households into financial instability. Furthermore, climate-induced displacement and migration can drain social networks and augment conflicts over resources and land (Warner & Wiegel, 2021). Tribal communities' vulnerability to CC is aggravated by limited access to markets, financial resources, and social services (George et al., 2023). Traditional practices are at risk of cultural loss as younger generations may abandon them due to their unsustainable nature (Abdullah & Khan, 2023).

1.6 Vulnerability Assessment Frameworks

Vulnerability assessment frameworks (VAFs) are essential to understanding the relationships between CC impacts and tribal livelihoods. Frameworks assess the vulnerability of tribal communities to climate-induced disasters, providing insights into contributing factors and recommending targeted adaptation and resilience strategies. Therefore, it is necessary to discuss the key components of VAFs, commonly used indicators, assessment models/tools, and present case studies illustrating their application in worldwide tribal communities.

1.6.1 Vulnerability Indicators

Indicators play a significant role in assessing vulnerability (Yadava & Sinha, 2020), incorporating multiple dimensions, such as socioeconomic, environmental, and institutional factors collectively affecting communities' adaptive capacity. Socioeconomic indicators are income levels, education, access to healthcare, and social networks, especially the available community resources for coping with CC impacts (Hahn et al., 2009).

Sl.	Category	Indicators	Explanation	References
No.				
1.	Socio-economic Indicators	Income	• Low-income levels frequently suggest limited resources for adaptation and recovery.	Yadava & Sinha (2020)
		Education	• Higher levels of education increase adaptive capacity through improved awareness and access to information.	Das & Basu (2022); Phuong et al. (2023)
		Access to Services	• The availability of healthcare, infrastructure, and social services influences resilience.	Ghosh & Ghosal (2021); Rehman et al. (2022)
		Employment Patterns	• Reliance on climate-sensitive areas such as agriculture or forestry can increase vulnerability.	Das & Basu (2022)
2.	Environmental Indicators	Dependence on Natural Resources	• Dependency on agriculture, forests, water bodies, and biodiversity for livelihoods	Pandey et al. (2017)
		Climate Sensitivity	• Exposure to climate extremes like floods, droughts, or cyclones	Mehzabin & Mondal (2021)
		Geographic Location	• Proximity to disaster-prone areas such as coastal regions, forests, or arid lands	Mehzabin & Mondal (2021)
3.	Cultural and Institutional Indicators	Cultural Identity	• Conservation of traditional knowledge and practices for adaptation.	Makondo & Thomas (2018)
		Social Cohesion	• Strength of community networks and support systems.	Townshend et al. (2015)
		Access to Decision-making Practices	• Inclusion in local governance and policy formulation	Brugnach et al. (2017)
		Legal Rights	• Identification of land tenure and resource ownership rights	Whyte (2013)
4.	Health and Well-being Indicators	Health Infrastructure	• Accessibility of healthcare facilities and services.	Das & Basu (2022); Hahn et al. (2009); Venus et al. (2022)

Table 1.1: Indicators of livelihood vulnerability in tribal communities

		Prevalence of Diseases	• Vulnerability to climate-related health risks like water and vector-borne diseases or malnutrition	Rai et al. (2022)
		Food Security	• Accessibility and availability of nutritious food sources	Phuong et al. (2023)
5.	Adaptive Capacity Indicators	Infrastructure Development	• Access to technologies for climate-resilient agriculture, water management, etc.	Srivastav et al. (2021)
		Capacity Building	• Participating in training, knowledge exchange, and skill development programs can increase adaptation.	Phuong et al. (2023); Venus et al. (2022)
		Financial Resources	• Access to loans, insurance, and social safety nets for recovery post-disaster.	Rai et al. (2022); Venus et al. (2022)
6.	Governance and Policy Indicators	Policy Support	• Adaptive policies and programs exist at local, national, and international levels.	Reed et al. (2006)
		Institutional Capacity	• Acceptability of institutions for disaster management, climate adaptation, and disaster risk reduction	Birkmann & von Teichman (2010)
		Participation and Inclusivity	• Participation of tribal communities in decision-making practices and policy implementation	Menon & Hartz-Karp (2019)

Environmental factors focus on natural resource dependence, land tenure systems, and ecological resilience, emphasising the vulnerability of tribal livelihoods to changes in climatic conditions (Bora & Mahanta, 2024; Long & Steel, 2020; Mallick et al., 2024; Ramakrishnan et al., 2024). Institutional factors are the effectiveness of governance policies, structures, and institutional support systems in facilitating adaptation and resilience-building attempts within tribal communities (Mehta, 2024). Table 1.1 presents vulnerability indicators in tribal communities, providing a comprehensive understanding of CC and variability and aiding in developing targeted interventions and adaptation strategies.

1.6.2 Assessment Models and Tools

Various assessment models and tools have been developed to measure vulnerability and guide decision-making activities in tribal areas, as presented in Table **1.2**. These models range from qualitative to quantitative approaches. Qualitative methods such as participatory vulnerability assessments and community-based risk mapping prioritise community engagement and local knowledge, allowing tribal communities to identify and select vulnerability factors based on their lived experiences and observations (Smit & Wandel, 2006). Quantitative models, such as vulnerability index construction, situation-based modelling, and indicator-based models, use statistical procedures and geographic information system (GIS) mapping to analyse vulnerability hotspots, quantify risk levels, and prioritise intrusion areas (Panda, 2017). Integrating quantitative and qualitative methods in indicator-based models, utilising data from censuses, surveys, and climatic records, provides a comprehensive understanding of vulnerability dynamics (Hahn et al., 2009; Phuong et al., 2023).

SI. No.	Assessment Framework/Model	Description	Key Features	References
1.	IPCC Vulnerability Assessment Framework	Developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), this framework provides a systematic approach to assess vulnerability to climate change.	Considers exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity	IPCC (2014)
2.	Livelihood Vulnerability Index	A composite index is used to measure livelihoods' vulnerability to climate change.	Incorporates socioeconomic, environmental, and institutional factors	Ahmad et al. (2023); Hahn et al. (2009); Joshi & Rawat (2021); Venus et al. (2022)
3.	Community-Based Vulnerability Assessment	Focuses on participatory approaches involving local communities in assessing their vulnerability to climate change impacts	Emphasises local knowledge and perceptions	Andrachuk & Smit (2012)
4.	Composite Social Vulnerability Index	Measures socioeconomic vulnerability to climate change by integrating social, economic, and demographic variables.	Calculating Infrastructural, Social, and Climate Vulnerability Index	George et al. (2023); George & Sharma (2022)
5.	Socio-ecological vulnerability	Socio-ecological vulnerability assessment of climate change by integrating socioeconomic, agriculture, water, and forest	Quantifies exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity	Jha & Negi (2021)
6.	Composite Vulnerability Index	Assessed the local dimensions of vulnerability using a composite vulnerability index based on environmental and socioeconomic factors	Evaluate and map the environmental, socioeconomic, and composite vulnerability index.	Sarun et al. (2018)
7.	Household Vulnerability Index	Evaluate household-level vulnerability to climate change	Includes income loss, crop loss, housing loss, and overall livelihood loss	Ghosh & Ghosal (2020)
8.	Climate Change Vulnerability Index	Examine climate change vulnerability among the agriculture-dependent and forest resource-dependent villages.	Quantifies exposure, sensitivity, adaptive capacity, and climate change vulnerability index	Ghosh & Ghosal (2021)

Table 1.2: Assessment tools and models for evaluating vulnerability

Vulnerability Index Tools are often used to quantify vulnerability by aggregating multiple indicators into a single index score. Tools like the Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (George et al., 2023; George & Sharma, 2022) or the Climate Vulnerability Index are commonly used (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2021). Participatory assessment methods involve directly engaging communities to recognise their perceptions of vulnerability, adaptive capacities, and specific challenges (Andrachuk & Smit, 2012). Participatory assessment tools such as community mapping, seasonal calendars, and vulnerability and capacity assessments are samples of such attempts (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2020; Jha & Negi, 2021). GIS are extensively applied to map vulnerability spatially by overlaying climate, environmental, and socioeconomic data (Sarun et al., 2018). GIS tools can assist in finding areas most vulnerable to CC impacts and select intrusions accordingly. Livelihood assessment tools aim to understand the diverse livelihood strategies employed by communities and the impact of CC on these strategies (Ahmad et al., 2023; Hahn et al., 2009; Joshi & Rawat, 2021; Venus et al., 2022). Livelihood frameworks assess community vulnerability by examining assets, capabilities, and strategies, while adaptation planning tools identify intervention areas based on vulnerability assessments (Tuler et al., 2020). Cost-benefit analysis and scenario planning are frequently employed to estimate the effectiveness of various adaptation alternatives (Kwakkel, 2020).

1.7 Review of Past Studies

CC impacts on Indigenous peoples and local communities are diverse, widespread, and visible, emphasising the need for context-specific adaptation strategies and recognising their experiences in addressing loss and damage across different climate zones globally (Reyes-García et al., 2024). Case studies can highlight specific regions, as shown in Table 1.3. Tribal communities in the coastal areas of the U.S. use effective strategies rooted in cultural practices and values to address climate-induced

Sl. No.	Location	Spatial granulari ty	Objective	Main Findings	References	Literature Synthesis Insights
1.	Worldwide (48 sites across all climate zones)	Global level	Identify climate change indicators and impacts experienced locally by Indigenous Peoples and local communities.	 Ongoing, tangible, and widespread impacts Affected multiple elements of social- ecological systems across different climate zones and livelihood activities Identifying economic and non-economic loss and damage due to climate change through local reports. 	Reyes-García et al. (2024)	• Climate change impacts vary according to climate zone and livelihood activity, demonstrating the need for localised adaptation strategies.
2.	United States	National and regional level	Examine the impact of climate change- induced displacement on tribal communities and explore their adaptation strategies.	 Using innovative strategies to mitigate the impacts of forced relocation due to sea level rise, land erosion, and permafrost thaw. A significant risk of cultural and economic loss, health impacts, and exacerbated poverty and injustice 	Maldonado et al. (2013)	 Inadequate governance mechanisms and budgets are major barriers. Community-led efforts that align with cultural practices are more effective.
3.	United States	National level	Investigate the impacts of climate change on tribal traditional foods and the cultural, economic, and health implications.	 Significantly affecting native fungi, plant, and animal species is essential for tribal traditional foods. Legal and regulatory relationships with the federal government influence access to these resources. 	Lynn et al. (2013)	 Tribal traditional foods are vital to culture and economy Adaptation strategies involving tribal participation can enhance resilience and inform

Table 1.3: Past studies on tribal livelihood vulnerability and adaptation

					broader governmental strategies
4.	Alberta, Canada	Local level	Assess the tribal vulnerabilities and adaptive capacity related to climate change.	 Reduces water supplies, impacting Pyramid Lake and the endangered cui-ui fish, vital for cultural and economic sustenance. Limited economic opportunities and reduced federal support constrain adaptive capacity. 	al. • The tribe shows sustainability-based values, strong technical capacity in natural resource management, proactive invasive species control, robust scientific networks, and high awareness of climate change.
5.	Louisiana, United States	Regional level	Evaluate the impact of environmental changes, forced displacement, and inadequate governance mechanisms on tribal communities.	 Forcibly displacing tribal communities due to Environmental changes, leading to severe social, cultural, health, and economic consequences. Inadequate governance mechanisms exacerbate these issues. Communities face a dilemma between staying in place and relocating. 	 Adaptive governance structures are critical for supporting in-situ adaptation or community- led relocation efforts. Multiple forms of knowledge need to be integrated into the adaptation process.
6.	Latin America	Local level	Analyse the impact of climate-induced relocation on Indigenous Peoples and assess the effectiveness of managed retreat as an adaptation strategy.	 Rising sea levels and increasing climate threats make climate-induced relocation necessary. Poses significant risks, including the loss of cultural identity, community cohesion, and traditional knowledge 	 Relocation processes Relocation processes indicate adverse impacts such as loss of community cohesion, cultural identity, and traditional knowledge among Indigenous Peoples. Managed retreat faces resistance due to the potential loss of cultural

					heritage and social networks.
7.	Chile	Local level	Examine climate change impacts and vulnerability trends among Mapuche communities from 1990 to 2015	 Trends in water scarcity, reduced agricultural production, vegetation colonisation, and population migration to higher altitudes due to climate change. Increased pressure on Andean ecosystems and loss of traditional Mapuche knowledge 	 Limited local capacity for adaptation Governmental initiatives not fully meeting community needs Critical need for local resilience-building efforts.
8.	Norway, Finland, Sweden, Russia	Regional level	Develop a framework for understanding the holistic effects of climate change on the Saami people.	 Significantly impacting Saami reindeer culture and traditional practices The health of Saami is slightly better than other populations in the region, but mental health risks related to changing environments are emerging concerns. 	• Identified the interconnectedness of climate change impacts on cultural and health aspects among the Saami
9.	Bukavu, DR Congo	Local level	Explore vulnerability and adaptation strategies to climate change in local communities.	 The perception of climate change depends on observable impacts. (2014) Climate-related risks compound existing vulnerabilities, worsening poverty. Various adaptation measures are practised or planned, including local knowledge integration. Implementation of adaptation faces significant barriers, such as financial constraints and lack of institutional support. 	• Participatory action research provided insights into local perceptions and realities of climate impacts, emphasising the need for context-specific adaptation strategies.

10.	South Africa	Local level	Investigate climate vulnerability and risks to an Indigenous Nama community.	 Climate hazards identified include drought, hot temperatures, and strong winds. Lack of access to critical natural resources in the adjacent national park increases vulnerability. 	 A remarkable disparity in access to natural resources impacts vulnerability levels. The community reveals moderate vulnerability due to mixed adaptive capacity and sensitivity levels.
11.	Taiwan	Local level	Understand the role of culture in the recovery process of relocating Indigenous communities through tourism livelihood.	 Appeal to culture, rather than land, as the foundation for community resilience and conflict reduction post-disaster. Indigenous culture-based tourism can sustain livelihoods and support long-term development. 	 The existing literature focuses primarily on rebuilding and renovating physical infrastructure. There is a gap regarding the social aspects of recovery, particularly in indigenous perspectives.
12.	Taiwan	Local level	Develop a livelihood vulnerability analytical framework and apply it to Indigenous communities regularly exposed to typhoons and geological hazards.	 Least vulnerable communities with abundant livelihood capitals Intermediate vulnerability due to exposure to market and typhoon-related stresses Most vulnerable communities are trapped in poverty and vulnerability cycles A spatially explicit livelihood vulnerability index was developed to diagnose vulnerability dimensions and distribution. 	 Historical development strongly influences current vulnerability patterns. Need for continuous longitudinal tracking of vulnerability dynamics for future research.

13.	Doi Mae Salong, Thailand	Mountainou s landscape	Explore farmers' perceptions of climate change's impact on farming and adaptation measures.	•	Changes in climate patterns affect farming negatively. Adapt alternate farming practices using traditional techniques. Higher vulnerability was observed at higher elevations compared to lower elevations.	Shrestha et al. (2017)	•	Significant autonomous adaptation efforts are evident, yet challenges remain due to limited knowledge and financial resources.
14.	Vietnam	National level	Study the livelihood vulnerability under climate change in rural areas.	•	Higher LVI-IPCC value due to increased exposure to disasters like floods, sea storms, and tropical depressions, significantly impacting livelihoods.	Vo & Tran (2022)	•	Emphasise the critical role of geographic location and exposure to climate-related hazards in determining vulnerability. Highlight the importance of comprehensive datasets like VARHS in understanding multidimensional aspects of rural livelihood vulnerability.
15.	Sherpur and Mymensingh, Bangladesh	District level	Examine the impact of agricultural modernisation on sustainable livelihoods among tribal and non-tribal farmers.	•	Tribal farmers generally had lower education levels than non-tribal farmers, affecting their adoption of modern agricultural practices. Expressed the need for training in new technologies Usage of modern agricultural practices was limited Education, irrigation facilities, and community memberships positively influenced livelihood diversification.	Jannat et al. (2021)	•	Limited educational opportunities among tribal farmers hindered the adoption of modern agricultural practices.

16.	Nepal	District level	Analyse the micro- level vulnerability of the rural Chepang community	•	Highlighting local-level differences in exposure and adaptive capacity. Poor households with low adaptive capacity are consistently vulnerable regardless of location.	Piya et al. (2012)	•	Importance of local-level vulnerability assessment for targeted policy measures
17.	Himachal Pradesh, India	Subdivision level	Develop a Tribal Household Livelihood Vulnerability Index focusing on Lahaul, Udaipur, and Spiti subdivisions in the western Himalayas cold deserts.	•	The vulnerability of tribal households varies significantly across different socioeconomic and ecological conditions due to differences in adaptability, sensitivity, and exposure to climate change.	Kumar et al. (2023)	•	The literature review showed significant variations in vulnerability metrics across Lahaul, Udaipur, and Spiti, influenced by socioeconomic and ecological factors unique to each subdivision.
18.	Uttarakhand, India	Regional Level	Assess the trend of climatic variations, impacts, and adaptation strategies by the community.	•	Periodic climatic fluctuations, including a downward annual and seasonal rainfall trend Community perception notes reduced monsoon intensity, decreased winter snowfall, and erratic precipitation patterns. Reduced crop yields and horticultural production due to climate change impacts	Pratap & Pratap (2021)	•	Community adaptation strategies include varying crops, changing planting schedules, and enhancing water management practices.
19.	Gujarat, India	State level	Examine the livelihood conditions of tribal communities in Gujarat amidst rapid	•	Significant poverty and deprivation among tribal communities despite economic growth	Shah & O.G. (2009)	•	Recognition of the Important role of forest resources in tribal livelihoods and the degradation challenges

			economic growth and widening disparities. Also, explore policy options for mitigating poverty among these communities, focusing on forest- based livelihoods and climate change adaptation.	•	Dependence on forest resources for livelihoods, exacerbated by degradation and inadequate entitlements Policy emphasis on forest regeneration, conservation, and sustainable management is crucial for poverty alleviation and climate resilience.		•	Identification of policy gaps and the need for stronger entitlements and conservation incentives
20.	Madhya Pradesh, India	Local level	Evaluate climate change vulnerability and identify key drivers for effective adaptation strategies.	•	Economic conditions, education level, and livelihood strategy significantly influence vulnerability more than social class. Government programs must be inclusive and focus on the welfare of all social classes.	Yadava & Sinha (2020)	•	The vulnerability index revealed critical insights into vulnerability drivers. Household economic status and livelihood choices emerged as pivotal factors.
21.	Madhya Pradesh, India	Local level	Assess the impact of MGNREGA on vulnerability to climate change among tribal communities.	•	MGNREGA has significantly reduced vulnerability related to climate variability, agriculture, water, and household economic conditions. Increased water availability, diversified agriculture, improved crop yields and employment opportunities, and enhanced the economic status of tribal peoples.	Jha et al. (2017)	•	The MGNREGA program effectively integrates natural and human systems, enhancing resilience to climate impacts.

22.	West Bengal, India	Local level	Measure and compare livelihood vulnerability among Santal, Munda, Bhumij, and Lodha tribal communities in response to climate change.	•	Tribal households exhibit greater sensitivity to climate change and have less capacity for adaptation. The absence of alternative employment opportunities and planned activities exacerbates the impact of climatic variability on livelihoods, particularly agriculture-based ones.	Das & Basu (2022)	•	It highlights the significance of beta regression modelling in determining vulnerability factors.
23.	West Bengal, India	Local level	Determine livelihood vulnerability among tribal farmers in the face of water scarcity.	•	Income level, irrigation facilities, credit patterns, and social group participation strongly influence the higher LVI. Monocrop cultivation and limited livelihood options augment vulnerability.	Mukherjee et al. (2022)	•	A composite Livelihood Vulnerability Index model and IPCC-LVI technique were employed.
24.	North-East India	Local level	Characterise Indigenous community-based climate vulnerability and capacity assessment in the Garo hills	•	The Garo indigenous communities are highly vulnerable to climate change due to factors such as high poverty levels, dependence on natural resources, and frequent climatic hazards like cyclonic storms and droughts. Climate change disrupts agriculture, water availability, and livelihoods.	Yadav & Sarma (2013)	•	The study highlights strategic and short-term adaptation strategies rather than long-term planning.
25.	Nagaland, India	Local level	Explore the community-level vulnerability due to climate extremes and variability	•	Minor exposure, sensitivity, or adaptive capacity changes could make the communities vulnerable. Reducing sensitivity through safe housing infrastructure, food security, and sanitation development	Kuotsu et al. (2017)	•	The Ao communities show somewhat higher vulnerability than the Angami tribes, but both are statistically vulnerable at similar levels.

26.	Tripura, India	District level	Assess the extent of climate vulnerability using the LVI-IPCC technique among tribal and non-tribal populations in Tripura.	•	Significantly impacts agricultural-based livelihoods. Tribal households are more exposed to climate change impacts, leading to higher vulnerability than non-tribal households. Exhibit greater sensitivity and lower adaptation capacity.	Roy et al. (2023)	•	The LVI-IPCC method provides a structured approach to assessing vulnerability across demographic groups.
27.	Jharkhand, India	Village level	Estimate household vulnerability indices among tribal rural households	•	Need for urgent income enhancement and livelihood improvement interventions. Declining rainfall exacerbated vulnerability. Efforts to improve irrigation and farm incomes showed limited impact.	Vatta et al. (2017)	•	Declining rainfall exacerbated vulnerability, shifting additional households into more vulnerable categories. Efforts to increase irrigation and farm incomes showed localised improvements but were insufficient, given the scale of vulnerability.
28.	Jharkhand, India	Village level	Investigating the impact of climate change on NTFPs	•	Increased maximum temperature has led to a significant decrease in NTFP yield. Degraded the quality of NTFPs Lack of incorporating Indigenous knowledge of climate change into institutional processes	Magry et al. (2023)	•	Integrating Indigenous knowledge into adaptation strategies, addressing infrastructure development impacts, and enhancing institutional support for NTFP-based livelihoods
29.	Jharkhand, India	State level	Assess the impact of climate change on tribal economy and livelihoods	•	Increased incidence of drought, affecting rain-fed agriculture and natural resource availability for tribal communities	Barla (2016)	•	Evidence shows a visible increase in drought frequency and intensity in Jharkhand, impacting tribal

				•	Result in livelihood insecurity, decreased crop production, and increased vulnerability to diseases among crops and livestock			communities heavily dependent on natural resources and rain-fed agriculture.
30.	Jharkhand and Odisha, India	Village-level	Examine the perception of the Sauria Paharia community regarding climate change impacts on agroforestry and dietary diversity and assess adaptation strategies.	•	Local climatic variability reduces crop productivity and food availability from forests and water bodies. Declining agroforestry produce and diversity reduces household income, food insecurity, and migratory wage labour. Use of climate-resilient Indigenous crop varieties, seed conservation, and reliance on Indigenous Forest foods during lean periods	Ghosh-Jerath et al. (2021)	•	Limited resources and coping mechanisms of the Sauria Paharia community underline severe vulnerability to climate impacts. Importance of promoting sustainable adaptation strategies to enhance resilience, income, and food security
31.	Jharkhand, India	District level	Assess livelihood vulnerability among 15 tribes, including 8 Particularly Vulnerable Tribal Groups (PVTGs)	•	Landless families are highly vulnerable. Forest dwellers face challenges in education and healthcare access. Minor forest produces and social welfare measures serve as crucial safety nets. Improved access to banking, housing, and sanitation facilities Need to enhance livelihood opportunities for forest-dwelling communities.	Behera et al. (2022)	•	The study indicates the effectiveness of participatory approaches in assessing vulnerability. Challenges in education and healthcare and the importance of safety nets are critical areas for policy intervention.

displacement, highlighting the importance of community-led and government-supported relocation programs (Maldonado et al., 2013). CC presents severe threats to the accessibility and quality of traditional foods that are essential to the survival of American Indian and Alaska Native tribes, influencing their cultural, economic, and social welfare, with varied consequences observed in different ecosystems. (Lynn et al., 2013). In coastal Louisiana, tribal communities facing forced displacement due to environmental changes such as rising sea levels, historical discriminatory processes, and industrial growth need adaptive governance structures that support both in-situ adaptation and community-led relocation, integrating diverse knowledge systems (Maldonado, 2014). The Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe in Nevada illustrates the impact of CC on cultural and economic prosperity by reducing crucial water inflows for the survival of endangered cui-ui fish. The tribe's adaptation to changes is influenced by their commitment to sustainability, resource management, control over invasive species, collaboration with scientists, and awareness of CC (Gautam et al., 2013).

The Saami, who are the only tribal community in the European Union, exhibit similar or even better health conditions in comparison to the neighbouring communities. Still, the impact of CC is already evident in their reindeer culture and mental health, making them vulnerable to the changing conditions around them, particularly in the Sápmi region (Jaakkola et al., 2018). However, Climate-induced planned relocations in Latin America and the Caribbean, experienced by the Guna people in Panama and tribal communities in Chiapas, often worsen cultural and socioeconomic problems due to inadequate planning and execution rather than effectively dealing with the challenges of CC (Felipe Pérez & Tomaselli, 2021). Mapuche communities in the Araucanía region of Chile are more vulnerable to CC due to factors such as water scarcity, decreased agricultural productivity, ecological pressure, and the loss of traditional knowledge, imposing local resilience and tailored adaptation measures (Parraguez-Vergara et al., 2016). CC increases existing vulnerabilities, requiring integrated adaptation strategies focusing on essential sectors and decentralised governance structures to improve resilience and reduce the effect on economic growth and poverty reduction initiatives in the Democratic Republic of Congo, Africa (Bele et al., 2014). The Nama community in South Africa is moderately vulnerable to CC, mainly because of drought, high temperatures, and strong winds. It might increase as the harsh weather patterns become more severe. Therefore, it is important to use the existing co-management models with the South African National Park to mitigate the risks related to CC (Samuels et al., 2022).

In Asia, the communities least vulnerable to hostile effects are in the most isolated areas and have sufficient resources to reduce their vulnerability. The communities with moderate vulnerability face a dual risk from the market and natural hazards. On the other hand, the most vulnerable communities are trapped in a loop of poverty along with vulnerability (Lin & Polsky, 2016). The Tsou Indigenous community in Taiwan experienced a resilient recovery after being relocated because of Typhoon Morakot due to their culturally based tourism livelihoods. It illustrates the importance of using indigenous culture, rather than land, as the foundation for community growth, as it promotes social resilience and decreases internal conflicts in the impact of a disaster (Lin & Lin, 2020). The Doi Mae Salong region in Northern Thailand reveals farmers' awareness of CC's impact on agriculture and their strategies for coping, highlighting the economically poor population's vulnerability (Shrestha et al., 2017). The regions of North Central and South-Central Coasts in Vietnam are most vulnerable due to the increased frequency of floods, sea storms, and tropical depressions, which underlines the urgency for targeted interventions in these regions to protect rural livelihoods against climatic risks (Vo & Tran, 2022). The study reveals tribal farmers in the Sherpur and Mymensingh districts of Bangladesh have

lower education levels but are keen on technology training, indicating the potential for improved living standards (Jannat et al., 2021). The study in Nepal's rural Chepang community highlights the importance of targeted interventions in improving households' adaptive capacity, particularly among the poorest families, to mitigate climate variability (Piya et al., 2012).

The study highlights the need for sustainable livelihood policies in Himalayan tribal communities in India due to the varying vulnerabilities they face across socioeconomic and ecological conditions (Kumar et al., 2023). The Jaunsar-Bawar tribal region in the Central Himalayas has been facing a decline in rainfall since the late 1980s, necessitating institutional support for adaptation (Pratap & Pratap, 2021). Rapid economic growth in Gujarat has worsened tribal community disparities, emphasising the importance of sustainable resource management and forest-based livelihoods (Shah & O.G., 2009). The study highlights the significance of socioeconomic factors like education, economic status, and livelihood type in assessing households' vulnerability to CC impacts in forest peripheral villages in Madhya Pradesh (Yadava & Sinha, 2020). The Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act 2005 (MGNREGA) programmes significantly decrease vulnerability to CC and poverty among tribal communities, enhancing income, employment opportunities, agricultural diversification, crop yield, and water availability (Jha et al., 2017). Policy interventions in West Bengal are suggested to address the vulnerability of tribal livelihoods to CC, considering factors such as agriculture income, family size, poverty, and water availability (Das & Basu, 2022; Mukherjee et al., 2022). The Garo tribal communities in Meghalaya are at heightened risk due to high poverty, reliance on natural resources, and frequent disruptions to their livelihoods due to cyclonic storms and droughts (Yadav & Sarma, 2013). Even minor exposure, sensitivity, or adaptive capacity changes could make communities

vulnerable, demanding the enhancement of housing, food security, and sanitation (Kuotsu et al., 2017). Tribal households, closely dependent on agricultural activities, have greater sensitivity and lower adaptive capacity than non-tribal households, thus increasing their vulnerability to climate impacts (Roy et al., 2023). CC has significantly decreased the productivity and quality of non-timber forest products (NTFPs), showing the challenge faced by the lack of integrating Indigenous knowledge into institutional processes (Magry et al., 2023). The increasing incidence of drought and decline in forest cover in Jharkhand due to CC disproportionately affects the tribal communities, threatening their livelihoods and economy (Barla, 2016). The Sauria Paharia tribal community is vulnerable to CC, reducing crop productivity, agroforestry diversity, and household food insecurity (Ghosh-Jerath et al., 2021). Therefore, executing sustainable adaptation strategies is crucial to improving resilience and ensuring food security for the community. Landless forest dwellers, including vulnerable tribal groups, in Jharkhand and Odisha face vulnerability due to inadequate access to education, healthcare, and social welfare measures (Behera et al., 2022). The necessity of focused development initiatives is highlighted by the need for comprehensive interventions to enhance income and livelihoods for tribal rural communities, with CC exacerbating levels of vulnerability (Vatta et al., 2017) These empirical analyses can identify best practices, lessons learned, and opportunities for scaling up adaptation efforts to enhance the resilience of tribal communities in the face of CC.

1.8 Adaptation and Resilience Strategies

Climate change poses significant tasks to tribal communities, affecting their traditional livelihoods, cultural practices, and overall well-being. Tribal communities worldwide are employing various adaptation and resilience strategies to cope with these changes and build sustainable futures (Fig. 1.6). The diverse range of adaptation and resilience strategies used by tribal



communities, focusing on indigenous knowledge and practices, community-based approaches, and policy interventions, is discussed here.

Fig. 1.6: Adaptation and resilience strategies to cope with climate changes

1.8.1 Indigenous Knowledge and Practices

In response to CC, tribal communities worldwide employ various adaptation and resilience strategies to cope with these changes and build sustainable futures. Various adaptation and resilience strategies are employed by tribal communities, focusing on indigenous knowledge, community-based approaches, and policy interventions. Indigenous people deeply understand their local environments and develop through generations of coexisting peacefully with nature (Carrin, 2024). This conventional ecological knowledge forms the basis of many adaptation strategies that tribal communities utilise (Mallick et al., 2024; Parrotta & Agnoletti, 2012). From agricultural practices to resource management techniques, indigenous knowledge systems offer constructive insights into sustainable living in changing climatic scenarios. Tribal communities mainly depend on agriculture and use traditional farming methods tailored to the local environment in response to CC. In arid regions, Indigenous communities are implementing water-saving methods such as rainwater harvesting, contour ploughing, and crop diversification to mitigate the effects of droughts and erratic rainfall patterns (Haddis, 2018). Apart from agricultural practices, tribal communities have complex techniques for managing natural resources sustainably (Kala, 2022). Many tribes have traditional forest management practices, including rotational grazing, selective logging, and forest fire management techniques (Charnley et al.,

2007). These practices help maintain biodiversity, prevent soil erosion, and enhance ecosystem resilience in climate-related challenges (Lin & Lin, 2020). Traditional knowledge holders pass down ancestral knowledge and rituals that raise social cohesion, spiritual well-being, and collective action (Xu et al., 2005). These cultural practices provide emotional support during harsh conditions and advance environmental stewardship and adaptive capacity within tribal communities.

1.8.2 Community-Based Adaptation Approaches

Tribal communities use community-based adaptation (CBA) approaches to address CC impacts collaboratively (Fischer, 2021). CBA highlight local participation, empowerment, and decision-making, enabling communities to recognise their vulnerabilities and develop context-specific adaptation strategies (McNamara & Buggy, 2017). Tribal communities perform participatory assessments to recognise key climate risks and vulnerabilities (Long & Steel, 2020; Mehta, 2024). These assessments engage community members, local leaders, researchers, and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) to collect data, analyse findings, and prioritise adaptation actions (Salvador Costa et al., 2022; Samaddar et al., 2021). Integrating local and scientific knowledge in these assessments ensures that adaptation strategies are rooted in the realities of tribal livelihoods and environments.

Furthermore, many tribal communities are adopting ecosystem-based adaptation methods that harness the resilience of natural ecosystems to boost human well-being (Chaudhary et al., 2021; Panmei & Selvan, 2024; Saikia et al., 2020). Ecosystem-based adaptation strategies include restoring degraded habitats, conserving biodiversity hotspots, and creating green infrastructure to buffer against climate impacts such as floods, storms, and heat waves (Inácio et al., 2020). By protecting and restoring natural ecosystems, tribal communities adapt to CC and contribute to global mitigation efforts (Chong, 2014). However, CBA methods emphasise building social capital and encouraging community resilience through capacity building, knowledge exchange, and collective action (Carmen et al., 2022). Workshops, training programs, and community events were organised to raise awareness about CC, build adaptive skills, and strengthen social networks among tribal communities (Mallick et al., 2024; Mehta, 2024; Nursey-Bray et al., 2022). CBA empowers community members to take charge of their adaptation processes, promoting self-reliance and long-term resilience (Mehta, 2024; Samaddar et al., 2021).

1.8.3 Policy Interventions

Tribal communities, despite their cultural heritage and ecological knowledge, frequently face challenges in adaptation due to limited resource access, land tenure insecurity, and insufficient government funding. Effective policy interventions are needed to address these challenges and build an assisting environment for tribal adaptation and resilience, as presented in Table 1.4. Indigenous rights to land, resources, and selfdetermination are crucial for tribal adaptation efforts, and governments must respect traditional governance systems and involve tribal communities in decision-making processes (Brugnach et al., 2017). In addition, policymakers should develop inclusive and participatory policy frameworks that incorporate indigenous knowledge systems, cultural values, and community priorities into national and regional adaptation plans (Wheeler & Root-Bernstein, 2020). Governments, international organisations, and development agencies should support tribal communities in implementing adaptation projects and initiatives by mainstreaming Indigenous perceptions into climate policies (Mehta, 2024). There should be provision to include funding for climate-resilient infrastructure, livelihood diversification programs, disaster preparedness training, and climate information packages tailored to the needs of tribal communities.

Sl. No.	Policy Intervention	Description	Advantages	References
1.	Integration of Indigenous Knowledge Systems	Incorporation of traditional knowledge into climate change adaptation and resilience strategies	 Enhances cultural significance and acceptance of adaptation strategies Influences time-tested, locally adapted practices Strengthens community engagement and ownership 	Mehta (2024).
2.	Community-Based Natural Resource Management	Policies advancing community ownership and management of natural resources	 Promote sustainable use of resources Empowers communities Improves resource conservation and resilience against climate impacts 	Mishra et al. (2021)
3.	Capacity Building Initiatives	Training programs and workshops are needed to improve the capacity of tribal communities to adapt.	 Builds local skills and knowledge Increases community resilience Enhances ability to implement and maintain adaptation measures 	Nursey-Bray et al. (2022)
4.	Access to Climate Information and Early Warning Systems	Establishment of systems for spreading climate information and early warning systems	 Provides timely information to prevent and mitigate climate impacts Reduces loss of life and property Enhances preparedness and response capabilities 	Panda et al. (2023)
5.	Sustainable Livelihood Diversification	Policies encouraging diversification of livelihoods to decrease dependency on climate- sensitive sectors	 Reduces risk of income loss from climate events Enhances economic stability Promotes resilience by spreading risk across multiple sectors. 	Mehta (2024)
6.	Land Tenure Security	Measures to secure land rights for tribal communities, preventing land catching and displacement	 Ensures long-term access to land and resources Reduces conflicts over land Provides a stable source for livelihood activities and investment 	Naik & Madhanagopal (2022)

 Table 1.4: Policy interventions for enhancing tribal resilience
7.	Disaster Risk Reduction Strategies	Implementation of strategies to decrease vulnerability to climate- induced disasters	 Reduce damage and loss from disasters Enhance community safety Reduces economic costs associated with disaster recovery 	Kumar et al. (2023)
8.	Financial Support Systems	Provision of financial support, grants, and subsidies for climate adaptation programs.	 Facilitate implementation of adaptation strategies Reduces financial burden on communities Encourages innovation and practical adaptation 	Craig, (2022)
9.	Institutional Support for Indigenous Governance Structures	Recognition and cooperation for Indigenous governance systems in decision-making processes	 Strengthens governance and representation Ensures culturally applicable solutions Enhances authenticity and compliance with adaptation measures 	Lefthand-Begay et al. (2024)
10.	Research and Data Collection	Funding and support for research initiatives to collect data on climate change impacts on tribal livelihoods	 Inform evidence-based policymaking Identifies specific vulnerabilities and needs Supports targeted and effective adaptation strategies 	Mishra et al. (2019)

1.9 Challenges

Understanding the challenges and interpreting the vulnerability of tribal communities to CC is necessary for developing effective adaptation and mitigation strategies. The challenges faced by the government, policymakers, and NGOs in implementing CC adaptation and mitigation strategies for tribal communities are detailed in Fig. 1.7.



Fig. 1.7: Summary of challenges

1.9.1 Data and Research Limitations

The limited availability and accessibility of reliable data are one of the primary challenges in evaluating the vulnerability of tribal communities to CC. Many tribal regions lack robust monitoring methods and data collection infrastructure, indicating gaps in understanding CC's specific impacts on these communities. Furthermore, there is a need for more interdisciplinary research that incorporates traditional ecological knowledge with scientific approaches. CC impacts vary spatially and temporally, posing challenges in correctly capturing and predicting these dynamics at the regional level (Nissan et al., 2019). Most existing studies focus on broader regional or national scales, neglecting the nuanced vulnerabilities of specific tribal groups residing in diverse ecological sites. Several authors faced various challenges regarding data availability such as difficulty in data collection due to the remoteness, tribal-dominated areas, including language barriers

and limited village access (Magry et al., 2023); reliance on peer-reviewed journal articles, excluding other relevant literature related to tribal communities (Fan et al., 2022); unavailability of data at a consistent scale for all required variables; inconsistencies in data availability, with some variables being spatially continuous and others only available at administrative levels (Kasthala et al., 2024); lack of significant quantifiable literature on indigenous agricultural practices in India; and absence of direct studies assessing CC risk (Aich et al., 2022).

1.9.2 Policy and Implementation Barriers

Tribal communities often encounter marginalisation in decision-making practices and policy formulation related to CC adaptation and mitigation (Ahmed et al., 2022; Fischer, 2021; Mallick et al., 2024). The lack of indigenous representation leads to policies that may inadequately direct the exceptional needs and priorities of tribal communities. Moreover, limited financial resources for CC adaptation and mitigation strategies in tribal regions augment vulnerabilities (Hazarika et al., 2024; Mallick et al., 2024; Mehta, 2024; Mishra et al., 2019). Insufficient funding limits the performance of adaptation strategies, such as infrastructure development, capacity building, and community-based initiatives (Fischer, 2021). However, many CC adaptation policies and programs follow top-down methods that do not consider the knowledge, preferences, and priorities of local tribal communities. Various studies highlighted policy and implementation barriers in CC adaptation, emphasising the need for culturally sensitive, context-specific approaches, effective stakeholder engagement, tangible benefits, capacity-building, and integration of Indigenous knowledge to confirm the resilience and empowerment of rural and Indigenous communities (Datta & Kairy, 2024; Nkoana et al., 2018; Salvador Costa et al., 2022; Samaddar et al., 2021).

1.9.3 Socio-cultural Challenges

Rapid modernisation and globalisation augment cultural erosion, leading to a loss of identity and social cohesion among tribal communities (Ozer & Obaidi, 2022). Additionally, gender disparities within tribal communities' composite vulnerability to CC effects. Women often show the impact of environmental degradation and resource scarcity. However, in decisionmaking processes about adaptation and attempts to create resilience, their views are typically marginalised (Matsa, 2021) Several studies have demonstrated significant socio-cultural challenges in their research on tribal communities, including struggles with cultural identity, traditional sickness perceptions affecting healthcare access, the integration of indigenous knowledge in sustainability efforts, and barriers to education and economic development (Mallick et al., 2024; Maske et al., 2015; Mishra, 2023; Yoganandham, 2023).

Overcoming data limitations, advancing inclusive policy frameworks, and promoting socio-cultural resilience are critical steps towards confirming the well-being and sustainability of tribal communities in a changing climate. Addressing the challenges mentioned above is crucial for effectively developing the resilience of tribal communities to CC.

1.10 Conclusions

This study has shed light on the relationship between CC and the vulnerability of tribal communities' livelihoods. A review of available literature showed the impacts of CC on several dimensions of tribal livelihoods, including agriculture, water resources, forests, health, and socioeconomics. It also revealed the different adaptation and resilience strategies used by tribal communities, leveraging indigenous knowledge, community-based approaches, and policy interventions. However, it is evident that challenges continue, including data limitations, policy gaps, and socio-cultural barriers. There is an urgent need for collaborative efforts among researchers, policymakers, and tribal communities to address these

challenges and improve the adaptive capacity of tribal livelihoods in the face of CC. It is advised that governments and development organisations give tribal communities' rights top priority and safeguard them while also incorporating indigenous knowledge systems into CC adaptation planning and implementation. CC can contribute to developing more resilient and sustainable futures for tribal communities.

1.11 Research Gap

Climate change directly or indirectly impacts tribal communities due to higher dependency on agriculture and natural resources for their livelihoods. Despite the growing recognition of these challenges, several gaps persist, especially in the Indian context, which focuses on Madhya Pradesh. Some of the major gaps are discussed below:

- ◆ Lacking long-term climatic trends at the regional level.
- Existing studies frequently depend on short-term datasets, which fail to capture long-term climatic trends.
- ✤ District-level climate vulnerability assessment was scarce.
- Limited research exists on how tribal populations across India perceive and respond to climatic changes. The diverse tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara, with distinctive sociocultural settings, are lessened in perception-based studies.
- Tribal communities remain understudied in vulnerability assessments due to their reliance on climate-sensitive resources. Research especially focusing on the diverse tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh, including Dhar and Chhindwara, is scarce.
- Frameworks like LVI and IPCC-AR6 are widely used, but their application to tribal communities is limited. Few studies integrate environmental, socioeconomic, and perception-based indicators into a vulnerability assessment. Additionally, index validation is often neglected.

- There is limited research on how exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity shape livelihood vulnerability for tribal communities. Existing studies fail to assess how climatic and socioeconomic factors affect livelihoods precisely.
- While climate vulnerability is widely studied, the determinants of vulnerability for tribal livelihood remain inadequately explored. Advanced statistical methods, such as multiple linear regression, are not often used to quantify the factors contributing to climate vulnerability.

This study combines scientific climate data, district-level vulnerability assessments, household perceptions, and multidimensional vulnerability frameworks to evaluate the livelihood vulnerability of tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh, addressing the above lacunae. It aims to comprehensively understand their challenges while emphasising the importance of integrating indigenous knowledge. It also provides evidencebased suggestions to enhance resilience and inform policy interventions for tribal populations.

1.12 Research Questions

After identifying the lacunae, this study tries to answer the following questions:

- What are the spatiotemporal climatic dynamics (rainfall and temperature patterns) in Madhya Pradesh?
- How do environmental and socioeconomic factors contribute to district-level climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, and what are the regional variations in vulnerability across different districts?
- What are tribal communities' perceptions on climate change and its impacts in the Chhindwara and Dhar districts, and how do these perceptions influence their livelihood strategies?

- What are the key socioeconomic and environmental determinants of livelihood vulnerability to climatic variability among tribal communities in these districts?
- How do the perceptions of climate change among tribal communities correlate with observed climatic trends, and what are the key socio-demographic factors influencing these perceptions?

1.13 Objectives of the Study

The primary objectives of this study are (a) exploring the spatiotemporal climatic dynamics of Madhya Pradesh using long-term gridded data (1951-2021), focusing on rainfall and temperature patterns, (b) assessing district-level climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, central India, integrating environmental and socioeconomic approach, (c) understanding the perceptions on climate change and its impacts among tribal communities in Chhindwara and Dhar, and analyse how these perceptions influence their livelihood strategies, and (d) evaluating the livelihood vulnerability to climatic variability among tribal communities in Chhindwara and Dhar, and environmental determinants of their vulnerability. The above objectives are further expanded.

- The spatiotemporal climatic dynamics have been explored by framing objectives as to (a) examine the spatiotemporal variability in rainfall and temperature across Madhya Pradesh from 1951 to 2021, (b) detect significant shifts or transition points in rainfall and temperature patterns, (c) assess regional differences in climatic trends within Madhya Pradesh, and (d) evaluate the potential consequences of rainfall and temperature variability on critical sectors such as agriculture and water resources which will directly affect livelihood.
- The district-level climate change vulnerability has been assessed with objectives to (a) evaluating the CC vulnerability of districts in Madhya Pradesh by integrating environmental and socioeconomic

dimensions, (b) classifying districts based on their vulnerability levels and identifying the most and least vulnerable regions, and (c) employing hierarchical cluster analysis for validating the categorization of vulnerability levels and identifying patterns across districts.

- The perceptions of tribal communities on climate change and its impacts on their livelihoods have been analysed, which aims to (a) analyse tribal perceptions of CC and its impacts on their livelihoods in Dhar and Chhindwara, (b) assess observed regional climatic variations using rainfall and temperature data and link them to local perceptions, and (c) identify sociodemographic factors influencing climate awareness and its impacts.
- The livelihood vulnerability to climate variability among tribal communities has been evaluated with the focus to (a) assess the livelihood vulnerability of tribal households in Chhindwara and Dhar districts using the LVI-IPCC framework, (b) validate the LVI-IPCC results, (c) determine the important factors affecting the vulnerability of tribal households in the study areas using multiple linear regression model, (d) compare the vulnerability levels between the two districts to understand regional differences and (e) provide policy recommendations to enhance adaptive capacity and resilience among tribal communities.

This research aims to assess the livelihood vulnerability of tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh to climate change by integrating scientific data, indigenous knowledge, and household perceptions. It also identifies climatic trends, evaluates district-level vulnerability, and determines key factors influencing tribal resilience, providing insights for targeted policies and adaptive strategies.

1.14 Research Methods

This study follows a mixed-method approach to assess livelihood vulnerability to climate change and variability among tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh. The theoretical framework for vulnerability assessment is based on the IPCC conceptualization, which defines vulnerability as a function of three interrelated components: exposure to climatic hazards, the sensitivity of systems to these hazards, and adaptive capacity to cope and adapt (IPCC, 2007, 2014; Kasthala et al., 2024). This framework guides the selection of environmental and socioeconomic indicators and highlights the composite index approach used to quantify vulnerability in the study area.

Secondary data were collected from various sources, including daily gridded rainfall and temperature data (1951-2021) from the India Meteorological Department (<u>https://www.imdpune.gov.in/</u>), MODIS land use data (https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov/), floods and droughts from the State Disaster Management Plan Madhya Pradesh (http://www.mpsdma.mp.gov.in/uploads/media/MP-SDMP-2307141.pdf) and socioeconomic indicators from the Census of India (2011) (http://www.censusmp.gov.in) and other government reports. Primary data were collected through scheduled interviews with 535 tribal households in Chhindwara and Dhar districts, selected using a multistage purposive random sampling method. All these data were analysed using various statistical techniques: the Mann-Kendall test and Sen's slope estimator for trend analysis, Pettitt's test for change point detection, and the Inverse Distance Weighted (IDW) method for spatial distribution. District-level climate vulnerability was assessed using a composite index approach, combining Environmental Vulnerability Index (EVI) and Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (SVI) with hierarchical cluster analysis for validation. Perception data were analysed using descriptive statistics, binary logistic regression, Livelihood Vulnerability Index - Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (LVI-IPCC) framework and multiple linear regression (MLR) was employed to identify key determinants of climate change

impacts and vulnerability (Fig. 1.8). All analyses were conducted using MS Excel, MATLAB, R-Studio, STATA, Origin 2024, and ArcGIS.



Chapter 2

Exploring the Spatiotemporal Climatic Dynamics of Madhya Pradesh using Long-Term Gridded Data (1951-2021)

This chapter explores the spatiotemporal dynamics of rainfall and temperature in Madhya Pradesh using long-term gridded data (1951–2021) from the India Meteorological Department (IMD). It aims to capture regional and temporal variations in climatic variables and their implications for climate change. This analysis identifies transition points and trends in the main climatic variables namely, rainfall and temperature, offering valuable insights for understanding climate change impacts on agriculture, water resources, and livelihoods particularly in Madhya Pradesh.

2.1 Introduction

The increased atmospheric CO₂ and associated climate warming have presented serious worldwide concerns, triggering disruptions in regular climatic patterns (Daniel Tang, 2022; IPCC-AR5, 2014; Nadeau et al., 2022). The changes in Earth's climate are visible via several indicators, including variations in global rainfall patterns and the frequency of high temperatures (Berg et al., 2009; Diffenbaugh, 2020; Tabari, 2020). Daramola & Xu (2022) revealed that drylands have suffered from heat and reduced precipitation in recent decades. Global temperatures have risen by 0.032 °C during the last 40 years, while precipitation has decreased by 0.074 mm per month. These variations in temperature and rainfall are essential climatic characteristics, severely influencing Earth's ecosystems, agriculture, food security, and economic stability (Malhi et al., 2021).

In India, climate change (CC) has mainly damaged agricultural areas, tremendously affecting natural resources and the lives of millions (Thakur et al., 2020). Despite profits from industrialization, India's economy mainly

depends on the agricultural sector for its 16% GDP and 46% employment contribution. The dependency on monsoon rainfall for crop cultivation affects agricultural productivity, water resource management, and the broader economy (Birthal & Hazrana, 2019; Jongaramrungruang et al., 2017). Various research has explored rainfall and temperature patterns at local and regional levels to understand these implications better. Machiwal et al. (2017) and Kumar et al. (2010) have investigated long-term rainfall variations locally and reported regional and temporal heterogeneity in rainfall trends. Katzenberger et al. (2021) found a decline in annual rainfall across India in recent decades, with increased severe rainfall events in the northeastern and southern regions. Shah et al. (2021) observed a significant decrease in the proportion of rainy days and monsoon rainfall in Gujarat. Banerjee et al. (2020) reported that rainfall declined by an average of 15.75 mm per decade from 1983 to 2008 in Uttarakhand. Considering the significant impacts of climatic variables, several studies have analysed the temperature variables apart from the rainfall. India had an average temperature increase of 0.7 °C between 1901 and 2018, predicted to reach 4.4 °C by 2100 (Negi et al., 2022). Over the past few years, certain regions of northwest India, specifically Rajasthan and Gujrat, have experienced extremely high temperatures, reaching 50 °C (Dubey et al., 2021). Thakur et al. (2020) noted an increase in mean (T_{mean}), maximum (T_{max}), and minimum (T_{min}) temperatures of 0.37, 0.5, and 0.25 °C, respectively, between 1951 and 2013. Ray et al. (2019) presented positive trends in seasonal temperatures throughout India, except T_{min}. Mall et al. (2021) showed an increasing trend in T_{max} of 0.078 °C each decade from 1951 to 2016.

Madhya Pradesh, situated in central India, has a declining trend in rainfall and an increasing trend in temperature (Kundu et al., 2017). Yadav & Singh (2023) explored rainfall trends in East and West Madhya Pradesh from 1871 to 2016. They found that in West Madhya Pradesh, there was a significant decreasing trend in rainfall in June but a significant increase in August, with no significant seasonal or annual trends. There is a significant decreasing trend in annual and seasonal monsoon rainfall in East Madhya Pradesh. Changes in T_{mean} also affect the hydrological system, covering adjustments in precipitation patterns (Madhukar et al., 2021). The above studies also highlight the importance of analysing rainfall and temperature at local and regional scales. It is essential for developing policies to reduce implications of CC, especially for vulnerable groups like tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh.

This chapter focuses on the changing dynamics of rainfall and temperature in Madhya Pradesh. The primary objectives of this chapter are (a) examining the spatiotemporal variability in rainfall and temperature across Madhya Pradesh from 1951 to 2021, (b) detecting significant shifts or transition points in rainfall and temperature patterns, (c) assessing regional differences in climatic trends within Madhya Pradesh, and (d) evaluating the potential consequences of rainfall and temperature variability on critical sectors such as agriculture and water resources which will directly affect livelihood of the study population. Using long-term gridded data (1951-2021) from the India Meteorological Department (IMD), this study examines the variations in rainfall and temperature over Madhya Pradesh. It also includes identifying transition points in rainfall and temperature throughout the area, indicating major shifts in climatic conditions. The findings of this research will give important insights into how Madhya Pradesh adapts to the effects of CC. Assessing long-term spatiotemporal changes in rainfall and temperature will help researchers and policymakers better understand the region's CC dynamics. This research will help to analyse the possible impacts of varied rainfall and temperature patterns on critical sectors like agriculture and water supply, which are essential for tribal livelihoods. Practical methods and efforts can prevent the negative consequences of CC in Madhya Pradesh, providing sustainable development and resilience for tribal people.

2.2 Methodology

2.2.1 Study Area

The study area comprises the entire state of Madhya Pradesh in central India, covering a total geographical area of 308,252 km² (Fig. 2.1). Madhya Pradesh constitutes 9.38% of India's total geographical area, located between 21°03' to 26°52' N latitude and 78°02' to 82°48' E longitude. The state can be classified into four geographical zones: the low-lying areas in the north and northwest of Gwalior, the Satpura Range, the Vindhyan Range, and the Malwa Plateau. The Satpura Range is known for its dense forests and high hills. This region has three main seasons: summer, monsoon, and winter. The study area experiences a subtropical climate depicted by cold winters and scorching, dry summers. The average annual rainfall is 1194 mm. Most rainfall occurs from June to September, showing that the southwest monsoons start mid-June and bring typical monsoon conditions to Madhya Pradesh. The northwest areas usually get less rainfall, but the south and southeast regions experience heavy rain. Districts such as Mandla, Jabalpur, Balaghat, Sidhi, and other eastern areas experience rainfall above 1,500 mm. The western parts of the state get less than 800 mm annual rainfall. However, this average rainfall covers significant geographical diversity, resulting in issues in water supplies for drinking, agriculture, and ecological sustainability.

Rainfall is the primary water source for the state's major rivers, including the Narmada, Ken, Son, Betwa, Chambal, and Shipra. These rivers are essential for water resources and agricultural activities in Madhya Pradesh. During the summer, the state experiences an average T_{max} of 34.6 °C. In winter, average T_{min} varies from 10 to 25 °C, presenting a mild and pleasant climate and some places dropping to 1 °C or lower, resulting in cold weather. However, summer temperatures reach 48 °C or higher, creating hot and arid conditions. The relationship between temperature and rainfall



significantly impacts micro-climate, affecting various aspects of the state's environment and livelihood.

2.2.2 Rationale of the study area

Madhya Pradesh was selected as the study area due to its diverse geographical features, major agricultural contribution, highest forest cover in India, and vulnerability to CC. The varied topography, from low-lying plains to the Satpura and Vindhyan Ranges, makes it ideal for exploring rainfall and temperature dynamics. Understanding these changes is essential because the region relies on monsoon rainfall for agriculture, its extensive forest cover, and its susceptibility to extreme weather events. The state's location and diverse climate zones offer a comprehensive understanding of how different geographical regions are impacted by CC. Madhya Pradesh plays a significant role in India's agriculture sector, and its higher proportion of marginalized populations emphasizes the importance of this study, as millions depend on its water resources for agricultural activities and forest resources for livelihood. The availability of climatic data and technological resources further helps this assessment, aiming to offer valuable insights for developing policies, urban planning, and farming strategies to improve resilience against CC.

2.2.3 Data Collection

For this study, daily rainfall and temperature gridded data were collected from the India Meteorological Department (IMD) (https://www.imdpune.gov.in/) for past 71 years (1951 to 2021). IMD utilized 6955 rain gauges across India to create high-resolution gauge-based gridded daily rainfall and temperature data with a spatial resolution of 0.25° \times 0.25° and 1° \times 1°, respectively (Bharti et al. 2016), and it is responsible for providing weather and climate-related forecasts and warnings in India. The gridded dataset was created by integrating data from gauge station records and weather satellites (INSAT series), ensuring a systematic representation of the region's climate (Roshani et al., 2023). Various research has utilized the IMD gridded dataset as an observed/reference dataset, and multiple hydro-climatological investigations have assessed the accuracy and reliability of this gridded dataset (Gupta et al., 2020). Collecting this data is crucial due to a shortage of weather stations, restrictions on observation, unequal distribution, and lack of data. This study used daily T_{max} and T_{min} from 26 grid points, while rainfall data from 439 grid points covered the entire state. Additionally, the year is segregated into four seasons: pre-monsoon (March-May), monsoon (June-September), post-monsoon (October-November), and winter (December-February) (Shree & Kumar 2018). The monsoon season has heavy rainfall, the postmonsoon season experiences a decrease in rainfall, the pre-monsoon season is hot with occasional thunderstorms, and winter is cool and dry. The timing and length of each season can vary depending on the location and climate.

2.2.4 Data Analysis

The daily rainfall, T_{max} and T_{min} time series data of all grid points were summed up to observe the descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, and coefficient of variance), trend, abrupt change point, and spatio-temporal distribution of the seasonal rainfall, T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} of Madhya Pradesh. The T_{mean} was calculated using T_{max} and T_{min} . The daily rainfall and temperature in Madhya Pradesh were calculated by taking the mean value from all grids point data to examine the trend and conduct a change point analysis. The spatiotemporal distribution was assessed by calculating the average value of each grid point for seasonal data.



Fig.2.2: A comprehensive methodology framework

Analysing trends in datasets requires non-parametric and parametric techniques, which provide a comprehensive and robust analysis (Punia et al., 2015; Shree & Kumar, 2018). The magnitude and trends of the rainfall, T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} were examined in this research using the Mann-Kendall test (MK) and Sen's slope estimator (SS). By analysing the fluctuations from 1951–2021, Pettitt's test was employed to identify change points within the rainfall and temperature time series data. Using Inverse Distance Weighted (IDW), the spatial distribution of rainfall and temperature patterns in Madhya Pradesh is demonstrated. The

comprehensive methodological framework is shown in Fig.2.2¹. MS Excel was used for cleaning and converting data and descriptive statistical analysis, MATLAB R2023a for extracting data and trend and change point analysis, and ArcGIS 10.8 was employed for GIS analysis. Following is a brief explanation of each technique that was used.

2.2.4.1. Coefficient of Variance (CV)

This study utilized the CV to examine the variation of every data point from the mean for temperature variability, where a more significant value indicates greater variability (Sarkar et al., 2021). This study used the statistical dataset's CV for rainfall, T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} variability. It was computed by dividing the data's standard deviation by the mean and expressing the result as a percentage, as shown in Equation 3.1.

$$CV = \frac{\sigma}{\mu} \times 100 \tag{2.1}$$

where σ = standard deviation and,

 μ = mean precipitation.

A *CV* categorized the degree of variability of meteorological variables as low (CV < 20%), moderate (20% > CV < 30%), and high (CV > 30%) (Bharath et al., 2023; Getahun et al., 2021).

2.2.4.2. Mann Kendall test (MK)

The MK, a non-parametric statistical test, determines whether hydrological and climatic variables exhibit a monotonic trend (Kendall 1975; Mann 1945). This test is often utilized to investigate time series data trends, including rainfall (Sahu & Khare, 2015). This test does not require data to be regularly distributed (Libiseller & Grimvall, 2002). The Mann-Kendall test, on the other hand, employs the plus or minus signs (+ or -) to minimize

¹ It is noted that at stage 3 (data analysis), different stationarity tests have been conducted (ADF, KPSS, etc.) and the annual series of different rainfall seasons found to be stationary at level, i.e., I (0).

the influence of trends (Birsan et al. 2005). The *p*-value determines how statistically significant the trend is, with a lower *p*-value suggesting a greater level of significance for the observed difference (Roshani et al., 2023). It should be noted that these tests need an independent data pattern. The 5% level of significance was used to analyse these patterns. Equation 2.2 defines the Mann-Kendall statistics (S).

$$S = \sum_{b=1}^{n-1} \sum_{c=b+1}^{n} sign(x_c - x_b)$$
(2.2)

where x_b and x_c = annual values in years *b* and *c*.

The later observations in the time series tend to be greater than the earlier observations if S>0, and the opposite is true if S<0. Equation 2.3 is used to compute the variance of *S*.

$$var(S) = \frac{1}{18} [n(n-1)(2n+5) - \sum_{p=1}^{q} f_p(f_p-1)(2f_p+5)]$$
(2.3)

where n = number of data points

q = number of tied groups

 f_p = The number of data values in the *q*th group

Equation 2.4 is used to determine the test statistics Z using the values of S and var (S).

$$Z = \begin{cases} (S-1)/sr, if S > 0 \\ 0, if S = 0 \\ (S+1)/sr, if S < 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

where sr = square root of var(S)

2.2.4.3. Sen's Slope Estimator (SS)

The trend slope of a sample of N data pairs can be estimated using the Theil-Sen estimator, a non-parametric technique (Sen, 1968; Theil, 1950). This method uses simple linear regression to estimate the median slope of two dependent and independent variables. The slope (T) can be calculated using Equation 2.5.

$$T_i = \frac{x_{ab} - x_{ac}}{j - k}$$
 for a = 1,2,3, 4....N (2.5)

where x_{ab} and x_{ac} =data value, b and c (b > c)

Sen's slope estimator (Q) is computed using Equation 2.6.

$$Q = \begin{cases} T\left[\frac{(N+1)}{2}\right], & \text{if } N \text{ is odd} \\ T\left[\frac{N}{2}\right] + T\left[\frac{(N+2)}{2}\right] \\ \hline 2 & \text{, if } N \text{ is even} \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

2.2.4.4. Pettitt's test

The Pettitt test (Pettitt, 1979), a non-parametric statistical test, helps identify abrupt changes in climatic records. This test is preferred due to its high accuracy for detecting breaks in the central portion of a time series data (Wijngaard et al., 2003). Dhorde & Zarenistanak (2013) and other researchers have already explained the statistical computation used in the Pettitt test. The first step involves computing the V_k statistics using Equation 2.7.

$$V_k = 2\sum_{i=0}^n m_i - k(n+1)$$
(2.7)

where m_i = rank of the *i*th observation

k = values from 1, 2, ..., n.

$$K_n = max|V_k| \tag{2.8}$$

A transition point occurs when V_k reaches a series' maximum value of K (Equation 2.8). The statistical change point (SCP) test is then defined by solving Equation 2.9.

$$K_{\alpha} = \{-\ln \alpha (n^3 + n^2/6)\}^{1/2}$$
(3.9)

where n = number of observations and,

 α = level of significance

2.2.4.5. Inverse Distance Weighted (IDW)

The IDW is often used for tasks like spatial interpolation of rainfall, temperature, air quality, or any other continuous variable observed at multiple places in various disciplines, including geography, environmental science, and geo-statistics. It is a popular method in spatial interpolation, a technique for estimating values at unknown places based on values observed at known locations (Kumar et al., 2023). IDW provides weights to neighbouring known data points in the context of spatial data depending on their distances from the target location. These weights are then used to compute a weighted average, which estimates the value at the targeted location. The underlying premise of IDW is that data points closer to the target location have a higher impact on the estimated value than those further away (Karami et al., 2023). The IDW is calculated using Equation 2.10.

$$W(x, y) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda_i w_i$$

$$\lambda_i = \frac{(1/d_i)^P}{\sum_{K=1}^{N} (1/d_i)^P}$$
(2.10)

where *W* denotes the estimated value at location (x, y), N represents the number of known locations nearby (x, y), λ_i indicates the weight assigned to the known values w_i in (x_i, y_i) , d_i stands for the Euclidean distance between each point in locations (x, y) and (x_i, y_i) , and *p* describes the power that is impacted by weight w_i on *w*.

2.3 **Results and Discussion**

Analysing climatic variability, detecting trends, and assessing regional distribution is essential for gaining deep insights into the implications of CC and enhancing resource and infrastructure planning. Meteorological data is an essential source of knowledge for comprehending these alterations. In climate research, non-parametric tests are often used because they enable the identification of patterns in time series data without making presumptions about the distributions of components. These tests are beneficial for assessing several meteorological variables, including precipitation, temperature, wind speed, and humidity, across different magnitudes. Examining spatial distribution is essential to understanding local alterations in climatic variables and their historical changes (Ampofo et al., 2023).

2.3.1 Descriptive Analysis

The descriptive statistics of climate variability in Madhya Pradesh (1951-2021) revealed significant fluctuations in rainfall and temperature, characterized by different seasonal variations (Table 2.1). Mean annual rainfall (1041.36 mm) indicates the highest yearly variations ($\sigma = 179.18$). The monsoon season provides the most annual rainfall but demonstrates high variation ($\sigma = 166.19$) with a low level of CV (17.51). Pre-monsoon, post-monsoon, and winter seasons show even more significant variability, with coefficients of variation exceeding 79%, exposing their erratic nature. Temperature shows relatively lower variability compared to rainfall. The annual T_{mean} is 25.52 °C with a low CV of 1.42%, indicating lower variations ($\sigma = 0.36$) in temperature over the years. However, seasonal T_{mean} shows more variability during the post-monsoon (CV = 3.47) and winter (CV = 3.23) seasons. T_{max} also has a lower level of variability, but T_{min} exposes significant seasonal variations. T_{min} shows a high CV value in the annual (CV = 39.64) and winter seasons (CV = 39.20), indicating higher cold season variability. The findings of a recent study on rainfall variability

align with other studies, such as Chandniha et al. (2017), Shree & Kumar (2018) and Warwade et al. (2018). Specifically, the study found high premonsoon, post-monsoon, and winter rainfall variability. According to earlier research, the region is vulnerable to floods and droughts (Pandey & Ramasastri, 2001). High variability in rainfall affects agricultural productivity and water availability, which is essential for subsistence farming practiced by many tribal communities. Unpredictable pre-monsoon and post-monsoon rainfall exacerbates agricultural problems, increasing vulnerability to crop failures and food insecurity. The CV values provide helpful information about the temperature variability in Madhya Pradesh.

 Table 2.1: Descriptive statistics of climate variability in Madhya Pradesh

 (1951-2021)

Variables	Categories	Mean	Standard	CV	Max	Min
		(μ)	deviation	(%)	(mm/°C)	(mm/°C)
		(1)	(σ)			· · · ·
Rainfall	Annual	1041.36	179.18	17.21	1530.20	645.72
	Monsoon	949.02	166.19	17.51	1367.22	597.97
	Pre-monsoon	20.57	17.07	82.99	84.05	2.43
	Post-	42.71	36.32	85.04	150.17	0.63
	monsoon					
	Winter	29.05	23.19	79.82	97.89	0.39
T _{mean}	Annual	25.52	0.36	1.42	26.48	24.48
	Monsoon	28.28	0.49	1.73	29.44	26.97
	Pre-monsoon	29.75	0.68	2.29	31.86	28.17
	Post-					
	monsoon	23.76	0.83	3.47	25.54	21.83
	Winter	18.80	0.61	3.23	20.62	17.62
T_{max}	Annual	45.85	1.10	2.39	47.70	42.70
	Monsoon	44.99	1.58	3.50	47.60	40.60
	Pre-monsoon	45.42	1.07	2.37	47.50	42.70
	Post-					
	monsoon	36.66	1.24	3.38	38.90	33.70
	Winter	35.40	1.33	3.77	38.50	32.20
T_{min}	Annual	2.80	1.11	39.64	5.80	0.40
	Monsoon	19.48	1.15	5.88	21.50	13.80
	Pre-monsoon	10.13	1.77	17.49	13.90	5.80
	Post-					
	monsoon	8.11	1.65	20.38	13.20	4.00
	Winter	2.86	1.06	37.20	5.80	0.40

The low CV values for T_{mean} and T_{max} indicate stability and consistency. However, the high CV value for T_{min} indicates significant variability that should be considered when analysing the region's temperature patterns. It can broadly impact various sectors like agriculture, health, energy, and overall ecosystem stability, which are crucial for sustaining tribal livelihoods. For example, sudden temperature drops could lead to frost and damage to crops, reducing the yield or altering the time of yield among nontimber forest products (NTFPs) and could also lead to health problems like hypothermia. The findings of this study on temperature variability align with other studies, such as Pal & Al-Tabbaa (2010), Punia et al. (2015), Radhakrishnan et al. (2017), and Roshani et al. (2023). The high variability in both rainfall and temperature need adaptive strategies to mitigate adverse impacts on agriculture and water resources. Improving water management practices, promoting climate-resilient crops, and enhancing infrastructure can help against climatic shocks. Policymakers and stakeholders must consider building climate resilience among tribal communities to ensure sustainable livelihoods amidst changing climatic conditions.

2.3.2 Temporal Trend Analysis

Table 2.2 presents the trend analysis results of seasonal rainfall and temperature (T_{mean}, T_{max}, T_{min}) in Madhya Pradesh from 1951 to 2021, evaluated using the MK test and SS estimator at a 5% significance level. The analysis indicates a non-significant decreasing trend in annual rainfall (Z = -1.023) and monsoon rainfall (Z = -0.933) (Fig. 2.3(a)) at 0.05% significance level with a yearly magnitude of -0.990 mm and -0.977 mm, respectively. The negative trend in annual rainfall suggests that the region is experiencing a decline in rainfall patterns, which could adversely affect agricultural production and other water-dependent activities. Decreasing monsoon rainfall could result in water shortages during the monsoon season, reducing water supply. Similarly, the post-monsoon (Z=-0.764) and winter (Z= -0.735) seasons have shown a non-significant decreasing trend (Fig. 2.3a) with an annual magnitude of -0.116 mm and -0.067 mm, respectively. This trend is particularly concerning since these periods are essential for recharging groundwater and maintaining water levels in rivers and reservoirs. However, the pre-monsoon (Z=0.288) season shows a nonsignificant increasing trend (Fig. 2.3(a)) with an annual magnitude of 0.018 mm. The positive trend in pre-monsoon rainfall suggests that this season receives more rainfall and that changes in rainfall patterns will positively impact water availability for agricultural production at the right time and duration in addition to other sectors. These results are consistent with several studies on Central and Central West India.

Variables	Categories	Z-Stat.	Q-Stat.	<i>P</i> -value	Trend
Rainfall	Annual	-1.023	-0.990	0.307	Decreasing
	Monsoon	-0.933	-0.977	0.351	Decreasing
	Pre-Monsoon	0.288	0.018	0.773	Increasing
	Post Monsoon	-0.764	-0.116	0.445	Decreasing
	Winter	-0.735	-0.067	0.463	Decreasing
T _{mean}	Annual	2.898	0.006	0.004	Increasing
	Monsoon	1.092	0.003	0.275	Increasing
	Pre-Monsoon	1.052	0.005	0.293	Increasing
	Post Monsoon	3.594	0.018	3.26e-04	Increasing
	Winter	0.149	0.050	0.882	Increasing
T _{max}	Annual	1.772	0.011	0.076	Increasing
	Monsoon	1.449	0.011	0.148	Increasing
	Pre-Monsoon	1.241	0.009	0.215	Increasing
	Post Monsoon	0.834	0.007	0.404	Increasing
	Winter	0.074	0	0.941	Increasing
T_{min}	Annual	2.452	0.017	0.0142	Increasing
	Monsoon	0.551	0.002	0.582	Increasing
	Pre-Monsoon	2.422	0.026	0.015	Increasing
	Post Monsoon	3.891	0.033	9.96e-05	Increasing
	Winter	2.750	0.018	0.006	Increasing

 Table 2.2: Trend analysis results of annual and seasonal rainfall

For example, Kundu et al. (2017) reported a negative trend in monsoon, post-monsoon, winter, and annual rainfall over the past 111 years (1901-2011), while pre-monsoon reported an increasing trend. Jain et al. (2023) found a non-significant decline in annual and monsoonal rainfall in Madhya Pradesh during the last 146 years (1871-2016). Moreover, Kumar et al. (2010) identified a declining trend of annual and monsoonal rainfall and a positive trend of pre-monsoonal rainfall over the past 135 years (1871-2005). Pal & Al-Tabbaa (2011) also reported a negative annual and monsoonal rainfall trend in central India from 1951 to 2003. Rai et al. (2014) and Devi et al. (2020) observed similar trends in decreasing rainfall across Madhya Pradesh.



Fig. 2.3: Trends in seasonal rainfall (a), T_{mean} (b), T_{max} (c), T_{min} (d) of Madhya Pradesh

Contrary to rainfall, temperature variables significantly increase across all categories. The annual T_{mean} shows a statistically significant increasing trend (Z = 2.898), indicating a change of 0.006 °C per year. Seasonal analyses further provide evidence of this trend, with the monsoon (Z =1.092), pre-monsoon (Z = 1.052), post-monsoon (Z = 3.594), and winter temperatures (Z = 0.149) all exhibiting rising patterns (Fig. 2.3(b)), indicating a change of 0.003 °C, 0.005 °C, 0.018 °C, 0.050 °C per year, respectively. T_{max} and T_{min} trends are similarly increasing annually and seasonally, demonstrating a broader warming pattern. The annual T_{max} illustrates an increasing trend (Z = 1.772) at 0.006 °C yearly. Similarly, the monsoon (Z = 1.449), pre-monsoon (Z = 1.241), post-monsoon (Z = 0.834), and winter temperatures (Z = 0.074) presented inclining patterns (Fig. 2.3(c)). It indicates a long-term warming trend with significant consequences for marginal people vulnerable to CC in Madhya Pradesh. However, the annual T_{min} also presents a statistically significant increasing trend (Z = 2.452), with a rate of 0.017 °C per year, highlighting a significantly increasing trend during this period. Correspondingly, the monsoon (Z = 0.551), pre-monsoon (Z = 2.422), post-monsoon (Z = 3.891), and winter temperatures (Z = 2.750) presented inclining patterns (Fig. 2.3(d)). Duhan et al. (2013) reported an increased temperature of 0.60 °C for the annual T_{mean}, T_{max}, and T_{min} over 102 years (1901-2002). Shukla et al. (2017) and Shukla & Khare (2013) identified a significant increasing trend in the T_{mean} of Madhya Pradesh over 105 years (1901-2005). Devi et al. (2020) observed a noteworthy increasing trend in T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} over 45 years (1971-2015) in Central India. Kundu et al. (2017), using 105 years (1901-2005) of T_{max} and T_{min} data from Madhya Pradesh, demonstrated an increasing trend in both variables, with the highest temperature rise occurring during the winters and post-monsoon seasons. Furthermore, Punia et al. (2015) and Singla et al. (2023) noted an upward trend in T_{max} and T_{min} in northwestern India after 1970. The results of this study align with previous studies conducted by Dubey et al. (2021), Pal &

Al-Tabbaa (2010), Radhakrishnan et al. (2017), and Srivastava et al. (2017), which also reported positive trends in T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} across various regions in India. However, Jhajharia et al. (2014) analysed trends in temperature over the Godavari River basin in Southern Peninsular India using 35 stations. They also reported that the specific number of stations presents an increasing trend in T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} .

These findings hold great significance for the region's ecology, agriculture, and economy, as well as for the tribal communities of Madhya Pradesh. Decreasing annual and monsoon rainfall jeopardizes the agricultural activities that these communities depend on, leading to potential decreases in crop yields, NTFP collection and food security. Reduced post-monsoon and winter rainfall strain water supplies essential to livelihood during the off-season agricultural months. The rising temperatures exacerbate these problems, leading to water shortages and ultimately impacting crop quality and productivity (Praveen & Sharma, 2020). Higher temperatures can raise evapotranspiration rates, decrease soil moisture, and require more water supply (Suliman et al., 2024), which isn't feasible for tribal farmers with limited resources. The climatic trends observed need urgent adaptive efforts to mitigate negative consequences on tribal livelihoods. These approaches can include developing drought-resilient crop types, making them adopt efficient water-management techniques through promotion of sprinkler irrigation, and improving community understanding and preparedness for climate resilience. Policymakers, stakeholders, and academicians must prioritize these strategies to ensure the sustainable development and adaptability of tribal communities due to CC.

2.3.2 Change Point Analysis

A change point is when there is a significant shift in the data with extended distribution. Abrupt changes in annual and seasonal trends in rainfall and temperature data for Madhya Pradesh were detected using Pettitt's test. It identifies trends and the year the movement starts (mutation point). Fig. 2.4

presents the results of Pettitt's test, detecting abrupt change points in the seasonal patterns of rainfall and temperature (T_{mean} , T_{max} , T_{min}) in Madhya Pradesh. The change points for the Monsoon, Pre-Monsoon, Post-Monsoon, Winter and Annual were 1998, 1955, 1987, 1986, and 1998, respectively, according to the results of Pettitt's test (Fig. 2.4(a)). The results indicated that the trend pattern abruptly changed after the 1980s, except for pre-monsoon rainfall. Similar studies were also done in different regions to detect sharp transition points in climatic variables. Zarenistanak et al. (2014) used time series data (1950-2007) of Iran and observed that the mutation point occurred in 1973. Kumar et al. (2023) used data from three stations, i.e., Mukteshwar, Hawalbagh, and Almora, from 1980 through 2019. They identified that annual rainfall trends abruptly changed in 2004, 1998, and 1991, respectively.

Similarly, for the T_{mean}, the change points for the monsoon, pre-monsoon, post-monsoon, winter and annual were 2007, 2000, 1998, 1959, and 2004, respectively (Fig. 2.4(b)). T_{max} exhibited significant changes across different periods, noticeable in 2010 for annual, 1990 for monsoon, 2008 for pre-monsoon, 1963 for post-monsoon, and 1966 for winter (Fig. 2.4(c)). T_{min} showed changes in 1999 for annual data and in 1960, 2003, 2008, and 1995 for the monsoon, pre-monsoon, post-monsoon, and winter seasons, respectively (Fig. 2.4(d)). These findings highlight significant changes in temperature dynamics within specific periods. Similar research has been conducted in other geographical locations to identify significant transition points in climate variables. For example, Shukla et al. (2017) identified 1963 as the change point for the T_{mean} time series spanning from 1901 to 2005 for the entirety of Madhya Pradesh. Chandole & Joshi (2023) observed a positive trend in T_{min} , which experienced a consistent change after 1986 in two districts of Gujarat. A study by Zarenistanak et al. (2014) focusing on Iran's annual and seasonal temperature data from 1950 to 2007 reveals mutation points between the 1980s and 1990s. However, Srilakshmi et al. (2022) applied Pettitt's test to the pan coefficient in the northeastern region



Fig. 2.4: Change point results of seasonal rainfall (a), T_{mean} (b), T_{max} (c), T_{min} (d)

of India and observed that abrupt change occurred after 1990 in four stations. Ahmadi et al. (2018) investigated the long-term temperature patterns in Iran by analysing data from 34 synoptic stations over 50 years (1961-2010) at both seasonal and annual time scales and observed change points from 1986 to 1994.

The identified change points in both rainfall and temperature are of critical significance to the tribal communities of Madhya Pradesh. These communities mostly rely on subsistence agriculture, which is strongly related to predictable climatic patterns. The sudden shifts in monsoon rainfall and changes in temperature patterns highlight an increased vulnerability to climate variability, posing threats to crop productivity and food availability. Abrupt changes in pre-monsoon and post-monsoon rainfall patterns can affect crop planting and crops and NTFP's harvesting timing, leading to potential mismatches in agricultural cycles and income derived from forest. Abrupt changes in winter rainfall and temperature are also essential as they affect water availability and soil moisture content, which is important for preparing fields for the main agricultural seasons. The detected change points can have hydrological impacts, affecting riverine flow and water availability, as the Madhya Pradesh Water Resources Department (MPWRD) reported in their State Water Resources Plan. These shifts in rainfall can also influence agricultural resilience, impacting crop yields and planting seasons (Raza et al., 2019). Additionally, the occurrence of sudden change in rainfall trends could have implications for ecosystem dynamics and wildlife habitat, highlighted in a report by the Madhya Pradesh Forest Department. Disaster preparedness and infrastructure planning could also benefit from the insights gained from these change points, as demonstrated in the Madhya Pradesh Disaster Management Plan. These changes influence the frequency and intensity of floods and droughts, directly impacting agriculture and human livelihood. So, some of the plans made by the government in the agriculture sector in

Madhya Pradesh State Action Plan on Climate Change, 2012, include the following:

- Promoting soil and water conservation technologies
- Planning cropping systems suitable for each agro-climatic zone
- Management of risks for sustainable productivity
- Enhancing dissemination of new and appropriate technologies developed by researchers and strengthening research
- Agriculture information management
- Additional impetus to mechanization and accessibility to markets
- Creation of rural business hubs
- Capacity building for sustainable agriculture

Furthermore, the warming trends replicated in the change points of T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} suggest an increased frequency of extreme weather events, such as heatwaves, which can adversely affect health and reduce agricultural productivity and water security. For tribal communities with limited access to modern agricultural technologies and financial resources, these climatic changes could exacerbate existing socioeconomic challenges, leading to increased food insecurity and reduced resilience to extreme weather events. Understanding these abrupt changes in climatic variables is essential for developing targeted adaptation measures to protect tribal livelihoods. Policymakers and stakeholders must consider these findings to design strategies that improve climate resilience, sustainable water management, and agricultural resource management, as well as provide alternative livelihood strategies to maintain the well-being of tribal populations in Madhya Pradesh amidst changing climate dynamics.

2.3.4 Spatial Change Analysis

The Inverse Distance Weighted method, a key interpolation component, was utilized in the spatial change analysis. The study considered the seasonal rainfall and temperature data of all the grid points to gain insights into the spatial change of rainfall and temperature patterns. The abrupt change point (Pettitt's test results) of annual rainfall and temperature was used as the base year to compare seasonal rainfall and temperature changes. The long-term time series data was separated into two periods: 1951-1998 and 1999-2021 for rainfall, 1951-2004 and 2005-2021 for T_{mean} , 1951-2020 and 2011-2011 for T_{max} , and 1951-1999 and 2021 for T_{min} , to understand the spatiotemporal shifts in various parts of the state. The IDW maps in Fig. 2.5 to 2.8 show the comparative spatiotemporal distribution of seasonal rainfall, T_{mean} , T_{max} , and T_{min} in Madhya Pradesh.

Fig. 2.5 provides a comprehensive overview of the spatiotemporal distribution of seasonal rainfall patterns in Madhya Pradesh, and the results are both intriguing and concerning. During the pre-monsoon season, the area that receives less than 25 mm of rainfall increased after 1998, primarily in the northern and northwest parts of Madhya Pradesh. This study found that there has been a drastic decrease in the areas that receive rainfall above 1000 mm during the monsoon season after 1998. The important concern here is the maximum average monsoonal rainfall reduction, which decreased from 1623 mm to 1311 mm after 1998. The area receiving less than 25 mm of rainfall is increasing after 1998 during the post-monsoon season. Furthermore, the winter season has seen significant changes, with less than 25 mm rainfall receiving areas increasing and more than 50 mm rainfall areas are decreasing after 1998. After assessing all seasons of rainfall distribution, the average annual rainfall distribution was also changed after 1998. Only the Western and North parts of this region were getting less than 1000 mm of annual rainfall during 1951-1998, but the scenario changed after 1998, and this area (<1000 mm) increased. The 1000-1250 mm rainfall area was shifted, and more than 1250 mm rainfall area decreased. The maximum average annual rainfall was 1769 mm from 1951 to 1998, which changed to 1401 mm after 1998, with a more than 300 mm reduction. These findings suggest that Madhya Pradesh experienced a significant shift in its seasonal rainfall distribution after 1998, which requires further attention and investigation. The large-scale topography of the region, as well as the finer-scale features of the Western Ghats, have a significant impact on the spatial distribution of seasonal rainfall in central India (Singh et al., 2019).



The regional distribution of seasonal T_{mean} in Madhya Pradesh is shown in Fig. 2.6. Before 2004, the T_{mean} ranged from 29-30 °C, and it shifted to 30-31 °C throughout the monsoon and pre-monsoon seasons after 2004, with

decreases in places below 28 °C and rises in areas which have above 28 °C. After the monsoon season, there were notable changes, with decreases in places with temperatures of 23-24 °C and increases in regions with temperatures of 24-26 °C. Winters saw changes, with reductions in places below 18 °C and increases in areas above 19 °C after 2004. Due to variations in seasonal T_{mean} , the annual T_{mean} pattern also shifted. Less than 25.5 °C area ultimately decreased, and higher than 25.5 °C area rapidly increased after 2004.



Fig. 2.6: Comparative spatial distribution of T_{mean} in Madhya Pradesh



Fig. 2.7: Comparative spatial distribution of T_{max} in Madhya Pradesh

The geographical distribution of seasonal T_{max} in Madhya Pradesh is presented in Fig. 2.7. After 2010, significant changes have been seen, especially during the pre-monsoon and post-monsoon seasons. During the pre-monsoon season, the T_{max} rises in regions ranging from 41-43 °C. After the monsoon season, areas with temperatures over 34 °C increase, while regions below 32 °C disappear entirely. Minor changes appeared in the distribution of T_{max} in winter. The same shifting pattern is also visible in


annual T_{max} . Less than 32 °C area decreased, and more than 32 °C area increased after 2010.

Fig. 2.8: Comparative spatial distribution of T_{min} in Madhya Pradesh

Fig. 2.8 illustrates the spatiotemporal distribution of seasonal T_{min} in Madhya Pradesh. The results show significant temperature fluctuations over different seasons and regions. Before the monsoon season, there was a decrease in temperatures below 16 °C and an increase in areas over 17 °C after 1999. Monsoon presents the appearance of regions with temperatures above 24 °C in the northern zones. After the monsoon season, temperatures

have decreased in places below 13 °C and increased in areas over 14 °C. Winter temperatures have risen somewhat in locations where the temperature is above 9 °C, while they have decreased in regions where the temperature is below 9 °C since 1999. The annual T_{min} also presents a significant shift in temperature after 1999. Less than 18.5 °C area rapidly decreased, and 18.5 °C area increased and covered most of the state. Overall, the results of this study mention that the temperature range is increasing in most areas, which aligns with the global warming trend. Similar studies conducted by Yadav & Singh (2023) also reported that extreme rainfalls have decreased in the last few decades in this region. Duhan et al. (2013) focused on Madhya Pradesh, where they examined temperature data to analyse the spatial-temporal distribution of seasonal T_{mean}, T_{max}, and T_{min} over 102 years (1901-2002). Their findings highlighted increasing spatially diverse temperature trends. Sengupta & Thangavel (2023) also utilized meteorological data to examine temperature, rainfall, and drought severity (Standardized Precipitation Index-SPI) patterns across the research period (1990-2015). Based on multiple linear regression analyses, their findings indicated that Maharashtra's shifting precipitation patterns were the primary driver behind intensifying drought conditions, posing a risk to cotton crop yields. Furthermore, Nabi et al. (2023) reported changes in temperature patterns across different locations, with higher elevation zones consistently experiencing lower temperatures, while lower elevation zones exhibited higher temperature profiles.

CC and variability significantly challenge human livelihoods, particularly for tribal communities. The findings of this study reveal a distinct change in rainfall and temperature patterns. This change in rainfall and temperature trends emphasizes the dynamic nature of CC and its potential impact on several facets of human life, including tribal livelihoods. The consequences for tribal communities are acute, as they often depend heavily on natural resources and traditional agricultural practices, which are particularly vulnerable to climatic shifts. It emphasizes the critical need to understand and adapt to these changes, promoting sustainable and resilient practices while mitigating adverse effects. This research is an important step towards a more nuanced understanding of the climate patterns in Madhya Pradesh, which will be helpful for future planning and decision-making, particularly in developing strategies to support and sustain tribal livelihoods due to CC.

2.4 Conclusions

The study presents a comprehensive analysis of climate change in Madhya Pradesh from 1951 to 2021, highlighting the need for adaptive measures in response to significant changes in rainfall and temperature patterns. Descriptive statistics show substantial variations in rainfall, particularly during pre-monsoon, post-monsoon, and winter seasons, emphasizing their irregular nature. T_{mean} and T_{max} appear to lower variability, while T_{min} exhibits significant seasonal variations, posing risks to agriculture and health. Temporal trend analysis utilizing the MK test implies a nonsignificant decrease in annual and monsoon rainfall, while pre-monsoon rainfall shows a minute increase. Temperature variables (T_{mean}, T_{max}, T_{min}) exhibit a statistically significant increasing trend, underlining a broader warming pattern. Change point analysis using Pettitt's test identifies abrupt changes in rainfall and temperature patterns, predominantly occurring after the 1980s. These findings align with regional studies and broader global warming trends, and a decrease in rainfall critically affects subsistence agriculture, water management, and whole ecosystem stability in tribal communities. Spatial change analysis using the Inverse Distance Weighted interpolation method reveals geographical variations in seasonal rainfall and temperature distribution. The main concern is that some areas in the Hoshangabad and Balaghat districts of Madhya Pradesh, which received higher precipitation, more than 1300 mm earlier, ultimately decreased after 1998. The maximum average monsoonal rainfall decreased from 1623 mm to 1311 mm after 1998, implying that water availability drastically declined. It is a critical issue to hint to the policymakers because the water-intensive cropping area, namely wheat, rice and soyabean is increasing while the

average rainfall is reducing. These findings suggest that Madhya Pradesh experienced a significant shift in its seasonal rainfall distribution after 1998, which requires further attention and investigation. Temperature distribution experienced a shift towards higher ranges, particularly after 2004 for T_{mean} and 2010 for T_{max} , indicating increased heat stress in this region. These climatic changes pose significant challenges to the livelihoods of tribal communities, demanding urgent adaptive measures to mitigate adverse impacts. This study highlights the importance of developing drought-resilient crops, efficient water management techniques, and improving community preparation for climate resilience. Policymakers must focus on these strategies to guarantee sustainable development and adaptability in changing climate dynamics.

This chapter sets the foundation for the next chapter, providing essential knowledge of the local environment in which climate vulnerability occurs. The insights gathered here on marginalized communities' specific challenges are necessary for the future district-level assessment of climate vulnerability across Madhya Pradesh. The next chapter discusses the 2nd objective, i.e. assessing district-wise climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh using environmental and socioeconomic indicators, which expands upon the core information presented in this chapter.

Chapter 3

Assessing District-Level Climate Vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh Using Environmental and Socioeconomic Factors

Madhya Pradesh, a central Indian state, is highly vulnerable to climate change due to its dependence on natural resources, socioeconomic disparities, and frequent exposure to extreme weather events such as droughts, floods, and hailstorms. Previous studies highlight its vulnerability, lacking comprehensive integration of environmental and socioeconomic dimensions in assessing climate vulnerability. This chapter evaluates district-level climate vulnerability using a composite index integrating environmental and socioeconomic factors. By categorizing and analyzing these indices, it recognizes the most and least vulnerable districts and the major factors influencing vulnerability. Furthermore, hierarchical cluster analysis was used to validate the composite index results.

3.1 Introduction

Climate change (CC) is a global phenomenon that extensively challenges human society and natural ecosystems (Kuniyal et al., 2021; Rautela et al., 2022, 2023; Singh et al., 2023). The detrimental effects of CC on both human and natural systems (Sengupta & Thangavel, 2023) arise from the interaction between physical climate-related hazards, such as extreme weather events, droughts, floods, rising sea levels, and the vulnerability of local human and natural systems (Oppenheimer et al., 2015; Saikh & Mondal, 2023). Marginalized populations disproportionately feel these impacts (Ahmad et al., 2023; Huong et al., 2019), particularly in developing countries (Blasiak et al., 2017), due to their increased exposure to climatic events and limited adaptive strategies (Schröter et al., 2005; Turner et al., 2003). Communities reliant on subsistence activities are more vulnerable, with poor people in developing nations disproportionately affected (Bohle et al., 1994; Stern et al., 2006). The far-reaching effects of CC are evident across various sectors, particularly in densely populated and developing nations like India (George et al., 2023; Iqbal & Ghauri, 2011). Changing climatic patterns have led to water scarcity, decreased agriculture productivity (Saravanakumar et al., 2022), and disruptions in ecosystem services (Yadava & Sinha, 2020).

CC vulnerability refers to the degree to which systems are susceptible to adverse consequences (Sarun et al., 2018), influenced by the level of exposure to climatic events and their ability to respond. Sensitivity reflects how effectively these systems can manage and adapt to current and future climate changes over a long period (Hahn et al., 2009). Climate vulnerability is multi-faceted, encompassing social, economic, environmental, institutional, and cultural dimensions (IPCC, 2012). Loss of biodiversity and concurrent stressors often exacerbate climate risks (Oppenheimer et al., 2015), underlining the need to understand regional vulnerabilities to inform adaptation strategies (Olmos, 2001). Climate vulnerability assessments using a composite index are essential to understanding present vulnerabilities. It identifies factors underlying varying degrees of vulnerability across regions, informing superficial decision-making processes and guiding the selection and evaluation of adaptive strategies (Hahn et al., 2009; IPCC, 2012). These assessments usually focus on three main aspects: exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity (Rehman et al., 2022; Venus et al., 2022). Vulnerability assessments combine relevant environmental and socioeconomic indicators into a composite index (Eakin & Luers, 2006; Gbetibouo et al., 2010; Yohe & Tol, 2002). These indices merge physical and economic characteristics based on proxy indicators to quantify vulnerability, offering a comprehensive understanding of climate impacts (Kelly & Adger, 2000). However, the composition and construction of vulnerability indices vary across studies, posing challenges for standardization and comparability (Joint Research Centre-European Commission, 2008). Despite the

importance of vulnerability assessments, the integration of socioeconomic and environmental factors within them remains limited. The IPCC's 5th assessment report acknowledges five essential criteria for identifying climate vulnerabilities: exposure, system importance, adaptive capacity, persistence of vulnerable conditions, and susceptibility to cumulative stressors.

Previous research consistently identifies Madhya Pradesh as highly vulnerable to climate-related challenges. This susceptibility includes climate sensitivity, population growth, marginalized communities, agriculture reliance, unemployment, poverty, and inadequate amenities (Chakraborty & Joshi, 2016). Madhya Pradesh, characterized by its predominantly agricultural economy and a population heavily dependent on natural resources for their livelihood, is vulnerable to the uncertain impacts of CC (Anand et al., 2019). The districts within the state have been identified as socially highly vulnerable due to their susceptibility to CC and economic globalization (GMPCCC, 2012). The geographical area frequently encounters various natural calamities, including droughts, floods, and hailstorms (Kapur, 2010). Drought-like conditions are encountered in some regions of the state annually, resulting in distress migration despite the implementation of diverse developmental initiatives (Sharma, 2023). Moreover, the state's forest and environmental resources are facing significant pressure. Observable patterns include the pollution of rivers and wetlands, the degradation of forests, and the decline in biodiversity (Anjali & Aditi, 2013). The relationship between poverty and the environment affects the human development index and worsens the burden of diseases (Rai, 2019) within the region. Specific districts within Madhya Pradesh, like Dindori, Jhabua, and others, are noted as highly vulnerable to climate impacts (GMPCCC, 2012). Research conducted by Azhar et al. (2017) and MPSKMCCC (2018) specifically identified Alirajpur, Barwani, Jhabua, Panna, Rewa, Sidhi, and Singrauli as regions of heightened vulnerability to heat stress and the impacts of CC. MPSKMCCC

(2018) found a state-wide vulnerability increase in 2050 and a decline in 2100. The projected climatic changes over the next few decades indicate Madhya Pradesh's high vulnerability to CC, as shown by existing literature, highlighting the need for a comprehensive study. Furthermore, George et al. (2023) observed a significant decrease in overall social vulnerability and its components over several decades (1991-2011) in Madhya Pradesh. Simultaneously, the Climate Index demonstrated a significant increase during the time frame, leading to a statistically insignificant increase in climate vulnerability in the past decade. Yenneti et al. (2016) reported that urban areas of Madhya Pradesh have exhibited the highest levels of social vulnerability to CC in the last 20 years. Das (2013) also presented that Madhya Pradesh has a very high socioeconomic vulnerability.

A research gap exists in comprehensively evaluating CC vulnerability at the regional level in Madhya Pradesh, India. While the region is recognized for its high vulnerability to climate impacts (George et al., 2023), there is limited research that comprehensively incorporates environmental, socioeconomic, and cultural factors. This research assesses district-level CC vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh utilizing composite vulnerability indices combining Environmental Vulnerability Index (EVI) and Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (SVI), categorizing them to identify the most vulnerable aspects. Hierarchical cluster analysis validates findings, identifying dominant influences on vulnerability. Considering the observed CC vulnerability of the state, it is imperative to understand the regional differences in vulnerability and the underlying factors that contribute to it. The primary objectives of this chapter are (a) evaluating the CC vulnerability of districts in Madhya Pradesh by integrating environmental and socioeconomic dimensions, (b) classifying districts based on their vulnerability levels and identifying the most and least vulnerable regions, and (c) employing hierarchical cluster analysis for validating the categorization of vulnerability levels and identifying patterns across districts.

3.2 Methodology

3.2.1 Study Area

Madhya Pradesh is called the "heart of India" due to its geographical location in central India (Shama & Roy, 2016). It is surrounded by five states, i.e., Rajasthan in the northwest, Gujarat in the west, Maharashtra in the south, Chhattisgarh in the east, and Uttar Pradesh in the northeast. Currently, the state comprises 55 districts (2023); however, this study encompasses a collective consideration of 51 districts (Fig. 3.1), aligning with data availability. The elevation of this state varies from 56 to 1333m above mean sea level (highest elevation in Dhupgarh), which is collected from SRTM-DEM (Shuttle Radar Topography Mission-Digital Elevation Models). The southern region of Madhya Pradesh exhibits a higher elevation than the northern parts, with the land gradually decreasing in height as one moves towards the north. The north and some parts of the west also have very low elevations. As per the forest survey of India (2021), the total forest cover in this state is 77491 km², which covers 25.14% of the total geographical area and 10.86% of India's forest area.

Madhya Pradesh, an agricultural state (74 % arable area), cultivates various crops, including rice, wheat, jowar, soya bean, cotton, and more (Nagesh, 2020). The climatic pattern of Madhya Pradesh was discussed in Chapter 2. The monsoon season, which is a distinctive aspect of the climate across India, plays a crucial role in providing ample rainfall for agricultural activities. Due to uncertainty and irregular rainfall, this state faces floods and drought frequently. Mishra & Singh (2010) have highlighted the profound impact of droughts on the livelihoods of the rural poor in Madhya Pradesh. Droughts not only contribute to water scarcity but also exacerbate the challenges of poverty and the degradation of forest resources. Moreover, with the looming threat of CC, these issues will likely worsen, posing a significant risk to the livelihoods of communities residing in forest fringe villages (Yadava & Sinha, 2020).

Chapter 3



Fig. 3.1: District-wise geographical location map of Madhya Pradesh

Madhya Pradesh exhibits a diverse social composition, with people from various cultural and ethnic backgrounds. The state's economy is primarily agrarian (30.34% of people depend on agricultural activities), playing a central role in its development. The challenging and hilly terrain and scattered settlements spread across a vast area often result in limited access to mainstream development opportunities. Consequently, certain regions remain relatively isolated. Moreover, Madhya Pradesh faces the challenge of a low human development index (Chothodi et al., 2022), reflected by indicators such as education, healthcare, and overall well-being, which need significant improvement (with a current index of 0.596 as per UNDP, 2021). This state has a population of 72,597,565 (5th largest state of India), according to the Census of India 2011. The density of this state is 236 per km², and the sex ratio and literacy rate are 931 and 70.6%, respectively. Tribal populations dominate Madhya Pradesh, accounting for 20.27% of the state's population. These tribal communities predominantly reside in rural areas and areas near forests. Unfortunately, the state faces significant socioeconomic challenges, as approximately half of the rural population lives below the poverty line (Mehta & Shah, 2003; Yadava & Sinha, 2020).

3.2.2 Selection of Indicators

Indicators are easily accessible data points that measure system behaviour derived from meaningful and perceivable attributes (Holling, 2003; Yadava & Sinha, 2020). A universally recognized set of indicators or a standardized approach for combining these indicators into a vulnerability index remains absent. When performing a climate vulnerability assessment, using a composite index results in comparative outcomes rather than absolute values. These outcomes are measured on a scale ranging from 0 (representing the least vulnerable) to 1 (representing the most vulnerable) (Shukla et al., 2017). The indicators selected for this study are based on the specific characteristics of CC vulnerability profiles in Madhya Pradesh, determined by a thorough literature review and preliminary investigation. The first phase of the methodology involves identifying key environmental variables (rainfall, maximum and minimum temperature, dense forest cover, agricultural area, floods, droughts, and forest fires) and socioeconomic variables (human development index, population density, socially deprived populations, cultivators, and agricultural labourers) crucial in understanding CC vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh. These variables are plotted in Fig. 3.2 & Fig. 3.3. The identification of primary climate vulnerabilities has been conducted following the Working Group II contribution to the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report.

3.2.3 Data collection

This study was based on two factors, i.e., environmental and socioeconomic factors, to compute the composite vulnerability index. The environmental factors (Fig. 3.2 and Table 3.1) included rainfall, maximum and minimum temperature, dense forest cover, agricultural area, floods, droughts, and forest fires. In contrast, socioeconomic factors (Fig. 3.3 and Table 3.1) included the Human Development Index (HDI), population density, socially deprived populations (Schedule caste and schedule tribe), cultivators, and agricultural labourers.

	Table 3.1: Selection	of the indicators	for computing	the composite
--	----------------------	-------------------	---------------	---------------

SI. No.	Environmental indicators	Data Sources	Cell size
1	Annual rainfall	https://www.imdpune.gov.in/	0.25°×0.25°
2	Maximum Temperature	https://www.imdpune.gov.in/	1°×1°
3	Minimum Temperature	https://www.imdpune.gov.in/	1°×1°
4	Dense forest cover	https://fsi.nic.in/forest-report-2021- details	
5	Agricultural area	https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov/	500 meters
6	Floods	http://www.mpsdma.mp.gov.in/uploads/ media/MP-SDMP-2307141.pdf	
7	Droughts	http://www.mpsdma.mp.gov.in/uploads/ media/MP-SDMP-2307141.pdf	
8	Forest fires	https://www.earthdata.nasa.gov/learn/fin d-data/near-real-time/firms	1000 meters
S	ocio-economic indicators		
9	Population density	http://www.censusmp.gov.in	
10	Socially deprived populations	http://www.censusmp.gov.in	
11	Cultivators	http://www.censusmp.gov.in	
12	Agricultural labourers	http://www.censusmp.gov.in	
13	HDI	Singh & Keshari (2016)	

vulnerability index

The daily gridded data for annual rainfall and annual maximum and minimum temperature of the last ten years were obtained from the India Meteorological Department. District-wise, dense forest cover data in percentage of total geographical area was collected from the Forest Survey of India, State of Forest Report 2021. Flood- and drought-affected districts of Madhya Pradesh were acquired from the State Disaster Management Plan – Madhya Pradesh. This study used data generated by collecting 6 MODIS active fire products based on the active fire detection algorithm (Giglio et al., 2016) provided by the Fire Information for Resource Management System (FIRMS). MODIS land use land cover data collected from NASA

Earth Explorer for 2022. The land use land cover (LULC) map of MODIS (MCD12Q1) is created using the supervised classification of MODIS reflectance data (Friedl et al., 2010). All the socioeconomic data except HDI were gathered from the Census of India 2011; the primary census abstract data highlighted Madhya Pradesh, whereas HDI was collected from Singh & Keshari (2016).



Fig. 3.2: District-wise distribution of environmental factors

Note: Here, (a) Rainfall, (b) Maximum temperature, (c) Minimum temperature, (d) Dense Forest cover, (e) Agricultural area, (f) Flood affected area, (g) Drought affected areas, and (h) Number of forest fire points



Fig. 3.3: District-wise distribution of socioeconomic factors

Note: Here, (a) Population density, (b) Socially deprived population, (c) HDI, (d) Cultivators, and (e) Agricultural labourers

3.2.4 Data Analysis

The methodology assumes that CC vulnerability is influenced by the susceptibility of a region's existing socioeconomic factors and environmental conditions to CC hazards. The primary challenge lies in identifying the region-specific socioeconomic and environmental parameters. An indicator-based approach has been adopted to construct vulnerability sub-indices at the district level, focusing on specific domains to address this. It allows us to create a composite vulnerability index for the study region, enabling the identification, assessment, and ranking of the vulnerable districts in Madhya Pradesh. The study employed the normalization method (Iyengar & Sudarshan, 1982), which proposed to ensure comparability among indicators measured in different units, as depicted in Equation 3.1.

Indicator Index Score_d =
$$\frac{X(i) - X(min)}{X(max) - X(min)}$$
 (3.1)

where X(i) = the actual value for the district concerned.

X(max) = the maximum value for the district concerned.

X(min) = the minimum value for the district concerned and,

in the indicator index score, d is for the district concerned.

The indicator's numerical value indicates the relative vulnerability status of the selected districts. The above equation considers maximum and minimum values in the expression and ensures vulnerability values lie within [0,1] interval and are non-negative.



Fig. 3.4: Comprehensive methodology flowchart

The next stage involved allocating weights to each district's indicators, considering the vulnerability's significance. After normalizing each indicator, an equal weight was assigned to each indicator (Bahinipati, 2014; Balica & Wright, 2010; Cutter et al., 2012; Eakin & Bojórquez-Tapia, 2008; Kantamaneni et al., 2020). These weights were established based on an amalgamation of diverse sources, including the Census Report 2011, the Madhya Pradesh State Action Plan on Climate Change, the State Disaster Management Plan, the Human Development Report 2016, and the State Economic Review. The effectiveness of the composite CC vulnerability

index was examined by subjecting it to varying normalization techniques and employing diverse weight factors for the selected indicators. The essential characteristics of the outcomes remained unchanged across these variations, thus affirming the robustness of the index. The comprehensive methodological framework for this study is shown in Fig. 3.4.

3.2.1.1 Computation of Environmental Vulnerability Index (EVI)

The environmental vulnerability index has been estimated by taking the simple average of the eight indicators of 13 variables (Rainfall, Maximum Temperature, Minimum Temperature, Dense Forest, Agricultural area, Flood, Drought, and Forest Fires). Hence, the EVI is calculated using Equation 3.2.

$$EVI_{D=\frac{1}{8}} \left(RF_d + T_{maxd} + T_{mind} + DF_d + AA_d + FL_d + DR_d + FF_d \right)$$
(3.2)

where RF= Rainfall, T_{max} = Maximum Temperature, T_{min} = Minimum Temperature, DF= Dense Forest, AA= Agriculture Area, FL= Flood, DR= Drought, FF = Forest Fires.

3.2.1.2 Computation of Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (SVI)

The vulnerability index has been estimated by taking the simple average of the five indicators of 13 variables (HDI, Population Density, Socially Deprived Population, Cultivators, and Agricultural Labourers). Hence, the SVI is calculated using Equation 3.3.

$$SVI_d = \frac{1}{5} (HDI_d + PD_d + SD_d + CV_d + AL_d)$$
 (3.3)

where HDI= Human Development Index, PD= Population Density, SD= Socially Deprived Population, CV = Cultivators, AL = Agricultural labourers

3.2.1.3 Calculation of Composite Vulnerability Index (CVI)

A composite vulnerability index of CC was established involving the simple additive weighting applied to the environmental and socioeconomic vulnerability indices (Sarun et al., 2018). Specifically, a weight of 0.70 was assigned to socioeconomic vulnerability because socioeconomic factors are more sensitive to CC, while environmental vulnerability received a weight of 0.30 (Sarun et al., 2018; Yusuf & Francisco, 2009). Hence, CVI was calculated using Equation 3.4.

$$CVI_d = (0.70 \times SVI_d) + (0.30 \times EVI_d)$$
 (3.4)

Based on this CVI, a clustering process categorized the 51 districts into four distinctive classes. These classes were classified based on the degree of relative vulnerability to environmental and socioeconomic factors (Deressa et al., 2009), indicating the very high, high, medium, and low vulnerability levels present within each district. Subsequently, distinct maps representing the socioeconomic, environmental, and composite vulnerabilities at the district level were generated using ArcGIS 10.8.

3.2.1.4 Hierarchical Cluster Analysis

The hierarchical cluster analysis was performed using OriginPro 2023b (Learning Edition) software to validate the findings. The categorization of districts was conducted using cluster analysis. Cluster analysis is used in exploratory data analysis to categorize problems (Benderskaya, 2017). The primary goal is to group monitoring points based on the strength of their association. Members within the same cluster exhibit a strong association, while those in different clusters have a weak association (Sheela et al., 2015). Hierarchical clustering was employed in this study using Euclidean distance and Ward's linkage methods. Hierarchical clustering is a widely recognized and extensively employed scientific methodology that finds application in various fields, including but not limited to biology, computer science, and social sciences (Shi et al., 2021). Similar data points are

grouped based on their attributes to identify patterns and relationships within datasets. The approach described in this study produces a graphical depiction known as a **Dendrogram**, which exhibits a hierarchical arrangement resembling a tree, illustrating the organization of data points within nested clusters (Ma et al., 2020). In general, hierarchical clustering is a reliable methodology that yields significant observations regarding the organization and trends within data through the identification of similarities and dissimilarities among data points (Xie et al., 2020).

3.4 Results and Discussion

A comprehensive assessment was conducted to gain an inclusive understanding of the vulnerabilities caused by CC within the state. The evaluation aimed to broadly understand the climate-induced vulnerabilities specific to Madhya Pradesh by considering a range of socioeconomic and environmental indicators. There is significant variation in the socioeconomic and environmental variables across the districts of Madhya Pradesh. The highest range among the environmental indicators is recorded for rainfall, dense forest cover, agricultural area, and forest fire points. For example, Guna, Hoshangabad, and Dindori received the highest rainfall, while West Nimar, Dhar, and Morena received the least. The comprehensive spatiotemporal climatic dynamics of Madhya Pradesh using rainfall and temperature data were presented in Chapter 2 for better understanding.

The southeastern part of the state has the highest percentage of dense forest. Meanwhile, the western and northeast areas show the unavailability of dense forests, supporting the distribution of forest fire points. The variation in socioeconomic indicators is also observed. For example, HDI and population density are shown to be lowest in Dindori and highest in Indore and Bhopal. Regarding the percentage of the socially deprived population, cultivators and agricultural labourers, Bhopal shows the lowest rate. Whereas Alirajpur shows the highest percentage of socially deprived population and cultivators, Mandla has the highest percentage of agricultural labourers to total workers. This study employs a comprehensive vulnerability assessment to reveal intricate patterns in environmental and socioeconomic vulnerabilities across Madhya Pradesh's districts. Adopting the spatial vulnerability method proposed by Borden et al., 2007 and the Composite Vulnerability Index (CVI) approach by Sarun et al. (2018) and Yusuf & Francisco (2009), the study integrates the Environmental Vulnerability Index (EVI) and Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (SVI) to offer a comprehensive perspective on climate vulnerability.

3.4.1 Evolution of Composite Vulnerability Index

3.4.1.1 Environmental Vulnerability Index (EVI)

Table 3.2 shows the district-wise index value of environmental factors, calculated using Equation 3.2. The lowest EVI value is 0.21 and the highest value is 0.59. The districts are classified based on their estimated EVI quantile to low (0.214 - 0.364), medium (0.365 - 0.425), high (0.426 - 0.487) and very high (0.488 - 0.593) (Fig. 3.5). The analysis reveals various patterns of environmental vulnerability across districts. Districts with the lowest vulnerability - such as Anuppur, Tikamgarh, Datia, Sheopur, Jabalpur, Bhopal, Gwalior, Bhind, Shahdol, Sehore, Ujjain, Morena, and Shajapur—benefit from factors like lower minimum temperatures, limited dense forest coverage, fewer forest fires, and minimal drought-affected areas. These factors imply a higher level of preparedness for environmental changes.

Similarly, districts such as Indore, Panna, Agar Malwa, Shivpuri, Harda, Narsimhapur, West Nimar, Sagar, Umaria, Singrauli, Seoni, Ashoknagar, and Alirajpur exhibit moderate levels of environmental vulnerability. These areas encounter challenges such as variations in rainfall distribution, moderately dense forest coverage, drought occurrences, and forest fires. Implementing strategies to enhance resilience in these districts can effectively mitigate environmental vulnerabilities.

District	RF	Tmax	Tmin	DF	AA	FL	DR	FF	EVI	District	RF	Tmax	Tmin	DF	AA	FL	DR	FF	EVI
Dindori	1.0	0.4	0.1	1.0	0.1	0.7	0.7	0.9	0.6	Ashoknagar	0.6	0.8	0.1	0.0	0.8	0.7	0.3	0.0	0.4
Mandla	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.8	0.2	1.0	1.0	0.5	0.6	Seoni	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.3	1.0	0.6	0.4
Satna	0.4	0.9	0.2	0.0	0.7	0.7	1.0	0.4	0.5	Singrauli	0.5	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4
Barwani	0.2	0.3	0.9	0.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	0.5	Umaria	0.4	0.4	0.1	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.7	0.4	0.4
Balaghat	0.5	0.4	0.4	1.0	0.2	1.0	0.3	0.5	0.5	Sagar	0.4	0.7	0.2	0.0	0.7	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.4
Jhabua	0.2	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.9	1.0	1.0	0.0	0.5	West Nimar	0.0	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.9	1.0	0.3	0.0	0.4
Chhindwara	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.5	1.0	0.7	0.7	0.5	Narsimhapur	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.7	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.4
Rajgarh	0.7	0.6	0.2	0.0	1.0	0.7	1.0	0.0	0.5	Harda	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.6	1.0	0.3	0.2	0.4
Sidhi	0.6	0.7	0.3	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.7	0.4	0.5	Shivpuri	0.6	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.7	0.3	0.1	0.4
Raisen	0.5	0.7	0.2	0.0	0.7	0.7	0.3	1.0	0.5	Agar Malwa	0.7	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.6	0.7	0.3	0.0	0.4
Damoh	0.2	1.0	0.1	0.0	0.5	1.0	0.7	0.5	0.5	Panna	0.1	0.9	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.4	0.4
Guna	0.8	0.8	0.1	0.0	0.8	1.0	0.3	0.0	0.5	Indore	0.3	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.9	0.7	0.3	0.0	0.4
Dhar	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.0	0.5	Shajapur	0.6	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.6	0.7	0.3	0.0	0.4
Rewa	0.6	0.7	0.3	0.1	0.9	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.5	Morena	0.1	1.0	0.1	0.0	0.7	0.7	0.3	0.0	0.4
Ratlam	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.0	1.0	0.7	0.7	0.0	0.5	Ujjain	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.0	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.4
Burhanpur	0.2	0.4	0.8	0.1	0.7	1.0	0.3	0.1	0.5	Sehore	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.9	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4
Katni	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.9	1.0	0.7	0.4	0.5	Shahdol	0.6	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.8	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.3
Hoshangabad	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.5	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.5	Bhind	0.1	1.0	0.1	0.0	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.3
Dewas	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.8	1.0	0.3	0.2	0.5	Gwalior	0.3	1.0	0.1	0.0	0.4	0.7	0.3	0.0	0.3
East Nimar	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.1	0.5	1.0	0.3	0.5	0.4	Bhopal	0.5	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.8	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3
Betul	0.6	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.7	0.3	0.7	0.4	Jabalpur	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.4	1.0	0.3	0.2	0.3
Neemuch	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.0	0.4	1.0	0.7	0.0	0.4	Sheopur	0.6	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.3	0.1	0.3
Vidisha	0.6	0.8	0.1	0.0	0.9	0.7	0.3	0.1	0.4	Datia	0.2	1.0	0.1	0.0	0.8	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.3
Mandsaur	0.6	0.6	0.3	0.0	0.8	1.0	0.3	0.0	0.4	Tikamgarh	0.2	0.5	0.2	0.0	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.3
Chhatarpur	0.2	1.0	0.2	0.1	0.7	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.4	Anuppur	0.5	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.2
Alirajpur	0.2	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.9	0.3	1.0	0.0	0.4										

 Table 3.2: Environmental vulnerability index



Fig. 3.5: District wise environmental vulnerability map

Districts exhibiting an EVI value, namely Chhatarpur, Mandsaur, Vidisha, Neemuch, Betul, East Nimar, Dewas, Hoshangabad, Katni, Burhanpur, Ratlam, Rewa, Dhar, and Guna, demonstrate higher levels of vulnerability. These districts experience increased rainfall, higher maximum temperatures, expansive agricultural areas, and frequent floods and droughts. As a result, immediate attention must be given to this issue, along with developing and implementing comprehensive strategies for climate adaptation and disaster management.

The districts with the highest EVI scores, namely Damoh, Raisen, Sidhi, Rajgarh, Chhindwara, Jhabua, Balaghat, Barwani, Satna, Mandla, and Dindori, are the most vulnerable to environmental challenges. Significant precipitation, extreme temperatures, extensive dense forestation, expansive agricultural regions, frequent floods, droughts, and forest fires characterize these regions. Comprehensive and diverse interventions are essential to improve adaptive capacity, sustainable resource management, and disaster resilience.

3.4.1.2 Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (SVI)

The district-wise SVI was calculated using Equation 3.3, presented in Table 3.3. The districts have been divided based on their SVI quantile into low (0.309 - 0.372), medium (0.373 - 0.401), high (0.405 - 0.432), and very high (0.441 - 0.552) (Fig. 3.6). The socioeconomic vulnerability assessment of districts in Madhya Pradesh reveals important insights with significant implications for policy and development strategies.



Fig. 3.6: Socio-economic vulnerability map

The districts with the least socioeconomic vulnerability, such as Ashoknagar, Bhopal, Chhatarpur, Damoh, Guna, Gwalior, Hoshangabad, Jabalpur, Morena, Neemuch, Raisen, Sagar, Vidisha, demonstrate favourable attributes like lower population densities and decreased proportions of socially disadvantaged populations. It suggests that these regions possess a comparatively higher level of socioeconomic resilience, enabling them to manage the consequences of CC effectively. Utilizing these strengths can guide the formulation of sustainable development strategies, allocating resources, and implementing disaster preparedness

District	HDI	PD	SD	CV	AL	SVI	District	HDI	PD	SD	CV	AL	SVI
Alirajpur	0.4	0.2	1.0	1.0	0.2	0.6	Tikamgarh	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.6	0.5	0.4
Jhabua	0.4	0.3	0.9	0.9	0.2	0.5	Datia	0.6	0.2	0.1	0.6	0.4	0.4
Barwani	0.5	0.2	0.8	0.6	0.6	0.5	Indore	0.8	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.4
Dhar	0.6	0.2	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.5	Sehore	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.4
Mandla	0.5	0.1	0.6	0.3	1.0	0.5	Burhanpur	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.8	0.4
West Nimar	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.8	0.5	Mandsaur	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.6	0.4
Ratlam	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.7	0.5	Ujjain	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.5	0.4
Seoni	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.3	1.0	0.5	Satna	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.4
Betul	0.6	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.7	0.5	Sheopur	0.5	0.0	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.4
Dindori	0.2	0.0	0.7	0.5	0.8	0.4	Panna	0.4	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.8	0.4
Harda	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.8	0.4	Katni	0.6	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.6	0.4
East Nimar	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.8	0.4	Shivpuri	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.4	0.4
Sidhi	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.2	1.0	0.4	Ashoknagar	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.4
Umaria	0.5	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.9	0.4	Guna	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.5	0.5	0.4
Shahdol	0.5	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.9	0.4	Raisen	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.7	0.4
Chhindwara	0.6	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.4	Vidisha	0.6	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.7	0.4
Anuppur	0.5	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.4	Neemuch	0.6	0.1	0.1	0.5	0.5	0.4
Agar Malwa	0.7	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.7	0.4	Morena	0.6	0.4	0.1	0.6	0.2	0.4
Shajapur	0.7	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.7	0.4	Bhopal	0.8	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4
Dewas	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.7	0.4	Hoshangabad	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.4
Rewa	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.8	0.4	Jabalpur	0.7	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.3
Singrauli	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.4	Chhatarpur	0.5	0.1	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.3
Balaghat	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.9	0.4	Damoh	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.7	0.3
Narsimhapur	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.9	0.4	Sagar	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.3
Rajgarh	0.6	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.7	0.4	Gwalior	0.7	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3
Bhind	0.6	0.4	0.1	0.6	0.4	0.4							

 Table 3.3: Socioeconomic vulnerability index

initiatives.

Among the medium SVI category, districts such as Indore, Ujjain, Katni, Satna, etc, exhibit comparatively higher HDI and population densities with lower socially deprived populations. These districts are more strategically situated to utilize human and infrastructural resources to counter climateinduced vulnerabilities effectively. Strategic allocations of resources towards agriculture, livelihood diversification, and healthcare sectors can enhance their adaptive capacity.

High SVI districts, such as Rajgarh, Narsimhapur, and other similar regions, highlight the intricate relationship between reliance on agricultural labour and the HDI. The high prevalence of these factors highlights the urgent need for targeted interventions to reduce dependence on agriculture and improve socioeconomic conditions. Strategies focused on alternative livelihood opportunities and promoting human development indicators can mitigate CC impacts.

Districts with the highest SVI value, including Alirajpur, Barwani, Betul, Dhar, Dindori, East Nimar, Harda, Jhabua, Mandla, Ratlam, Seoni, West Nimar, require urgent and thorough attention. The critical necessity for multifaceted strategies is indicated by the convergence of various factors, such as the presence of socially deprived populations, cultivators, and agricultural labourers at high percentages. These strategies should promote socioeconomic development, diversify livelihood, and enhance healthcare services. Furthermore, the low HDI in certain districts further emphasizes the need for comprehensive developmental strategies to improve living standards and promote adaptive capacities. Jha & Negi (2021) reported that the highest vulnerability among socio-ecological systems was observed in the socioeconomic sector.

3.3.1.3. Composite Vulnerability Index (CVI)

Table 3.4 presents district-wise CVI values calculated using Equation 3.4 and shows a district's ranking based on CVI. As per this table, Gwalior is

the least vulnerable district, and Barwani is the most vulnerable. The districts have been classified into four clusters based on their CVI quantile: low, medium, high, and very high, as shown in Fig. 3.7.

District	CVI	Rank	District	CVI	Rank	District	CVI	Rank
Barwani	0.54	1	Satna	0.43	18	Ashoknagar	0.39	35
Jhabua	0.54	2	Harda	0.43	19	Bhind	0.39	36
Mandla	0.52	3	Umaria	0.42	20	Sehore	0.38	37
Alirajpur	0.51	4	Agar Malwa	0.41	21	Damoh	0.38	38
Dhar	0.50	5	Burhanpur	0.41	22	Datia	0.38	39
Dindori	0.49	6	Singrauli	0.41	23	Panna	0.38	40
Ratlam	0.47	7	Shajapur	0.41	24	Ujjain	0.38	41
Chhindwara	0.46	8	Narsimhapur	0.41	25	Shivpuri	0.38	42
West Nimar	0.45	9	Shahdol	0.41	26	Tikamgarh	0.37	43
Sidhi	0.45	10	Raisen	0.41	27	Chhatarpur	0.37	44
Balaghat	0.45	11	Guna	0.41	28	Sheopur	0.37	45
Betul	0.45	12	Mandsaur	0.40	29	Anuppur	0.37	46
East Nimar	0.44	13	Katni	0.40	30	Morena	0.36	47
Seoni	0.44	14	Indore	0.39	31	Bhopal	0.36	48
Rewa	0.44	15	Neemuch	0.39	32	Sagar	0.35	49
Rajgarh	0.44	16	Vidisha	0.39	33	Jabalpur	0.34	50
Dewas	0.43	17	Hoshangabad	0.39	34	Gwalior	0.32	51

Table 3.4: Composite vulnerability Index



Fig. 3.7: Composite vulnerability map

a) Low vulnerable districts (0.321-0.378)

The districts of Gwalior, Jabalpur, Sagar, Bhopal, Morena, Anuppur, Sheopur, Chhatarpur, Tikamgarh, Shivpuri, Ujjain, Panna, and Datia demonstrate lower CVI values (Fig. 3.8). It results in a decrease in the EVI and SVI values for these districts. This outcome is influenced by multiple factors, including a reduced percentage of dense forest cover, a reduced presence of regions affected by drought, a population with lower levels of social deprivation, and a higher HDI. These findings emphasize the complex dynamics of climate vulnerability. The lower CVI values indicate these districts are less vulnerable to CC impacts, both environmentally and socio-economically. Effective forest management and drought mitigation approaches have played a significant role. Furthermore, lower levels of socially deprived populations and higher HDI values suggest an increased ability to adapt and withstand the impacts of climate-related challenges.



Fig. 3.8: Low vulnerable districts based on CVI

b) Medium vulnerable districts (0.381 - 0.407)

The group comprises the districts of Damoh, Sehore, Bhind, Ashoknagar, Hoshangabad, Vidisha, Neemuch, Indore, Katni, Mandsaur, Guna, Raisen, and Shahdol. The districts demonstrate a decrease in exposure and sensitivity to environmental and socioeconomic factors, as illustrated in Fig. 3.9. The rationale for incorporating these districts is based on their comparatively lower risk profiles, such as extensive forest coverage, population density (except Indore), a smaller proportion of socially marginalized populations, and better performance in the HDI.



Fig. 3.9: Medium vulnerable district based on CVI

c) High vulnerable districts (0.409 - 0.442)

The heightened vulnerability of districts like Narsimhapur, Shajapur, Singrauli, Burhanpur, Agar Malwa, Umaria, Harda, Satna, Dewas, Rajgarh, Rewa, Seoni, and East Nimar is illustrated in Fig. 3.10. The increased susceptibility is correlated to higher EVI and SVI values, which are mainly due to the high proportion of agricultural areas, regions prone to flooding and droughts, and a noteworthy concentration of agricultural workers. The categorization of these regions as highly vulnerable highlights the urgent need for targeted climate adaptation and mitigation strategies. The heightened EVI and SVI values emphasize the need for a comprehensive approach to address the challenges of extensive agricultural activities, occurrences of flood and drought, and the prevalence of agricultural workers. It becomes necessary to prioritize targeted initiatives to enhance agricultural resilience through effective water management, diversification of crops, and implementation of improved agricultural practices. Employing effective flood and drought mitigation requires establishing resilient early warning systems, streamlined disaster response mechanisms, and adopting nature-based solutions for water retention and regulation.



Fig. 3.10: High vulnerable districts based on CVI

d) Very high vulnerable districts (0.448 - 0.540)

The districts of Betul, Balaghat, Sidhi, West Nimar, Chhindwara, Ratlam, Dindori, Dhar, Alirajpur, Mandla, Jhabua, and Barwani exhibit higher levels of the CVI, primarily attributed to their elevated scores on the EVI and SVI (Fig. 3.11). These districts collectively demonstrate an increased awareness and vulnerability to the impacts of CC, although influenced by different factors. Significantly, Balaghat, West Nimar, Chhindwara, Dhar, Mandla, Jhabua, and Barwani exhibit a notable frequency of flood events, whereas the districts of Dhar, Alirajpur, Mandla, Jhabua, and Barwani recurrently affected by droughts.



Fig. 3.11: Very high vulnerable districts based on CVI

Dindori exhibits the highest precipitation, dense forests, frequent forest fires, and extensive agricultural land. On the other hand, the districts of Sidhi, West Nimar, Ratlam, Dhar, Alirajpur, Jhabua, and Barwani have the largest agricultural areas, which directly influence their CVI values. Except for Alirajpur and Jhabua, all districts within this group have a higher percentage of agricultural labourers. Moreover, the Dindori, Alirajpur, Mandla, Jhabua, and Barwani districts exhibit the highest levels of vulnerability, as evidenced by their low HDI and the higher percentage of socially marginalized populations.

Districts with low CVI exhibit higher resilience due to favourable environmental conditions and lower socioeconomic challenges. However, districts with higher CVI values face severe challenges driven by environmental and socioeconomic factors, imposing urgent interventions. The findings emphasize the need for tailored strategies that address various patterns of vulnerabilities in districts like Damoh, Rajgarh, and Betul. Even districts with medium CVI values need current monitoring and adaptive policies to maintain their resilience due to CC. The relationship between environmental factors, socioeconomic conditions, and human development demands a nuanced, regional-level approach to vulnerability mitigation and adaptation.

The district-level CVI offers policymakers a valuable understanding of the root causes of regional vulnerability (Jha & Gundimeda, 2019). However, it is essential to recognize that while this index simplifies communication, it can cause some ambiguity due to its simplification (Abson et al., 2012). The results align with studies by Patri et al. (2022) and Ge et al. (2021), demonstrating the role of urbanization in reducing vulnerability in India. Azhar et al. (2017) emphasize the increased vulnerability in tribal regions. These studies support the conclusions of our analysis. As CC continues to impact more areas, specific actions are required to decrease current environmental and socioeconomic vulnerabilities. Marginalized populations, workers and communities are identified as having increased vulnerability, influenced by climate-induced migration and agricultural losses (Pradhan & Narayanan, 2022). Our study's identification of vulnerable districts in Madhya Pradesh is further validated by other research on CC vulnerability in India (Azhar et al., 2017; Chakraborty & Joshi, 2016). The results of the climate index by George et al. (2023), indicating a significant increase over decades, align with MPSKMCCC (2018) observation of heightened vulnerability toward mid-century (2050). Policies should promote sustainable land and forest management practices to enhance climate resilience, such as reforestation, soil conservation, and fire management strategies (Amoak et al., 2022). Improving forest regeneration, incorporating native species, and restricting human

disturbances to forests are essential to protecting biodiversity and enhancing ecosystem services (Seidl et al., 2009). Engaging local communities in forest management guarantees the sustainable use of forest resources and reduces deforestation (Haji et al., 2020). The vulnerable districts identified in our research correspond to the present climatic scenario, validating our findings.

3.4.2 Validation of the Composite Vulnerability Index through Cluster Analysis

An essential step in this study involves applying cluster analysis to validate the outcomes extracted from the vulnerability index map. The present method explores the intricate relationship between environmental and socioeconomic variables contributing to CC vulnerability. The aim is to identify latent patterns and connections that may not be immediately evident from individual observations. The results of this analytical procedure are shown in the form of a dendrogram map (Fig. 3.12), which visually depicts the hierarchical clustering of the examined districts. The dendrogram illustrates the level of similarity or dissimilarity (Nguyen et al., 2019) among the districts based on the chosen variables. Districts exhibiting similar attributes concerning their vulnerability profiles are categorized into coherent clusters (Fig. 3.13), which are hierarchically structured.

This study's hierarchical cluster analysis effectively classifies the districts into a comprehensive set of 25 discrete clusters (Table 3.5). The clustering process enables the identification of complex nuances in vulnerability patterns throughout the study area. This approach systematically elucidates the interactions and interdependencies among various environmental and socioeconomic factors (Fernandez et al., 2016).

The hierarchical clustering analysis supports and reinforces the initial findings obtained from the composite vulnerability index by exposing hidden connections and discrepancies. This methodology adds a layer of verification and comprehensiveness to evaluating CC vulnerability,



Fig. 3.12: Dendrogram map



Fig. 3.13: Cluster map

Cluster	Districts	Vulnerability status with explanations
1	Anuppur	low vulnerability due to minimal maximum temperature, limited flood and drought-affected areas,
		exceedingly low percentage of dense forest, and a lower count of forest fire points
2	Bhind, Datia, Chhatarpur, and	low vulnerability attributed to decreased rainfall, significantly lower dense forest coverage, fewer forest fires,
	Morena	minor drought-affected regions, and a modest proportion of socially disadvantaged populations
3	Bhopal and Indore	low vulnerability due to the absence of dense forest, minimal drought-affected areas, scarce forest fire
		occurrences, robust Human Development Index (HDI) performance, and a reduced percentage of socially
		marginalised populations, cultivators, and agricultural labourers
4	Gwalior and Jabalpur	low vulnerability due to reduced rainfall, limited dense forest presence, minor drought-affected regions, robust
		HDI performance, and a decreased percentage of socially deprived populations, cultivators, and agricultural
		labourers
5	Sheopur	low vulnerability attributed to modest dense forest and agricultural area percentages, limited drought-affected
-		regions, and population density considerations
6	Tikamgarh and Ujjain	low vulnerability due to an exceptionally low percentage of dense forest, an absence of forest fires, minimal
-		impact from climatic extremes, and a reduced percentage of socially disadvantaged populations
7	Agar Malwa and Ashoknagar	moderately vulnerable due to comparatively higher rainfall, expanded agricultural areas, and population
		dependent on the agricultural sector; moderate flood-affected levels
8	Katni	moderately vulnerable due to a comparatively extensive agricultural area, areas affected by climatic extremes,
		and an elevated count of forest fire points
9	Guna, Mandsaur, Hoshangabad,	moderately vulnerable due to substantial rainfall, limited dense forest coverage and forest points, a relatively
	and Neemuch	extensive agricultural area, and a population reliant on the agricultural sector
10	Panna and Seoni	moderately vulnerable due to comparatively higher maximum temperature, minor minimum temperature
		levels, a moderate percentage of agricultural area, socially disadvantaged population, cultivators, and
		agricultural labourers
11	Rewa and Sagar	moderately vulnerable due to substantial agricultural area extent, forest fire points, population density, and
-		moderate flood impact
12	Vidisha	moderately vulnerable due to relatively high rainfall and maximum temperature, expansive agricultural area
		and labourer numbers, and moderate minimum temperature levels

Table 3.5: District classification using cluster analysis of environmental and socio-economic factors

13	Sehore	moderately vulnerable due to relatively high maximum and low minimum temperatures, extensive agricultural
		area and forest fire points, and a strong HDI performance
14	Sidhi and Umaria	high vulnerability due to significantly elevated maximum and minimum temperatures, a higher count of forest
		fire points, lower HDI percentages, and a substantial percentage of agricultural labourers
15	Burhanpur, Dewas, Harda, East	high vulnerability due to a comparatively large agricultural area extent, regions impacted by floods, and a
	Nimar, Narsimhapur	notable proportion of agricultural labourers
16	Raisen and Satna	high vulnerability due to elevated maximum temperatures, extensive agricultural areas and labourers, and
		significant climatic extremes impact
17	Shajapur and Shivpuri	high vulnerability due to relatively high rainfall, maximum temperatures, and a lower minimum temperature,
		expansive agricultural area, and population dependency on this sector
18	Shahdol and Singrauli	high vulnerability due to elevated rainfall, a sizable agricultural area and labourer population, forest fires, and
	_	a lower HDI performance
19	Balaghat, Dindori, and Mandla	very high vulnerability due to extensive dense forest presence and forest fire points, high climatic extremes
	_	impact, lower HDI performance, and a substantial percentage of agricultural labourers
20	Betul and Rajgarh	very high vulnerability due to elevated rainfall, minor minimum temperature levels, an extensive forest fire
		count, expansive agricultural land, and a significant agricultural labourer population
21	Alirajpur	very high vulnerability due to a substantial agricultural land extent and population dependence on this sector,
		socially disadvantaged population, drought impact, and extremely low HDI performance
22	Barwani, Dhar, and Jhabua	very high vulnerability due to an expansive agricultural land extent and population dependency on this sector,
		socially disadvantaged population, significant climatic extremes impact, and HDI performance
23	Chhindwara and Damoh	very high vulnerability due to notably low minimum temperatures, substantial climatic extremes and forest
		fires impact, a substantial percentage of socially disadvantaged populations and agricultural labourers
24	Ratlam	very high vulnerability due to an extensive agricultural area, socially disadvantaged population, and
		population dependency on agricultural activities
25	West Nimar	very high vulnerability due to elevated maximum temperatures and flood impact, expansive agricultural area,
		socially dependent population, and reliance on the agricultural sector

ensuring that the outcomes are not dependent on individual indicators but are validated by a comprehensive analysis of the various contributing factors (Feng et al., 2022). The findings provide valuable insights for policymakers and stakeholders involved in climate resilience. Targeted interventions in highly vulnerable districts are imperative, addressing agricultural challenges, flood and drought occurrences, and the prevalence of agricultural labour. Comprehensive strategies must encompass environmental, socioeconomic, and community-oriented approaches to effectively address identified challenges and enhance resilience. Ultimately, the study offers a robust framework for vulnerability assessment, integrating environmental and socioeconomic dimensions. The nuanced understanding of district-level vulnerabilities facilitates informed decisionmaking, which is essential for climate adaptation and disaster management in the different districts of Madhya Pradesh.

3.5 Conclusions

This research comprehensively analyses climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, classifying districts into four vulnerability groups based on CVI values. Districts like Gwalior, Jabalpur, Bhopal, and Ujjain show low vulnerability (0.321-0.378) due to lower climatic extremes affected areas, reduced percentage of socially deprived population, and higher HDI values. Medium vulnerability (0.381-0.407) districts, including Damoh, Hoshangabad, and Indore, exhibit moderate susceptibility, indicating their capacity to manage climate stressors. High vulnerability (0.409-0.42) districts like Narsimhapur and Rewa are at increased risk, imposing targeted interventions. Very high vulnerability (0.448-0.540) districts, including Betul, Balaghat, and Alirajpur, encounter major challenges due to environmental exposure and socioeconomic disparities, mainly in socially marginalized populations. The categorization of districts into different vulnerability groups offers a granular perspective that goes beyond a simplistic classification. Moreover, the study used hierarchical cluster analysis to validate the CVI, strengthening the credibility of the findings

and affirming the complex relationships between environmental and socioeconomic variables that influence vulnerability. This analytical approach enhances the credibility of the study's recommendations and strengthens the foundation for evidence-based policy formulation.

However, this chapter found that the districts where marginalized people are in the majority those districts are highly vulnerable. Moving away from analyzing at the district level to obtaining understanding at the community level would provide a deep knowledge of Madhya Pradesh's climate vulnerability. So, a study on the impact of climate on marginalized communities, particularly tribal communities, is necessary. Based on the results of this chapter, Dhar and Chhindwara districts were selected for the 3rd and 4th objective, i.e. tribal people's perceptions on CC and its impacts in Dhar and Chhindwara District will be discussed in the next chapter.
Chapter 4

Climate Change and Tribal Livelihoods: Perceptions, Impacts, and Determinants in Dhar and Chhindwara Districts of Madhya Pradesh

Dhar and Chhindwara districts are tribal-dominated districts with higher vulnerability to climate change based on environmental and socioeconomic factors. Tribal communities face increased vulnerability due to their dependence on rain-fed agriculture and limited resources in these regions. This chapter examines their perceptions on climate change, its livelihood impacts, and the sociodemographic determinants influencing their perceptions. Combining local perceptions with observed climatic trends offers valuable insights to strengthen adaptive capacities and inform targeted policies.

4.1 Introduction

As seen in the previous chapter, climate change (CC) has begun as a severe challenge globally, with profound impacts on ecosystems, livelihoods, and marginal communities (Tugjamba et al., 2023). According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), vulnerable communities that rely on climate-sensitive sectors like agriculture, forestry, and fisheries face uneven threats (Makondo & Thomas, 2024). These threats are further exacerbated in developing countries like India, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, and Nepal, where socioeconomic determinants frequently regulate adaptation capacities (Patel et al., 2020). CC significantly challenges agricultural sustainability, water resources, and rural livelihoods in India (Praveen & Sharma, 2020), where over 70% of the population is still directly or indirectly dependent on agriculture (Harsh et al., 2024). Variations in rainfall, increasing temperatures, and rising droughts and flood events severely affect food security and economic stability (Shukla et al., 2016). The India Meteorological Department (IMD) reports that climate

anomalies have been particularly severe in central and western India, where agriculture remains the primary livelihood for millions of people (Todmal, 2024). India's tribal population constitutes 8.6%, while in Madhya Pradesh, 21.1% belongs to scheduled tribes (Fig. 4.1), with 43 distinct tribal groups living there (Census, 2011). Major tribal communities in the research include the Bhil, Gond, Pardhan, Bharia, Mawasi, and Kharia. The Bhil tribe is the most populous (37.7%), followed by the Gond at 35.6% of the total scheduled tribal population. These tribal communities are severely impacted by CC, worsening their current social and economic issues.



Fig. 4.1: District-wise tribal population in Madhya Pradesh

Dhar and Chhindwara districts, located in Madhya Pradesh state, India, were selected for this study. The state's tribal population is highly vulnerable to CC. While rich in traditional ecological knowledge, tribal communities face major challenges due to their socioeconomic marginalization, limited access to basic infrastructure, and high dependence on rain-fed agriculture (George et al., 2023). The unpredictable monsoon patterns, declining water resources, and rising temperatures in the region

have intensified their vulnerability, making it necessary to understand their perceptions of CC and its impacts on their livelihoods. Tribal communities worldwide are known for their strong connection to natural resources and conventional knowledge systems that support their livelihoods (S. Mehta, 2024). Tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara, reliant on agriculture and forests, face increased vulnerability due to CC, which is demonstrated by irregular rainfall, prolonged droughts, and increasing temperature trends. These environmental changes directly influence agricultural productivity, water availability, and forest resources, compounded by socioeconomic problems such as inadequate access to modern agricultural technologies, lack of infrastructure, and poor health services (Anser et al., 2023; Shamshad et al., 2024; Stavi et al., 2021). Their perceptions and adaptive responses to CC are affected by gender, education, occupation, and infrastructure access, highlighting the need for a nuanced approach to adopting these vulnerabilities.

Various previous studies have been conducted on local people's perceptions of CC. Brechin & Bhandari (2011) recognized global variations in public perceptions of CC, which are affected by factors such as willingness to pay for environmental protection and views on government initiatives. It is also observed by Capstick et al. (2015) over the past 25 years, particularly in developed countries, because of economic and sociopolitical indicators, with a remarkable gap in longitudinal studies outside Western countries. Around 78% of respondents in China documented the detrimental impact of CC on society (Yu et al., 2013). In Bangladesh, 72.2% of Khasia and 60% of Tripura communities perceived increasing temperatures, with a significant percentage also experiencing decreasing rainfall patterns (Ahmed & Atiqul Haq, 2019). In the Chakma community, 61% of the population perceived moderate CC, with education emerging as the robust awareness indicator (Huda, 2013). Rai et al. (2022) noticed significant CC perceptions in the Chepang community in Nepal, with 97.3% reporting a reduction in pre-monsoon rainfall and adverse effects on agriculture, water

sources, and food security. Furthermore, about 80% of the Tharu community reported higher flood incidents, 60% recorded increased windstorms, and 50% observed higher drought incidents in Nepal (Devkota et al., 2011). In India, over 80% of transhumant herders in the Himalayas perceived increasing summer temperatures and decreasing snowfall, leading to disruptions in the transhumance system (Aryal et al., 2014). In the Indian Himalayas' Pangi Valley, Meena et al. (2019) found that nearly all tribal communities (98.3%) observed a decrease in snowfall alongside rising temperatures. This shift has led to shorter growing seasons and declining crop yields, threatening the region's agricultural stability. Similar worries emerged in Uttarakhand, where 76% of farmers reported declining summer and winter rainfall, while 85% documented a rise in summer temperatures (Shukla et al., 2019). Low-resource farmers expressed greater anxiety over food security, as their livelihoods are more vulnerable to these climatic changes. In Bundelkhand, Jatav (2022) revealed that over 80% of farmers perceived significant changes in rainfall patterns, with 90% reporting increased heat waves. However, these farmers' perceptions and meteorological data showed a negative correlation, highlighting the complexities of localized CC awareness. Similarly, in the Kanchandzonga Biosphere Reserve, Shukla et al. (2016) reported that 85% of respondents had experienced temperature increases, while 3% remained sceptical of these changes.

Despite various research on CC impacts on agriculture and livelihoods in India, major gaps persist. Many studies focus on general perceptions of temperature rise, rainfall variations, and agricultural challenges, but few integrate indigenous knowledge with scientific data to develop regionspecific adaptation strategies. Discrepancies between local perceptions and meteorological data remain underexplored in this region. Additionally, the influence of socioeconomic factors on climate perceptions and adaptive capacities among marginalized groups is not well understood. This chapter is essential since it offers region-specific insights into climate variability and addresses the critical role of local perceptions in climate adaptation by concentrating on tribal communities in the Dhar and Chhindwara districts. The primary objectives of this chapter are which fill the above-mentioned gaps are to (a) analyse tribal perceptions of CC and its impacts on their livelihoods in Dhar and Chhindwara, (b) assess observed regional climatic variations using rainfall and temperature data and link them to local perceptions, and (c) identify sociodemographic factors influencing climate awareness and its impacts. This chapter bridges the gap between indigenous knowledge and scientific analysis, offering actionable insights for policymakers to design targeted climate adaptation strategies for vulnerable tribal communities.

4.2 Methodology

4.2.1 Study Area

Dhar: Dhar district is situated in the southwestern part of Madhya Pradesh and lies between longitudes 75°00'E and 75°26'E and latitudes 22°42'N and 23°10'N (Fig. 4.2). The district is surrounded by Indore, Ujjain, Ratlam, Khargone, Barwani, Jhabua, and Alirajpur districts. Dhar comprises 8,153 km² (2.64% of Madhya Pradesh's total area), forming the 13th biggest district in Madhya Pradesh. The district is separated into 3 physiographic divisions: the Malwa, Vindhyachal range, and Narmada valley. The southern part lies in the Narmada catchment zone, while the Chambal and Mahi rivers drain to the north. Dhar has 7.9% (644 km²) of forest cover to the total geographical area (Forest Survey of India, 2021), mostly containing dry teak forest. The district receives a typically dry climate, with May being the warmest month (average T_{max} 40 °C) and January the coldest (average T_{min} 10 °C). The average annual rainfall is 854 mm. The total population of this district is 2,185,793, with a decadal growth rate of 25.6%. The rural population represents 81.1% of the total, with a population density of 268 persons/km². The sex ratio is 964 women per 1000 men, while the



literacy rate is 59.0%. Scheduled tribes comprise 55.9% of the total population (1,222,814 persons, highest in the state).

Fig. 4.2: Study area map

Chhindwara: Chhindwara district is situated in the southern-central part of Madhya Pradesh (Fig. 4.2). It is a part of the Vindhyachal-Baghelkhand area, which is located between longitudes 78°01'E and 79°23'E and latitudes 21°27'N and 22°49'N. It is the biggest district in Madhya Pradesh, with an area of 11,815 km² (3.83% of the state's total area). Narsimhapur, Nagpur, Amravati, Seoni, Hoshangabad, and Betul border it. The district is geographically subdivided into the Satpura Range, Chhindwara Plateau, and Sausar Forested Upland. The tributaries mainly drain it off the Narmada and Godavari rivers, namely the Kanhan, Pench, and Wardha rivers. Chhindwara has ample forest cover, making up over 39% (4608 km²) of its total area, according to the Forest Survey of India in 2021. These forests are mostly composed of Southern Tropical Dry Deciduous Forest. The climate

is milder than the surrounding districts, characterized by four distinct seasons (summer, winter, monsoon, and post-monsoon) and average temperatures varying from 26 °C to 29 °C. The mean annual precipitation is 1159 mm. The total population is 2,090,922, with a prevalent rural majority of 75.8% and a population density of 177 people/km². The district has a sex ratio of 964 females per 1000 males, a literacy rate of 71.2%, and scheduled tribes form 36.8% (769,778 persons) of the total population.

4.2.2 Rationale of the Study Area

Dhar and Chhindwara districts were selected as the study areas based on various aspects. Both districts emerged as among the most vulnerable to climate change in Madhya Pradesh when integrating environmental and socio-economic indicators, as identified in Chapter 3. While districts like Barwani and Jhabua have a higher proportion of tribal population and rank first and second in terms of CVI values, the selection of Dhar and Chhindwara is not solely based on tribal population. It also considers regional variation, ecological diversity, and the availability of consistent data related to climate and socioeconomic variables. Dhar district has the highest number of tribal population (12,22,814) and is situated in the southwestern part of Madhya Pradesh. It is characterized by a semi-arid climate, predominantly rain-fed agriculture, and lower forest cover (7.9%), making it highly sensitive to climatic variability. Chhindwara, the largest district of Madhya Pradesh in terms of area, lies in the southern-central part of the state. It has a little lower percentage of tribal population (36.8%) but 4th highest tribal population (7,69,778), a sub-humid climate, higher average rainfall (1159 mm), and significant forest cover (39%). Despite these natural advantages, Chhindwara faces socio-economic vulnerabilities due to its livelihood dependencies and occupational patterns. This ecological and socio-economic difference offers a robust comparative framework to understand tribal people's perceptions of climate change and vulnerability assessment of tribal livelihood. However, it is also recognised that such perceptions are shaped by multiple factors, including traditional ecological

knowledge, previous experiences with climate extremes, cultural and institutional influences, access to early warning systems, and awareness and education. Therefore, selecting these two districts allows a comprehensive understanding of how multiple interrelated factors influence climate change perception and adaptive responses among tribal communities. Their selection ensures that the study findings are relevant for broader policy implications in tribal-dominated regions of Madhya Pradesh.

4.2.3 Data Collection

This study combines both primary and secondary data for analysis, focusing on all Tehsils within Chhindwara (13) and Dhar (9) districts in Central India. Primary data were collected using a multistage sampling design. In the first, the study districts were selected purposively due to their significant tribal populations and very high vulnerability to CC (Kumar et al., 2024; Kumar & Mohanasundari, 2024). All 22 Tehsils were included in the second stage. Third, tribal residential villages (26 from Chhindwara and 27 from Dhar) were chosen randomly from each Tehsil (Fig. 4.3), and finally, approximately 10 tribal households from each village were randomly selected. The identification of eligible tribal households was facilitated by local resource persons, such as Panchayat members, Anganwadi workers, ASHA workers, and village elders. From this pool, households were selected randomly to ensure unbiased representation. Cochran's (1977) formula was used to determine the sample size (Jamshed et al., 2020). As per this method, the minimum sample size is 385, with a confidence interval of 95% and an error value of \pm 5%. The sample was distributed in 2 districts: 261 households from Chhindwara and 274 from Dhar, comprising 535 households. The selected households were surveyed using semi-structured scheduled interviews to evaluate their livelihood vulnerability due to climate variability. A key respondent from each village was also interviewed to verify household responses. Data collection occurred from January to April 2024, including participants of all ages (excluding <18 years) and genders. For their convenience, interviews were conducted in Hindi, and all

 Normal Data
 Norm

information was documented in writing. Verbal informed consent was obtained from all respondents before proceeding with the survey questions.

Fig. 4.3: Location of visited villages. The maps were generated using Google Earth Pro (version 7.3) on desktop software (https://www.google.com/intl/en_in/earth/about/versions/#earth-pro).

The scheduled interviews encompassed three parts: (1) respondents' personal and household characteristics, access to essential utilities such as water, schools, healthcare facilities, drainage systems, transport facilities, banks, and the main market, and livelihood strategy; (2) perceptions of CC and variability; and (3) perceived environmental and socioeconomic impacts of CC. These impacts were recognized through group discussions during a pilot survey with tribal people. To ensure clarity, the authors explained the difference between short-term weather variability and long-term CC (over 10–30 years) to respondents aged 18 and above, reducing bias. Perception-based questions used a binary 0 (No) and 1 (Yes) format. At the same time, statements on CC impacts were rated on a 5-point Likert scale, as follows: 1= "Strongly disagree", 2= "Disagree", 3= "Neutral", 4= "Agree", 5= "Strongly agree". Climate data, such as daily gridded rainfall ($0.25^{\circ} \times 0.25^{\circ}$) and temperature ($1^{\circ} \times 1^{\circ}$) data were obtained for 70 years (1954-2023) from the India Meteorological Department.

4.2.4 Data Analysis

This chapter employed several techniques to analyse the gathered data, ensuring robust and accurate results (Fig. 4.4). Innovative Trend Analysis (ITA) was used to analyse trends (Şen, 2012) in annual rainfall, Tmean, Tmax, and T_{min}. The Standardized Precipitation Index-3 (SPI-3) was applied to evaluate the dry and wet conditions (Mckee et al., 1993) from 1954 to 2023. Descriptive statistics were employed to examine the respondent's sociodemographic characteristics, perception of CC, and CC impacts using frequency and percentage distributions of categorized responses. The binary logistic regression model was employed to correlate CC perception (whether the climate is changing or not) with sociodemographic determinants. Further, the Multiple Linear Regression model was used to explore the potential effects of each sociodemographic variable on the perception of CC's environmental and socioeconomic impacts. For applying linear regression, the impact of CC was grouped into 6 categories using normalization, with equal weight assigned and an indexed value created. Following are the indices - climatic extremes (Flood and Drought incidents are increasing), natural resources (Forest and mountainous vegetation and Agricultural lands are decreasing), agriculture (Crop growing seasons are changing, Crop production is reducing, Crop failure and economic loss, Crops are damaging due to pests, and Crops are damaging due to environmental issues), water (Water level is declining and Water shortages), Socioeconomic (Climate extreme incidents affected your livelihood and Led to rural-urban migration), and health (Affects health and creates health issues and Increased water-borne diseases and other Before regression diseases). analysis, multicollinearity and heteroscedasticity assumptions were tested. These data did not show multicollinearity, following Gujarati's (1995) guideline that correlation coefficients above 0.8 indicate a significant multicollinearity issue. Heteroscedasticity was also checked using the Breusch-Pagan test to ensure the model's validity. Data cleaning, conversion, analysis and visualization



were done using MS Excel, R-Studio, STATA, Origin 2024b, and ArcGIS 10.8.

Fig. 4.4: A comprehensive methodological framework

4.2.4.1 Innovative trend analysis (ITA)

ITA is a non-parametric method for trend detection in climate data without distributional norms (Şen, 2012). It involves separating the dataset, such as annual rainfall or temperature (T_{mean} , T_{max} , T_{min}), into two halves and plotting the first half on the x-axis and the second half on the y-axis. For a dataset *X* with *n* observations:

$$X_1 = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{n/2}\}, X_2 = \{x_{(n/2)+1}, x_{(n/2)+2}, \dots, x_n\}$$

These subsets are plotted as a scatter plot:

Trend Plot: (X_1, X_2)

- 45° line (y = x): indicates no trend.
- Above 45° line (y > x): shows an increasing trend.
- Below 45° line (y < x): reflects a decreasing trend.

ITA offers a clear visual representation of trends in climate variables, making it a rational choice for analyzing annual changes without complex statistical assumptions. This study applied it to assess trends in rainfall and temperature data from 1954 to 2023, helping to identify changes in climate patterns.

4.2.4.2 Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI)

The SPI evaluates meteorological droughts and rainfall variability over various time scales (Mckee et al., 1993). Fitting long-term precipitation data calculates SPI to a probability distribution, typically the gamma distribution, which is then transformed into a standard normal distribution with a mean of zero. The SPI equation is defined as:

$$SPI = \frac{(X - \mu)}{\sigma}$$

Where X is the observed precipitation, μ is the mean precipitation, and σ is the standard deviation of the historical data. SPI values show deviation from average rainfall conditions rather than absolute water availability, where SPI>0 signifies wet periods, SPI<0 indicates drought, and SPI=0 represents normal conditions. Severity categories range from mild drought (-1.0 to -1.49) to severe drought (\leq -2.0), with positive values indicating wetter-thanaverage periods (Singh et al, 2023). This study employed SPI-3 (threemonth SPI) to evaluate short-term wet and dry conditions from 1954 to 2023, depicting seasonal impacts essential to agriculture and water management.

4.2.4.3 Binary Logistic Regression (BLR)

BLR is a statistical model that explores the correlation between a binary dependent variable and one or more independent variables (Huda, 2013). The model approximates the likelihood P(Y = 1) using the logistic function:

$$P(Y_i = 1 | X) = \frac{exp(\beta_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{15} \beta_k X_{ki})}{1 + exp(\beta_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{15} \beta_k X_{ki})}$$

where, *Y* represents the dependent variable, X_1 , X_2 ..., X_{15} are the independent variables, β_0 is the intercept, and β_1 , β_2 , ..., β_{15} are the coefficients for each predictor.

For the current study, the perception of CC is the dependent variable (Y), which is coded as 1 if "climate is changing" and zero otherwise ("no change"). We have used 15 different independent variables namely gender, age, education, family size, annual household income, economic status, housing structure, occupation, land holdings, access to electricity, LPG connection, toilets, drinking water sources, communication media and distance to the nearest health centre. Hence the maximum value of k is 15. The model's coefficients were estimated using the maximum likelihood estimation method.

4.2.4.4 Multiple Linear Regression (MLR)

The MLR model was used to detect the primary factors most significantly affecting household perceptions on CC impacts. This method is commonly used in empirical studies and predictive models that involve multiple independent variables (Phuong et al., 2023). It constructs an optimal regression equation by choosing independent variables with a significant linear impact on the dependent variable, making it a popular choice in CC research (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2020; Phuong et al., 2023). The MLR was applied using given equations.

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{15} \beta_k X_{ki} + u_i$$

where *Y* is the dependent variable. In the current study we have used various dependent variables namely, "flood incidents are increasing", "drought incidents are increasing", "forest and mountainous vegetation are reducing", "crop growing season is changing", "crop failure and economic loss", "damage to crops due to pests, water shortages", "loss of livestock", "led to rural-urban migration", "affecting health and creating health issues", and "increasing waterborne diseases". β_0 is the intercept, β_1 , β_2 ,, β_{15} are partial regression coefficients, *u* is the regression error term, and *X* is the set of independent variables already discussed in the previous section. This method explored how sociodemographic factors influence perceptions

of CC impacts among respondents, allowing for valuable insights into their beliefs on environmental and socioeconomic effects.

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 Sociodemographic Characteristics of the Respondents

The sociodemographic attributes of households examined in the Dhar (Fig. 4.5(a)) and Chhindwara (Fig. 4.5(b)) districts reveal significant disparities in age distribution, tribal community, gender ratio, family size, educational status, occupation, and income. Female respondents had a low percentage in both districts, representing only 27% in Dhar and 29% in Chhindwara. In Dhar, 73% of respondents belong to the 25-54 age group, whereas 77% in Chhindwara. Bhil and Bhilala communities constitute 50% and 47% of the tribal population in Dhar; however, the Gond tribe comprises the majority at 77% in Chhindwara. Chhindwara's family sizes were predominantly larger, with 76% of families including 4-6 persons, rather than 54% in Dhar. Educational status showed variation, with 54% of Dhar families possessing





Fig. 4.5: Respondent's age, community, gender, family size, education, and primary occupation (a) Dhar (b) Chhindwara

at least a primary education (Class 1-5), instead of 76% in Chhindwara. In both districts, agriculture constituted the most common occupation, being more prominent in Dhar (47%) compared to Chhindwara (37%), whilst alternative occupations included farming and non-farming labour, business, non-timber forest product (NTFP), and other work. Income statistics indicated that a higher percentage of families in Chhindwara (45%) earned less than 50,000 rupees yearly, compared to 36% in Dhar (Fig. 4.6(a)). The Lorenz curve revealed relatively homogeneous distribution of income in both districts (Fig. 4.6(b)), indicating similar degrees of income inequality. Targeted poverty alleviation and livelihood enhancement initiatives for tribal groups are essential to mitigate socioeconomic disparities and promote inclusive development (Jernigan et al., 2020).



Fig. 4.6: Households (a) annual income and (b) Lorenz curve of income inequality for Chhindwara and Dhar districts

4.3.2 Observed Climate Change and Impacts

Table 4.1 presents the results of ITA in climate variables for Dhar and Chhindwara, concentrating on critical climatic variables such as rainfall, Tmax, and Tmin. In Chhindwara, rainfall exhibits a negative trend (-0.072) (Fig. 4.7) with a non-significant slope (-0.239), showing consistency in rainfall patterns. Conversely, Dhar demonstrates a non-significant decreasing trend in rainfall (-0.193) (Fig. 4.7) with a higher slope (-0.476). The decline in rainfall can influence agricultural production, livestock production, and affect water availability, which is essential for the subsistence of tribal communities. This situation highlights the vulnerability of tribal communities to variations in rainfall patterns, necessitating adaptive measures such as water conservation, implementation of effective irrigation technologies, and crop diversification to mitigate the challenges

posed by rainfall variability (Hazarika et al., 2024). These findings are consistent with Devi et al. (2020), Jain et al. (2023), Kundu et al. (2017), Pal & Al-Tabbaa (2011), and Rai et al. (2014), who have reported a longterm decrease in annual rainfall across Central and Central West India over the last century.

Table 4.1: Results of trend analysis										
Variables		ITA	Tre	end slope	95% Upper-level Confidence					
	Dhar	Chhindwara	Dhar	Chhindwara	Dhar	Chhindwara				
Rainfall	-0.193	-0.072	-0.476	-0.239	0.235	0.412				
Tmean	0.058	0.075	0.004	0.005	0.001	0.001				
T _{max}	0.07	0.106	0.009	0.013	0.001	0.001				
Tmin	0.805	-0.253	0.015	-0.005	0.003	0.002				

 T_{mean} implies an increasing trend in Dhar (ITA= 0.058) and Chhindwara (ITA=0.075), indicating a warming climate that could exacerbate crop heat stress and reduce yields. The T_{max} trend reveals a more significant rise in Chhindwara (ITA= 0.106) than in Dhar (0.07). Elevated T_{max} increases evapotranspiration, reduces soil moisture and exacerbates agricultural water stress, especially during essential crop growth stages (Sadok et al., 2021). The T_{min} reveals a dramatic divergence, with Dhar witnessing an increase (ITA= 0.805) while Chhindwara shows a decrease (ITA= -0.253). The temperature variations disrupt the phenological cycles of crops, modify insect populations and disease spreads, and shift harvesting seasons, creating difficulties for conventional agricultural practices and indigenous knowledge systems (Skendžić et al., 2021). It also interrupts important components of tribal livelihoods, including gathering NTFPs and other seasonal activities closely related to climatic patterns (Asamoah et al., 2024). Tribal people, who depend primarily on subsistence agriculture and animal husbandry, are vulnerable to these climate-induced difficulties, which endanger food security and economic stability (Sushant, 2013).



Fig. 4.7: Graphical results of ITA

Furthermore, increasing temperatures aggravate heat stress on cattle, significantly affecting their health and production (Herbut et al., 2018). These findings align with Devi et al. (2020), Shukla et al. (2017), Kundu et al. (2017), Duhan et al. (2013), and Shukla & Khare (2013), who documented significant increases in T_{max} and T_{min} across Madhya Pradesh and Central India over the period from 45 to 105 years. For a better understanding, the spatiotemporal changes of climatic variables for both districts were presented in Fig. 4.8. Enhancing the resilience of tribal people to climatic variability and change needs promoting agroecological practices, protecting biodiversity-rich places, and rehabilitating traditional ecological knowledge systems (Kala, 2022). Climatic changes emphasize the urgent need for adaptive strategies and resilience-building initiatives

tailored to the vulnerabilities faced by tribal populations, as shifts in rainfall and temperature patterns directly threaten their traditional livelihoods and cultural practices. Addressing these problems is essential for encouraging sustainable development and preserving the well-being of these communities to cope with CC.



Fig. 4.8: Visual representation of spatiotemporal analysis

The SPI-3 results for the Dhar and Chhindwara districts (Fig. 4.9) give essential insights into the meteorological conditions affecting the tribal livelihood. It is important to note that SPI reflects rainfall deviations from local averages rather than absolute water availability. In regions receiving ample rainfall, negative SPI values can represent adequate water supply, whereas in drier regions, even positive SPI values might coincide with limited water availability. Thus, local climatic context is essential when interpreting SPI values. SPI-3 evaluates three-month rainfall variations as a significant drought indicator, with positive values indicating wet conditions and negative ones showing dry conditions. These changes significantly impact rainfed agriculture, water availability, and ecosystem health, which are important to tribal livelihood (Kumar et al., 2009). Periods of negative SPI-3 are often associated with an increased risk of crop failure and water stress, contributing to heightened vulnerability among subsistence tribal farmers (Bhunia et al., 2020). The inconsistent rainfall patterns recorded by SPI-3 data underline the issues caused by periodic rainfall, which exacerbates food insecurity and poverty (Wahla et al., 2022). While negative SPI values indicate drier-than-average conditions, actual impacts on livelihoods depend on community adaptive capacity and local environmental factors. These findings highlight the necessity for adaptive strategies to address climate risks. Integrating SPI-3 analysis into the nexus between CC and tribal livelihood enhances our understanding, supporting targeted resilience-building. The SPI-3 results provide essential evidence for policymakers to develop targeted adaptation strategies that address vulnerabilities, ensuring sustainable development and climate resilience in marginalized communities.



4.3.3 Tribal Communities' Perception on Climate Change

Local communities have their own ways of explaining CC (Boillat & Berkes, 2013). The perception of CC among respondents in the Dhar and Chhindwara districts suggests a strong agreement on changes in rainfall and temperature patterns (Fig. 4.10). In Chhindwara, 88.9% of respondents observed a decrease in rainfall amounts, compared to 69.7% in Dhar. The perception of irregular rainfall patterns is nearly identical, with 98.5% in Chhindwara and 96.7% in Dhar reporting changes. Most respondents in both districts admitted a temperature rise, with 98.5% in Dhar and 96.6% in Chhindwara confirming this trend. Almost 97% of respondents in both districts agreed that summer days are becoming hotter. A study by

Srivastava et al. (2021) in the Bundelkhand Agroclimatic zone of Madhya Pradesh reported the hot days have increased during the last decade (2001-10). These perceptions supported the observed changes in climatic variables, which suggests a decreasing trend in rainfall and an increasing trend in T_{mean} and T_{max} . It also aligns with the studies conducted in India by Jatav (2024), Shukla et al. (2019), Sam et al. (2020), and Shukla et al. (2016).



Fig. 4.10: Tribal people's perception of climate variability

For major consequences of CC, people mainly notice shifts in rainfall patterns, temperature fluctuations, and agricultural productivity (Varadan & Kumar, 2014). The tribal communities have been particularly vulnerable to the impacts of CC due to their heavy reliance on natural resources and traditional agricultural practices, placing them at the central stage of experiencing climate-induced challenges (Khanal et al., 2019). Their perceptions are essential for enhancing our understanding of CC and guiding the development of adaptation strategies (Brugnach et al., 2017; Rai et al., 2022). Understanding tribal communities' perceptions of CC is essential for policymakers and stakeholders to draft culturally sensitive and active adaptation strategies that report the vulnerabilities of these marginalized communities while promoting sustainable development on a broader scale.

4.3.4 Determinants of Perception on Climate Change

Binary logistic regression was applied to predict the perception of CC. The dependent variable for this model was whether the household observed CC or not, and the independent variables comprised the socioeconomic factors (Table 4.2). The logistic regression results demonstrate significant variations and similarities in the sociodemographic parameters impacting CC understanding across the Dhar and Chhindwara districts (Table 4.3). Model statistics like Pseudo R² justified around 26 % for Dhar and 33 % for Chhindwara regarding the goodness of fit. Also, Wald Chi² values signify that the model is statistically significant at 1%, 5%, and 10%. Gender differences are significant in Dhar (OR= 0.42, p<0.05) and Chhindwara (OR= 0.5, p<0.1), with males more likely to perceive CC. These results align with the study by Jatav (2024). In both districts, education plays an important role, with families in Dhar (OR= 2.48, p<0.01) and Chhindwara (OR = 6.09, p < 0.01) much more likely to perceive CC if they have higher education levels, highlighting the relevance of educational outreach in promoting awareness and supported a study conducted by Hasan & Akhter (2011).

independent variables										
	Explanation		Mean Standard							
Variables				Deviation						
		Dhar Chhindwara		Dhar	Chhindwara					
Gender	1= Female	0.27	0.29	0.44	0.45					
	0= Otherwise									
Age	Continuous	42.65	41.37	11.74	12.28					
	(Years)									
Education	1= Household	0.53	0.64	0.5	0.48					
	head is educated									
	0= Otherwise									
Family Size	Continuous (No.	6.46	5.15	2.92	1.89					
	of family									
	members)									
Annual	Continuous (log)	11.72	11.4	0.66	.82					
household										
income										
Economic status	1= Below	0.68	0.65	0.47	0.48					
	Poverty Line									
	0= Otherwise									

 Table 4.2: Explanation and descriptive statistics of explanatory independent variables

Housing	1= Kutcha	2.21	1.46	0.88	0.78
structure	2= Semi-pucca				
	3= Pucca				
Occupation	1= Farmer	0.76	0.70	0.43	0.46
	0= non-farmer				
Land holdings	Continuous	2.38	2.97	3.01	3.60
0	(Acre)				
Electricity	1 = access to	0.99	0.95	0.12	0.21
·	electricity				
	0= Otherwise				
LPG Connection	1=Access to	0.67	0.68	0.47	0.47
	LPG Connection				
	0= Otherwise				
Toilets	1=Access to	0.6	0.61	0.49	0.49
	Toilets				
	0= Otherwise				
Drinking water	1=Access to	0.62	0.52	0.48	0.50
sources	Safe drinking				
	water				
	0= Otherwise				
Distance to the	Continuous	3.33	8.64	2.69	5.53
nearest health	(Km)				
center					
Access to	1=Yes	0.43	0.34	0.5	0.47
communication	0= No				
media					

In Chhindwara, wealthier families were less likely to perceive CC (OR= 0.32, p<0.01), probably because of their decreased dependence on natural resources, which is supported by Kelly & Adger (2000). However, in Dhar, income level had no significant influence. Occupation is more important in Chhindwara (OR= 2.45, p<0.05), showing that families with farming as their primary occupation are more exposed to climate change than Dhar, where occupation is not a significant factor. Hasan & Kumar (2020) observed that people engaged in agricultural activities perceived more about CC. Access to basic infrastructure also shows variation: in Chhindwara, access to electricity greatly enhances perception (OR= 5.62, p<0.01), whereas in Dhar, improved access to drinking water sources is an important determinant (OR=2.69, p<0.01). These differences imply that infrastructure facilities impact climate awareness differently in these regions. Puri et al. (2022) revealed a positive and significant relationship between access to infrastructure and CC perception. Access to communication media is essential in both districts, raising CC perception by 4.12 times in Dhar and

5.50 times in Chhindwara, indicating that media exposure promotes awareness. Media played an important role in raising tribal people's knowledge and understanding of CC by providing essential information (Huda, 2013). Overall, enhancing education, communication, and utility access while addressing gender and economic inequality is necessary for raising CC awareness among indigenous groups in both districts.

of CC										
	Dh	ar (n=274)	Chhind	wara (n=2	261)				
Determinants	Coefficient	Robust	Odds	Coefficient	Robust	Odds				
		std. errs.	Ratio		std. errs.	Ratio				
Gender	-0.862**	0.351	0.42	-0.688*	0.375	0.50				
Age	-0.006	0.016	0.99	0.038**	0.015	1.04				
Education	0.906***	0.327	2.48	1.807***	0.389	6.09				
Family Size	-0.032	0.070	0.97	-0.084	0.102	0.92				
Annual household	0.307	0.296	1.36	0.055	0.296	1.06				
income										
Economic status	0.023	0.350	1.02	-1.155***	0.377	0.32				
Housing structure	-0.093	0.354	0.91	-0.232	0.389	0.79				
Occupation	0.128	0.374	1.14	0.898**	0.441	2.45				
Land holdings	0.081	0.067	1.08	0.069	0.068	1.07				
Electricity	-0.244	1.046	0.78	1.726***	0.670	5.62				
LPG Connection	0.465	0.339	1.59	0.142	0.406	1.15				
Toilets	0.019	0.344	1.02	0.186	0.385	1.20				
Drinking water sources	0.989***	0.342	2.69	0.560*	0.341	1.75				
Distance to health	-0.082	0.057	0.92	-0.018	0.032	0.98				
center										
Access to	1.415***	0.369	4.12	1.704***	0.452	5.50				
communication media										
Constant	-4.138	3.576	0.02	-4.207	3.416	0.01				
Log pseudolikelihood	-137.	.17		-112.	44					
Wald chi ²	63.8	35		77.1	3					
Pseudo R ²	0.25	58		0.32	9					

Table 4.3: Results of binary logistic regression on household's perception

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

4.3.5 Tribal Communities' Perception on Impacts of Climate Change

The perceptions of CC impacts among tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara demonstrate diverse patterns (Fig. 4.11). In Dhar, 50.7% of respondents agree that drought occurrences are increasing, while 36.9% express strong agreement, showing major concern over water scarcity. Similarly, 41.2% agree that agricultural productivity is decreasing, and 46% agree about crop failure and economic loss in Dhar. In Chhindwara, the perceptions vary. 39.5% strongly agree that drought incidents are

increasing. The pattern of drought occurrence is inconsistent, impacting the entire state at times while at other times affecting only specific regions or areas (Tiwari et al., 2024). The incidence of drought at the micro level has significantly increased in Madhya Pradesh over the past decade, impacting soybean and paddy yields across the region (Srivastava et al., 2021). A higher proportion (85.1%) of respondents strongly agree that water levels are declining, and 72% strongly agree that water shortages are becoming severe. Tiwari et al. (2024) reported that extreme hydro-meteorological events, including floods and droughts, are significantly affecting water and groundwater resources in Madhya Pradesh. Both districts report increasing incidents of crop damage due to pests and environmental factors like heat and cold waves, untimely rainfall, and hailstorms, with over 39% in both regions agreeing and strongly agreeing with this issue. These results align with the study conducted by Atta et al. (2023) in India, who reported that increasing the spread of weeds and pest attacks and rainfall events during the crop-growing cycle damaged the crops.



Fig. 4.11: Tribal people's perception of CC impacts

The results indicate that CC is augmenting water shortages, modifying agricultural output, and increasing the vulnerability of tribal livelihoods, mainly because of crop failure and economic loss. These impacts are acutely perceived in Chhindwara, where water shortages and declining water levels pose enormous challenges. Furthermore, health-related issues, such as the rise of water-borne diseases and other diseases (diarrhea, dysentery,

malaria, allergies, skin, and itching), are an increasing worry in Chhindwara, where 54.8% strongly agree with this statement. Ashrafuzzaman et al. (2023) reported that more than 70% of respondents reported gastrointestinal issues, hypertension, diarrhea, malnutrition, and skin diseases as the primary water-borne health risks linked to salinity and inadequate access to safe water in Bangladesh. The increasing occurrence of climatic extremes, reduced agricultural yield, and rising health risks emphasize the need for targeted adaptation strategies. Enhancing water management systems, promoting climate-resilient crops, and improving healthcare access are essential for strengthening tribal communities' resilience to CC. Moreover, practical measures to address rural-urban migration, which is perceived as a growing trend in both districts, are needed to mitigate the socioeconomic displacement triggered by environmental challenges. Understanding tribal communities' perceptions of CC impacts is essential for policymakers and stakeholders, as it allows the design of targeted interventions that align with local knowledge and priorities, confirming effective and culturally applicable adaptation strategies that can be scaled globally.

4.3.6 Determinants of Perception on Impacts of Climate Change

Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) was applied to understand CC's environmental and socioeconomic impacts (Table 4.2) on tribal livelihood (Table 4.4). The results of the MLR on households' perceptions of CC impacts in the Dhar and Chhindwara districts highlight the varying influence of sociodemographic factors across different domains, such as climatic extremes (flood and drought incidents are increasing), natural resources (forest and mountainous vegetation and agricultural lands are decreasing), agriculture (crop growing seasons are changing, crop production is reducing, crop failure and economic loss, crops are damaging due to pests, and crops are damaging due to environmental issues), water

Table 4.4: Results of multiple mean regression on nousehold's perception of CC impacts												
	Coefficient (β) with Robust standard errors											
	Climatic		Natural resources		Agric	Agriculture		Water		onomic	Health	
Determinants	extremes											
	Dhar	Chhind	Dhar	Chhind	Dhar	Chhind	Dhar	Chhind	Dhar	Chhind	Dhar	Chhind
		wara		wara		wara		wara		wara		wara
Gender	-0.023	-0.008	-0.091**	-0.013	-0.065*	0.013	0.021	0.005	-0.012	-0.026	-0.079**	-0.009
	(0.034)	(0.027)	(0.040)	(0.032)	(0.036)	(0.026)	(0.039)	(0.023)	(0.032)	(0.025)	(0.035)	(0.022)
Age	0.000	0.001	-0.002	0.002	0.000	0.002*	-0.002	0.000	-0.002	0.002	-0.001	0.001
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Education	-0.054*	-0.044	-0.019	0.054	0.026	-0.007	-0.052	0.011	-0.002	0.009	0.013	0.022
	(0.029)	(0.027)	(0.041)	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.026)	(0.042)	(0.026)	(0.032)	(0.027)	(0.028)	(0.025)
Family Size	-0.003	0.003	-0.007	-0.004	0.000	-0.005	0.005	0.005	0.001	-0.009	0.003	-0.016**
	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.008)	(0.005)	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.008)	(0.006)	(0.007)
Annual	0.006	-0.009	0.08***	-0.011	0.065**	0.002	-0.037	-0.022*	-0.002	-	0.010	-0.025*
household					*					0.033**		
income										*		
	(0.024)	(0.010)	(0.031)	(0.015)	(0.024)	(0.02)	(0.032)	(0.012)	(0.026)	(0.012)	(0.025)	(0.015)
Economic status	-0.011	-0.019	0.032	-	0.052*	0.004	-	-0.033	-0.069**	-0.029	-	-
				0.097**			0.140**				0.101**	0.079**
				*			*				*	*
	(0.029)	(0.025)	(0.041)	(0.028)	(0.031)	(0.025)	(0.038)	(0.021)	(0.03)	(0.025)	(0.030)	(0.023)
Housing	-0.035	0.007	0.112**	-0.011	-0.021	-0.027	0.006	0.007	-0.048	0.024	0.003	-0.013
structure			*									
	(0.03)	(0.033)	(0.042)	(0.034)	(0.033)	(0.026)	(0.042)	(0.026)	(0.033)	(0.029)	(0.031)	(0.026)
Occupation	0.036	0.079**	-0.015	0.103**	0.303**	0.267**	0.083*	-0.019	0.048	0.018	-0.015	0.021
		*		*	*	*						
	(0.033)	(0.026)	(0.047)	(0.038)	(0.048)	(0.035)	(0.045)	(0.025)	(0.034)	(0.027)	(0.033)	(0.027)

Table 4.4: Results of multiple linear regression on household's perception of CC impacts

Landholdings	-0.008*	0.000	0.009	0.013** *	-0.002	0.006	-0.014*	0.002	-0.008*	0.003	-0.001	0.002
	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.008)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.003)
Electricity	0.116	0.035	-0.191	-0.053	0.048	-0.084	0.189	-0.003	0.027	-0.051	0.187	-0.066**
	(0.114)	(0.055)	(0.133)	(0.060)	(0.155)	(0.059)	(0.167)	(0.057)	(0.151)	(0.041)	(0.117)	(0.03)
LPG Connection	-0.031	-0.002	-0.005	0.039	-0.032	0.072**	-0.009	-0.014	-0.079**	-0.009	-0.048	0.042
	(0.03)	(0.027)	(0.04)	(0.032)	(0.030)	(0.031)	(0.04)	(0.023)	(0.032)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.028)
Toilets	0.040	-0.043	0.031	-0.037	0.026	-0.031	-0.017	-0.021	0.038	-0.013	-0.034	-0.025
	(0.032)	(0.027)	(0.04)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.027)	(0.041)	(0.024)	(0.033)	(0.025)	(0.031)	(0.023)
Drinking water	-0.039	-	0.010	-0.061**	0.07**	0.005	-	-0.032	-	-0.049**	-0.024	-0.031
source		0.066** *					0.170** *		0.117** *			
	(0.028)	(0.023)	(0.04)	(0.029)	(0.032)	(0.024)	(0.033)	(0.021)	(0.028)	(0.024)	(0.029)	(0.024)
Distance to	0.017***	-0.001	-0.007	-0.006**	0.007	-	-	-0.003	-0.011*	-0.003	-0.014**	-0.003
health center						0.009** *	0.039** *					
	(0.006)	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.003)	(0.008)	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.003)
Access to communication	-0.004	0.065**	0.061	0.086**	-0.004	0.213** *	0.040	-0.023	0.043	0.042	0.053*	-0.005
media	(0.031)	(0.029)	(0.040)	(0.033)	(0.032)	(0.026)	(0.041)	(0.027)	(0.030)	(0.027)	(0.03)	(0.023)
Constant	0.368	0.494**	-0.184	0.790**	-0.375	0.493**	1.352**	1.235**	0.908**	1.270**	0.610*	1.299**
	(0.282)		(0, 408)		(0, 224)	(0.228)	(0.208)	. (0.157)			(0.219)	
Dagrand	(0.283)	(0.160)	(0.408)	(0.201)	(0.334)	(0.228)	(0.398)	(0.15/)	(0.306)	(0.108)	(0.318)	(0.181)
K-squared	0.104	0.113	0.116	0.216	0.369	0.498	0.300	0.058	0.180	0.088	0.141	0.121
ROOT MISE	1 0 203	10187	10.285	10219	10220	10185	1 0 282	10170	10.209	10177	0214	10170

Robust standard errors in parentheses

(water level is declining and water shortages), socioeconomic (climate extreme incidents affected your livelihood and led to rural-urban migration), and health (affects health and creates health issues and increased water-borne diseases and other diseases). Although the forest is an important resource for tribal communities, the Dhar district tribes are not very dependent on the forest due to less or no access or availability. Hence, we have not included forests in this categorization. The impacts of CC differ based on topography, economic conditions, and institutional functioning (Rai et al., 2022).

Gender significantly influenced perceptions of natural resources (β = -0.091, p<0.05) and health (β = -0.079, p<0.05) in Dhar but not in Chhindwara. These results align with the study by Badmos (2018). Age and education showed limited influence, although education negatively affected perceptions of climatic extremes in Dhar (β = -0.054, p<0.1). Family size negatively impacted livelihood perceptions in Chhindwara (β = -0.016, p<0.05). Haq & Ahmed (2020) reported that age, education and family size affect the perception of CC impacts on climatic extremes and livelihood. Household income displayed a significant positive relationship with perceptions of natural resource depletion (β = 0.079, p<0.01) and agricultural challenges (β = 0.065, p<0.01) in Dhar while negatively affecting water (β = -0.022, p<0.1), livelihood (β = -0.033, p<0.01), and health (β = -0.033, p<0.1) perceptions in Chhindwara. Economic status was also important in shaping perceptions, especially regarding agriculture and health in both districts, where lower economic status correlated with increased concerns about these impacts. The result aligns with the study conducted by Howard et al. (2020). The occupation of respondents (agriculture as primary occupation) had a significant association with perceptions of agricultural changes in both districts, particularly in Dhar (β = 0.303, p<0.01), reflecting the dependence of tribal communities on agriculture for their livelihoods. Agriculture serves as the primary occupation for marginal communities (Mekonnen et al., 2019). Decreasing and unpredictable rainfall directly impacts agricultural yields, water availability, and forest-based livelihoods, essential to these people's economic and cultural survival (Rai et al., 2022). Rising temperatures and harsh summers can augment drought conditions, diminish agricultural production, and lead to higher heat stress, further challenging the adaptive capacity of these communities (Steiner et al., 2018). Access to safe drinking water and health services influenced perceptions of water scarcity and health risks in Dhar, negatively associated with perceptions of water and health challenges (β = -0.066, p<0.01 and β = -0.049, p<0.05, respectively). A study by Ashrafuzzaman et al. (2023) supports these findings.

These results highlight the vulnerability of tribal communities to CC in terms of agriculture, water scarcity, and health. As these communities depend highly on natural resources and subsistence farming, declining crop yields, water shortages, and increased health risks could exacerbate poverty and force rural-urban migration. Indigenous knowledge should be integrated with individual household-level scientific equipment to boost agricultural productivity in these changing climatic scenarios (Manandhar et al., 2011). Targeted interventions that address these vulnerabilities, such as improving access to safe drinking water, promoting climate-resilient agriculture, and enhancing healthcare and basic infrastructure facilities, are essential to preserving the livelihoods and well-being of these marginalized communities.

4.4 Conclusions

The study investigates the sociodemographic characteristics, CC perceptions, and its impacts on the livelihood of tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara districts of Madhya Pradesh. The major findings indicate significant household characteristics, educational levels, and income variations, with both districts highly dependent on agriculture. The ITA result found a decreasing trend in rainfall and an increase in T_{mean} , worsening agricultural vulnerability and water shortages. Tribal

communities are highly aware of these climate shifts, with over 90% of respondents revealing irregular rainfall and increased summer temperature, supporting observed climate data analysis. The binary logistic regression analysis illustrates that education, occupation, and access to infrastructure significantly affect CC perceptions, with education being a critical determinant in both districts. Gender differences, specifically in Dhar, also influenced CC perception. The linear regression model further explained that sociodemographic factors, such as income and occupation, significantly affected perceptions of the impact of climate on agricultural productivity, water availability, and health. Chhindwara's respondents described more significant concerns over water shortages and decreasing agricultural yields, while Dhar's respondents focused more on natural resource depletion. All this climate variability evidence and people's perceptions denote that CC is an important issue that needs to be addressed urgently by policymakers. To conclude, CC is diminishing the income from agriculture, the primary livelihood of these communities. Despite government efforts to double farmers' income, declining crop yields and the increasing frequency of droughts are causing significant financial losses for the farming community.

Moreover, this chapter comprehensively explains the tribal communities' perceptions of CC and its impact on their livelihood, emphasizing their lived experiences and adaptive challenges. The findings, such as declining rainfall, rising temperatures, and their adverse effects on this region's agriculture and water resources, have been discussed in chapters 2 and 3, providing the environmental background for assessing livelihood vulnerability for tribal communities. The influence of sociodemographic factors, such as education, income, and occupation, on climate perceptions underlines their adaptive capabilities within these communities. Chapter 5 discusses the 4th objective, i.e. the integrated assessment of livelihood vulnerability to climate variability among tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara districts, Madhya Pradesh.

Chapter 5

Integrated Assessment of Livelihood Vulnerability to Climate Variability among Tribal Communities in Dhar and Chhindwara Districts, Madhya Pradesh

The previous chapter discussed how tribal communities in Chhindwara and Dhar districts have noticed climate changes. The results showed that these weather shifts are affecting their livelihoods. Since they rely on natural resources and have limited adaptation methods, they are highly vulnerable to climate change (CC). This chapter employs the Livelihood Vulnerability Index - Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (LVI-IPCC) framework to assess tribal livelihood vulnerability, considering exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity. It also identifies determinants influencing vulnerability and highlights regional differences between the districts.

5.1 Introduction

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 6th Assessment Report predicts a worldwide temperature rise of 1.5 °C, which is expected to intensify climatic threats and disasters (Phuong et al., 2023; Pörtner et al., 2022). Temperature rise is associated with more severe climate events, such as higher storm surges, flash flooding, severe droughts, land erosion, forest degradation, and relocation of indigenous communities (Kuniyal et al., 2021; Shivam et al., 2017). These occurrences significantly challenge the livelihoods of millions of indigenous people (Phuong et al., 2023). Developing nations like India, which heavily rely on agriculture and climate-sensitive resources such as water, biodiversity, and forestry, confront additional difficulties because of CC (Rautela et al., 2023; Venus et al., 2022). These issues include increasing demand for agriculture, ensuring food security, improving infrastructure, maintaining public health, and preserving forest ecosystems (IPCC, 2007). Several climatic and nonclimatic factors impact food security and vulnerability. These factors include increasing temperatures, shifting rainfall patterns (Singh et al., 2024), the accessibility of natural resources, socioeconomic changes, gender inequality, social networks, government interferences, geopolitical shifts, loss of traditional knowledge, innovation, and the adoption of new information (Joshi & Rawat, 2021; Panthi et al., 2016).

The repercussions of CC have a higher effect on marginalised populations, incorporating poor, young, old, sick, and tribal communities (Hahn et al., 2009). Tribal communities, which mainly depend on regional natural resources like forests, are more exposed to the effects of CC than urban people (Sushant, 2013). Their close relationship with nature for livelihoods, culture, and health intensifies their susceptibility (Das & Basu, 2022). Forest ecosystems provide diverse economic and social benefits, including job opportunities, forest resources, and cultural protection (FAO, 2012). Approximately 100 million people in India reside in forested areas, mostly tribal communities that sustain themselves by collecting and selling non-timber forest products (NTFPs) (Das & Basu, 2022; Pandey et al., 2016). These items play a crucial part in their lives globally. Forest-dependent populations, such as nomadic tribes, are among the most vulnerable to the impacts of CC on forests (Pandey & Kori, 2011; Shackleton et al., 2015).



It is important to comprehend the factors contributing to livelihood vulnerability to address the local climate-related concerns (Ngu et al., 2023). A comprehensive and complex method is important to evaluate vulnerability, concentrating on three components: exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity (Hahn et al., 2009; Joshi & Rawat, 2021; Rehman et al., 2022; Venus et al., 2022) (Fig. 5.1). Exposure consists of variations in climate and extreme natural events, and *sensitivity* encompasses land and infrastructure, food security, social security, water access, and health, and adaptive capacity includes awareness, socio-demographic profiles, financial stability, livelihood strategies, and social networks. Birkmann et al. (2022) also developed the World Risk Index, which assesses risk by combining exposure to natural hazards with vulnerability factors, including susceptibility, lack of coping, and adaptive capacities. An indicator-based method is commonly taken to quantify these factors, suggesting contextbased understandings of socially controlled causes of vulnerability, community requirements, and adaptive solutions. Several approaches exist for measuring vulnerability: quantitative model-based techniques (Wisner, 2016), qualitative participatory models (Wisner, 2016), and indicator-based methods. These methodologies may be coupled to offer thorough vulnerability evaluations. Qualitative techniques depend on interviews and focus group discussions to reflect regional perceptions of vulnerability (Smit & Wandel, 2006), whereas quantitative analysis-based models employ methodologies such as the Ricardian method and GIS-based tools to analyse risk from a natural sciences viewpoint (Panda, 2017). Indicatorbased methods integrate qualitative and quantitative methodologies, including data from censuses, surveys, and climatic records (Hahn et al., 2009; Phuong et al., 2023). Indices like the Agricultural Vulnerability Index, Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index, Climate Change Vulnerability Index, Livelihood Vulnerability Index, Multidimensional Livelihood Vulnerability Index, and Human Development Index are essential tools in climate vulnerability analysis (Hahn et al., 2009). Methods for the

improvement of the vulnerability assessment framework aim to enhance the understanding of vulnerability by considering key factors like exposure, susceptibility, and lack of resilience while addressing multidimensional aspects, including physical, social, ecological, economic, cultural, and institutional themes (Birkmann et al., 2013).

Recent researchers have directed climate vulnerability measurements in India using various indices, such as the Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (George et al., 2023; George & Sharma, 2022), Socio-ecological vulnerability (Jha & Negi, 2021), Infrastructural Vulnerability Index (George & Sharma, 2022), Climate Change Vulnerability Index (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2021), Composite Vulnerability Index (George et al., 2023; Sarun et al., 2018), Livelihood Vulnerability Index (Ahmad et al., 2023; Das & Basu, 2022; Jha et al., 2018; Joshi & Rawat, 2021; Rehman et al., 2022; Roy et al., 2023; Venus et al., 2022), the Potential Livelihood Vulnerability Index (Jatav, 2024), Household Vulnerability Index (Deb & Mukherjee, 2022; Ghosh & Ghosal, 2020), and Composite Livelihood Vulnerability Index (Das et al., 2020). However, research focused on the susceptibility and variables impacting the vulnerability of tribal households in India is quite rare. Kumar et al. (2023) employed eight primary components of the LVI to estimate tribal family livelihood vulnerability in Himachal Pradesh, revealing variances in vulnerability due to differences in adaptation, sensitivity, and exposure to CC. Roy et al. (2023) utilised the LVI-IPCC method to estimate climate vulnerability across tribal and non-tribal communities in Tripura, observing that tribal households were more exposed and susceptible owing to higher sensitivity and weaker adaptation capability. Deb & Mukherjee (2022) used the vulnerability index at the household level among major tribal groups (Santal, Munda, and Oraon) in the Himalayan region of West Bengal, report variables including the lack of basic infrastructure, absence of ration, and poor medical services as increasing family vulnerability. Das & Basu (2022) assessed the CC livelihood vulnerability of Munda, Santal, Lodha, and Bhumij tribal
communities in West Bengal, India, using the LVI and Beta regression model to find its determining factor. The study found that the Lodha community had the highest LVI, indicating greater vulnerability than the other tribes. Yadava & Sinha (2020) investigated CC vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, showing that economic circumstances, educational status, and professions effectively affected household susceptibility.

Existing studies on CC primarily focus on rural and agricultural communities, frequently ignoring the specific vulnerabilities of tribal populations. Birkmann et al. (2022) assessed vulnerability through global indices but have often missed the cultural, social, and economic factors that increase vulnerability in tribal communities. This study addresses the gap by concentrating on tribal households and their nuanced association with climate variability. Furthermore, limited research uses trend analysis or composite indices (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2021; Hahn et al., 2009; Phuong et al., 2023; Venus et al., 2022), and few incorporate methods such as trend analysis, drought index, the LVI-IPCC framework, and the multiple linear regression model to provide a more robust and holistic view of vulnerability. By integrating these approaches, this study offers a more comprehensive assessment of socioeconomic and environmental factors. Moreover, it presents a convenient methodological framework, encompassing local circumstances to inform global research on vulnerability in rural and tribal populations. The study contributes not only to the Indian context but also to international debates on CC adaptation, facilitating targeted policy actions to minimise vulnerability and promote sustainable development among tribal communities. Despite using micro-level samples, this study can be generalised to the macro level, particularly in Asia and Africa, where a significant proportion of the indigenous population exists. This study focuses on these research gaps by measuring tribal livelihood vulnerability in the Central Indian region of Chhindwara and Dhar districts using the LVI-IPCC methodology. This chapter address the following objectives: a) assess the livelihood vulnerability of tribal households in Chhindwara and

Dhar districts using the LVI-IPCC framework, b) validate the LVI-IPCC results, c) determine the important factors affecting the vulnerability of tribal households in the study areas using multiple linear regression model, d) compare the vulnerability levels between the two districts to understand regional differences and e) provide policy recommendations to enhance adaptive capacity and resilience among tribal communities.

5.2 Methodology

5.2.1 Selection of Indicators

Selecting suitable indicators for assessing climate vulnerability is critically important, though there is no universally recognised set or uniform method (Yadava & Sinha, 2020). Indicators must be relevant, easily quantifiable, and capable of reflecting exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity levels (Doorn, 2017). A participatory technique is frequently employed to recognise contextually suitable components involving stakeholders (Salter et al., 2010). Once identified, indicators are merged into a composite index, providing a single measure of vulnerability normally scaled from 0 to 1 (Balica et al., 2012). These indicators should be associated with research goals, data availability, and the characteristics of the studied system.

Following a comprehensive literature review, a pilot survey, and an initial assessment of climatic variability, a set of household vulnerability dimensions and indicators was established. Initially several studies (Baffoe & Matsuda, 2018; Das & Basu, 2022; Ghosh & Ghosal, 2020; Hahn et al., 2009; Ha-Mim et al., 2020; Huong et al., 2019; Joshi & Rawat, 2021; Panthi et al., 2016; Phuong et al., 2023; Rehman et al., 2022; Venus et al., 2022) were reviewed which provided 10 major components and 40 sub-components. These components were used to construct the base for a pilot survey. However, following conversations with local environmentalists, agronomists, and economists and further questionnaire examination via pilot survey, revisions were made to represent the socioeconomic conditions of the study area. This study estimated tribal livelihood vulnerability in

response to CC and several socioeconomic indicators. We adopted a technique proposed by Hahn et al. (2009), which provides a comprehensive approach for scientifically analysing the connections between people and their social, environmental, and physical perspectives. The vulnerability assessment follows the IPCC's framework, which explains vulnerabilities as a combination of exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity. Twelve major components and 54 sub-components were chosen for this research (Table 5.1), categorised into LVI-IPCC contributing factors to tribal household vulnerability (Fig. 5.2).



Fig. 5.2: Indicators of LVI-IPCC

The selected indicators comprehensively represent tribal livelihoods. Exposure included the years of floods, droughts, hailstorms they observed, and climate variability over the past decade (2014-2023). Sensitivity was assessed using land and infrastructure, food security, social security, water access, and health. The five major components evaluated adaptive capacity through awareness, socio-demographic profiles, financial stability, livelihood strategies, and social networks. This structured approach allows

Major	Indicators	Explanation	Source	
components				
Climate variability	Mean std. dev. of average rainfall by month	Standard deviation of the average monthly rainfall between 1951 and 2023 was averaged for both district	Hahn et al. (2009)	
	Mean std. dev. of average T_{max} by month	Standard deviation of the average daily maximum temperature by month between 1951 and 2023 was averaged for both district	Hahn et al. (2009)	
	Mean std. dev. of average T_{min} by month	Standard deviation of the average daily minimum temperature by month between 1951 and 2023 was averaged for both district	Hahn et al. (2009)	
Hazards	Floods	Total number of floods that were	Hahn et al. (2009)	
		reported by the households in the		
		past 10 years (range 0–10)		
	Droughts	Total number of droughts that were	Hahn et al. (2009)	
		reported by the households in the		
		past 10 years (range 0–10)		
	Hailstorms	Total number of hailstorms that were reported by the households in the past 10 years (range $0-10$)	Joshi and Rawat (2021)	
Land and	Land holding	In hectare	Joshi and Rawat (2021)	
Infrastructure				
	Not access to electricity	% of households not having access to electricity	Joshi and Rawat (2021)	
	Not access to LPG connection	% of households not having access to LPG connection	Yadava & Sinha (2019)	
	Not access to Drainage facility	% of households not having access to Drainage facility	Rehman et al. (2022)	
	Housing structure (Kutcha house)	% of households not having cemented house	Rehman et al. (2022)	
Food	Crop diversity index	The inverse of (the number of crops grown by a household + 1) reported by a household	Hahn et al. (2009)	
	Food availability	% of households not having adequate food for the whole year	Joshi and Rawat (2021)	

Table 5.1: The indicators of the LVI-IPCC for Chhindwara and Dhar

	Households struggle to find food (range: 0–12)	Average number of months households struggle to find food for their family	Hahn et al. (2009)
	Livestock Diversity index	The inverse of (the number of livestock species by a household + 1) reported by a household	Venus et al. (2021)
	NTFPs diversity index	The inverse of (the number of NTFPs collected by a household + 1) reported by a household	Das and Basu (2022)
	Decrease in yield in any crops in last 10 years	% of households observed decrease in yield in any crops in last 10 years	Rehman et al. (2022)
Water	Not access to safe drinking water sources	% of households not having access to safe drinking water sources	Joshi and Rawat (2021)
	Irrigated land	In hectare	Joshi and Rawat (2021)
	Agriculture depending on rainfall	% of households entirely dependent on rainfall for irrigation	Venus et al. (2021)
	Depletion of groundwater	% of households observed depletion of groundwater	Rehman et al. (2022)
	Increasing water shortages	% of households noticed increasing water shortages	Venus et al. (2021)
Health	Distance to the nearest health center	Average distance to the nearest health center from household's home	Hahn et al. (2009)
	Not access to Sanitary latrine	% of households not having access Sanitary latrine	Venus et al. (2021)
	Doesn't practice preventive health care	% of households not practicing preventive health care to reduce the impact of natural disasters	Venus et al. (2021)
	Family member suffering from a chronic disease	% of households' family member suffering from a chronic disease (Diabetes/cardiovascular diseases /tuberculosis/cancer/asthma/ mental disorders/ others)	Hahn et al. (2009)
Social Security	Not benefitted from MGNREGA	% of households not benefitting from MGNREGA	Das and Basu (2022)
	Not benefitted from PDS	% of households not benefitting from PDS	Das and Basu (2022)
	Not received any government schemes	% of households not receiving any government schemes	Das and Basu (2022)
	Use firewood or dung cake	% of households using firewood or dung cake as your primary energy source for cooking	Venus et al. (2021)

Socio- demographic profile	Household head not attended school % of households where the household head have not attended school raphic					
-	Dependency ratio	Ratio of the dependent population under 18 and over 65 years of age to working age group population	Hahn et al. (2009)			
	Female-headed family	% of households where the household head is female	Hahn et al. (2009)			
	Agriculture as a primary source of % of households where primary occupation is agriculture income					
Awareness	Heard about climate change before	% of households heard about climate change before	Venus et al. (2021)			
	Understanding climate change	% of households understanding climate change	Venus et al. (2021)			
	Use a weather forecast for making farming decisions	% of households using a weather forecast for making farming decisions	Venus et al. (2021)			
	Familiar with the early warning system for natural disasters	Rehman et al. (2022)				
Livelihood strategy	Livelihood diversification index	The inverse of livelihood sources (the number of major livelihood sources + 1) reported by a household	s Hahn et al. (2009)			
	Family members working outside	% of households' members working outside the local area	Hahn et al. (2009)			
	Members migrated in the last 1 year	Number of households' members have migrated in the last 1 year for work/education	Joshi and Rawat (2021)			
	Not undergone training/skill development programs	% of households' members of your household undergone training or skill development programs to enhance their ability to generate income	Venus et al. (2021)			
Financial stability	Distance to the nearest Bank	Average distance to the nearest bank from their home	Ghosh and Ghosal (2020)			
	Borrowing money	% of households borrowing money	Hahn et al. (2009)			
	Don't have a permanent job	% of household head haven't a permanent job	Ghosh and Ghosal (2020)			
	Average monthly spending on health care service	average monthly spending on health care services (doctor's fees, medicine)	Venus et al. (2021)			

	Didn't get compensation from the government	% of households didn't get compensation from the government	Hahn et al. (2009)
	Economic status (Below poverty line)	% of households living below poverty line	Venus et al. (2021)
Social network	Not associated with organisation, cooperative, or SHG	% of households not associated with organisation, cooperative, or SHG	Venus et al. (2021)
	Not access to transport facility	% of households not having access to transport facility	Jamshed et al. (2020)
	Don't have any vehicles	% of households not having any vehicle	Jamshed et al. (2020)
	Not access to communication or social media platforms	% of households not having access to communication or social media platforms	Venus et al. (2021)
	Distance to the nearest main market	Average distance to the nearest main market from their home	Venus et al. (2021)
	Distance of forest	Average distance to the forest from their home	Das and Basu (2022)

for a systematic assessment of livelihood vulnerability due to climate variability tailored to the exclusive requirements and characteristics of the tribal communities studied. The indices for these indicators were constructed so that greater values indicate higher vulnerability.

5.2.2 Data Analysis

Several methods were employed to analyse the collected data in this study (Fig. 5.3), ensuring robust and accurate results. The LVI-IPCC framework was applied to assess the field survey data. The LVI-IPCC results were validated using Jamshed et al. (2022)'s vulnerability index (VI) method.



Fig. 5.3: Comprehensive methodology framework

The multiple linear regression (MLR) model defined the most important indicators affecting household vulnerability. Assumptions of multicollinearity and heteroscedasticity were tested before running the vulnerability and regression analysis. The indicators with collinearity of more than 0.8 have been removed, following Gujarati's (1995) guideline that correlation coefficients above 0.8 indicate а significant

multicollinearity issue. Heteroscedasticity was also checked using the Breusch-Pagan test to ensure the model's validity. Data cleaning, conversion and preliminary analysis were conducted using MS Excel. Data visualisations were performed using Origin 2024, facilitating a clear understanding of the findings.

5.2.2.1 Calculation of LVI-IPCC and VI

The LVI was computed based on constraints explained by the IPCC framework, incorporating Exposure, sensitivity, and adaptation capacity (Hahn et al., 2009; Phuong et al., 2023; Rehman et al., 2022). All the sub-indicators evaluated on various units (i.e. count, percent, ratio, index) were normalised (0 to 1) using Eq. 5.1.

$$Index_{sc} = \frac{X(a) - X(min)}{X(max) - X(min)}$$

Where $Index_{sc}$ denotes the normalised value of sub-components, X(a), X(max), and X(min) shows the actual, maximum, and minimum values for each household, respectively.

An equal weight was assigned to all sub-components and averaged to calculate the major indicators using Eq. 5.2.

$$M_{sc} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} Index_{SC}}{n}$$
(5.2)

Where n = no. of sub- components, indexed by *i*,

Index_{sc} = normalised value of sub-indicators,

 M_{sc} = index value of sub-components.

After calculating the major components, the contributing factors were computed using Eq. 5.3.

$$CF_{mc} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i M_{sc}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i}$$
(5.3)

Where CF_{mc} = IPCC-defined contributing factor (adaptation capacity, sensitivity, and Exposure), w_i = weight for each indicator,

 M_{sc} = index of the major indicators.

Once contributing factors were calculated, LVI-IPCC was computed by using Eq. 5.4.

$$LVI - IPCC_{mc} = (Exposure_{mc} - Adaptive Capacity_{mc})$$
(5.4)
× Sensitivity_{mc}

Where *LVI-IPCC_{mc}* is the LVI using the IPCC framework,

The LVI–IPCC value was rescaled from -1 (least vulnerable) to +1 (most vulnerable).

The vulnerability index was calculated using Eq. 5.5.

$$VI \quad \frac{\sum_{i=6}^{n} w_i E_{cf} \times \sum_{i=24}^{n} w_i S_{cf}}{\sum_{i=24}^{n} w_i A C_{cf}} \tag{5.5}$$

Where E_{cf} = Exposure, S_{cf} = Sensitivity, and AC_{cf} = Adaptive capacity

5.2.2.2 Multiple Linear Regression (MLR)

In this chapter MLR model was used to detect the primary factors most significantly impacting household vulnerability. The MLR was applied using given equations.

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{18} \beta_k X_{ki} + u_i$$

where *Y* represents the dependent variable, $X_1, X_2, ..., X_{15}$ are the independent variables, β_0 is the intercept, and $\beta_1, \beta_2, ..., \beta_{15}$ are the coefficients for each predictor.

For the current study, the LVI-IPCC of households is the dependent variable (Y). We have used 18 different independent variables included 4 sociodemographic variables (gender, household head's education level, age, and agriculture as the primary income source); 1 variable for natural disasters (number of extreme weather events); 3 variables related to land and infrastructure (access to electricity, housing structure, and land holdings); 2 variables for livelihood strategies (number of livelihood approaches and participation in skill development programs); and 2 variables related to awareness (use of weather forecasts for farming decisions and awareness of local early warning systems). However, one variable each was considered for food, water, health, social security, social networks, and financial stability. Hence the maximum value of k is 18.

5.3 Results and Discussion

The results of the indexed value (Table 5.2) present a comprehensive categorisation of contributing factors, major components (Fig. 5.4), and sub-components of vulnerability assessment within the Chhindwara and Dhar districts, offering valuable insights into the complex nature of vulnerability among the surveyed households (n=535). The indexed values thoroughly evaluate various factors, including exposure to climatic variability, hazards caused by severe events, and implications for adaptation strategies and resilience-building initiatives.



Fig. 5.4: Major components of the LVI-IPCC for Chhindwara and Dhar

vulnerability	among Chhir	ndwara and Di	nar	
Indicators	Units	Chhindwara (n=261)	Dhar (n=274)	Overall (n=535)
Exposure		0.336	0.360	0.348
Climate variability		0.415	0.438	0.427
Mean std. dev. of average rainfall by month	Millimeters	0.293	0.298	0.296
Mean std. dev. of average T_{max} by month	Celsius	0.376	0.459	0.418
Mean std. dev. of average T_{min} by month	Celsius	0.576	0.557	0.567
Hazards		0.256	0.283	0.270
No. of years floods have occurred in last 10 years	Count	0.051	0.094	0.073
No. of years droughts have occurred in last 10 years	Count	0.314	0.350	0.332
No. of years hailstorm incidents have occurred in last 10 years	Count	0.405	0.405	0.405
Sensitivity		0.452	0.440	0.446
Land and Infrastructure		0.411	0.293	0.352
Land holding	Ha. (count)	0.119	0.095	0.107
No access to electricity	Percent	0.046	0.015	0.031
No access to LPG connection	Percent	0.322	0.332	0.327
No access to Drainage facility	Percent	0.847	0.719	0.783
Housing structure (Kutcha house)	Percent	0.720	0.303	0.512
Food		0.457	0.583	0.520
Crop diversity index	1/ (No. of crops +1)	0.543	0.500	0.522
Family doesn't have adequate food for the whole year	Percent	0.540	0.657	0.599
Households struggle to find food (range: 0–12)	Count	0.275	0.343	0.309
Livestock Diversity index	1/ (No. of Livestock +1)	0.494	0.481	0.488
NTFPs diversity index	1/ (No. of NTFP +1)	0.560	0.891	0.726
Decrease in yield in any crops in last 10 years	Percent	0.330	0.628	0.479
Water		0.635	0.482	0.559
No access to safe drinking water sources	Percent	0.475	0.376	0.426
Irrigated land	Ha. (count)	0.046	0.077	0.062
Agriculture depends on rainfall	Percent	0.759	0.376	0.568

 Table 5.2: Indexed value of major components and sub-components to the vulnerability among Chhindwara and Dhar

Depletion of groundwater	Percent	0.977	0.792	0.885
Increasing water shortages	Percent	0.920	0.788	0.854
Health		0.257	0.288	0.273
Distance to the nearest health center	Km (count)	0.432	0.370	0.401
No access to Sanitary latrine	Percent	0.387	0.401	0.394
Doesn't Practice preventive health care	Percent	0.169	0.321	0.245
Family member suffering from a chronic disease	Percent	0.038	0.058	0.048
Social Security		0.499	0.556	0.528
Not Benefitted from MGNREGA	Percent	0.444	0.996	0.720
Not Benefitted from PDS	Percent	0.188	0.102	0.145
Not Received any government schemes	Percent	0.425	0.252	0.339
Use firewood or dung cake	Percent	0.939	0.872	0.906
Adaptive capacity		0.495	0.472	0.483
Socio-demographic profile		0.369	0.400	0.385
Household head not attended school	Percent	0.364	0.474	0.419
Dependency ratio	Ratio	0.499	0.440	0.470
Female-headed family	Percent	0.245	0.219	0.232
Agriculture as a primary source of income	Percent	0.368	0.467	0.418
Awareness		0.520	0.356	0.438
Heard about climate change before	Percent	0.582	0.288	0.435
Understanding climate change	Percent	0.828	0.650	0.739
Use a weather forecast for making farming decisions	Percent	0.494	0.241	0.368
Familiar with the early warning system for natural disasters	Percent	0.176	0.245	0.210
Livelihood strategy		0.419	0.461	0.440
Livelihood diversification	1/	0.359	0.407	0.383
index	(Livelihood activities+1)			
Family members working outside	Percent	0.261	0.354	0.307
Members migrated in the last 1 year	Count	0.074	0.117	0.096
Not undergone training/skill development programs	Percent	0.981	0.967	0.974
Financial stability		0.622	0.649	0.636
Distance to the nearest Bank	Km (count)	0.382	0.311	0.347
Borrowing money	Percent	0.682	0.766	0.724
D 1.1	_	0.001	0.001	0.021

Average monthly spending on health care service	Rs. (count)	0.185	0.197	0.191
Didn't get compensation from the government	Percent	0.900	0.985	0.943
Economic status (Below poverty line)	Percent	0.651	0.704	0.678
Social network		0.525	0.474	0.500
Not associated with organisation, cooperative, or SHG	Percent	0.613	0.755	0.684
No access to transport facility	Percent	0.425	0.511	0.468
Don't have any vehicles	Count	0.847	0.288	0.568
Not access to communication or social media platforms	Percent	0.663	0.566	0.615
Distance to the nearest main market	Km (count)	0.447	0.355	0.401
Distance of forest	Km (count)	0.154	0.372	0.263
LVI-IPCC		-0.072	-0.049	-0.060
VI		0.309	0.336	0.321

5.3.1 Exposure

The average exposure index of household livelihood to climate variability and hazards is 0.348 in general. The same for Dhar is (0.360) is slightly higher than Chhindwara (0.336),indicating a marginally increased vulnerability to climate-related hazards in the Dhar district. This increased exposure suggests that tribal populations in these regions are particularly vulnerable to environmental stresses such as unpredictable rainfall, temperature variations, and natural hazards, possibly compromising agricultural output, water accessibility, and livelihood stability. It emphasises the increased hazard faced by tribal communities, greatly dependent on rain-fed agriculture and natural resources, thereby accenting the urgent need for targeted adaptation strategies and resiliencebuilding initiatives (Barron et al., 2021). Climatic variability reveals similar levels in both districts, emphasising the variability in rainfall and temperature patterns, which can critically impact rain-fed agriculture, a leading livelihood strategy for tribal communities. The mean standard deviation of average rainfall by month is nearly equal in both districts (Chhindwara= 0.293 mm, Dhar= 0.298 mm), indicating consistent variations in monthly rainfall. The standard deviation of maximum (T_{max}) and minimum (T_{min}) temperatures shows significant variation in Dhar (T_{max} = 0.459 °C, T_{min} = 0.557 °C) compared to Chhindwara (T_{max} = 0.376 °C, T_{min} = 0.576 °C), indicating prominent temperature extremes in Dhar. These variations can poorly affect crop yields and water availability, aggravating the vulnerability of tribal communities, such as Gond, Mahasin, Mawasi, and Bhariya in Chhindwara and Bhil and Bhilala in Dhar who depend greatly on these natural resources.

Further examination of hazards gives insights into the frequency of climatic events such as floods, droughts, and hailstorms from the last 10 years. Dhar reports a low occurrence of floods (0.094) and higher drought (0.350) in the last 10 years compared to Chhindwara (0.051 and 0.314, respectively). Both districts experience the same and a higher frequency of hailstorm incidents (0.405). These hazard indicators imply Dhar is more prone to floods and droughts, which can rigorously interrupt agricultural cycles and food security for tribal households. Dhar's higher exposure and variability indices indicate a need for targeted interventions to improve resilience against climatic events. Initiatives such as introducing drought-resistant crops, developed water management practices, and robust early warning systems could mitigate the impacts of climate variability (Mall et al., 2017). Incorporating traditional knowledge with modern agricultural practices could improve the adaptive capacity of tribal communities (Kala, 2022). While these districts face significant climatic challenges, Dhar's a little higher vulnerability imposes focused efforts to reinforce resilience and adaptive capacity among its tribal populations. Addressing these vulnerabilities through community-based approaches and sustainable practices can advance more resilient and equitable development paths, confirming the long-lasting welfare of these marginalised communities.

5.3.2 Sensitivity

The average sensitivity index within the Chhindwara and Dhar districts is 0.446, providing crucial insights into the vulnerability of tribal communities to various climatic stressors. Chhindwara (0.452) shows slightly higher sensitivity than Dhar (0.440), indicating comparable levels of vulnerability to environmental change. The higher sensitivity of the Chhindwara district is mostly because of the substantial variation in the sub-components of land, infrastructure, and water. Land and infrastructure are important factors in the sensitivity index. Chhindwara has a higher percentage of households who do not have electricity than Dhar (4.6% and 1.5%, respectively) and residing in Kutcha houses (72% and 30.3%, respectively). The inadequate housing and absence of essential services exacerbate the vulnerability of these communities, making them more vulnerable to CC (Ajibade & McBean, 2014). These results are consistent with (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2020) argument that rural households often lack the economic capacity to build a pucca house. Access to basic infrastructure is essential for health, social, and economic development. Investments in water infrastructure, such as rainwater harvesting and community water purification systems, are necessary for enhancing resilience (Wallis-Lage & Erdal, 2022). Food security is a major issue, with 54% of Chhindwara households and 65.7% of Dhar households requiring adequate food for the year. The higher food sensitivity index in Dhar (0.583) compared to Chhindwara (0.457) stresses Dhar's severe food insecurity problem. Tribal households struggling to find food are also greater in Dhar (34.3%) than in Chhindwara (27.5%). These proportions exhibit a precarious food situation, with inferences for health and welfare. The problem of water accessibility exposes extensive challenges, particularly in Chhindwara, where 97.7% of households report groundwater depletion, compared to 79.2% in Dhar. Increasing water shortages are a severe problem, affecting 92% of households in Chhindwara and 78.8% in Dhar. Limited access to safe drinking water sources (such as hand pumps, wells, and tap water through Pradhan Mantri Jal Nal Yojna)

and high dependence on rain-fed agriculture (75.9% in Chhindwara and 37.6% in Dhar) further aggravate water insecurity. Agricultural productivity also decreased due to water scarcity in both regions.

Health indicators indicate large discrepancies, with a substantial percentage of families in both districts not having access to sanitary latrines and not practising preventive health care. The distance to the nearest health centre remains a barrier, particularly in Chhindwara, which averages 8.64 km compared to 3.32 km in Dhar. Chronic disease occurrence, although relatively low, includes another level of vulnerability. A study by Cardona et al. (2021) stated that climate-related disasters like storms, floods, heat waves, and wildfires are expected to exacerbate public health risks. The social security index reveals disparities in the benefits of government schemes (such as Indira Gandhi Old Age Pension, Widows Pension, Ladli Bahna Yojna, and Kisan Samman Nidhi). A larger number of households in Dhar (99.6%) did not benefit from the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA) than in Chhindwara (44.4%). Similarly, a substantial percentage of households in both districts were not receiving benefits from the Public Distribution System (PDS), which explains the lack of connectivity of the people with the state system. Enhancing programs like MGNREGA, skill development programs, and PDS can improve employment opportunities and mitigate socioeconomic vulnerabilities to promote food security (George et al., 2023). High dependency on firewood or dung cake as the primary energy source for cooking (93.9% in Chhindwara and 87.2% in Dhar) indicates perpetual reliance on traditional and less efficient energy sources, which further deteriorate their health due to indoor pollution (Srivastav, 2021). These results highlight the complex character of sensitivity in tribal communities, encompassing inadequate infrastructure, food and water insecurity, health issues, and limited social security. Addressing these vulnerabilities requires targeted interventions that improve infrastructure and access to essential services and ensure food and water security. Tailored approaches

influencing local knowledge and involving tribal communities in decisionmaking can encourage resilience and promote sustainable development (Musavengane, 2019). Recognising and mitigating these sensitivities are necessary for decreasing vulnerability and improving the livelihood of tribal communities in the study areas.

5.3.3 Adaptive Capacity

The results of adaptive capacity indicators for the study districts give valuable insights into the socioeconomic and livelihood patterns of tribal communities. The average adaptive capacity index is 0.483, indicating only a minor difference between Chhindwara (0.495) and Dhar (0.472) districts, with significant implications for the tribal communities. Chhindwara has a lower percentage of household heads who have not attended school (36.4%) than Dhar (47.4%), indicating a better educational status among tribal people, which is important for adaptive capacity. However, both districts exhibit similar dependency ratios and percentages of female-headed households, implying a similar family structure. Agriculture as a primary source of income is more widespread in Dhar (46.7%) than in Chhindwara (36.8%), reflecting the increased reliance on climate-sensitive livelihoods in Dhar. CC awareness level is noticeably greater in Chhindwara (52.0%) than in Dhar (35.6%). This awareness gap shows Dhar may need specific education and communication strategies to increase CC preparation.

The usage of weather forecasting and familiarity with early warning systems are also higher in Chhindwara, indicating a more robust integration of climate information into agricultural activities. Sen et al. (2021) observed that access to and use of weather forecasting and climate info vary. Livelihood diversification is somewhat greater in Dhar (0.479) than in Chhindwara (0.439), exposing an enormous diversity of income-generating activities. However, more family members work outside Dhar (35.4%) compared to Chhindwara (26.1%), implying greater mobility and possibly better access to outside employment opportunities in Dhar. This mobility

could offer extra income sources, enhancing household resilience. However, this also suggests a reliance on migration for income, which can have social implications such as family separation and reduced community cohesion (Chen et al., 2023). Migration in the last year for work or education was almost similar and less in both districts.

Most families have not undertaken training or skill development programs (98.1% in Chhindwara and 96.7% in Dhar). This lack of capacity-building opportunities impedes people's ability to diversify their livelihoods or strengthen their current abilities, restricting their adaptive capacity and long-term resilience. Phuong et al. (2023) discussed that involving marginal communities in training programs enhances their awareness of CC and improves their adaptability. Both districts reveal comparable financial stability characteristics, with a strong dependence on borrowing (68.2% in Chhindwara and 76.6% in Dhar) and a greater portion of households below the poverty line (65.1% in Chhindwara and 70.4% in Dhar). The absence of permanent jobs is higher in both districts (93.1%), reflecting the unstable nature of employment. Chhindwara has a greater social network index (0.525) than Dhar (0.474), suggesting stronger community cohesiveness and possible support networks. However, access to transport facilities, communication, and the main market is typically higher in Dhar, which may enhance economic activity and access to services. Cong et al. (2016) highlighted that increasing media access fulfils societal accountability by raising awareness and bridging the gap between regional observations and global incidents. Also, Nguyen & Leisz (2021) observed that diverse media sources are important for strengthening social networks, indirectly enhancing household adaptability. A complex interaction of educational status, CC awareness, livelihood diversification, and social networks determines the adaptation capacity of tribal households in both districts. Enhancing adaptive capacity involves a broad strategy, including improving education and climate knowledge, encouraging different livelihood alternatives, and boosting financial stability and social networks. Targeted

interventions, such as skill development programs, access to climate information, and infrastructure developments, are essential for developing resilience among these vulnerable communities. Focusing on these characteristics may lead to more sustainable and reasonable development, eventually strengthening the capacity of tribal communities to persist and adapt to climatic change and variability.

5.3.4 LVI-IPCC

The LVI-IPCC offers a synthesised measure of vulnerability, amalgamating various components across exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity for Chhindwara and Dhar districts (Fig. 5.5). The average LVI-IPCC value of -0.060 suggests a moderate level of vulnerability to climate-related risks among the surveyed households. This index provides valuable insights into the nuanced vulnerability profiles of tribal communities and the geographical heterogeneity of vulnerability within the study area (Fig. 5.6). All the Tehsils were categorised into 4 groups based on the quartile value of the index, representing low, medium, high, and very high (Jamshed et al., 2020). Dhar (-0.049) exhibits a higher LVI-IPCC value than Chhindwara (-(0.072), indicating a greater vulnerability to CC and its impact among the surveyed households. The same results were also obtained from the Vulnerability Index (VI) for Dhar (0.336) and Chhindwara (0.309). The results underscore the intricate relationship of environmental, socioeconomic, and institutional factors shaping vulnerability dynamics within these districts. The higher LVI-IPCC value in the Dhar district may be attributed to various underlying factors that increase the vulnerability of tribal households. One significant aspect is the region's susceptibility to climate variability and hazards, such as mean maximum temperature, floods, and droughts, exacerbating vulnerabilities (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2021) among tribal communities reliant on agriculture and natural resources for their livelihoods. Dhar's relatively lower adaptive capacity index suggests limited resilience and coping mechanisms among tribal households to respond effectively to these climate variability and hazards.



Fig. 5.5: Contributing factors of the LVI-IPCC for Chhindwara and Dhar

Socioeconomic indicators such as reduced financial stability, lower livelihood diversification, and restricted access to social security networks further aggravate vulnerability by reducing the capacity of tribal communities to endure and recover from the adverse impact of CC. Phuong et al. (2023) concurred that CC irregularly affects households' livelihoods depending on various sensitivities. The comparatively lower LVI-IPCC (-0.072) signifies a somewhat lower vulnerability among tribal communities in Chhindwara. It may be attributed to several factors, including better infrastructure, relatively higher levels of adaptive capacity, and more excellent socioeconomic stability than Dhar. The finding aligns with previous studies that enhanced infrastructure facilities and higher levels of adaptive capacity reduce the vulnerability to CC impacts (Filho et al., 2019; McMartin et al., 2018; Piya et al., 2019). The availability of more robust social networks, along with higher levels of awareness and access to resources, could augment the resilience of tribal communities in Chhindwara, enabling them to better cope with CC. The higher LVI-IPCC value in the Dhar district underlines the urgent need for targeted interventions and adaptive strategies to improve resilience and promote

livelihood security among vulnerable tribal communities. Policymakers should prioritise investments in climate-resilient infrastructure, sustainable agriculture practices, and social security systems to mitigate risks and enhance adaptive capacity. Fostering community-based adaptation initiatives, integrating indigenous knowledge systems, and promoting participatory decision-making processes are essential for empowering tribal communities to cope with CC impacts and achieve sustainable development goals. By addressing the underlying drivers of vulnerability and promoting inclusive development pathways, stakeholders can effectively reduce disparities and promote the well-being and resilience of tribal populations in Chhindwara, Dhar, and other similar contexts.



Fig. 5.6: Geographical variation of contributing factors and LVI-IPCC of (a) Chhindwara and (b) Dhar districts

5.3.5 Determinants of LVI-IPCC

The MLR results present indicators affecting the livelihood vulnerability of tribal households (Table 5.3). The relation between LVI-IPCC and contributing factors is shown in Fig. 5.7 for both districts. Based on the overall sample size (n= 535) from both districts, the analysis reveals that 10 out of 18 indicators significantly impact the livelihood vulnerability to CC among tribal households (p < 0.05). Significant factors include the household head not attending school (β = -0.018), agriculture as the primary

source of income ($\beta = 0.022$), number of extreme weather events ($\beta = 0.008$), lack of access to safe drinking water (β = -0.014), number of livelihood strategies (β = 0.005), lack of access to sanitary latrines (β = -0.014), not benefiting from the Public Distribution System (PDS) (β = -0.020), lack of access to communication or social media platforms (β = -0.032), familiarity with early warning systems for natural disasters ($\beta = 0.013$), and economic status (β = -0.018). The findings indicate that active and wealthy households significantly reduce the vulnerability of tribal households compared to inactive and low-income families. Households which use weather forecasts for making farming decisions, are familiar with the early warning system for natural disasters, participate in training or skill development programs to enhance their ability to generate income, have better access to communication and social media, and are beneficiaries of the government schemes (such as Ladli Bahna Yojna and Kisan Samman Nidhi) exhibit lower vulnerability. These findings align with previous research, highlighting the importance of social networks and access to information in enhancing tribal communities' capacity for CC adaptation, thereby reducing their vulnerability (Nguyen & Leisz, 2021; Phuong et al., 2023; Son & Kingsbury, 2020). Belay & Fekadu (2021) highlight that participation in training programs and establishing broad social networks raise tribal communities' climate awareness, which is also a primary factor of CC vulnerability among tribal households in this study.

The educational status of the household head significantly influences vulnerability. Specifically, the head of the household who has not attended school shows greater vulnerability (β = -0.012 for Chhindwara and -0.022 for Dhar). It aligns with previous literature that underlines the role of education in enhancing adaptive capacity and resilience. Educated household heads are likelier to access information, adopt modern agricultural practices, and make updated decisions during extreme weather events (Lu et al., 2021). Enhancing educational opportunities and quality, especially through adult education and occupational training, can

Items	Explanation	Measurement	Chhind	wara	Dha	ır	Over	all
Explanatory va	riables		β	<i>S.E.</i>	β	<i>S.E.</i>	β	<i>S.E.</i>
Socio-	Gender	Dummy (0 = men, 1 =	0.001	0.005	-0.005	0.006	-0.002	0.004
demographic		women)						
	Head of the household not attended school	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.012	0.006	-0.022**	0.005	-0.018**	0.004
	Age	Continuous (Years)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Agriculture as a primary source of income	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.019**	0.006	-0.020**	0.005	-0.022**	0.004
Hazards	No. of extreme weather events	Continuous (Numeric)	0.008**	0.001	0.009**	0.001	0.008**	0.001
Land and	Don't have access to electricity	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	0.009	0.016	-0.011	0.015	0.005	0.018
Infrastructure	Housing structure	Dummy ($0 = $ Others, $1 =$	0.003	0.003	0.000	0.003	-0.001	0.002
		Kutcha)						
	Land holdings	Continuous (Hectare)	-0.001	0.001	-0.001	0.001	-0.001	0.001
Water	Don't have access to safe drinking water sources	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	0.001	0.006	-0.029**	0.005	-0.014**	0.004
Food	Doesn't family have adequate food for the whole	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.007	0.005	-0.004	0.005	-0.004	0.004
	year							
Livelihood	No. of livelihood strategies	Continuous (Numeric)	0.004	0.003	0.008*	0.004	0.005*	0.003
strategy	Have not any members of your household	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.020	0.017	0.000	0.014	-0.006	0.010
	undergone training or skill development programs							
	to enhance their ability to generate income							
Health	Don't have access to sanitary latrine	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.004	0.005	-0.021**	0.005	-0.014**	0.004
Social	Not benefitting from the public distribution system	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.036**	0.008	-0.014	0.009	-0.020**	0.007
security	(PDS)							
Social	Don't have access to communication media or	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.025**	0.006	-0.035**	0.006	-0.032**	0.004
network	social media platforms							
Awareness	Use a weather forecast for making farming	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.023**	0.006	0.011	0.008	0.000	0.004
	decisions							
	Familiar with the early warning system for natural	Dummy $(0 = No, 1 = Yes)$	-0.019**	0.008	0.034**	0.007	0.013*	0.006
	disasters							

Table 5.3: Results of linear regression of vulnerability determinants and LVI-IPCC for the Chhindwara and Dhar tribal households

Financial	Economic status	Dummy $(0 = Others, 1 =$	-0.013*	0.005	-0.020**	0.005	-0.018**	0.004
stability		Below Poverty line)						
Model propertie	Model properties							
Observations			261		274	1	535	
R ²			0.49	5	0.65	3	0.42	7
F			15.5	8	24.1	0	19.4	0
		** .0.01 * .0.05						

** p<0.01, * p<0.05

significantly influence household heads' knowledge and skills (Deribew et al., 2012). Agriculture as the primary source of income is associated with decreased vulnerability (β = -0.019 for Chhindwara and -0.020 for Dhar). It proposes that assistance for agricultural activities, including access to high-yielding seeds, irrigation facilities, and market connections, can reinforce resilience. Agricultural assistance through subsidies, access to financial support, and extension services can enrich productivity and income stability (Malimi, 2023). Sustainable agricultural practices and diversification into high-value crops could further augment household income stability (Mustafa et al., 2019).



Chhindwara and (b) Dhar districts

From the environmental hazard perspective, the regression analysis illustrates that the frequency of natural hazards significantly increases vulnerability (β = 0.008 and 0.009 for Dhar). It emphasises the critical need for effective disaster risk management and climate adaptation strategies. Investment in early warning systems, community-based hazard preparation programs, and robust infrastructure can mitigate the detrimental effects of

such events (Velazquez et al., 2020). The findings show that people residing in Kutcha houses are more susceptible than those in Pucca. Living in Kutcha houses increases their vulnerability to property loss during natural hazards (Ghosh & Ghosal, 2020; Phuong et al., 2023). Lack of access to safe drinking water is an essential element of vulnerability in Dhar (β = -0.029) and overall (β = -0.014). Access to safe drinking water is essential for health, agricultural output, and overall prosperity. Investments in water infrastructure, such as rainwater harvesting, borewells, and cooperation water cleansing systems, are crucial for enhancing resilience improve access to safe drinking water, particularly in Dhar (Pamidimukkala et al., 2021). The lack of adequate food for the year did not significantly influence vulnerability; guaranteeing food security remains essential. Food security measures should concentrate on raising agricultural productivity, varying crops, and expanding storage facilities to reduce post-harvest damages (Rahut et al., 2022).

Another outcome from the regression analysis illustrates that lack of access to communication or social media platforms significantly increases vulnerability (β = -0.025 for Chhindwara and -0.035 for Dhar). Media access is essential for raising awareness and preparing people for the hazards associated with CC. Improving digital literacy and increasing internet access can enhance communication and information broadcasting (Camargo et al., 2019). Familiarity with early warning systems for natural disasters shows a combined effect, lowering vulnerability in Chhindwara $(\beta = -0.019)$ but raising it in Dhar $(\beta = 0.034)$. It advises that while awareness is important, using these systems relies on their application and the community's trust in them. Active communication, regular training, and community involvement are necessary for the success of early warning systems (Zhang et al., 2021). Households below the poverty line reveal higher vulnerability (β = -0.013 for Chhindwara and -0.020 for Dhar). Economic stability is necessary for resilience. Poverty reduction policies, containing social protection schemes, income generation programs, and

financial inclusion strategies, are essential for improving the resilience of tribal households (Korostelina & Barrett, 2023).

5.4 Conclusions

This study provides valuable insights into the vulnerability of tribal communities in the Chhindwara and Dhar districts to CC impacts. The vulnerability index highlights a moderate level of vulnerability, with Dhar exhibiting greater vulnerability than Chhindwara. Increased exposure to climate variability, socioeconomic disparities, and adaptive capacity significantly influence vulnerability. Limited access to education, infrastructure, safe drinking water, and social security further compounds vulnerability, underscoring the urgent need for targeted interventions. Chhindwara demonstrates relatively lower vulnerability, attributed to better infrastructure, higher adaptive capacity, and more excellent socioeconomic stability. More robust social networks, coupled with higher levels of awareness and access to resources, contribute to enhanced resilience among tribal communities in Chhindwara. Frequent natural hazards exacerbate vulnerability, emphasising the need for effective disaster risk management strategies. Addressing these vulnerabilities needs targeted interventions, including investments in climate-resilient infrastructure, promoting sustainable livelihoods, and enhancing social protection schemes. Integrating indigenous knowledge systems and fostering community-based adaptation initiatives are crucial for building resilience among tribal communities. The findings underscore the urgent need for holistic approaches considering the complex relationship of environmental and socioeconomic factors in reducing vulnerability and promoting sustainable development in tribal areas.

Chapter 6

Summary and Future Scope

The primary objective of this thesis is to assess the livelihood vulnerability to climate change (CC) and variability among tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh, India. The study is conducted at various scales to assess CC vulnerability. The first objective tried to explore the variations in rainfall and temperature patterns and their implications on tribal livelihoods. The second objective assessed district-wise climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh using environmental and socioeconomic indicators and found that tribal-dominated districts are more vulnerable to CC. Therefore, the further objectives taken in the tribal populous highly vulnerable districts, namely, Dhar and Chhindwara, to assess tribal people's perceptions on CC and its impacts and integrated assessment of livelihood vulnerability to climate variability among tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara districts, Madhya Pradesh, respectively. This chapter summarizes the major findings of all the objectives along with limitations associated with the present studies. This chapter also provides scope for future work as well as policy recommendations.

6.1 Exploring the Spatiotemporal Climatic Dynamics of Madhya Pradesh

The spatiotemporal analysis of rainfall and temperature trends across Madhya Pradesh reveals significant variations over 71 years (1951–2021), using descriptive analysis, temporal trends (Mann-Kendall and Sen's slope tests), and change points (Pettitt's test), spatial distribution. Moreover, spatial change analyses were conducted to understand the geographical distribution of climatic changes across the state. The following observations are presented below:

6.1.1 Descriptive Analysis

- ★ The mean annual rainfall is 1041.36 mm, with high interannual variability ($\sigma = 179.18$). Monsoon rainfall contributes the majority (around 85%) of the annual rainfall, with relatively low variability (CV = 17.51%). Pre-monsoon, post-monsoon, and winter rainfall exhibit higher variability (CV > 79%), indicating unpredictable rainfall patterns. High rainfall variability disturbs crop yields and water availability, rising crop failures and food insecurity for tribal communities dependent on subsistence farming.
- ★ Annual mean temperature (T_{mean}) is 25.52 °C, with low overall variability (CV = 1.42%). Seasonal temperature variability is more pronounced during post-monsoon seasons (CV = 3.47%) and winter (CV = 3.23%). Similarly, maximum temperature (T_{max}) shows a lower level of variability.
- Minimum temperature (T_{min}) shows the highest variability, particularly during winter (CV = 39.20%). The high CV value for T_{min} highlights significant variability, impacting agriculture, health, energy, and ecosystem stability essential to tribal livelihoods. Sudden temperature declines affect frost damage to crops and health issues like hypothermia.

6.1.2 Temporal Trend Analysis

Annual (Z = -1.023) and monsoon rainfall (Z = -0.933) show non-significant declining trends, with a rate of -0.990 mm and -0.977 mm yearly. Declining rainfall patterns can negatively impact agriculture, water resources, and food security in Madhya Pradesh, leading to water shortages, especially for irrigation and drinking water.

- Post-monsoon (Z = -0.764) and winter (Z = -0.735) rainfall also show declining trends, potentially affecting groundwater recharge and water storage.
- Pre-monsoon rainfall shows an increasing trend (Z = 0.288). Increased pre-monsoon rainfall can benefit certain crops and water availability, but changes in distribution could disrupt agricultural planning.
- ★ The annual T_{mean} shows a statistically significant increasing trend (Z = 2.898), with a warming rate of 0.006 °C/year. The post-monsoon T_{mean} also indicate a significant warming trend (Z = 3.594) at the rate of 0.018 °C/year. Rising T_{mean} can increase evapotranspiration, reduce soil moisture, and intensify water stress. It also impacts crop quality and reduces productivity.
- Similarly, annual T_{max} demonstrates an increasing trend (Z = 1.772) at 0.006 °C/year. Higher T_{max} can intensify heat stress, affecting human health, livestock, and crops, particularly during summer.
- ✤ T_{min} exhibits significant warming trends (Z = 2.452) annually, mainly during pre-monsoon (Z = 2.422), post-monsoon (Z = 3.891) and winter (Z = 2.750). Warmer nights can disrupt the growth cycles of crops and exacerbate pest infestations. Increased T_{min} can lead to higher energy demands for cooling during hotter nights.

6.1.3 Change Point Analysis

Abrupt changes were detected in annual rainfall (1998), monsoon (1998), pre-monsoon (1955), post-monsoon (1987), and winter (1986). Sudden changes in monsoon rainfall interrupt crop cycles and reduce productivity, while pre-monsoon and post-monsoon shifts affect soil preparation and agricultural timing. Shifting rainfall patterns also disrupt biodiversity, habitats, and ecosystems.

- Sudden shifts in annual T_{mean} (2004) and seasonal patterns (monsoon = 2007, pre-monsoon = 2000, post-monsoon = 1998, winter = 1959) augment water stress, reduce soil moisture, and impact crop productivity.
- Change points in T_{max} were observed annually (2010) and seasonally (monsoon = 1990, pre-monsoon = 2008, post-monsoon = 1963, winter = 1966), intensifying heat stress on crops, livestock, and human health, especially during summer.
- Abrupt changes in T_{min} occurred annually (1999) and seasonally (monsoon = 1960, pre-monsoon = 2003, post-monsoon = 2008, winter = 1995), leading to warmer nights, disrupting crop growth cycles and increasing pest infestations.

6.1.4 Spatial Change Analysis

- After 1998, the pre-monsoon season saw more areas receiving <25 mm rainfall in the northern and northwest regions of Madhya Pradesh. Monsoon rainfall decreased significantly, with areas above 1000 mm decreasing and the maximum monsoonal rainfall reducing from 1623 mm to 1311 mm. During post-monsoon, areas with <25 mm rainfall expanded, while winter saw a reduction in regions receiving >50 mm. Overall, annual rainfall distribution shifted toward regions with <1000 mm, with the maximum annual rainfall decreasing from 1769 mm to 1401 mm.</p>
- ★ T_{mean} ranged from 29-30 °C, shifting to 30-31 °C post-2004, with higher temperatures across most regions during pre-monsoon and monsoon. After the monsoon, temperatures increased above 24 °C and reduced <23 °C area, while winter temperatures increased >19 °C areas and decreased below 18 °C. Annual T_{mean} increased >25.5 °C areas after 2004.

- ★ The T_{max} increased, with regions reaching 41-43 °C during the premonsoon and areas above 34 °C expanding post-monsoon after 2010. Areas below 32 °C decreased during the post-monsoon season, and the annual T_{max} saw a shift, with more areas exceeding 32 °C. Minor shifts were observed in winter T_{max}.
- ★ The pre-monsoon T_{min} declined below 16 °C areas, while those above 17 °C increased after 1999. During the monsoon season, T_{min} above 24 °C emerged in the northern regions. Post-monsoon T_{min} dropped below 13 °C but increased above 14 °C. Winter T_{min} increased above 9 °C and decreased below 9 °C. Annual T_{min}, areas below 18.5 °C sharply decreased, with most of the state covering above 18.5 °C after 1999.

Rainfall patterns show a decline in monsoon, post-monsoon, and winter seasons, while pre-monsoon rainfall shows an increasing trend. Temperature indicates warming trends are observed across all regions, with higher increases in minimum temperatures in the northern and central districts, suggesting widespread impacts on agriculture, water resources, and livelihoods. Abrupt changes in rainfall and temperature patterns disrupt agricultural cycles and increase water stress, heat stress, and pest infestations. These shifts, especially post-1998, emphasize the urgent need for adaptive strategies to mitigate CC impacts, especially for agriculture and tribal communities.

6.2 Assessing District-Level Climate Vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh Using Environmental and Socioeconomic Factors

The climate vulnerability of Madhya Pradesh varies significantly across its districts due to differing environmental conditions (like rainfall, forest cover, and agricultural land) and socioeconomic factors (such as HDI and population density). The major findings have been highlighted below:

6.2.1 Evolution of Composite Vulnerability Index

The vulnerability index divides districts into 4 categories: low, medium, high, and very high vulnerability, based on their index quantile values.

6.2.1.1 Environmental Vulnerability Index (EVI)

- ✤ Districts such as Anuppur, Tikamgarh, and Shajapur show low environmental vulnerability (0.214 – 0.364) due to lower T_{min}, dense forest coverage, forest fires, and drought-affected areas. These factors contribute to improved preparedness for environmental changes and vulnerability.
- Districts such as Indore, Panna, Sagar, and Alirajpur demonstrate moderate vulnerability (0.365 – 0.425) due to challenges like rainfall variations, moderate forest density, droughts and forest fires.
- Districts such as Chhatarpur, Dewas, Hoshangabad, and Dhar reveal higher vulnerability (0.426 – 0.487), influenced by increased rainfall, higher T_{max}, large agricultural areas, and frequent floods and drought incidents.
- Damoh, Raisen, Sidhi, Rajgarh, Chhindwara, Jhabua, Balaghat, Barwani, Satna, Mandla, and Dindori are the most environmentally vulnerable districts (0.488 – 0.593). These districts face extreme environmental challenges such as heavy precipitation, extreme temperatures, expansive dense forests, large agricultural areas, frequent floods, droughts, and forest fires.

6.2.1.2 Socioeconomic Vulnerability Index (SVI)

- Districts such as Gwalior, Sagar, and Damoh were identified as having low SVI (0.309-0.372). These districts demonstrate lower population densities and socially deprived populations, indicating higher socioeconomic resilience to CC impacts.
- Districts like Indore, Ujjain, Katni, and Satna come under the medium SVI category (0.373-0.401). These districts are

characterized by higher Human Development Index (HDI) values, population densities, and relatively lower socially deprived populations. Their infrastructure and human resources keep them in a better position to address climate challenges.

- Districts such as Rajgarh and Narsimhapur show a high SVI (0.405-0.432), with higher dependency on agricultural labour and a lower HDI.
- Districts like Dhar, Jhabua, East Nimar and Dindori face the highest socioeconomic vulnerability (0.441-0.552) due to a higher percentage of socially deprived populations, agricultural labourers, and cultivators. The low HDI in some districts emphasizes the need for targeted interventions to address these challenges.

6.2.1.3 Composite Vulnerability Index (CVI)

- Districts like Gwalior, Jabalpur, Sagar, and Bhopal indicate lower vulnerability (0.321-0.378) to CC impacts due to lower levels of social deprivation, better HDI, reduced dense forest cover, and lower incidence of drought.
- Districts such as Damoh, Sehore, and Indore exhibit moderate vulnerability (0.381-0.407) because of reduced EVI and SVI, attributed to factors like extensive forest coverage, lower population density (except in Indore), and a smaller proportion of marginalized populations. Higher HDI further supports resilience in these districts.
- Districts including Narsimhapur, Shajapur, and Singrauli experience higher vulnerability (0.409-0.442), linked to greater exposure to climatic extremes and higher dependency on agricultural labour. Increased vulnerability is calling for targeted climate adaptation and mitigation strategies. Agricultural resilience is essential, focusing on

improving water management, crop diversification, and flood and drought mitigation.

Districts like Betul, Balaghat, and Barwani display the highest vulnerability (0.448-0.540) due to frequent floods, droughts, and larger agricultural areas. These regions also experience high dependency on agricultural labour, a higher proportion of marginalized populations and lower HDI, contributing to greater socioeconomic vulnerability.

6.2.2 Validation of the Composite Vulnerability Index

- The hierarchical cluster analysis was used to validate the CVI results, which revealed latent patterns in the data. The dendrogram map visually represented these patterns, showing the hierarchical relationships among districts based on their vulnerability characteristics. It helps to understand the degree of similarity and dissimilarity in vulnerability profiles across the study area.
- The hierarchical cluster analysis classified the districts into 25 clusters. This classification identified complex variations in vulnerability across the study area, demonstrating that vulnerability is not uniform and can vary depending on environmental and socioeconomic factors. It also revealed that some districts share similar vulnerability profiles due to common environmental conditions, socioeconomic challenges, or both.

The district-wise climate vulnerability assessment reveals regional disparities in Madhya Pradesh, with districts categorized into varying levels of vulnerability based on environmental and socioeconomic factors. Districts like Gwalior and Bhopal show lower vulnerability, benefiting from better resilience factors, while districts such as Betul and Dindori face high vulnerability due to a combination of environmental and socioeconomic challenges. Based on CVI values, Gwalior is the least vulnerable district, and Barwani is the most vulnerable. The hierarchical cluster analysis
confirms these findings, identifying 25 distinct clusters with varying vulnerability profiles. The study highlights the need for targeted, region-specific interventions to address the diverse climatic challenges across the state.

6.3 Tribal People's Perceptions on Climate Change and its Impacts in Dhar and Chhindwara District

Based on the results of CVI, Dhar and Chhindwara districts were selected for tribal people's perception on CC and its impacts on their livelihoods. The major findings from the observed and perceived CC and its impacts, including the determinants affecting these perceptions, have been noted down from the study.

6.3.1 Observed Climate Change and Impacts

- ✤ Both the districts experienced a negative rainfall trend (ITA = -0.193 for Dhar and -0.072 for Chhindwara). T_{mean} and T_{max} are increasing in both districts. T_{min} shows a variance, with Dhar experiencing an increasing trend (ITA = 0.805), while Chhindwara exhibits a decreasing trend (ITA = -0.253). The SPI-3 analysis shows dry and wet conditions in these regions, with negative values indicating dry conditions.
- The observed shifts in rainfall and temperature contribute to increased crop heat stress, water scarcity, and reduced agricultural productivity. Tribal communities dependent on agriculture, livestock, and NTFPs observed challenges due to shifting climatic patterns, affecting food security and economic stability. The variation in climatic conditions also affects the timing of seasonal activities, including the collection of NTFPs, further impacting the socioeconomic conditions of tribal populations.

6.3.2 Perceived Climate Change

6.3.2.1 Perception on Climate Change

- The majority of the respondents observed rainfall variations and increasing temperatures in Dhar and Chhindwara. Similarly, almost 97% of respondents in both districts agreed that summer days are becoming hotter.
- The most noted consequences of CC were shifts in rainfall patterns, temperature fluctuations, and a decline in agricultural productivity. These findings suggest tribal communities are vulnerable due to their reliance on natural resources and rainfed farming practices.

6.3.2.2 Determinants of Perception on Climate Change

- In Dhar, male respondents were more likely to perceive CC (OR=0.42, p<0.05), whereas gender did not play an important role in Chhindwara.</p>
- Higher education was a major determinant of CC perception in both districts, with families possessing more education being much more likely to perceive CC (OR=2.48 in Dhar and OR=6.09 in Chhindwara).
- In Chhindwara, wealthier families were less likely to perceive CC (OR=0.32, p<0.01), possibly due to their lower dependence on natural resources. However, in Dhar, income did not significantly affect CC perception.</p>
- Primary occupation was a key determinant in Chhindwara (OR=2.45, p<0.05), with those engaged in agriculture as a primary source of income more likely to perceive CC.
- Access to infrastructure revealed regional variations. In Chhindwara, access to electricity increased the likelihood of perceiving CC (OR=5.62, p<0.01), while in Dhar, improved access to drinking water sources was a more important determinant (OR=2.69, p<0.01).</p>

 Similarly, access to communication media increased the likelihood of perceiving CC in both districts. The odds of perceiving CC were 4.12 times higher in Dhar and 5.50 times higher in Chhindwara for those with media access.

6.3.3 Perceived Climate Change Impacts

6.3.3.1 Perception of climate change impacts

- In Dhar, 50.7% of respondents perceive increased drought occurrences, with 36.9% expressing concern about water scarcity. Similarly, in Chhindwara, 39.5% strongly agree that drought incidents are increasing.
- Water levels are perceived to be declining, with 85.1% of respondents in Chhindwara strongly agreeing with this statement. Both districts reported a severe worsening of water shortages.
- In Dhar, 41.2% agree that agricultural productivity is decreasing, and 46% express concern over crop failure and economic loss. The respondents from both districts stated that crop damage was increasing due to pests and environmental factors such as heatwaves, untimely rainfall, and hailstorms, with over 39% agreeing that such factors have worsened in recent years.
- Health-related issues, such as water-borne diseases, are increasingly concerning in Chhindwara, with 54.8% of respondents strongly agreeing that health risks related to water scarcity are rising. This includes diarrhoea, dysentery, malaria, and skin-related conditions.
- There is a growing trend of rural-urban migration in both districts, attributed to the socioeconomic impacts of environmental challenges, such as water shortages and agricultural failure.

6.3.3.2 Determinants of Perception on Climate Change Impacts

Gender was a key factor in Dhar, affecting perceptions of natural resources and health, but not in Chhindwara. Age and education had limited influence on perceptions, though education was negatively correlated with perceptions of climatic extremes in Dhar. This suggests that education could affect awareness or concern about the impacts of CC.

- Family size is negatively associated with livelihood perceptions in Chhindwara, indicating that larger families could perceive higher vulnerability to climate impacts on their livelihoods.
- Household income had a positive association with perceptions of natural resource depletion and agricultural challenges in Dhar. However, it negatively affected perceptions of water scarcity, livelihood, and health issues in Chhindwara. This highlights the relationship between economic status and vulnerability to CC.
- The occupation of respondents was strongly associated with perceptions of agricultural changes in both districts. This reflects the high dependence of tribal communities on agriculture for their livelihoods, making them vulnerable to changes in climate conditions affecting crop yields.
- Access to safe drinking water and healthcare services related to perceptions of water scarcity and health risks in Dhar. The negative relationships suggest poor access to water and healthcare services exacerbate perceptions of vulnerability to climate-related water and health challenges.

Tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara perceived changes in climatic conditions, such as reduced rainfall and increasing temperatures, severely affecting their livelihoods. Water scarcity, crop failures, and health risks related to CC are significant concerns. Determinants such as education, occupation, and access to infrastructure affect perceptions of CC, with differences observed in these districts. To strengthen resilience, addressing these regional disparities by improving infrastructure, enhancing educational opportunities, and developing adaptive strategies to mitigate the effects of climate variability is essential.

6.4 Integrated Assessment of Livelihood Vulnerability to Climate Variability among Tribal Communities in Dhar and Chhindwara District, Madhya Pradesh

Tribal communities in the districts of Dhar and Chhindwara, Madhya Pradesh, are vulnerable to the impacts of climate variability. These communities primarily depend on rain-fed agriculture, making them vulnerable to changes in rainfall patterns, temperature extremes, and frequent natural hazards like floods and droughts. Furthermore, infrastructure challenges like poor housing, limited access to electricity, water scarcity, and inadequate healthcare increase their vulnerability. Disparities in adaptive capacity, influenced by factors such as education, livelihood diversification, and access to resources, create differences in vulnerability across these two districts. The major findings of tribal livelihood vulnerability to climate variability from this study are as follows:

6.4.1 Exposure

- The average exposure index is 0.348, with Dhar (0.360) being more vulnerable than Chhindwara (0.336). It indicates that the tribal populations in both districts face significant environmental challenges.
- ✤ Both districts experience similar levels of climatic variability, particularly in rainfall and temperature patterns. This variability is crucial as it affects rain-fed agriculture, a livelihood for tribal communities. The standard deviation of average monthly rainfall is almost the same in both districts, but temperature extremes (maximum and minimum) are more visible in Dhar, with a higher variation than in Chhindwara. Dhar experiences higher temperature fluctuations (T_{max} = 0.459 °C, T_{min} = 0.557 °C) compared to Chhindwara (T_{max} = 0.376 °C, T_{min} = 0.576 °C), which could

severely impact crop yields and water availability, increasing vulnerability for tribal communities.

The respondents from Dhar observed higher occurrences of floods (0.094) and droughts (0.350) in the last 10 years compared to Chhindwara (0.051 and 0.314, respectively), while both districts experienced the same frequency of hailstorms (0.405). This refers to the fact that Dhar is more prone to disruptive climatic events, which can affect agricultural cycles and food security for tribal households.

6.4.2 Sensitivity

- The average sensitivity index (0.446) highlights the vulnerability of tribal communities in Chhindwara (0.452) and Dhar (0.440) to climatic challenges. It reveals a gap in basic infrastructure that Chhindwara had a higher percentage of households without electricity and those living in kutcha houses than Dhar. Inadequate housing and essential services compound vulnerability, reducing people's ability to cope with CC.
- The higher food sensitivity index in Dhar (0.583) compared to Chhindwara (0.457) and the prevalence of food insecurity (65.7% in Dhar and 54% in Chhindwara) underline the unstable food situation.
- Groundwater depletion affects 97.7% of households in Chhindwara and 79.2% in Dhar, with increasing water shortages impacting 92% of Chhindwara households and 78.8% in Dhar. Dependence on rainfed agriculture (75.9% in Chhindwara and 37.6% in Dhar) augments water insecurity, which affects crops, health, and livelihoods.
- Poor access to health facilities (8.64 km average distance in Chhindwara and 3.32 km in Dhar) and inadequate sanitation and preventive health practices create health vulnerabilities. These health challenges are intensified by other factors, such as poor infrastructure, food insecurity, and water scarcity, undermining the community's resilience.

Limited access to social welfare schemes like MGNREGA (99.6% of households in Dhar and 44.4% in Chhindwara are not benefiting) exhibits a gap in economic security. Heavy reliance on traditional cooking fuels (93.9% in Chhindwara and 87.2% in Dhar) exposes energy poverty, which limits efficiency and poses health risks. This reliance, coupled with broader deficits in infrastructure, social welfare, and health, further imbedding the vulnerabilities of these tribal communities.

6.4.3 Adaptive Capacity

- The lower percentage of uneducated household heads in Chhindwara (36.4%) than in Dhar (47.4%) highlights better educational status among its tribal communities. This educational advantage is linked to higher CC awareness (52.0% in Chhindwara and 35.6% in Dhar), emphasizing the role of education in improving adaptive capacity. Increased education levels facilitate better access to climate information and informed decision-making.
- Greater reliance on agriculture in Dhar (46.7%) compared to Chhindwara (36.8%) reflects increased vulnerability to climate variability. Dhar also shows higher livelihood diversification and household reliance on migration for income, which can bolster resilience but can reduce social cohesion. The lack of training opportunities in both districts (98.1% in Chhindwara and 96.7% in Dhar) restricts livelihood diversification and long-term adaptability.
- The respondents from Chhindwara reported higher use of weather forecasting and early warning systems, which suggests better integration of climate tools into agricultural practices.
- Both districts face significant financial instability, with a high dependence on borrowing and a higher proportion of households below the poverty line (65.1% in Chhindwara and 70.4% in Dhar). The absence of permanent employment (93.1%) highlights the unstable nature of livelihoods, limiting adaptive capacity.

The social network index is higher in Chhindwara (0.525) than in Dhar (0.474), indicating stronger community ties, crucial for mutual support during crises. However, Dhar's better access to transportation, communication, and markets improves economic activity, illustrating a balance between social cohesion and infrastructural advantages.

6.4.4 LVI-IPCC

- Dhar district shows a higher LVI-IPCC value (-0.049) than Chhindwara (-0.072), indicating greater vulnerability to CC impacts. It is worsened by higher sensitivity to climate hazards, such as extreme temperature fluctuations, floods, and droughts, which disproportionately affect tribal households reliant on agriculture and natural resources. Chhindwara shows relatively lower vulnerability due to higher adaptive capacity, which is supported by better infrastructure, socioeconomic stability, and access to resources.
- Socioeconomic factors such as reduced financial stability, limited livelihood diversification, and access to social security networks heighten Dhar's vulnerability. This suggests that addressing socioeconomic inequalities is essential for enhancing the resilience of tribal communities.
- The presence of robust social networks, greater awareness, and access to resources in Chhindwara enriches resilience and reduces vulnerability. This underlines the importance of social cohesion and community empowerment in mitigating climate impacts.

6.4.5 Determinants of LVI-IPCC

Households with uneducated heads experience higher vulnerability, as education enables access to information and the adoption of modern adaptive practices. The implication is that improving educational access, especially adult education, can enhance resilience to climate impacts.

- Agriculture as a primary income source emphasizes the stabilizing effect of agricultural support, high-yield inputs, and sustainable practices. Diversification of income sources within agricultural households could further enhance resilience.
- A higher frequency of natural hazards increases vulnerability, underscoring the importance of effective disaster preparedness and robust infrastructure. Enhanced early warning systems and hazard mitigation strategies could reduce this impact.
- Lack of safe drinking water is a key determinant of vulnerability, particularly in the Dhar district. Investments in water infrastructure and clean water access are essential for improving health and agricultural productivity, which are foundational to resilience.
- Living in Kutcha houses heightens vulnerability to property loss during natural hazards, revealing the need for housing improvements to mitigate climate impacts and ensure community safety.
- Limited access to communication platforms and social media increases vulnerability by restricting awareness and preparedness for climate impacts. Enhancing digital connectivity and media access can improve knowledge dissemination and engagement with early warning systems.
- Poverty is associated strongly with increased vulnerability, showing the major role of financial inclusion and income stability in enhancing resilience. Economic empowerment of tribal households is an essential strategy for reducing vulnerability.
- Awareness and familiarity with early warning systems lessen vulnerability in Chhindwara but show inconsistent effects in Dhar, emphasizing the importance of community trust, understanding, and localized application of these systems.
- Participation in skill development and training programs expands livelihood security and reduces vulnerability. These activities

enhance adaptive capacities, demonstrating the value of building social networks and community awareness.

The livelihoods of tribal communities in Dhar and Chhindwara are greatly influenced by their exposure to climate hazards, sensitivity to infrastructure gaps, and adaptive capacities. Dhar experiences higher vulnerability due to its greater incidence of extreme weather events and food insecurity. At the same time, Chhindwara benefits from relatively better infrastructure and higher education levels, which enhance its adaptive capacity. Key determinants of vulnerability comprise inadequate housing, limited access to water, and insufficient communication infrastructure. Reducing these vulnerabilities, enhancing educational opportunities, improving infrastructure, and strengthening social safety nets are essential for building resilience in these communities.

6.5 Limitations

While carrying out this empirical assessment of livelihood vulnerability to CC and variability among tribal communities in Madhya Pradesh, several limitations have been identified. Some of the major limitations are described below.

The reliance on long-term gridded climate data from the India Meteorological Department (IMD) with spatial resolutions of 0.25° × 0.25° for rainfall and 1° × 1° for temperature is one of the major limitations of this study. Although these datasets offer comprehensive temporal insights (1951–2023), their spatial resolution may not capture localized microclimates or extreme weather events, especially in regions with diverse topographies, scarce meteorological stations, or local weather patterns. It can limit the study's ability to correctly represent climate variability at a small scale, which is essential for understanding climate impacts at the community level.

- The district-level CC vulnerability assessment primarily emphasizes historical data, such as Environmental factors from the Forest Survey of India 2021, the State Disaster Management Plan Madhya Pradesh, FIRMS, MODIS, and socioeconomic data from the Census 2011, which could potentially result in the omission of emerging vulnerabilities. It is important to note that these sources may have certain limitations regarding accuracy and timeliness. These data may not show current conditions or the changing nature of vulnerability due to the rapid socioeconomic changes in Madhya Pradesh, especially in rural and tribal areas. Changes in infrastructure, economic development, and population dynamics, which could directly influence vulnerability, might not be captured by old data.
- District-level assessments may not effectively capture localized variations, and selecting indicators and their respective weightings can be subjective. Factors beyond environmental and socioeconomic factors, such as governance and infrastructure, are not comprehensively considered.
- Furthermore, the socio-demographic data collected from respondents can't cover all aspects of experiences, which could lead to biases in understanding the broader impacts on these communities. The emphasis on rainfall and temperature data does not explain other essential climatic factors, such as humidity and hailstorms, that can significantly influence the livelihoods of tribal communities in these regions.
- This study focuses on tribal communities in particular regions, which only applies to the same regions. It can't be generalized to other communities or regions.
- Lastly, the study employs robust statistical methods, including the Mann-Kendall test, the Pettitt test, and innovative trend analysis for

climate data analysis. Still, it didn't use future projections and their impacts on livelihood.

As discussed here, these limitations call for the scope of future research to enhance climate resilience in vulnerable regions like Madhya Pradesh.

6.6 Scope for Future Research

Future research focused on livelihood vulnerability to CC and variability in Madhya Pradesh can build upon the findings of this study by highlighting existing limitations and exploring possibilities to improve understanding.

- Enhancing spatial and temporal resolution in climate data is necessary to provide a more accurate representation of climate impacts at the community level and improve the accuracy of vulnerability assessments. Furthermore, incorporating real-time data from weather stations could make climate information more reliable and timelier.
- Future research should include up-to-date socioeconomic data, which will provide a more holistic view of vulnerability and better predict how CC impacts may unfold.
- Exploring advanced methodologies for vulnerability assessment, such as Bayesian networks, machine learning algorithms, or system dynamics modelling, could allow for a more comprehensive understanding of the factors influencing vulnerability.
- A more sector-specific approach to vulnerability could be beneficial, focusing on areas like agriculture, water resources, health, and infrastructure. Interdisciplinary research involving climatologists, ecologists, social scientists, and policymakers would further enhance findings and provide valuable insights for adaptation and policy development.
- An essential future direction is to include Indigenous Knowledge
 Systems (IKS) in climate vulnerability studies. Understanding

traditional ecological knowledge, early warning practices, and community-based coping mechanisms will improve the scientific narrative and support more culturally grounded adaptation planning.

- Gender-specific climate vulnerability analysis, particularly among tribal women, is another important research scope. Future studies should explore how gender roles, access to resources, and adaptive capacities differ between male and female members of tribal communities to develop more inclusive adaptation strategies.
- Another essential scope for future research is to increase understanding of the relationship between local knowledge, climate perceptions, and livelihood strategies. Future studies can advance a more holistic view of how tribal communities perceive CC and adapt their livelihood strategies by employing qualitative methods such as in-depth interviews, participatory rural appraisals, or focus group discussions.
- Conducting cross-regional and comparative studies with other regions in India or internationally could provide a broader understanding of collective vulnerabilities and help identify best practices for CC adaptation.

6.7 Policy Recommendations

Understanding the connection between CC effects and tribal communities is necessary for developing future approaches to enhance resilience and reduce vulnerability. Based on the findings of this study, the policy recommendations outlined to address CC impacts in Madhya Pradesh focus on tribal communities (Fig 6.1), as described below:

Integrating adaptive agricultural practices, such as climate-resilient crops, irrigation efficiency, and agroforestry, along with implementing policies like the National Mission for Sustainable Agriculture, the Farmers' Produce Trade and Commerce (Promotion and Facilitation) Bill, 2020, the Farmers (Empowerment and Protection) Agreement of Price Assurance and Farm Services Bill, 2020, and the Essential Commodities (Amendment) Bill, 2020, is crucial for building resilience and reducing vulnerability to climate change.



Fig. 6.1: Recommendations for future research and policy development

Increasing climate vulnerability poses a high threat to their health. However, these poor people rely heavily on local medical practices that are highly accessible and cheap. Therefore, schemes that improve healthcare facilities in these areas are necessary to reduce climate-induced health risks such as heat stress and water-borne diseases. Expanding healthcare infrastructure through primary health centres (PHCs), integrating mobile health units, and awareness campaigns on hygiene and climate-related health impacts are essential to protect vulnerable populations (Saxena & Joshi, 2024).

- Moreover, diversifying livelihoods through skill development programs in sectors such as handicrafts, small enterprises, and ecotourism can reduce dependency on agriculture and forest resources, enhancing economic stability. Livelihood diversification and the provision of employment opportunities through policy measures have the potential to alleviate vulnerability. Enhancing programmes such as the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA) and skill development initiatives will enhance employment opportunities (George et al., 2023).
- For socioeconomic development, augmenting access to essential services like potable water, sanitation facilities, reliable electricity, and clean energy is important for reducing climate vulnerability and improving human development indicators (du Plessis, 2023) (Arana, 2016). Improving the Targeted Public Distribution System and expanding educational and healthcare infrastructure can contribute to adaptive capacity (George et al., 2023).
- Effective early warning systems that provide timely weather predictions can improve preparation for severe weather incidents (Pulwarty & Sivakumar, 2014). This strategy is essential to the perceptions of increased frequency and intensity of climate hazards among the tribal communities.
- Cross-sectoral collaboration among government agencies, civil society organizations, and local communities is essential for implementing holistic strategies. Fostering partnerships between policymakers, researchers, and development practitioners as well as community people will ensure that climate adaptation solutions are region-specific, socially inclusive, and ecologically sustainable (Mallick et al., 2024).

These suggestions aim to create a resilient and adaptable framework that augments the capacity of tribal communities to cope with the challenges posed by CC while contributing to broader sustainable development goals, including SDG-13 on climate action.

References

- Abbass, K., Qasim, M. Z., Song, H., Murshed, M., Mahmood, H., & Younis, I. (2022). A review of the global climate change impacts, adaptation, and sustainable mitigation measures. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(28), 42539–42559. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-19718-6
- Abdullah, A., & Khan, S. M. (2023). Traditional ecological knowledge sustains due to poverty and lack of choices rather than thinking about the environment. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, 19(1), 65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13002-023-00640-1
- Abson, D. J., Dougill, A. J., & Stringer, L. C. (2012). Using Principal Component Analysis for information-rich socio-ecological vulnerability mapping in Southern Africa. *Applied Geography*, 35(1–2), 515–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2012.08.004
- Ahmad, F., Uddin, M., & Goparaju, L. (2018). Evaluation of long term forest fires in India with respect to state administrative boundary, forest category of LULC and future climate change scenario: A Geospatial Perspective. *Forest Research Papers*, 79(4), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.2478/frp-2018-0034
- Ahmad, M., Kumari, M., Kumar, N., Goswami, G., Shahfahad, & Asgher, M. S. (2023). Assessing livelihood vulnerability to climate variability in the Himalayan region: a district-level analysis of Jammu Province, India. *GeoJournal*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-023-10829-2
- Ahmadi, F., Nazeri Tahroudi, M., Mirabbasi, R., Khalili, K., & Jhajharia, D. (2018). Spatiotemporal trend and abrupt change analysis of temperature in Iran. *Meteorological Applications*, 25(2), 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1002/met.1694
- Ahmed, M. N. Q., & Atiqul Haq, S. Md. (2019). Indigenous people's perceptions about climate change, forest resource management, and coping strategies: a comparative study in Bangladesh. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 21(2), 679–708. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-017-0055-1
- Ahmed, M. N. Q., Chowdhury, M. T. A., Ahmed, K. J., & Haq, S. M. A. (2022). Indigenous Peoples' Views on Climate Change and Their Experiences, Coping and Adaptation Strategies in South Asia: A Review (pp. 285–301). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-12326-9 17
- Aich, A., Dey, D., & Roy, A. (2022). Climate change resilient agricultural practices: A learning experience from indigenous communities over India. *PLOS Sustainability* and Transformation, 1(7), e0000022. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pstr.0000022
- Ajibade, I., & McBean, G. (2014). Climate extremes and housing rights: A political ecology of impacts, early warning and adaptation constraints in Lagos slum communities. *Geoforum*, 55, 76–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2014.05.005
- Amoak, D., Luginaah, I., & McBean, G. (2022). Climate Change, Food Security, and Health: Harnessing Agroecology to Build Climate-Resilient Communities. Sustainability, 14(21), 13954. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142113954
- Anand, J., Radhakrishnan, K., Sharma, N., Hasan, N., Mathew, B., & Upadhyay, A. (2019). Determinants of vulnerable group of Madhya Pradesh developing climate change strategies for Sustainable Agriculture practices: Discrete Analysis using Logit Model. J. Inno. Agri, 6(2), 1–13.
- Andrachuk, M., & Smit, B. (2012). Community-based vulnerability assessment of Tuktoyaktuk, NWT, Canada to environmental and socio-economic changes.

Regional Environmental Change, 12(4), 867–885. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-012-0299-0

- Anjali, J., & Aditi, J. (2013). Inter-linkages of environment and socio-economic development of Madhya Pradesh, India. J. Environ. Res. Develop, 7(3), 1282–1293.
- Anser, M. K., Yousaf, S. U., Usman, B., Azam, K., Bandar, N. F. A., Jambari, H., Sriyanto, S., & Zaman, K. (2023). Beyond climate change: Examining the role of environmental justice, agricultural mechanization, and social expenditures in alleviating rural poverty. *Sustainable Futures*, 6, 100130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sftr.2023.100130
- Arana, V. (2016). Water Supply, Sanitation, Energy, and Industrial Constraints. In Water and Territory in Latin America (pp. 59–87). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-30343-7 4
- Aryal, S., Maraseni, T., & Cockfield, G. (2014). Climate Change and Indigenous People: Perceptions of Transhumant Herders and Implications to the Transhumance System in the Himalayas. *Journal of Geology & Geosciences*, 03(04). https://doi.org/10.4172/2329-6755.1000162
- Asamoah, O., Danquah, J. A., Bamwesigye, D., Appiah, M., & Pappinen, A. (2024). Assessing the Influence of Social Factors on Local Perceptions of Climate Change, Product Value Addition, Multiple Uses of NTFPs, and Their Influence on Poverty Alleviation in Ghana. *Forests*, 15(2), 248. https://doi.org/10.3390/f15020248
- Ashrafuzzaman, M., Gomes, C., & Guerra, J. (2023). The Changing Climate Is Changing Safe Drinking Water, Impacting Health: A Case in the Southwestern Coastal Region of Bangladesh (SWCRB). *Climate*, 11(7), 146. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli11070146
- Atta, K., Shah, M. H., Kundu, S., Ajaharuddin, Sk. Md., Mondal, S., Pal, A., Hossain, A., Pramanik, K., Hembram, A., Ali, Md. S., & Pande, C. B. (2023). *Potential Impacts* of Climate Change on the Sustainability of Crop Production: A Case in India (pp. 265–295). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-42056-6 12
- Azhar, G., Saha, S., Ganguly, P., Mavalankar, D., & Madrigano, J. (2017). Heat Wave Vulnerability Mapping for India. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 14(4), 357. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14040357
- Azhar, M. F., Qadir, I., Shehzad, M. M., & Jamil, A. (2022). Changing Climate Impacts on Forest Resources. In *Building Climate Resilience in Agriculture* (pp. 111–130). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-79408-8_8
- Badmos, B. (2018). Gender Variation on the Perception of Climate Change Impact on Human Health in Moba Local Government Area of Ekiti State, Nigeria. Journal of Health and Environmental Research, 4(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jher.20180401.11
- Baffoe, G., & Matsuda, H. (2018). An Empirical Assessment of Households Livelihood Vulnerability: The Case of Rural Ghana. Social Indicators Research, 140(3), 1225– 1257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1796-9
- Bahinipati, C. S. (2014). Assessment of vulnerability to cyclones and floods in Odisha, India: a district-level analysis. *Current Science*, 17(12), 1997–2007.
- Balica, S. F., Wright, N. G., & van der Meulen, F. (2012). A flood vulnerability index for coastal cities and its use in assessing climate change impacts. *Natural Hazards*, 64(1), 73–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-012-0234-1
- Balica, S., & Wright, N. G. (2010). Reducing the complexity of the flood vulnerability index. *Environmental Hazards*, 9(4), 321–339.

- Balkrishna, A., Sharma, N., & Arya, V. (2024). Navigating the Aquatic Challenges: Tribal Communities in India's Quest for Sustainable Solutions. *Current Social Sciences*, 02. https://doi.org/10.2174/012772316X301083240902055241
- Banerjee, A., Chen, R., E. Meadows, M., Singh, R. B., Mal, S., & Sengupta, D. (2020). An Analysis of Long-Term Rainfall Trends and Variability in the Uttarakhand Himalaya Using Google Earth Engine. *Remote Sensing*, 12(4), 709. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12040709
- Bansal, S., Sarker, T., Yadav, A., Garg, I., Gupta, M., & Sarvaiya, H. (2024). Indigenous communities and sustainable development: A review and research agenda. *Global Business and Organizational Excellence*, 43(4), 65–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.22237
- Barla, M. (2016). IMPACTS ON CLIMATE CHANGE ON TRIBAL ECONOMY: A STUDY OF JHARKHAND STATE OF INDIA. Conference Proceedings of International Conference on Poverty and Sustainable Development, 25–35. https://doi.org/10.17501/icpsd.2016.3103
- Barron, J., Skyllerstedt, S., Giordano, M., & Adimassu, Z. (2021). Building Climate Resilience in Rainfed Landscapes Needs More Than Good Will. *Frontiers in Climate*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2021.735880
- Baulch, A. L. ,. (2024). Ancient Wisdom, Modern Prosperity: Harnessing Traditional Ecological Knowledge to Revitalize Australia's Economy, Environment, and Human Wellbeing [Student Theses 2015-Present]. Fordham University.
- Behera, H. C., Sinha, A. A., Sahoo, A. K., & Jha, G. (2022). Participatory Livelihood Vulnerability Assessment of the Forest Dwellers: A Study of Fifteen Tribes and Particularly Vulnerable Tribal Groups in the Eastern Indian Region. *Journal of Asian* and African Studies, 002190962211170. https://doi.org/10.1177/00219096221117074
- Belay, D., & Fekadu, G. (2021). Influence of social capital in adopting climate change adaptation strategies: empirical evidence from rural areas of Ambo district in Ethiopia. *Climate and Development*, 13(10), 857–868. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2020.1862741
- Bele, M. Y., Sonwa, D. J., & Tiani, A. M. (2014). Local Communities Vulnerability to Climate Change and Adaptation Strategies in Bukavu in DR Congo. *The Journal of Environment* & *Development*, 23(3), 331–357. https://doi.org/10.1177/1070496514536395
- Benderskaya, E. N. (2017). Cluster analysis problems and bio-inspired clustering methods. 2017 XX IEEE International Conference on Soft Computing and Measurements (SCM), 162–164. https://doi.org/10.1109/SCM.2017.7970526
- Berg, P., Haerter, J. O., Thejll, P., Piani, C., Hagemann, S., & Christensen, J. H. (2009). Seasonal characteristics of the relationship between daily precipitation intensity and surface temperature. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 114(D18). https://doi.org/10.1029/2009JD012008
- Berkhout, F. (2012). Adaptation to climate change by organizations. *WIREs Climate Change*, 3(1), 91–106. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.154
- Berrang-Ford, L., Pearce, T., & Ford, J. D. (2015). Systematic review approaches for climate change adaptation research. *Regional Environmental Change*, 15(5), 755– 769. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-014-0708-7
- Bharath, A., Maddamsetty, R., Manjunatha, M., & Reshma, T. V. (2023). Spatiotemporal Rainfall Variability and Trend Analysis of Shimsha River Basin, India.

Environmental Science and Pollution Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-023-25720-3

- Bharti, V., Singh, C., Ettema, J., & Turkington, T. A. R. (2016). Spatiotemporal characteristics of extreme rainfall events over the Northwest Himalaya using satellite data. *International Journal of Climatology*, 36(12), 3949–3962. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4605
- Bhatt, H., Pant Jugran, H., & Pandey, R. (2024). Cultural ecosystem services nexus with Socio-Cultural attributes and traditional ecological knowledge for managing community forests of indian western Himalaya. *Ecological Indicators*, 166, 112379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2024.112379
- Bhunia, P., Das, P., & Maiti, R. (2020). Meteorological Drought Study Through SPI in Three Drought Prone Districts of West Bengal, India. *Earth Systems and Environment*, 4(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41748-019-00137-6
- Birkmann, J., Cardona, O. D., Carreño, M. L., Barbat, A. H., Pelling, M., Schneiderbauer, S., Kienberger, S., Keiler, M., Alexander, D., Zeil, P., & Welle, T. (2013). Framing vulnerability, risk and societal responses: the MOVE framework. *Natural Hazards*, 67(2), 193–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-013-0558-5
- Birkmann, J., Jamshed, A., McMillan, J. M., Feldmeyer, D., Totin, E., Solecki, W., Ibrahim,
 Z. Z., Roberts, D., Kerr, R. B., Poertner, H.-O., Pelling, M., Djalante, R., Garschagen,
 M., Leal Filho, W., Guha-Sapir, D., & Alegría, A. (2022). Understanding human
 vulnerability to climate change: A global perspective on index validation for
 adaptation planning. *Science of The Total Environment*, 803, 150065.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150065
- Birkmann, J., Liwenga, E., Pandey, R., Boyd, E., Djalante, R., Gemenne, F., Leal Filho, W., Pinho, P. F., Stringer, L., & Wrathall, D. (2022). Poverty, Livelihoods and Sustainable Development. In: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (D. C. R. M. T. E. S. P. K. M. A. A. M. C. S. L. S. L. V. M. A. O. B. R. H.-O. Pörtner, Ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844.010
- Birkmann, J., & von Teichman, K. (2010). Integrating disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation: key challenges—scales, knowledge, and norms. *Sustainability Science*, 5(2), 171–184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-010-0108-y
- Birsan, M.-V., Molnar, P., Burlando, P., & Pfaundler, M. (2005). Streamflow trends in Switzerland. *Journal of Hydrology*, *314*(1–4), 312–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.06.008
- Birthal, P. S., & Hazrana, J. (2019). Crop diversification and resilience of agriculture to climatic shocks: Evidence from India. *Agricultural Systems*, 173, 345–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2019.03.005
- Blasiak, R., Spijkers, J., Tokunaga, K., Pittman, J., Yagi, N., & Österblom, H. (2017). Climate change and marine fisheries: Least developed countries top global index of vulnerability. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(6), e0179632. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179632
- Bohle, H. G., Downing, T. E., & Watts, M. J. (1994). Climate change and social vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change*, 4(1), 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-3780(94)90020-5
- Boillat, S., & Berkes, F. (2013). Perception and Interpretation of Climate Change among Quechua Farmers of Bolivia: Indigenous Knowledge as a Resource for Adaptive Capacity. *Ecology and Society*, 18(4), art21. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-05894-180421

- Bora, D., & Mahanta, A. (2024). Rural Livelihood Diversification Among Tribal Communities of North-Eastern Region of India: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Asian* and *African* Studies, 59(3), 842–857. https://doi.org/10.1177/00219096221123747
- Borden, K. A., Schmidtlein, M. C., Emrich, C. T., Piegorsch, W. W., & Cutter, S. L. (2007). Vulnerability of U.S. Cities to Environmental Hazards. *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management*, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.2202/1547-7355.1279
- Brechin, S. R., & Bhandari, M. (2011). Perceptions of climate change worldwide. *WIREs Climate Change*, 2(6), 871–885. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.146
- Brugnach, M., Craps, M., & Dewulf, A. (2017). Including indigenous peoples in climate change mitigation: addressing issues of scale, knowledge and power. *Climatic Change*, 140(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-014-1280-3
- Camargo, R. Z., Lima, M. C., & Torini, D. M. (2019). Education, Media and Internet: challenges and possibilities based on the concept of digital literacy. *Revista Brasileira de Psicodrama*, 27(1), 106–116. https://doi.org/10.15329/2318-0498.20190011
- Capstick, S., Whitmarsh, L., Poortinga, W., Pidgeon, N., & Upham, P. (2015). International trends in public perceptions of climate change over the past quarter century. *WIREs Climate Change*, 6(1), 35–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.321
- Cardona, O.-D., van Aalst, M. K., Birkmann, J., Fordham, M., McGregor, G., Perez, R., Pulwarty, R. S., Schipper, E. L. F., Sinh, B. T., Décamps, H., Keim, M., Davis, I., Ebi, K. L., Lavell, A., Mechler, R., Murray, V., Pelling, M., Pohl, J., Smith, A.-O., & Thomalla, F. (2012). Determinants of Risk: Exposure and Vulnerability. In *Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation* (pp. 65–108). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139177245.005
- Carmen, E., Fazey, I., Ross, H., Bedinger, M., Smith, F. M., Prager, K., McClymont, K., & Morrison, D. (2022). Building community resilience in a context of climate change: The role of social capital. *Ambio*, 51(6), 1371–1387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-021-01678-9
- Carrin, M. (2024). Indigenous Knowledge and Sustainability. *The Oriental Anthropologist: A Bi-Annual International Journal of the Science of Man*, 24(1), 13–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972558X241227859
- Census. (2011). Census of India 2011-Provisional Population Totals. Government of India.
- Chakraborty, A., & Joshi, P. K. (2016). Mapping disaster vulnerability in India using analytical hierarchy process. *Geomatics, Natural Hazards and Risk*, 7(1), 308–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/19475705.2014.897656
- Chandniha, S. K., Meshram, S. G., Adamowski, J. F., & Meshram, C. (2017). Trend analysis of precipitation in Jharkhand State, India: Investigating precipitation variability in Jharkhand State. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 130(1–2), 261– 274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-016-1875-x
- Chandole, V., & Joshi, G. S. (2023). Case study of rainfall and temperature assessment through trend and homogeneity analyses in Vadodara and Chhotaudepur district of Gujarat State, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 195(5), 561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-023-11089-w
- Chandra, G., & Mukherjee, D. (2022). Effect of climate change on mosquito population and changing pattern of some diseases transmitted by them. In Advances in Animal Experimentation and Modeling (pp. 455–460). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-90583-1.00030-1

- Charnley, S., Fischer, A. P., & Jones, E. T. (2007). Integrating traditional and local ecological knowledge into forest biodiversity conservation in the Pacific Northwest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 246(1), 14–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.03.047
- Chaudhary, S., Adhikari, B. R., Chaudhary, P., Dorji, T., & Poudel, R. (2021). Ecosystem-Based Adaptation (EbA) in the Hindu Kush Himalaya: Status, Progress and Challenges (pp. 29–51). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-4815-1_2
- Chen, C., Rylee, R., & Fan, C. C. (2023). Living together or apart? International migrants and family coresidence in Yiwu, China. *Eurasian Geography and Economics*, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/15387216.2023.2282701
- Chiweshe, M. K. (2023). Indigenous Water Governance Systems in a Post-colonial State: Insights from Zimbabwe. In *Indigenous and Local Water Knowledge, Values and Practices* (pp. 161–173). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-9406-7 10
- Chong, J. (2014). Ecosystem-based approaches to climate change adaptation: progress and challenges. *International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics*, 14(4), 391–405. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10784-014-9242-9
- Chothodi, S., Patidar, H., Parmar, K., & Mishra, R. (2022). ENVIRONMENT AND HUMAN WELL-BEING: REVISITING LINKAGES AND MAJOR ISSUES. *The Indian Geographical Journal*, 97(1), 1–16.
- Cong, P., Huu Manh, D., Anh Huy, H., Thi Ly Phuong, T., & Thi Tuyen, L. (2016). Livelihood Vulnerability Assessment to Climate Change at Community Level Using Household Survey: A Case Study from Nam Dinh Province, Vietnam. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2016.v7n3s1p358
- Cozzetto, K., Chief, K., Dittmer, K., Brubaker, M., Gough, R., Souza, K., Ettawageshik, F., Wotkyns, S., Opitz-Stapleton, S., Duren, S., & Chavan, P. (2013). Climate change impacts on the water resources of American Indians and Alaska Natives in the U.S. In *Climate Change and Indigenous Peoples in the United States* (pp. 61–76). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05266-3_6
- Craig, R. K. (2022). Climate adaptation law and policy in the United States. Frontiers in Marine Science, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.1059734
- Crane, T. A., Delaney, A., Tamás, P. A., Chesterman, S., & Ericksen, P. (2017). A systematic review of local vulnerability to climate change in developing country agriculture. *WIREs Climate Change*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.464
- Cutter, S. L., Boruff, B. J., & Shirley, W. L. (2012). Social vulnerability to environmental hazards. In *In Hazards vulnerability and environmental justice* (pp. 143–160). Routledge.
- Daniel Tang, K. H. (2022). Climate Change Policies of the Four Largest Global Emitters of Greenhouse Gases: Their Similarities, Differences and Way Forward. *Journal of Energy Research and Reviews*, 19–35. https://doi.org/10.9734/jenrr/2022/v10i230251
- Daramola, M. T., & Xu, M. (2022). Recent changes in global dryland temperature and precipitation. *International Journal of Climatology*, 42(2), 1267–1282. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.7301
- Das, A. (2013). "Mapping the regional variation in potential vulnerability in Indian Agriculture to climate change"-An exercise through constructing vulnerability index. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 7(4), 112–121. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJEST10.288

- Das, M., Das, A., Momin, S., & Pandey, R. (2020). Mapping the effect of climate change on community livelihood vulnerability in the riparian region of Gangatic Plain, India. *Ecological Indicators*, 119, 106815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106815
- Das, S. (2024). Harmonizing tradition and climate resilience: traditional food practices for food security in the Himalayas. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-024-05038-x
- Das, S. K., & Basu, J. P. (2022). Tribal livelihood vulnerability due to climate change: a study across tribes of Paschim Medinipur district of West Bengal. SN Business & Economics, 2(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s43546-022-00277-4
- Datta, R., & Kairy, B. (2024). Decolonizing Climate Change Adaptations from Indigenous Perspectives: Learning Reflections from Munda Indigenous Communities, Coastal Areas in Bangladesh. Sustainability, 16(2), 769. https://doi.org/10.3390/su16020769
- Deb, P., & Mukherjee, R. (2022). Household Vulnerability of Tribal People to Climate Change in the Part of Dooars Region, West Bengal, India (pp. 385–408). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-5681-1_15
- Demissie, B. S., & Kasie, T. A. (2017). Rural Households' Vulnerability to Poverty in Ethiopia. *Journal of Poverty*, 21(6), 528–542. https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2017.1348425
- Deressa, T. T., Hassan, R. M., Ringler, C., Alemu, T., & Yesuf, M. (2009). Determinants of farmers' choice of adaptation methods to climate change in the Nile Basin of Ethiopia. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(2), 248–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2009.01.002
- Deribew, A., Birhanu, Z., Sena, L., Dejene, T., Reda, A. A., Sudhakar, M., Alemseged, F., Tessema, F., Zeynudin, A., Biadgilign, S., & Deribe, K. (2012). The effect of household heads training on long-lasting insecticide-treated bed nets utilization: a cluster randomized controlled trial in Ethiopia. *Malaria Journal*, 11(1), 99. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-11-99
- Devi, R. M., Patasaraiya, M. K., Sinha, B., Bisaria, J., & Dimri, A. P. (2020). Analyzing precipitation and temperature trends of Kanha and Satpura Tiger Reserve, Central India. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 140(3–4), 1435–1450. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-020-03134-2
- Devkota, R. P., Bajracharya, B., Maraseni, T. N., Cockfield, G., & Upadhyay, B. P. (2011). The perception of Nepal's Tharu community in regard to climate change and its impacts on their livelihoods. *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, 68(6), 937–946. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207233.2011.587282
- Dhorde, A. G., & Zarenistanak, M. (2013). Three-way approach to test data homogeneity: An analysis of temperature and precipitation series over southwestern Islamic Republic of Iran. J. Ind. Geophys. Union, 17(3), 233–242.
- Diffenbaugh, N. S. (2020). Verification of extreme event attribution: Using out-of-sample observations to assess changes in probabilities of unprecedented events. *Science Advances*, 6(12). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay2368
- Donatuto, J., Campbell, L., & Trousdale, W. (2020). The "value" of values-driven data in identifying Indigenous health and climate change priorities. *Climatic Change*, *158*(2), 161–180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02596-2
- Doorn, N. (2017). Resilience indicators: opportunities for including distributive justice concerns in disaster management. *Journal of Risk Research*, 20(6), 711–731. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2015.1100662

- du Plessis, A. (2023). Continued Decay of South Africa's Basic Water and Sanitation Infrastructure and Service Delivery (pp. 89–108). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-24019-5_5
- Dubey, A. K., Kumar, P., Saharwardi, M. S., & Javed, A. (2021). Understanding the hot season dynamics and variability across India. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, 32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2021.100317
- Duhan, D., Pandey, A., Gahalaut, K. P. S., & Pandey, R. P. (2013). Spatial and temporal variability in maximum, minimum and mean air temperatures at Madhya Pradesh in central India. *Comptes Rendus - Geoscience*, 345(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crte.2012.10.016
- Eakin, H., & Bojórquez-Tapia, L. A. (2008). Insights into the composition of household vulnerability from multicriteria decision analysis. *Global Environmental Change*, 18(1), 112–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2007.09.001
- Eakin, H., & Luers, A. L. (2006). Assessing the Vulnerability of Social-Environmental Systems. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 31(1), 365–394. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.30.050504.144352
- Fan, Y., Shi, X., Li, X., & Feng, X. (2022). Livelihood resilience of vulnerable groups in the face of climate change: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environmental Development*, 44, 100777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2022.100777
- FAO. (2012). Global forest resources assessment. Progress towards Sustainable Forest Management. .
- Felipe Pérez, B., & Tomaselli, A. (2021). Indigenous Peoples and climate-induced relocation in Latin America and the Caribbean: managed retreat as a tool or a threat? *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*, 11(3), 352–364. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-021-00693-2
- Feng, Y., Chen, H., & Zheng, X. (2022). Component analysis of ancient glass products based on hierarchical analysis clustering algorithm. *Highlights in Science*, *Engineering and Technology*, 21, 180–185. https://doi.org/10.54097/hset.v21i.3155
- Fernandez, P., Mourato, S., Moreira, M., & Pereira, L. (2016). A new approach for computing a flood vulnerability index using cluster analysis. *Physics and Chemistry* of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 94, 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2016.04.003
- Filho, W. L., Balogun, A.-L., Olayide, O. E., Azeiteiro, U. M., Ayal, D. Y., Muñoz, P. D. C., Nagy, G. J., Bynoe, P., Oguge, O., Yannick Toamukum, N., Saroar, M., & Li, C. (2019). Assessing the impacts of climate change in cities and their adaptive capacity: Towards transformative approaches to climate change adaptation and poverty reduction in urban areas in a set of developing countries. *Science of The Total Environment*, 692, 1175–1190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.227
- Fischer, H. W. (2021). Decentralization and the governance of climate adaptation: Situating community-based planning within broader trajectories of political transformation. *World Development*, 140, 105335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105335
- Friedl, M. A., Sulla-Menashe, D., Tan, B., Schneider, A., Ramankutty, N., Sibley, A., & Huang, X. (2010). MODIS Collection 5 global land cover: Algorithm refinements and characterization of new datasets. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 114(1), 168– 182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2009.08.016
- Gautam, M. R., Chief, K., & Smith, W. J. (2013). Climate change in arid lands and Native American socioeconomic vulnerability: The case of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe. In *Climate Change and Indigenous Peoples in the United States* (pp. 77–91). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05266-3 7

- Gbetibouo, G. A., Ringler, C., & Hassan, R. (2010). Vulnerability of the South African farming sector to climate change and variability: An indicator approach. *Natural Resources Forum*, 34(3), 175–187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-8947.2010.01302.x
- Ge, Y., Dou, W., Wang, X., Chen, Y., & Zhang, Z. (2021). Identifying urban–rural differences in social vulnerability to natural hazards: a case study of China. *Natural Hazards*, 108(3), 2629–2651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-021-04792-9
- George, A., & Sharma, P. (2022). Socioeconomic and infrastructural vulnerability of Indian population: a district level study. *GeoJournal*, 88(2), 1841–1871. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-022-10712-6
- George, A., Sharma, P., & Pradhan, K. C. (2023). Spatiotemporal Pattern of Vulnerability to Climate Change in Madhya Pradesh, India. *Applied Spatial Analysis and Policy*, 17(1), 55–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12061-023-09535-w
- Getahun, Y. S., Li, M.-H., & Pun, I.-F. (2021). Trend and change-point detection analyses of rainfall and temperature over the Awash River basin of Ethiopia. *Heliyon*, 7(9), e08024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08024
- Ghosh, M., & Ghosal, S. (2020). Determinants of household livelihood vulnerabilities to climate change in the himalayan foothills of West Bengal, India. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 50, 101706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101706
- Ghosh, M., & Ghosal, S. (2021). Climate change vulnerability of rural households in floodprone areas of Himalayan foothills, West Bengal, India. *Environment, Development* and Sustainability, 23(2), 2570–2595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-020-00687-0
- Ghosh-Jerath, S., Kapoor, R., Ghosh, U., Singh, A., Downs, S., & Fanzo, J. (2021). Pathways of Climate Change Impact on Agroforestry, Food Consumption Pattern, and Dietary Diversity Among Indigenous Subsistence Farmers of Sauria Paharia Tribal Community of India: A Mixed Methods Study. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.667297
- Giglio, L., Schroeder, W., & Justice, C. O. (2016). The collection 6 MODIS active fire detection algorithm and fire products. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 178, 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.02.054
- GMPCCC. (2012). MADHYA PRADESH STATE ACTION PLAN ON CLIMATE CHANGE.
- Goswami, P., & Rajput, P. (2024). Navigating climate risk through loss and damage: implications for Bakarwal nomads in the Pir Panjal Range, India. *GeoJournal*, 89(2), 59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-024-11063-0
- Grigorieva, E., Livenets, A., & Stelmakh, E. (2023). Adaptation of Agriculture to Climate Change: A Scoping Review. *Climate*, *11*(10), 202. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli11100202
- Gupta, V., Jain, M. K., Singh, P. K., & Singh, V. (2020). An assessment of global satellitebased precipitation datasets in capturing precipitation extremes: A comparison with observed precipitation dataset in India. *International Journal of Climatology*, 40(8), 3667–3688. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6419
- Haddis, A. (2018). Innovative Rainwater Harvesting Technologies for Pastoralists in Arid and Semi-arid Areas: A Case Study in Oromiya Region, Ethiopia. In *Rainwater-Smart Agriculture in Arid and Semi-Arid Areas* (pp. 281–301). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-66239-8_15
- Hahn, M. B., Riederer, A. M., & Foster, S. O. (2009). The Livelihood Vulnerability Index: A pragmatic approach to assessing risks from climate variability and change—A case

study in Mozambique. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(1), 74–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.11.002

- Haji, L., Valizadeh, N., & Hayati, D. (2020). The role of local communities in sustainable land and forest management. In *In Spatial Modeling in Forest Resources Management: Rural Livelihood and Sustainable Development* (pp. 473–503). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Hamilton, C. W., Smithwick, E. A. H., Spellman, K. V., Baltensperger, A. P., Spellman, B. T., & Chi, G. (2024). Predicting the suitable habitat distribution of berry plants under climate change. *Landscape Ecology*, 39(2), 18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-024-01839-7
- Ha-Mim, N. M., Hossain, Md. Z., Rahaman, K. R., & Mallick, B. (2020). Exploring Vulnerability–Resilience–Livelihood Nexus in the Face of Climate Change: A Multi-Criteria Analysis for Mongla, Bangladesh. Sustainability, 12(17), 7054. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12177054
- Haq, S. M. A., & Ahmed, K. J. (2020). Perceptions about climate change among university students in Bangladesh. *Natural Hazards*, 103(3), 3683–3713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-020-04151-0
- Hariwal, M., Verma, S., Shah, P., Patel, P., & Kumar, S. (2024). Some Potential Traditional Ethnomedicinal Plants Among the Tribals of India. In *Ethnomedicinal Plants for Drug Discovery* (pp. 27–53). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-97-3405-4 2
- Harsh, K., Kumar, G., Kumari, P., Kundu, M., Choudhury, S. R., Rakshit, R., Moulick, D., & Das, A. (2024). The altered crop pattern and livelihoods in changing climate. In *Waste Management for Sustainable and Restored Agricultural Soil* (pp. 345–369). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-443-18486-4.00018-X
- Hasan, M. K., & Kumar, L. (2020). Perceived farm-level climatic impacts on coastal agricultural productivity in Bangladesh. *Climatic Change*, *161*(4), 617–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02708-3
- Hasan, Z., & Akhter, S. (2011). Determinants of public awareness and attitudes on climate change in urban Bangladesh: Dhaka as a case. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 21, 154–162.
- Hazarika, A., Nath, A. J., Pandey, R., Pebam, R., Devi, N. B., & Das, A. K. (2024). Climate change vulnerability of tribe managing Piper agroforestry systems in the Indian sub-Himalayan region. *Agricultural Systems*, 216, 103914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2024.103914
- Herbut, P., Angrecka, S., & Walczak, J. (2018). Environmental parameters to assessing of heat stress in dairy cattle—a review. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 62(12), 2089–2097. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-018-1629-9
- Hezron, E., Ngondya, I. B., & Munishi, L. K. (2024). Sustaining indigenous Maasai Alalili silvo-pastoral conservation systems for improved community livelihood and biodiversity conservation in East African rangelands. *PLOS ONE*, 19(5), e0303649. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0303649
- Holling, C. S. (2003). The backloopto sustainability. In *In Navigating Social-Ecological Systems: Building Resilience for Complexity and Change: Vols. XV–XXI*. Cambridge University Press.
- Howard, M., Ahmed, S., Lachapelle, P., & Schure, M. B. (2020). Farmer and rancher perceptions of climate change and their relationships with mental health. *Journal of Rural Mental Health*, 44(2), 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1037/rmh0000131

- Huda, Md. N. (2013). Understanding indigenous people's perception on climate change and climatic hazards: a case study of Chakma indigenous communities in Rangamati Sadar Upazila of Rangamati District, Bangladesh. *Natural Hazards*, 65(3), 2147– 2159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-012-0467-z
- Huggi, L., Thimmegowda, M. N., Sridhara, S., Manjunatha, M. H., & Das, B. (2024). Climate Change-Induced Spatiotemporal Monsoon Variability: Assessment of Its Implications on Global and Regional Production Systems (pp. 713–758). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-7935-6 26
- Huong, N. T. L., Yao, S., & Fahad, S. (2019). Assessing household livelihood vulnerability to climate change: The case of Northwest Vietnam. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal*, 25(5), 1157–1175. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2018.1460801
- Hussain, S., Huang, J., Huang, J., Ahmad, S., Nanda, S., Anwar, S., Shakoor, A., Zhu, C., Zhu, L., Cao, X., Jin, Q., & Zhang, J. (2020). Rice Production Under Climate Change: Adaptations and Mitigating Strategies. In *Environment, Climate, Plant and Vegetation Growth* (pp. 659–686). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49732-3_26
- Inácio, M., Karnauskaitė, D., Mikša, K., Gomes, E., Kalinauskas, M., & Pereira, P. (2020). Nature-Based Solutions to Mitigate Coastal Floods and Associated Socioecological Impacts (pp. 35–58). https://doi.org/10.1007/698 2020 675
- IPCC. (2007). IPCC-AR4, 2007, climate change 2007, the scientific basis, contribution of working group-I to the fourth assessment report of intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC).
- IPCC. (2012). Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation: special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC. (2014). Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IPCC. (2021). Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis.
- IPCC-AR5. (2014). IPCC-AR5, 2014, climate change 2014, the scientific basis, contribution of working group-I to the fourth assessment report of intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC).
- Iqbal, A. B., & Ghauri, F. N. (2011). Climate Change: The Biggest Challenge in 21 st Century. In *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences* (Vol. 2, Issue 6).
- Iyengar, N. S., & Sudarshan, P. (1982). A method of classifying regions from multivariate data. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 2047-2052.
- Jaakkola, J. J. K., Juntunen, S., & Näkkäläjärvi, K. (2018). The Holistic Effects of Climate Change on the Culture, Well-Being, and Health of the Saami, the Only Indigenous People in the European Union. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 5(4), 401– 417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-018-0211-2
- Jacob, D., Kotova, L., Teichmann, C., Sobolowski, S. P., Vautard, R., Donnelly, C., Koutroulis, A. G., Grillakis, M. G., Tsanis, I. K., Damm, A., Sakalli, A., & van Vliet, M. T. H. (2018). Climate Impacts in Europe Under +1.5°C Global Warming. *Earth's Future*, 6(2), 264–285. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017EF000710
- Jain, S. K., Xu, C.-Y., & Zhou, Y. (2023). Change analysis of All India and regional rainfall data series at annual and monsoon scales. *Hydrology Research*. https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.2023.005

- Jamshed, A., Birkmann, J., Rana, I. A., & McMillan, J. M. (2020). The relevance of city size to the vulnerability of surrounding rural areas: An empirical study of flooding in Pakistan. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 48, 101601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101601
- Jannat, A., Islam, Md. M., Alamgir, Md. S., Al Rafi, D. A., & Ahmed, J. U. (2021). Impact assessment of agricultural modernization on sustainable livelihood among tribal and non-tribal farmers in Bangladesh. *GeoJournal*, 86(1), 399–415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-019-10076-4
- Jatav, S. S. (2022). Rainfall and Temperature Perception among Farmers in India: A Study of Bundelkhand Region. *Journal of Sustainability and Environmental Management*, *1*(3), 1–5.
- Jatav, S. S. (2024). Farmers' perception of climate change and livelihood vulnerability: a comparative study of Bundelkhand and Central regions of Uttar Pradesh, India. *Discover Sustainability*, 5(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43621-024-00193-7
- Jernigan, V. B. B., D'Amico, E. J., Duran, B., & Buchwald, D. (2020). Multilevel and Community-Level Interventions with Native Americans: Challenges and Opportunities. *Prevention Science*, 21(S1), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-018-0916-3
- Jha, R. K., & Gundimeda, H. (2019). An integrated assessment of vulnerability to floods using composite index – A district level analysis for Bihar, India. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 35, 101074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101074
- Jha, S. K., Jana, P., Negi, A. K., & Negi, R. S. (2018). Livelihood Vulnerability Associated with Forest Fire in Pauri-Garhwal, Western Himalaya. *The Open Ecology Journal*, 11(1), 62–74. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874213001811010062
- Jha, S. K., Mishra, S., Sinha, B., Alatalo, J. M., & Pandey, R. (2017). Rural development program in tribal region: A protocol for adaptation and addressing climate change vulnerability. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 51, 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2017.02.013
- Jha, S. K., & Negi, A. K. (2021). Socio-Ecological Vulnerability of Forest Dependent Communities to Climate Change along an Altitude Gradient in Western Himalayas. *Indian Forester*, 147(2), 106. https://doi.org/10.36808/if/2021/v147i2/154233
- Jhajharia, D., Dinpashoh, Y., Kahya, E., Choudhary, R. R., & Singh, V. P. (2014). Trends in temperature over Godavari River basin in Southern Peninsular India. *International Journal of Climatology*, 34(5), 1369–1384. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3761
- Joint Research Centre-European Commission. (2008). Handbook on constructing composite indicators: methodology and user guide. OECD publishing.
- Jones, R. (2019). Climate change and Indigenous Health Promotion. *Global Health Promotion*, 26(3_suppl), 73-81. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975919829713
- Jongaramrungruang, S., Seo, H., & Ummenhofer, C. C. (2017). Intraseasonal rainfall variability in the Bay of Bengal during the Summer Monsoon: coupling with the ocean and modulation by the Indian Ocean Dipole. *Atmospheric Science Letters*, 18(2), 88–95. https://doi.org/10.1002/asl.729
- Joshi, N. C., & Rawat, G. S. (2021). An integrated approach for the identification and prioritization of areas based on their livelihood vulnerability index: a case study of agro-pastoral community from Western Indian Himalaya. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 26(6), 27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-021-09962-5

- Kadariya, O. N. (2024). Reconstructing identities among Santhal: An anthropological perspective. *SADGAMAYA*, *l*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3126/sadgamaya.v1i1.66879
- Kahane, R., Hodgkin, T., Jaenicke, H., Hoogendoorn, C., Hermann, M., (Dyno) Keatinge, J. D. H., d'Arros Hughes, J., Padulosi, S., & Looney, N. (2013). Agrobiodiversity for food security, health and income. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 33(4), 671–693. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-013-0147-8
- Kala, C. P. (2022). Traditional Ecological Knowledge of Tribal Communities and Sustainability of Nature and Natural Resources in Pachmarhi Biosphere Reserve in India. *International Journal of Ecology*, 2022, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/5979024
- Kantamaneni, K., Rice, L., Yenneti, K., & Campos, L. C. (2020). Assessing the Vulnerability of Agriculture Systems to Climate Change in Coastal Areas: A Novel Index. Sustainability, 12(11), 4771. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12114771
- Kapur, A. (2010). *Vulnerable India: a geographical study of disasters*. SAGE Publications India, .
- Kar, S. K., Sharma, A., Kar, S., & Dey, A. (2024). Impact on Agricultural Crop Production Under Climate Change Scenario. In *Technological Approaches for Climate Smart Agriculture* (pp. 109–132). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-52708-1 6
- Karami, H., Ghazvinian, H., & Dadrasajirlou, Y. (2023). Application of statistical and geostatistical approaches in temporal and spatial estimations of rainfall. *Journal of Water* and *Climate* Change, 14(5), 1696–1722. https://doi.org/10.2166/wcc.2023.034
- Kasthala, S., Parthasarathy, D., Narayanan, K., & Inamdar, A. B. (2024). Classification and Evaluation of Current Climate Vulnerability Assessment Methods. *Social Indicators Research*, 171(2), 605–639. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-023-03271-x
- Katzenberger, A., Schewe, J., Pongratz, J., & Levermann, A. (2021). Robust increase of Indian monsoon rainfall and its variability under future warming in CMIP6 models. *Earth System Dynamics*, 12(2), 367–386. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-12-367-2021
- Kelly, P. M., & Adger, W. N. (2000). Theory and Practice in Assessing Vulnerability to Climate Change and Facilitating Adaptation. *Climatic Change*, 47(4), 325–352. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005627828199
- Kendall, M. (1975). Rank correlation techniques. Charles Griffen.
- Khan, M., & Thakur, V. (2023). Being Bhil: The politics of becoming indigenous in India and Pakistan. *History and Anthropology*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757206.2023.2261960
- Khan, N., Fahad, S., Naushad, M., & Faisal, S. (2020). Analysis of Livelihood in the World and Its Impact on World Economy. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3717265
- Khanal, P., Wagle, B. H., Upadhaya, S., Ghimire, P., & Acharya, S. (2019). Perceived Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation Strategy of Indigenous Community (Chepangs) in Rural Mid-hills of Nepal. *Forestry: Journal of Institute of Forestry, Nepal*, 16, 48–61. https://doi.org/10.3126/forestry.v16i0.28353
- Korostelina, K. V., & Barrett, J. (2023). Bridging the digital divide for Native American tribes: Roadblocks to broadband and community resilience. *Policy & Internet*, 15(3), 306–326. https://doi.org/10.1002/poi3.339

- Kulkarni, S. (2021). Climate Change, Soil Erosion Risks, and Nutritional Security. In Climate Change and Resilient Food Systems (pp. 219–244). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-33-4538-6_8
- Kumar, A., Kumar, A., Mann, K., & Mohanasundari, T. (2024). Analysing district-level climate vulnerability pattern in Madhya Pradesh, India, based on agricultural and socio-economic indicators. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 196(6), 528. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-024-12646-7
- Kumar, A., & Mohanasundari, T. (2024). Assessing district-level climate vulnerability in Madhya Pradesh, Central India: an integrated environmental and socio-economic approach. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 155(4), 3449–3471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-023-04814-5
- Kumar, M. N., Murthy, C. S., Sesha Sai, M. V. R., & Roy, P. S. (2009). On the use of Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI) for drought intensity assessment. *Meteorological Applications*, 16(3), 381–389. https://doi.org/10.1002/met.136
- Kumar, N. (2013). Establishing the Concept of Biogeogens (pp. 11–35). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-1084-9 3
- Kumar, P., Ashwani, Mishra, S., Thakur, S., Kumar, D., & Raman, V. A. V. (2023). Vulnerability of Tribal Communities to Climate Variability in Lahaul and Spiti, Himachal Pradesh, India. *Coğrafya Dergisi – Journal of Geography*, 47, 29–43.
- Kumar, R., Kumar, A., & Saikia, P. (2022). Deforestation and Forests Degradation Impacts on the Environment (pp. 19–46). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-95542-7 2
- Kumar, R., & Saikia, P. (2020). Forest Resources of Jharkhand, Eastern India: Socioeconomic and Bio-ecological Perspectives (pp. 61–101). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-32463-6 4
- Kumar, U., Singh, D. K., Panday, S. C., Bisht, J. K., & Kant, L. (2023). Spatio-temporal trend and change detection of rainfall for Kosi River basin, Uttarakhand using longterm (115 years) gridded data. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 16(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-023-11244-0
- Kumar, V., Jain, S. K., & Singh, Y. (2010). Analysis of long-term rainfall trends in India. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 55(4), 484–496. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2010.481373
- Kumari, G., Sajjad, H., Rahaman, M. H., Masroor, M., Roshani, Ahmed, R., & Sahana, M. (2023). Climate variability induced livelihood vulnerability: A systematic review and future prospects. *Area*, 55(1), 116–124. https://doi.org/10.1111/area.12822
- Kumari, R. (2024). Tribal Health in India: Overcoming Public Health Challenges with a Focus on Tuberculosis. *Apollo Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1177/09760016241277333
- Kundu, S., Khare, D., & Mondal, A. (2017). Interrelationship of rainfall, temperature and reference evapotranspiration trends and their net response to the climate change in Central India. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 130(3–4), 879–900. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-016-1924-5
- Kuniyal, J. C., Kanwar, N., Bhoj, A. S., Rautela, K. S., Joshi, P., Kumar, K., Sofi, M. S., Bhat, S. U., Rashid, I., Lodhi, M. S., Devi, Ch. A., & Singh, H. B. (2021). Climate change impacts on glacier-fed and non-glacier-fed ecosystems of the Indian Himalayan Region: people's perception and adaptive strategies. *Current Science*, 120(5), 888–899.
- Kuotsu, V., Pal, P., Roy, D., Mondal, S., Das, L., & Modak, S. (2017). Community Level Vulnerability to Climate Change: A Comparative Case Study between Selected Naga

Tribes in India. *Current Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 23(6), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.9734/cjast/2017/35939

- Kuttiatt, V. S., Rahul, A., Choolayil, A., & Kumar, A. (2025). Advancing Equity in Health Care Among Dalits and Tribal People in India: The Progress, Current Realities, and the Way Forward. *International Journal of Social Determinants of Health and Health Services*, 55(1), 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/27551938241268179
- Kwakkel, J. H. (2020). Is real options analysis fit for purpose in supporting climate adaptation planning and decision-making? *WIREs Climate Change*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.638
- Lal, P., Alavalapati, J. R. R., & Mercer, E. D. (2011). Socio-economic impacts of climate change on rural United States. In *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* (Vol. 16, Issue 7, pp. 819–844). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-011-9295-9
- Lansbury Hall, N., & Crosby, L. (2022). Climate Change Impacts on Health in Remote Indigenous Communities in Australia. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 32(3), 487–502. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2020.1777948
- Lawrence, J., Wreford, A., Blackett, P., Hall, D., Woodward, A., Awatere, S., Livingston, M. E., Macinnis-Ng, C., Walker, S., Fountain, J., Costello, M. J., Ausseil, A.-G. E., Watt, M. S., Dean, S. M., Cradock-Henry, N. A., Zammit, C., & Milfont, T. L. (2024). Climate change adaptation through an integrative lens in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, 54(4), 491–522. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2023.2236033
- Lee, M. Z., Mekanik, F., & Talei, A. (2022). Dynamic Neuro-Fuzzy Systems for Forecasting El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) Using Oceanic and Continental Climate Parameters as Inputs. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 10(8), 1161. https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse10081161
- Lefthand-Begay, C., Agajanian, T. J., Carbajalt, I. A., La Torre, J. C., Littlesun, C. P., McCarty, M., Rose, J. M., Ruhm, R., Sheban, C., Yamane, C. Y., & Williams, M. (2024). Prioritizing Indigenous Peoples' knowledge in federal decision-making: insights from faculty, graduate students, and tribal leaders. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 20(1), 134–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/11771801241235279
- Li, Y., Tian, H., Yao, Y., Shi, H., Bian, Z., Shi, Y., Wang, S., Maavara, T., Lauerwald, R., & Pan, S. (2024). Increased nitrous oxide emissions from global lakes and reservoirs since the pre-industrial era. *Nature Communications*, 15(1), 942. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-45061-0
- Libiseller, C., & Grimvall, A. (2002). Performance of partial Mann-Kendall tests for trend detection in the presence of covariates. *Environmetrics*, 13(1), 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/env.507
- Lin, B. B., Perfecto, I., & Vandermeer, J. (2008). Synergies between Agricultural Intensification and Climate Change Could Create Surprising Vulnerabilities for Crops. *BioScience*, 58(9), 847–854. https://doi.org/10.1641/B580911
- Lin, K. E., & Polsky, C. (2016). Indexing livelihood vulnerability to the effects of typhoons in indigenous communities in <scp>T</scp> aiwan. *The Geographical Journal*, 182(2), 135–152. https://doi.org/10.1111/geoj.12141
- Lin, P.-S., & Lin, W.-C. (2020). Rebuilding Relocated Tribal Communities Better via Culture: Livelihood and Social Resilience for Disaster Risk Reduction. Sustainability, 12(11), 4538. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12114538
- Long, J. W., & Steel, E. A. (2020). Shifting Perspectives in Assessing Socio-Environmental Vulnerability. Sustainability, 12(7), 2625. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12072625

- Lu, J., Singh, A. S., Koundinya, V., Ranjan, P., Haigh, T., Getson, J. M., Klink, J., & Prokopy, L. S. (2021). Explaining the use of online agricultural decision support tools with weather or climate information in the Midwestern United States. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 279, 111758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111758
- Lynn, K., Daigle, J., Hoffman, J., Lake, F., Michelle, N., Ranco, D., Viles, C., Voggesser, G., & Williams, P. (2013). The impacts of climate change on tribal traditional foods. *Climatic Change*, 120(3), 545–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0736-1
- Ma, R., Boubrahimi, S. F., Angryk, R. A., & Ma, Z. (2020). Evaluation of Hierarchical Structures for Time Series Data. 2020 5th IEEE International Conference on Big Data Analytics (ICBDA), 94–99. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICBDA49040.2020.9101255
- Machiwal, D., Dayal, D., & Kumar, S. (2017). Long-term rainfall trends and change points in hot and cold arid regions of India. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 62(7), 1050– 1066. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2017.1303705
- Madhukar, A., Dashora, K., & Kumar, V. (2021). Climate Trends in Temperature and Water Variables during Wheat Growing Season and Impact on Yield. *Environmental Processes*, 8(3), 1047–1072. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40710-021-00526-y
- Magry, M. A., Cahill, D., Rookes, J., & Narula, S. A. (2023). Climate change impacts on non-timber forest products: NTFP-dependent community responses from India. *Climate and Development*, 15(9), 738–751. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2022.2152639
- Makondo, C. C., & Thomas, D. S. G. (2018). Climate change adaptation: Linking indigenous knowledge with western science for effective adaptation. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 88, 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.06.014
- Makondo, C. C., & Thomas, D. S. G. (2024). Multidimensional poverty and vulnerability assessment in the face of climate change adaptation in developing economies: focus on ecosystem-based livelihoods in Zambia. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-024-05253-6
- Maldonado, J. (2014). A multiple knowledge approach for adaptation to environmental change: lessons learned from coastal Louisiana's tribal communities. *Journal of Political Ecology*, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.2458/v21i1.21125
- Maldonado, J. K., Shearer, C., Bronen, R., Peterson, K., & Lazrus, H. (2013). The impact of climate change on tribal communities in the US: displacement, relocation, and human rights. In *Climate Change and Indigenous Peoples in the United States* (pp. 93–106). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05266-3 8
- Malhi, G. S., Kaur, M., & Kaushik, P. (2021). Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture and Its Mitigation Strategies: A Review. *Sustainability*, 13(3), 1318. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13031318
- Malhotra, N. (2024a). A Systematic Literature Review Study on the Social Inclusion of the Indigenous People. In *Sustainable Pathways* (pp. 41–69). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-83549-490-520241005
- Malhotra, N. (2024b). Introduction to Indigenous Tribes. In Sustainable Pathways (pp. 1– 39). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-83549-490-520241003
- Malik, I. H., & Ford, J. D. (2025). Understanding the Impacts of Arctic Climate Change Through the Lens of Political Ecology. WIREs Climate Change, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.927

- Malimi, K. (2023). Agricultural input subsidies, extension services, and farm labour productivity nexus: Evidence from maize farmers in Tanzania. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 74(3), 874–898. https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-9552.12537
- Mall, R. K., Chaturvedi, M., Singh, N., Bhatla, R., Singh, R. S., Gupta, A., & Niyogi, D. (2021). Evidence of asymmetric change in diurnal temperature range in recent decades over different agro-climatic zones of India. *International Journal of Climatology*, 41(4), 2597–2610. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6978
- Mall, R. K., Gupta, A., & Sonkar, G. (2017). Effect of Climate Change on Agricultural Crops. In *Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering* (pp. 23–46). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63661-4.00002-5
- Mallick, M., Singh, P. K., & Pandey, R. (2024). Harvesting resilience: Tribal home-gardens as socio-ecological solutions for climate change adaptation and sustainable development in a protected area. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 445, 141174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2024.141174
- Manandhar, S., Vogt, D. S., Perret, S. R., & Kazama, F. (2011). Adapting cropping systems to climate change in Nepal: a cross-regional study of farmers' perception and practices. *Regional Environmental Change*, 11(2), 335–348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-010-0137-1
- Mann, H. B. (1945). Nonparametric Tests Against Trend. *Econometrica*, 13(3), 245. https://doi.org/10.2307/1907187
- Maske, A. P., Sawant, P. A., Joseph, S., Mahajan, U. S., & Kudale, A. M. (2015). Sociocultural features and help-seeking preferences for leprosy and tuberculosis: a cultural epidemiological study in a tribal district of Maharashtra, India. *Infectious Diseases* of Poverty, 4(1), 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40249-015-0064-y
- Matsa, W. (2021). Climate Change Induced Disaster, Gender Conflicts, Risks, and Insecurity in Lower-Gweru Community of Zimbabwe: Towards Capacity Building and Resilience in the Face of Social-Ecological Threats. In Social-Ecological Systems (SES) (pp. 75–94). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76247-6 4
- Mckee, T. B., Doesken, N. J., & Kleist, J. (1993). THE RELATIONSHIP OF DROUGHT FREQUENCY AND DURATION TO TIME SCALES. In *Eighth Conference on Applied Climatology*.
- McMartin, D. W., Hernani Merino, B. H., Bonsal, B., Hurlbert, M., Villalba, R., Ocampo, O. L., Upegui, J. J. V., Poveda, G., & Sauchyn, D. J. (2018). Limitations of Water Resources Infrastructure for Reducing Community Vulnerabilities to Extremes and Uncertainty of Flood and Drought. *Environmental Management*, 62(6), 1038–1047. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-018-1104-8
- McNamara, K. E., & Buggy, L. (2017). Community-based climate change adaptation: a review of academic literature. *Local Environment*, 22(4), 443–460. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2016.1216954
- Meena, R. K., Vikas, Verma, T., Yadav, R., Mahapatra, S., Surya, J. N., Singh, D., & Singh, S. (2019). Local perceptions and adaptation of indigenous communities to climate change: Evidences from High Mountain Pangi valley of Indian Himalayas. *Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge*, 18(1), 58–67.
- Mehta, A. K., & Shah, A. (2003). Chronic Poverty in India: Incidence, Causes and Policies. World Development, 31(3), 491–511. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(02)00212-7

- Mehta, S. (2024). Adaptation Policy and Governance Towards Tribal Communities of Southern Rajasthan, India (pp. 207–221). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-55821-4_15
- Mehzabin, S., & Mondal, M. S. (2021). Assessing Impact of Climate Variability in Southwest Coastal Bangladesh Using Livelihood Vulnerability Index. *Climate*, 9(7), 107. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli9070107
- Mekonnen, Z., Woldeamanuel, T., & Kassa, H. (2019). Socio-ecological vulnerability to climate change/variability in central rift valley, Ethiopia. *Advances in Climate Change Research*, 10(1), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accre.2019.03.002
- Menon, S., & Hartz-Karp, J. (2019). Institutional innovations in public participation for improved local governance and urban sustainability in India. *Sustainable Earth*, 2(1), 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42055-019-0013-x
- Min, S., Kim, E., Dayandante, P. B., & Park, M. S. (2024). Diagnosing the status and trend of research on traditional knowledge related to non-timber forest products as food. *Trees, Forests and People*, 17, 100646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tfp.2024.100646
- Mishra, A., Appadurai, A. N., Choudhury, D., Regmi, B. R., Kelkar, U., Alam, M., Chaudhary, P., Mu, S. S., Ahmed, A. U., Lotia, H., Fu, C., Namgyel, T., & Sharma, U. (2019). Adaptation to Climate Change in the Hindu Kush Himalaya: Stronger Action Urgently Needed. In *The Hindu Kush Himalaya Assessment* (pp. 457–490). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92288-1 13
- Mishra, A. K., & Singh, V. P. (2010). A review of drought concepts. *Journal of Hydrology*, 391(1–2), 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.07.012
- Mishra, M., Sudarsan, D., Santos, C. A. G., Mishra, S. K., Kar, D., Baral, K., & Pattnaik, N. (2021). An overview of research on natural resources and indigenous communities: a bibliometric analysis based on Scopus database (1979–2020). *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 193(2), 59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-020-08793-2
- Mishra, R. (2023). Tribals education in Bhoksa Tribe of India: Status, challenges and issues. *Voice of Intellectual Man- An International Journal*, 11(1and2), 89–96. https://doi.org/10.5958/2319-4308.2021.00006.2
- Monier, E., & Gao, X. (2015). Climate change impacts on extreme events in the United States: an uncertainty analysis. *Climatic Change*, 131(1), 67–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-1048-1
- MPSKMCCC. (2018). Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment for Madhya Pradesh.
- Mukherjee, S., Mandal, S., Haldar, S., Mandal, P., Bhattacharya, S., & Paul, S. (2022). Assessing and quantifying livelihood vulnerability of tribal farmers in water-stressed region of rural West Bengal, India. In *Indigenous People and Nature* (pp. 105–132). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91603-5.00001-4
- Musavengane, R. (2019). Using the systemic-resilience thinking approach to enhance participatory collaborative management of natural resources in tribal communities: Toward inclusive land reform-led outdoor tourism. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation* and Tourism, 25, 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2018.12.002
- Mustafa, M. A., Mayes, S., & Massawe, F. (2019). Crop Diversification Through a Wider Use of Underutilised Crops: A Strategy to Ensure Food and Nutrition Security in the Face of Climate Change. In Sustainable Solutions for Food Security (pp. 125–149). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77878-5_7
- Nabi, S., Ahanger, M. A., & Dar, A. Q. (2023). Spatio-temporal variability of temperature and precipitation in a Himalayan watershed. *Natural Hazards*, 115(2), 1743–1760. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-022-05616-0

- Nadeau, K. C., Agache, I., Jutel, M., Annesi Maesano, I., Akdis, M., Sampath, V., D'Amato, G., Cecchi, L., Traidl-Hoffmann, C., & Akdis, C. A. (2022). Climate change: A call to action for the United Nations. *Allergy*, 77(4), 1087–1090. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.15079
- Nagesh, R. K. (2020). Production and Marketing of Agricultural Crops in Rural Areas of Madhya Pradesh. Journal of Marketing and Consumer Research. https://doi.org/10.7176/jmcr/68-03
- Naik, M. K., & Madhanagopal, D. (2022). Land Acquisition and a Question of "Justice": Voices of the Unheard Marginal Groups in the Interior Odisha, India. In *Environment, Climate, and Social Justice* (pp. 323–348). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1987-9 16
- Nautiyal, S., & Goswami, M. (2022). Dynamics of Agricultural Livelihoods in Peripheral Villages of a Protected Area in South India. In *Plant Genetic Resources, Inventory, Collection and Conservation* (pp. 411–424). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-7699-4 19
- Ndlovu, N., & Chungag, B. N. (2024). Impact of heat stress on cardiovascular health outcomes of older adults: A mini review. *Aging and Health Research*, 4(2), 100189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahr.2024.100189
- Negi, V. S., Tiwari, D. C., Singh, L., Thakur, S., & Bhatt, I. D. (2022). Review and synthesis of climate change studies in the Himalayan region. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 24(9), 10471–10502. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-021-01880-5
- Ngcamu, B. S., & Chari, F. (2020). Drought Influences on Food Insecurity in Africa: A Systematic Literature Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(16), 5897. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17165897
- Ngu, N. H., Tan, N. Q., Non, D. Q., Dinh, N. C., & Nhi, P. T. P. (2023). Unveiling urban households' livelihood vulnerability to climate change: An intersectional analysis of Hue City, Vietnam. *Environmental and Sustainability Indicators*, 19, 100269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indic.2023.100269
- Nguyen, T. T., Krishnakumari, P., Calvert, S. C., Vu, H. L., & van Lint, H. (2019). Feature extraction and clustering analysis of highway congestion. *Transportation Research Part* C: *Emerging Technologies*, 100, 238–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2019.01.017
- Nguyen, Y. T. B., & Leisz, S. J. (2021). Determinants of livelihood vulnerability to climate change: Two minority ethnic communities in the northwest mountainous region of Vietnam. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *123*, 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.04.007
- Nissan, H., Goddard, L., de Perez, E. C., Furlow, J., Baethgen, W., Thomson, M. C., & Mason, S. J. (2019). On the use and misuse of climate change projections in international development. *WIREs Climate Change*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.579
- Nkoana, E., Verbruggen, A., & Hugé, J. (2018). Climate Change Adaptation Tools at the Community Level: An Integrated Literature Review. *Sustainability*, *10*(3), 796. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10030796
- Nursey-Bray, M., Palmer, R., Chischilly, A. M., Rist, P., & Yin, L. (2022). Tribal Capacity Building and Adaptation Planning: The United States (pp. 57–76). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-97826-6_4
- Nzabarinda, V., Bao, A., Tie, L., Uwamahoro, S., Kayiranga, A., Ochege, F. U., Muhirwa, F., & Bao, J. (2025). Expanding forest carbon sinks to mitigate climate change in

Africa. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 207, 114849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2024.114849

- Olmos, S. (2001). Vulnerability and adaptation to climate change: concepts, issues, assessment methods. *Climate Change Knowledge Network (CCKN)*.
- Oppenheimer, M., Campos, M., Warren, R., Birkmann, J., Luber, G., O'Neill, B., & Takahashi, K. (2015). Emergent Risks and Key Vulnerabilities. In C. B. Field, V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J. Mach, & M. D. Mastrandrea (Eds.), *Climate Change* 2014 Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability (pp. 1039–1100). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415379.024
- Ozer, S., & Obaidi, M. (2022). Globalization and Radicalization: The Rise of Extreme Reactions to Intercultural Contact, Sociocultural Disruption, and Identity Threat. In *Globalized Identities* (pp. 107–130). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-04644-5 5
- Pal, I., & Al-Tabbaa, A. (2010). Long-term changes and variability of monthly extreme temperatures in India. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 100(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-009-0167-0
- Pal, I., & Al-Tabbaa, A. (2011). Assessing seasonal precipitation trends in India using parametric and non-parametric statistical techniques. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 103(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-010-0277-8
- Pal, P. (2022). An Assessment of Forest Diversity: Challenges and Management. In Agrobiodiversity and Agri-ecosystem Management (pp. 11–26). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0928-3 2
- Pamidimukkala, A., Kermanshachi, S., Adepu, N., & Safapour, E. (2021). Resilience in Water Infrastructures: A Review of Challenges and Adoption Strategies. Sustainability, 13(23), 12986. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132312986
- Panda, A. (2017). Vulnerability to climate variability and drought among small and marginal farmers: a case study in Odisha, India. *Climate and Development*, 9(7), 605–617. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2016.1184606
- Panda, G. K., Chatterjee, U., & Panda, S. (2023). Indigenous Knowledge and Disaster Risk Reduction: Insight Toward Perception, Response, Adaptation and Sustainability (pp. 3–18). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-26143-5_1
- Panda, S. M., Pattanayak, S., & Pandey, A. D. (2022). Introduction: The Reality of Social Exclusion and Policy of Inclusion. In *Social Exclusion and Policies of Inclusion* (pp. 1–15). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-9773-9_1
- Pandey, A. K., & Kori, D. C. (2011). Non-destructive harvesting practices of Terminalia arjuna (Arjuna), Phyllanthus emblica (Aonla) and Andrographis paniculata (Kalmegh). *Indian Forester*, 137(11), 1269–1279.
- Pandey, A. K., Tripathi, Y. C., & Kumar, A. (2016). Non timber forest products (NTFPs) for sustained livelihood: Challenges and strategies. *Research Journal of Forestry*, 10(1), 1–7.
- Pandey, R., Jha, S. K., Alatalo, J. M., Archie, K. M., & Gupta, A. K. (2017). Sustainable livelihood framework-based indicators for assessing climate change vulnerability and adaptation for Himalayan communities. *Ecological Indicators*, 79, 338–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.03.047
- Pandey, R. P., & Ramasastri, K. S. (2001). Relationship between the common climatic parameters and average drought frequency. *Hydrological Processes*, 15(6), 1019– 1032. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.187
- Panmei, L., & Selvan, T. (2024). Ecosystem-Based Adaptation with Bamboo-Based Livelihood Diversification: A Case Study in India's Eastern Himalayas (pp. 665– 694). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-58261-5_29
- Panthi, J., Aryal, S., Dahal, P., Bhandari, P., Krakauer, N. Y., & Pandey, V. P. (2016). Livelihood vulnerability approach to assessing climate change impacts on mixed agro-livestock smallholders around the Gandaki River Basin in Nepal. *Regional Environmental Change*, 16(4), 1121–1132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-015-0833-y
- Parraguez-Vergara, E., Barton, J. R., & Raposo-Quintana, G. (2016). Impacts of Climate Change in the Andean Foothills of Chile: Economic and Cultural Vulnerability of Indigenous Mapuche Livelihoods. *Journal of Developing Societies*, 32(4), 454–483. https://doi.org/10.1177/0169796X16667874
- Parrotta, J. A., & Agnoletti, M. (2012). Traditional Forest-Related Knowledge and Climate Change (pp. 491–533). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2144-9 13
- Patel, S. K., Agrawal, G., Mathew, B., Patel, S., Mohanty, B., & Singh, A. (2020). Climate change and women in South Asia: a review and future policy implications. *World Journal of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development*, 17(2), 145–166. https://doi.org/10.1108/WJSTSD-10-2018-0059
- Patidar, S., Raghuwanshi, B., & Tiwari, S. (2020). Transformation in Vernacular Architecture of Baiga Tribe of Central India. In *Reframing the Vernacular: Politics, Semiotics, and Representation* (pp. 107–126). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22448-6_10
- Patri, P., Sharma, P., & Patra, S. K. (2022). Does economic development reduce disaster damage risk from floods in India? Empirical evidence using the ZINB model. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 79, 103163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2022.103163
- Pettitt, A. N. (1979). A Non-Parametric Approach to the Change-Point Problem. *Applied Statistics*, 28(2), 126. https://doi.org/10.2307/2346729
- Phuong, T. T., Tan, N. Q., Dinh, N. C., Van Chuong, H., Ha, H. D., & Hung, H. T. (2023). Livelihood vulnerability to climate change: Indexes and insights from two ethnic minority communities in Central Vietnam. *Environmental Challenges*, 10, 100666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envc.2022.100666
- Piya, L., Maharjan, K. L., & Joshi, N. P. (2012). Vulnerability of rural households to climate change and extremes: Analysis of Chepang households in the Mid-Hills of Nepal. *Nternational Association of Agricultural Economists (IAAE) Triennial Conference.*
- Piya, L., Maharjan, K. L., & Joshi, N. P. (2019). Community Vulnerability to Climate Change. In Socio-Economic Issues of Climate Change (pp. 133–151). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-5784-8 10
- Pörtner, H. O., Roberts, D. C., Adams, H., Adler, C., Aldunce, P., Ali, E., & Biesbroek, R. (2022). Climate change 2022: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability.
- Pradhan, K. C., & Narayanan, K. (2022). Does climatic risk induce labour migration? Evidence from <scp>Semi-Arid</scp> Tropics region of India. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2323
- Pratap, D., & Pratap, A. (2021). Livelihood Adaptation to Climate Variability in Jaunsar-Bawar Tribal Habitat of Central Himalayas, India (pp. 57–76). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3100-9_3
- Praveen, B., & Sharma, P. (2020). Climate Change and its impacts on Indian agriculture: An Econometric analysis. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1972

- Praveena, K., & Malaisamy, A. (2024). Climatic Shifts and Agricultural Strategies: A thorough Review on Impact of Climate Change on Food Security and Crop Productivity. *International Journal of Environment and Climate Change*, 14(1), 817– 831. https://doi.org/10.9734/ijecc/2024/v14i13900
- Priyadarshini, P., & Abhilash, P. C. (2019). Promoting tribal communities and indigenous knowledge as potential solutions for the sustainable development of India. *Environmental Development*, 32, 100459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2019.100459
- Pulwarty, R. S., & Sivakumar, M. V. K. (2014). Information systems in a changing climate: Early warnings and drought risk management. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, 3, 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2014.03.005
- Punia, M., Nain, S., Kumar, A., Singh, B. P., Prakash, A., Kumar, K., & Jain, V. K. (2015). Analysis of temperature variability over north-west part of India for the period 1970– 2000. Natural Hazards, 75(1), 935–952. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-014-1352-8
- Puri, V., Joshi, S., & Devkota, N. (2022). Infrastructure and Climate Change Adaptation in Nepal : An Assessment. Southeast Asian Journal of Economics, 10(3), 1–28.
- Radhakrishnan, K., Sivaraman, I., Jena, S. K., Sarkar, S., & Adhikari, S. (2017). A Climate Trend Analysis of Temperature and Rainfall in India. *Climate Change and Environmental Sustainability*, 5(2), 146. https://doi.org/10.5958/2320-642x.2017.00014.x
- Rahmah, M., & Sulistyono, A. (2024). The Integration of Traditional Knowledge and Local Wisdom in Mitigating and Adapting Climate Change: Different Perspectives of Indigenous Peoples from Java and Bali Island. In *Traditional Knowledge and Climate Change* (pp. 61–80). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-8830-3 4
- Rahman, H., Easha, A. A., Fatema, N., Islam, Md. J., & Alam, M. (2024). Climate Change Adaptation Strategy of the Coastal Indigenous Community of Bangladesh. *Advances* in Civil Engineering, 2024(1). https://doi.org/10.1155/2024/5395870
- Rahut, D. B., Aryal, J. P., Manchanda, N., & Sonobe, T. (2022). Expectations for household food security in the coming decades: A global scenario. In *Future Foods* (pp. 107– 131). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91001-9.00002-5
- Rai, J. (2019). Understanding Poverty-Environment Relationship from Sustainable Development Perspectives. *Journal of Geography, Environment and Earth Science International*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.9734/jgeesi/2019/v19i130077
- Rai, P., Bajgai, Y., Rabgyal, J., Katwal, T. B., & Delmond, A. R. (2022). Empirical Evidence of the Livelihood Vulnerability to Climate Change Impacts: A Case of Potato-Based Mountain Farming Systems in Bhutan. *Sustainability*, 14(4), 2339. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042339
- Rai, S., Dahal, B., & Anup, K. C. (2022). Climate change perceptions and adaptations by indigenous Chepang community of Dhading, Nepal. *GeoJournal*, 87(6), 5327–5342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-022-10577-9
- Rai, S. K., Kumar, S., Rai, A. K., S., & Palsaniya, D. R. (2014). Climate Change, Variability and Rainfall Probability for Crop Planning in Few Districts of Central India. *Atmospheric and Climate Sciences*, 04(03), 394–403. https://doi.org/10.4236/acs.2014.43039
- Raj, S., Roodbar, S., Brinkley, C., & Wolfe, D. W. (2022). Food Security and Climate Change: Differences in Impacts and Adaptation Strategies for Rural Communities in the Global South and North. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.691191

- Rajput, P. (2024). Sustainable pastoralism amid changing climate: eco-centric practices of Bakarwal nomads in the Western Himalayas. *GeoJournal*, 90(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-024-11272-7
- Ramakrishnan, R., Rajendrakumar, S., & Kothurkar, N. K. (2024). Regional sustainability of the Kattunayakan tribe in Kerala, India through the enhancement of agricultural, livestock, and livelihood options. *Agricultural Systems*, 217, 103929. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2024.103929
- Ramya, T., & Chaudhuri, S. K. (2024). Understanding Underdevelopment: A Study on Select Tribes of Arunachal Pradesh (pp. 163–189). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-97-1436-0_9
- Rana, U. (2024). Gond painting, and their women artiest: journey from tradition to modernity. Asian Ethnicity, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/14631369.2024.2410860
- Räsänen, A., Juhola, S., Nygren, A., Käkönen, M., Kallio, M., Monge Monge, A., & Kanninen, M. (2016). Climate change, multiple stressors and human vulnerability: a systematic review. *Regional Environmental Change*, 16(8), 2291–2302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-016-0974-7
- Rautela, K. S., Kumar, D., Gandhi, B. G. R., Kumar, A., & Dubey, A. K. (2023). Longterm hydrological simulation for the estimation of snowmelt contribution of Alaknanda River Basin, Uttarakhand using SWAT. Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-Aqua, 72(2), 139–159. https://doi.org/10.2166/aqua.2023.176
- Rautela, K. S., Kuniyal, J. C., Alam, M. A., Bhoj, A. S., & Kanwar, N. (2022). Assessment of Daily Streamflow, Sediment Fluxes, and Erosion Rate of a Pro-glacial Stream Basin, Central Himalaya, Uttarakhand. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 233(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-022-05567-z
- Rautela, P., & Karki, B. (2015). Impact of climate change on life and livelihood of indigenous people of higher Himalaya in Uttarakhand, India. American Journal of Environmental Protection, 3(4), 112–124.
- Ray, L. K., Goel, N. K., & Arora, M. (2019). Trend analysis and change point detection of temperature over parts of India. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 138(1–2), 153–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-019-02819-7
- Raza, A., Razzaq, A., Mehmood, S., Zou, X., Zhang, X., Lv, Y., & Xu, J. (2019). Impact of Climate Change on Crops Adaptation and Strategies to Tackle Its Outcome: A Review. *Plants*, 8(2), 34. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants8020034
- Reed, M. S., Fraser, E. D. G., & Dougill, A. J. (2006). An adaptive learning process for developing and applying sustainability indicators with local communities. *Ecological Economics*, 59(4), 406–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.11.008
- Reed, M. S., Podesta, G., Fazey, I., Geeson, N., Hessel, R., Hubacek, K., Letson, D., Nainggolan, D., Prell, C., Rickenbach, M. G., Ritsema, C., Schwilch, G., Stringer, L. C., & Thomas, A. D. (2013). Combining analytical frameworks to assess livelihood vulnerability to climate change and analyse adaptation options. *Ecological Economics*, 94, 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.07.007
- Rehman, S., Azhoni, A., & Chabbi, P. H. (2022). Livelihood vulnerability assessment and climate change perception analysis in Arunachal Pradesh, India. *GeoJournal*, 88(2), 1427–1447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-022-10703-7
- Reyer, C. P. O., Adams, S., Albrecht, T., Baarsch, F., Boit, A., Canales Trujillo, N., Cartsburg, M., Coumou, D., Eden, A., Fernandes, E., Langerwisch, F., Marcus, R., Mengel, M., Mira-Salama, D., Perette, M., Pereznieto, P., Rammig, A., Reinhardt, J.,

Robinson, A., ... Thonicke, K. (2017). Climate change impacts in Latin America and the Caribbean and their implications for development. *Regional Environmental Change*, *17*(6), 1601–1621. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-015-0854-6

- Reyes-García, V., García-del-Amo, D., Álvarez-Fernández, S., Benyei, P., Calvet-Mir, L., Junqueira, A. B., Labeyrie, V., LI, X., Miñarro, S., Porcher, V., Porcuna-Ferrer, A., Schlingmann, A., Schunko, C., Soleymani, R., Tofighi-Niaki, A., Abazeri, M., Attoh, E. M. N. A. N., Ayanlade, A., Ávila, J. V. D. C., ... Zakari, I. S. (2024). Indigenous Peoples and local communities report ongoing and widespread climate change impacts on local social-ecological systems. *Communications Earth & Environment*, 5(1), 29. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-023-01164-y
- Roshani, Sajjad, H., Saha, T. K., Rahaman, M. H., Masroor, M., Sharma, Y., & Pal, S. (2023). Analyzing trend and forecast of rainfall and temperature in Valmiki Tiger Reserve, India, using non-parametric test and random forest machine learning algorithm. *Acta Geophysica*, 71(1), 531–552. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11600-022-00978-2
- Roy, N., Debnath, A., Nautiyal, S., & Sarma, M. (2023). Livelihood vulnerability to climate change in Rural Tripura, India: A Comparative Study of the Tribal and Non-Tribal Households. *Ecology, Environment and Conservation*, 29(01), 46–57. https://doi.org/10.53550/EEC.2023.v29i01.006
- Sadok, W., Lopez, J. R., & Smith, K. P. (2021). Transpiration increases under hightemperature stress: Potential mechanisms, trade-offs and prospects for crop resilience in a warming world. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 44*(7), 2102–2116. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13970
- Sahoo, G., Mishra, P., Wani, A. M., Sharma, A., Mishra, D., Patra, D., Mishra, I., & Behera, M. (2023). Impact of Climate Change on Livelihood Security and Biodiversity – Issues and Mitigation Strategies (pp. 1–27). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-19059-9 1
- Sahu, R. K., & Khare, D. (2015). Spatial and temporal analysis of rainfall trend for 30 districts of a coastal state (odisha) of india . *International Journal of Geology, Earth & Environmental Sciences*, 5(1), 40–53.
- Saikh, N. I., & Mondal, P. (2023). GIS-based machine learning algorithm for flood susceptibility analysis in the Pagla river basin, Eastern India. *Natural Hazards Research*, 3(3), 420–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nhres.2023.05.004
- Saikia, P., Kumar, A., Diksha, Lal, P., Nikita, & Khan, M. L. (2020). Ecosystem-Based Adaptation to Climate Change and Disaster Risk Reduction in Eastern Himalayan Forests of Arunachal Pradesh, Northeast India (pp. 391–408). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-4712-6_22
- Saleem, A., Anwar, S., Nawaz, T., Fahad, S., Saud, S., Ur Rahman, T., Khan, M. N. R., & Nawaz, T. (2024). Securing a sustainable future: the climate change threat to agriculture, food security, and sustainable development goals. *Journal of Umm Al-Qura University for Applied Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43994-024-00177-3
- Salter, J., Robinson, J., & Wiek, A. (2010). Participatory methods of integrated assessment—a review. *WIREs Climate Change*, 1(5), 697–717. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.73
- Salvador Costa, M., Leitão, A., Silva, R., Monteiro, V., & Melo, P. (2022). Climate Change Prevention through Community Actions and Empowerment: A Scoping Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(22), 14645. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192214645
- Sam, A. S., Padmaja, S. S., Kächele, H., Kumar, R., & Müller, K. (2020). Climate change, drought and rural communities: Understanding people's perceptions and adaptations

in rural eastern India. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 44, 101436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101436

- Samaddar, S., Oteng-Ababio, M., Dayour, F., Ayaribila, A., Obeng, F. K., Ziem, R., & Yokomatsu, M. (2021). Successful Community Participation in Climate Change Adaptation Programs: on Whose Terms? *Environmental Management*, 67(4), 747– 762. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-020-01421-2
- Samuels, M. I., Masubelele, M. L., Cupido, C. F., Swarts, M. B. V., Foster, J., De Wet, G., Links, A., Van Orsdol, K., & Lynes, L. S. (2022). Climate vulnerability and risks to an indigenous community in the arid zone of South Africa. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 199, 104718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2022.104718
- Saravanakumar, V., Lohano, H. Das, & Balasubramanian, R. (2022). A district-level analysis for measuring the effects of climate change on production of rice: evidence from Southern India. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 150(3–4), 941–953. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-022-04198-y
- Sarkar, A., Saha, S., Sarkar, D., & Mondal, P. (2021). Variability and Trend Analysis of the Rainfall of the Past 119 (1901-2019) Years using Statistical Techniques: A Case Study of Uttar Dinajpur, India. *Journal of Climate Change*, 7(2), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.3233/JCC210011
- Sarun, S., Ghermandi, A., Sheela, A. M., Justus, J., & Vineetha, P. (2018). Climate change vulnerability in a tropical region based on environmental and socio-economic factors. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 190(12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-018-7095-3
- Saxena, S., & Joshi, H. (2024). Digital Health Innovations: Advancing Climate–Health– Sustainability Synergies. In *The Climate-Health-Sustainability Nexus* (pp. 325–349). Springer Nature Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-56564-9 13
- Scafetta, N. (2024). Impacts and risks of "realistic" global warming projections for the 21st century. *Geoscience Frontiers*, *15*(2), 101774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gsf.2023.101774
- Schröter, D., Polsky, C., & Patt, A. G. (2005). Assessing vulnerabilities to the effects of global change: an eight step approach. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 10(4), 573–595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-005-6135-9
- Seidl, R., Schelhaas, M. J., Lindner, M., & Lexer, M. J. (2009). Modelling bark beetle disturbances in a large scale forest scenario model to assess climate change impacts and evaluate adaptive management strategies. *Regional Environmental Change*, 9(2), 101–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-008-0068-2
- Sen, L. T. H., Bond, J., Dung, N. T., Hung, H. G., Mai, N. T. H., & Phuong, H. T. A. (2021). Farmers' barriers to the access and use of climate information in the mountainous regions of Thùa Thiên Huế province, Vietnam. *Climate Services*, 24, 100267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100267
- Sen, P. (1968). Estimates of the Regression Coefficient Based on Kendall's Tau. Journal of American Statistical Association, 63, 1379–1389.
- Şen, Z. (2012). Innovative Trend Analysis Methodology. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering, 17(9), 1042–1046. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)HE.1943-5584.0000556
- Sengupta, A., & Thangavel, M. (2023). Analysis of the Effects of Climate Change on Cotton Production in Maharashtra State of India Using Statistical Model and GIS Mapping. *Caraka Tani: Journal of Sustainable Agriculture*, 38(1), 152–162. https://doi.org/10.20961/carakatani.v38i1.64377

- Serdeczny, O., Adams, S., Baarsch, F., Coumou, D., Robinson, A., Hare, W., Schaeffer, M., Perrette, M., & Reinhardt, J. (2017). Climate change impacts in Sub-Saharan Africa: from physical changes to their social repercussions. *Regional Environmental Change*, 17(6), 1585–1600. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-015-0910-2
- Shackleton, C. M., Pandey, A. K., & Ticktin, T. (2015). Ecological sustainability for nontimber forest products: dynamics and case studies of harvesting. Routledge.
- Shah, A., & O.G., S. (2009). Dwindling forest resources and economic vulnerability among tribal communities in a dry/ sub-humid region in India. *Journal of International Development*, 21(3), 419–432. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1561
- Shah, N. V, Patel, Y. S., & DBhangaonkar, P. (2021). Assessing Impact of Climate Change on Rainfall Patterns of Vadodara District, Gujarat, India. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1714(1), 012046. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1714/1/012046
- Shama, R. K., & Roy, J. (2016). Socio-Economic And Demographic Characteristics Of Three Most Backward Tribes Of Madhya Pradesh. *Tribal Health Bulletin*, 23(1).
- Shamshad, J., Nawaz, A. F., Khan, M. B., & Arif, M. (2024). Climate Change and Food Security. In *Environment, Climate, Plant and Vegetation Growth* (pp. 265–284). Springer Nature Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-69417-2_9
- Sharma, A. (2023). Drought risk management in Madhya Pradesh, India: a policy perspective. *International Journal of Emergency Management*, 18(1), 23. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEM.2023.129408
- Sharma, S. C., Prasad, N., Pandey, S. K., & Singh, R. (2024). Mechanization in processing commercially significant natural resins and gums: A review. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 222, 119630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2024.119630
- Sheela, A. M., Sarun, S., Justus, J., Vineetha, P., & Sheeja, R. V. (2015). Assessment of Changes ofVector borne diseases with wetland characteristics using multivariate analysis. In *Environmental Geochemistry and Health* (pp. 391–410). Springer.
- Shi, J., Zhu, Q., Li, J., Liu, J., & Cheng, D. (2021). Hierarchical Clustering Based on Local Cores and Sharing Concept. 2021 IEEE 45th Annual Computers, Software, and Applications Conference (COMPSAC), 284–289. https://doi.org/10.1109/COMPSAC51774.2021.00047
- Shiva Shankar, Y., Kumar, A., & Mohan, D. (2021). Climate Change and Water Resources: Emerging Challenges, Vulnerability and Adaptation in Indian Scenario (pp. 365– 376). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-64202-0 32
- Shivam, Goyal, M. K., & Sarma, A. K. (2017). Analysis of the change in temperature trends in Subansiri River basin for RCP scenarios using CMIP5 datasets. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 129(3–4), 1175–1187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-016-1842-6
- Shree, S., & Kumar, M. (2018). Analysis of seasonal and annual rainfall trends for Ranchi district, Jharkhand, India. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 77(19). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-018-7884-6
- Shrestha, R., Chaweewan, N., & Arunyawat, S. (2017). Adaptation to Climate Change by Rural Ethnic Communities of Northern Thailand. *Climate*, 5(3), 57. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli5030057
- Shukla, G., Kumar, A., Pala, N. A., & Chakravarty, S. (2016). Farmers perception and awareness of climate change: a case study from Kanchandzonga Biosphere Reserve, India. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 18(4), 1167–1176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-015-9694-2

- Shukla, R., Agarwal, A., Sachdeva, K., Kurths, J., & Joshi, P. K. (2019). Climate change perception: an analysis of climate change and risk perceptions among farmer types of Indian Western Himalayas. *Climatic Change*, 152(1), 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2314-z
- Shukla, R., & Khare, D. (2013). Historical Trend Investigation Of Temperature Variation In Indira Sagar Canal Command Area In Madhya Pradesh (1901-2005). International Journal of Advanced Information Science and Technology (IJAIST) ISSN, 2(7). https://doi.org/10.15693/ijaist/2013.v2i7.5-13
- Shukla, R., Khare, D., Tiwari, P., Mishra, P., & Gupta, S. (2017). Analysis of Long Term Temperature Trend for Madhya Pradesh, India (1901-2005). *Current World Environment*, 12(1), 68–79. https://doi.org/10.12944/CWE.12.1.09
- Singh, C., Deshpande, T., & Basu, R. (2017). How do we assess vulnerability to climate change in India? A systematic review of literature. *Regional Environmental Change*, 17(2), 527–538. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-016-1043-y
- Singh, D., Ghosh, S., Roxy, M. K., & McDermid, S. (2019). Indian summer monsoon: Extreme events, historical changes, and role of anthropogenic forcings. WIREs Climate Change, 10(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.571</u>
- Singh, P. (2023). Climate Change, Gender and Traditional Livelihoods: Some Reflections from India. In *Global Climate Change and Environmental Refugees* (pp. 77–90). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-24833-7_5
- Singh, P. K., & Chudasama, H. (2021). Pathways for climate change adaptations in arid and semi-arid regions. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 284, 124744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124744
- Singh, P., & Keshari, S. (2016). Development of Human Development Index at District Level for EAG States. *Statistics and Applications*, 14(1 & 2), 43–61.
- Singh, S., Goyal, M. K., & Saikumar, E. (2024). Assessing Climate Vulnerability of Ramsar Wetlands through CMIP6 Projections. *Water Resources Management*, 38(4), 1381–1395. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-023-03726-3
- Singh, S., Kumar, A., & Kumara, S. (2023). Assessment of Drought in Meteorological Data Using SPI and SPEI Indicators for Sustaining Agricultural Productivity in the Agra Division of Uttar Pradesh, India (pp. 285–303). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36825-7 19
- Singh, S., Kumar, D., Vishwakarma, D. K., Kumar, R., & Kushwaha, N. L. (2024). Seasonal rainfall pattern using coupled neural network-wavelet technique of southern Uttarakhand, India. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 155(6), 5185– 5201. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-024-04940-8
- Singh, S., Kumar, N., Goyal, M. K., & Jha, S. (2023). Relative influence of ENSO, IOD, and AMO over spatiotemporal variability of hydroclimatic extremes in Narmada basin, India. AQUA — Water Infrastructure, Ecosystems and Society, 72(4), 520– 539. https://doi.org/10.2166/aqua.2023.219
- Singla, C., Aggarwal, R., Kaur, S., & Sharma, R. (2023). ANALYSIS OF METEOROLOGICAL PARAMETER CHANGES USING MANN-KENDALL STATISTICAL TESTS IN INDIAN PUNJAB. In *Mausam* (Vol. 74, Issue 1, pp. 207– 213). India Meteorological Department. https://doi.org/10.54302/mausam.v74i1.1440
- Skendžić, S., Zovko, M., Živković, I. P., Lešić, V., & Lemić, D. (2021). The Impact of Climate Change on Agricultural Insect Pests. *Insects*, 12(5), 440. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects12050440

- Smit, B., & Wandel, J. (2006). Adaptation, adaptive capacity and vulnerability. Global
Environmental
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.03.00816(3),282–292.
- Son, H., & Kingsbury, A. (2020). Community adaptation and climate change in the Northern Mountainous Region of Vietnam: A case study of ethnic minority people in Bac Kan Province. Asian Geographer, 37(1), 33–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/10225706.2019.1701507
- Soomro, S., Soomro, A. R., Batool, S., Guo, J., Li, Y., Bai, Y., Hu, C., Tayyab, M., Zeng, Z., Li, A., Zhen, Y., Rui, K., Hameed, A., & Wang, Y. (2024). How does the climate change effect on hydropower potential, freshwater fisheries, and hydrological response of snow on water availability? *Applied Water Science*, 14(4), 65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-023-02070-6
- Srilakshmi, M., Jhajharia, D., Gupta, S., Yurembam, G. S., & Patle, G. T. (2022). Analysis of spatio-temporal variations and change point detection in pan coefficients in the northeastern region of India. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 147(3–4), 1545– 1559. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-021-03888-3
- Srivastav, A. (2021). Energy Sector Progression in India. In Advances in Geographical and Environmental Sciences (pp. 33–75). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-8940-9_2
- Srivastav, A. L., Dhyani, R., Ranjan, M., Madhav, S., & Sillanpää, M. (2021). Climateresilient strategies for sustainable management of water resources and agriculture. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(31), 41576–41595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-14332-4
- Srivastava, A. K., Kothawale, D. R., & Rajeevan, M. N. (2017). Variability and Long-Term Changes in Surface Air Temperatures Over the Indian Subcontinent. In *Springer Geology* (pp. 17–35). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2531-0_2
- Srivastava, A. K., Yogranjan, Y., & Bal, Lalit. M. (2021). Variability of extreme weather events and its impact on crop yield in Bundelkhand Agroclimatic zone of Madhya Pradesh. MAUSAM, 71(2), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.54302/mausam.v71i2.25
- Stavi, I., Paschalidou, A., Kyriazopoulos, A. P., Halbac-Cotoara-Zamfir, R., Siad, S. M., Suska-Malawska, M., Savic, D., Roque de Pinho, J., Thalheimer, L., Williams, D. S., Hashimshony-Yaffe, N., van der Geest, K., Cordovil, C. M. d. S., & Ficko, A. (2021). Multidimensional Food Security Nexus in Drylands under the Slow Onset Effects of Climate Change. *Land*, 10(12), 1350. https://doi.org/10.3390/land10121350
- Steiner, J. L., Briske, D. D., Brown, D. P., & Rottler, C. M. (2018). Vulnerability of Southern Plains agriculture to climate change. *Climatic Change*, 146(1–2), 201–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-1965-5
- Stern, N., Peters, S., Bakhshi, V., Bowen, A., Cameron, C., Catovsky, S., Crane, D., Cruickshank, S., & Dietz, S. (2006). *Stern review: The economics of climate change*. U.S. Department of Energy Office of Scientific and Technical Information.
- Stewart-Withers, R., & Hapeta, J. (2023). Indigenous studies Challenges and opportunities for better engagement. In *Handbook of Sport and International Development* (pp. 48–58). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781800378926.00011
- Suar, D., Kar, N., & Panigrahi, G. S. (2024). Natural hazards, trauma, and its amelioration: Lessons learned from India. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 108, 104548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2024.104548
- Suliman, M., Scaini, A., Manzoni, S., & Vico, G. (2024). Soil properties modulate actual evapotranspiration and precipitation impacts on crop yields in the USA. *Science of*

The	Total	Environment,	949,	175172.
https://do	i.org/10.1016/j.sci	totenv.2024.175172		

- Sushant. (2013). Impact of climate change in eastern Madhya Pradesh, India. Tropical Conservation Science, 6(3), 338–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/194008291300600304
- Swarnkar, S. (2023). Contextualizing the Separate Statehood for the Bundelkhand Region. In *Indigenous Societies in the Post-colonial World* (pp. 97–124). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-8722-9_6
- Tabari, H. (2020). Climate change impact on flood and extreme precipitation increases with water availability. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 13768. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-70816-2
- Thakur, A., Mishra, P. K., Nema, A. K., & Sahoo, S. P. (2020). Spatio-temporal trends and shift analysis of temperature for Wainganga sub-basin, India. *International Journal* of Environmental Studies, 77(3), 464–479. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207233.2019.1686884
- Theil, H. (1950). A rank-invariant method of linear and polynomial regression analysis I and II. In *Indagationes Mathematicae: Vol. LIII*.
- Tiwari, S., Biswal, A., & Ramteke, G. (2024). Hydro-meteorological Research Study in Madhya Pradesh, Central India: A Literature Review. *Pure and Applied Geophysics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00024-024-03553-6
- Todmal, R. S. (2024). Intensity, frequency and coverage of hydro-meteorological droughts and agriculture in the semi-arid basins of Maharashtra (India). *Climatic Change*, *177*(9), 140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-024-03794-3
- Townshend, I., Awosoga, O., Kulig, J., & Fan, H. (2015). Social cohesion and resilience across communities that have experienced a disaster. *Natural Hazards*, 76(2), 913– 938. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-014-1526-4
- Tugjamba, N., Walkerden, G., & Miller, F. (2023). Adapting nomadic pastoralism to climate change. *Climatic Change*, 176(4), 28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-023-03509-0
- Tuler, S. P., Dow, K., & Webler, T. (2020). Assessment of adaptation, policy, and capacity building outcomes from 14 processes. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 114, 275– 282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2020.09.003
- Turner, B. L., Kasperson, R. E., Matson, P. A., McCarthy, J. J., Corell, R. W., Christensen, L., Eckley, N., Kasperson, J. X., Luers, A., Martello, M. L., Polsky, C., Pulsipher, A., & Schiller, A. (2003). A framework for vulnerability analysis in sustainability science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(14), 8074–8079. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1231335100
- Tzanakakis, V. A., Paranychianakis, N. V., & Angelakis, A. N. (2020). Water Supply and Water Scarcity. *Water*, 12(9), 2347. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12092347
- Urrieta, L. (2016). Native and Indigenous Education in the Americas: Indigenous Knowledge Systems, Equity, and Economies (pp. 161–174). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-21644-7 8
- Varadan, R. J., & Kumar, P. (2014). Indigenous knowledge about climate change: Validating the perceptions of dryland farmers in Tamil Nadu. *Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge*, 13(2), 390–397.
- Vatta, K., Budhiraja, P., & Dixit, S. (2017). Vulnerability of Tribal Rural Households in India: Measuring the Current Status, Risks of Climate Shocks and Impact of Potential Interventions for Improving Rural Livelihoods. *Ind. Jn. of Agri. Econ.*, 72(3), 341– 361.

- Velazquez, O., Pescaroli, G., Cremen, G., & Galasso, C. (2020). A Review of the Technical and Socio-Organizational Components of Earthquake Early Warning Systems. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2020.533498
- Venus, T. E., Bilgram, S., Sauer, J., & Khatri-Chettri, A. (2022). Livelihood vulnerability and climate change: a comparative analysis of smallholders in the Indo-Gangetic plains. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 24(2), 1981–2009. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-021-01516-8
- Verma, O. (2021). Climate Change and Its Impacts with Special Reference to India. In Water, Cryosphere, and Climate Change in the Himalayas. Geography of the Physical Environment. (pp. 39–55). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67932-3 3
- Vo, T. A. N., & Tran, T. K. (2022). Climate change and rural vulnerability in Vietnam: An analysis of livelihood vulnerability index. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment:* An International Journal, 28(3–4), 326–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2022.2052262
- Voggesser, G., Lynn, K., Daigle, J., Lake, F. K., & Ranco, D. (2013). Cultural impacts to tribes from climate change influences on forests. *Climatic Change*, 120(3), 615–626. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0733-4
- Wahla, S. S., Kazmi, J. H., Sharifi, A., Shirazi, S. A., Tariq, A., & Joyell Smith, H. (2022). Assessing spatio-temporal mapping and monitoring of climatic variability using SPEI and RF machine learning models. *Geocarto International*, 37(27), 14963– 14982. https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2022.2093411
- Wallis-Lage, C., & Erdal, Z. K. (2022). Resilience Through Systems Thinking for Water Infrastructure (pp. 41–67). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-5493-0_4
- Warner, J. F., & Wiegel, H. (2021). Displacement Induced by Climate Change Adaptation: The Case of 'Climate Buffer' Infrastructure. Sustainability, 13(16), 9160. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13169160
- Warwade, P., Tiwari, S., Ranjan, S., Chandniha, S. K., & Adamowski, J. (2018). Spatiotemporal variation of rainfall over Bihar State, India. *Journal of Water and Land Development*, 36(1), 183–197. https://doi.org/10.2478/jwld-2018-0018
- Wheeler, H. C., & Root-Bernstein, M. (2020). Informing decision-making with Indigenous and local knowledge and science. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *57*(9), 1634–1643. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13734
- White, B. P., Breakey, S., Brown, M. J., Smith, J. R., Tarbet, A., Nicholas, P. K., & Ros, A. M. V. (2023). Mental Health Impacts of Climate Change Among Vulnerable Populations Globally: An Integrative Review. *Annals of Global Health*, 89(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.4105
- Whyte, K. P. (2013). Justice forward: Tribes, climate adaptation and responsibility. In *Climate Change and Indigenous Peoples in the United States* (pp. 9–22). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05266-3_2
- Wijngaard, J. B., Klein Tank, A. M. G., & Können, G. P. (2003). Homogeneity of 20th century European daily temperature and precipitation series. *International Journal* of Climatology, 23(6), 679–692. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.906
- Wisner, B. (2016). Vulnerability as Concept, Model, Metric, and Tool. In Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Natural Hazard Science. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780199389407.013.25
- Xie, W.-B., Lee, Y.-L., Wang, C., Chen, D.-B., & Zhou, T. (2020). Hierarchical clustering supported by reciprocal nearest neighbors. *Information Sciences*, 527, 279–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2020.04.016

- Xu, J., Ma, E. T., Tashi, D., Fu, Y., Lu, Z., & Melick, D. (2005). Integrating Sacred Knowledge for Conservation: Cultures and Landscapes in Southwest China. *Ecology* and Society, 10(2).
- Yadav, M., & Singh, V. (2023). Long-term climatic trends in rainfall pattern analysis over Madhya Pradesh. *International Journal of Geography, Geology and Environment*, 5(1), 32–43. https://doi.org/10.22271/27067483.2023.v5.i1a.139
- Yadav, P., & Sarma, K. (2013). A Framework for Indigenous Community-Based Climate Vulnerability and Capacity Assessment in the Garo Hills, North-East India. *Journal* of Biodiversity Management & Forestry. https://doi.org/10.4172/2327-4417.1000111
- Yadava, R. N., & Sinha, B. (2019). Developing energy access index for measuring energy poverty in forest fringe villages of Madhya Pradesh, India. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments, 31, 167–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2018.12.013
- Yadava, R. N., & Sinha, B. (2020). Vulnerability assessment of forest fringe villages of Madhya Pradesh, India for planning adaptation strategies. Sustainability (Switzerland), 12(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031253
- Yenneti, K., Tripathi, S., Wei, Y. D., Chen, W., & Joshi, G. (2016). The truly disadvantaged? Assessing social vulnerability to climate change in urban India. *Habitat International*, 56, 124–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2016.05.001
- Yoganandham, G. (2023). Socio-Economic Conditions of Primitive Tribal Groups in Nilgiris District Considering Environment, Societal Issues, And Education - An Assessment. International Journal of All Research Education and Scientific Methods (IJARESM), 11(7), 1990–2001.
- Yohe, G., & Tol, R. S. J. (2002). Indicators for social and economic coping capacity moving toward a working definition of adaptive capacity. *Global Environmental Change*, 12(1), 25–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-3780(01)00026-7
- Yu, H., Wang, B., Zhang, Y.-J., Wang, S., & Wei, Y.-M. (2013). Public perception of climate change in China: results from the questionnaire survey. *Natural Hazards*, 69(1), 459– 472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-013-0711-1
- Yusuf, A. A., & Francisco, H. (2009). Climate change vulnerability mapping for Southeast Asia.
- Zarenistanak, M., Dhorde, A. G., & Kripalani, R. H. (2014). Trend analysis and change point detection of annual and seasonal precipitation and temperature series over southwest Iran. J. Earth Syst. Sci., 123(2), 281–295.
- Zhang, M., Qiao, X., Seyler, B. C., Di, B., Wang, Y., & Tang, Y. (2021). Brief communication: Effective earthquake early warning systems: appropriate messaging and public awareness roles. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 21(10), 3243–3250. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-21-3243-2021
- Zwahlen, R. (2022). *Mitigation* (pp. 139–151). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91185-0_6